
1 

Zach Conine 
State Treasurer 

Members 
Donna Stanfel 
Robin Hager 

Michael Rankin 
Lisa Cano Burkhead 

STATE OF NEVADA 
OFFICE OF THE STATE TREASURER 

PUBLIC MEETING 

AGENDA 
MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA  

Wednesday, February 21, 2024, at 10:00 a.m. 

Meeting via videoconference at the following physical location(s): 

State Capitol Building  Grant Sawyer State Office Building 
1st Floor State Treasurer’s Office Governor’s Conference Room, Fifth Floor 
101 N. Carson Street, Suite 4 555 E. Washington Avenue, Suite 5100 
Carson City, NV 89701 Las Vegas, NV 89101 

Teams Meeting Link: Click here to join the meeting  
Meeting ID: 282 850 950 823 

Meeting Dial-in: +1 775-321-6111  
Phone Conference ID: 785 736 998# 

Please email  Itzel.Fausto@nevadatreasurer.gov for meeting password. 

All items listed on this agenda are for discussion and action by the Board of Trustees unless otherwise 
noted. Action may consist of any of the following:  approve, deny, condition, hold, or table.   

Agenda Items: 

1. Roll Call.

2. Public Comment.
Comments from the public are invited at this time.  Pursuant to NRS 241.020(2)(d)(7), the Board
intends to limit to 3 minutes the time for an individual to speak and may impose reasonable
restrictions on place or manner for such comment. No restriction will be imposed based on
viewpoint.  Comment will only be received on matters relevant to the Board’s jurisdiction.  The
Board may discuss but is precluded from acting on items raised during Public Comment that are
not on the agenda.

1

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NTY2YmM1Y2QtYzA0OC00MjI2LWFiYTEtNTYzMTQ4YjQ3ODc5%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22e4a340e6-b89e-4e68-8eaa-1544d2703980%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2265b87d60-fe1c-4bc0-9025-42dfd4b873f7%22%7d
mailto:Itzel.Fausto@nevadatreasurer.gov


2 
 

 
Consent Agenda 

 
3. For possible action to approve: the minutes of the College Savings Board of Trustees meeting 

of December 14, 2023. 
 

4.  For possible action to approve: the minutes of the College Savings Board of Trustees meeting 
of January 25, 2024. 

 
5. For possible action to approve: the Ascensus program manager’s report encompassing results 

for Vanguard, USAA, Future Path, and Wealthfront 529 plans for the quarter ended December 31, 
2023. 
 

6. For possible action to approve: the Putnam 529 for America program manager’s report for the 
quarter ended December 31, 2023. 
 

7. For possible action to approve: the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program activity report for the 
quarter ended December 31, 2023.  

 
 

Discussion Agenda 
 

8. For discussion: Staff update  
a. Marketing  
b. Putnam Contract 

 
9. For discussion and possible action: Nevada Prepaid Tuition Investment Monitoring Report 

prepared by Meketa Investment Group Inc for the quarter ending December 31, 2023. 
 

10. For discussion and possible action: Nevada 529 College Savings Plans Investment Monitoring 
Report prepared by Meketa Investment Group Inc for the quarter ending December 31, 2023. 
 

11. For discussion and possible action: J.P. Morgan Future Path presentation on the 2024 investment 
review and recommended changes. 

a. J.P. Morgan Presentation 
b. Meketa Presentation  

 
12. Fiscal Year 2023 Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program Annual Report. 

a. For possible action to approve: Board review and approval of the Fiscal Year 2023 
Annual Report completed to date for the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program. 

b. For possible action to approve: Memo to Governor and Legislature in the event that the 
FY23 audit of the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program is not completed by the March 31, 2024 
deadline established pursuant to NRS 353B.170. 

 
13. Public Comment.   

Comments from the public are invited at this time.  Pursuant to NRS 241.020(2)(d)(7), the Board 
intends to limit to 3 minutes the time for an individual to speak and may impose reasonable 

2



3 
 

restrictions on place or manner for such comment. No restriction will be imposed based on 
viewpoint.  Comments will only be received on matters relevant to the Board’s jurisdiction.  The 
Board may discuss but is precluded from acting on items raised during Public Comment that are 
not on the agenda. 
 

 
14. ADJOURNMENT. 

 
Notes: 
Items may be taken out of order; items may be combined for consideration by the public body; and 
items may be pulled or removed from the agenda at any time. 
 
Prior to the commencement and conclusion of a quasi-judicial proceeding that may affect the due 
process rights of an individual, the Board may refuse to consider public comment.  See NRS 
233B.126. 
 
The Nevada College Savings Board of Trustees is pleased to make reasonable accommodations 
for persons with physical disabilities. Please call (775) 684-5600 if assistance is needed or to obtain 
copies of supporting materials. Supporting materials may be found online at:  
https://www.nevadatreasurer.gov/CollegeSavings/Board/Meetings/Meetings/. 
 

 
THIS AGENDA HAS BEEN POSTED IN THE FOLLOWING PUBLIC LOCATIONS: 
 
• Capitol Building, 1st & 2nd Floors, Carson City, Nevada 
• Legislative Building, Carson City, Nevada  
• Nevada State Library, Carson City, Nevada 
• Blasdel Building, Carson City, Nevada  
•      Grant Sawyer Building, 1st and 5th Floor, Las Vegas, Nevada  
 
Also online at: Nevada Treasurer and the Nevada Public Notice.  

3

https://www.nevadatreasurer.gov/CollegeSavings/Board/Meetings/Meetings/
http://www.nevadatreasurer.gov/CollegeSavings/Board/Meetings/2021/2021_Meetings/
https://notice.nv.gov/


1 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 3 

February 21, 2024 
 

 
Item: Minutes of the College Savings Board of Trustees 

meeting of December 14, 2023 
 
Fiscal Impact:  None by this action. 
 
Summary:   
The minutes of the December 14, 2023, Board meeting have been 
prepared and are complete for review and approval. 
     
Staff Recommended Motion: 
To approve, as stated or amended, the minutes of the 
December 14, 2023, College Savings Board of Trustees 
meeting. 
 
 

4



 

1 
 

 
 
 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 
 

MINUTES OF BOARD MEETING 
Thursday, December 14th, 2023 

           ================================================================= 
 

Location: 
Via videoconference at the following locations: 
 
Old Assembly Chambers   Governor’s Office Conference Room 
Capitol Building, Second Floor  555 E Washington Avenue, Suite 5100 
101 N. Carson Street    Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Carson City, NV 89701 
 
Board members present: 
 
Chairman Treasurer Zach Conine – Las Vegas  
Michael Rankin – Carson City 
Robin Hager – Carson City 
Donna Stanfel – Virtual Teams  
Lisa Cano Burkhead – Virtual Teams  
 
Others present: 
 
Kevin Doty, Deputy Attorney General 
Kirsten Van Ry, Chief of Staff 
Lori Hoover, Chief Deputy Treasurer 
Tya Mathis-Coleman, Deputy – College Savings 
Troy Watts, Treasurer’s Office 
Blanca Platt, Treasurer’s Office 
Ariel Luke, Treasurer’s Office 
Naomi Nevers, Treasurer’s Office 
Itzel Fausto, Treasurer’s Office 
KC Simon, Wealthfront 
Christy Miller, Vanguard 
Jonathan Kahler, Vanguard 
Matthew Kurimay, Vanguard 
Kay Ceserani, Meketa Investment  
Kevin McLaughlin, Meketa Investment 
Aysun Kilic, Meketa Investment 
Christopher Catanese, Ascensus 
Mannik Dhillon, Victory Capital 
Lance Humphrey, Victory Capital 
Caroline Churchill, Victory Capital 
Shan Dagli, Victory Capital 
Jennifer Fuentes, Victory Capital 

5



 

2 
 

Philip Eichinger, Victory Capital  
Thomas Allman, Victory Capital 
Scott Kefer, Victory Capital 
Jessica Campbell, Victory Capital 
Andrea Feirnstein, AKF Consulting 
Tricia Scarlata, JP Morgan 
William Bishop, JP Morgan 
Douglas Polak, JP Morgan 
William Bishop, JP Morgan 
Liz Farrell, JP Morgan 
Nikki Williams, Wealthfront 
James Sparks, GRS Consulting 
Judy Minsk, Putnam 
Stewart Duffield 
 

 
1. Roll Call  

Chairman Treasurer Conine called the meeting to order at 10:00 am, and determined a quorum 
was present.  
 
 

2. Public Comment. 
There was no public comment.  
 

Consent Agenda 
 

 
3. For possible action to approve: the minutes of the College Savings Board of Trustees meeting 

of September 21, 2023.  
 
 

4. For discussion and possible action: the Ascensus program manager’s report encompassing 
results for Vanguard, USAA, Future Path 529, and Wealthfront 529 plans for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2023 

 
5. For discussion and possible action: the Putnam 529 for America program manager’s report 

for the quarter ended September 30, 2023. 
 

 
 

6. For discussion and possible action: the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program activity report for 
the quarter ended September 30, 2023. 

 
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda from Member Cano Burkhead and a second from 
Member Hager. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 

Discussion Agenda 
 

6



 

3 
 

 
7. For discussion: Staff updates  

a. Secure Act 2.0 
b. Investment Consultant Contract 
c. Marketing Contract 
 

Chief of Staff Kirsten Van Ry provided a few staff updates. The first one references the Secure 
Act 2.0. The Secure Act 2.0 was enacted by Congress last year. Provisions of the Act allow for 
529 Account funds to be rolled over into a Roth IRA. She noted that beginning next year, 529 
account funds can be rolled into a Roth IRA and will not be subject to income tax or penalties as 
they would be today. There are a few restrictions on this new provision, which include: A $35,000 
lifetime limit of utilizing 529 account funds per Roth IRA; Funds can only be rolled over into a 
Roth if the beneficiaries of both accounts are the same; The 529 account must be at least 15 years 
old when the rollover occurs; Contributions and earnings made into the 529 account within the 
previous five years are not eligible to roll over into the Roth; and Rollovers are still subject to the 
annual maximum Roth IRA limit. 
 
She then went over the Investment Consultant Contract noting pursuant to NRS 353B.370, this 
Board is responsible for awarding contracts for services supporting the College Savings Plans. The 
current investment consultant contract will expire come December of 2024. It was just reapproved 
and there was an optional one-year extension in the contract. She noted that BOE just approved it 
on Tuesday. Accordingly, they will be working with State Purchasing on publishing an RFP for 
those services early next year and keep the Board apprised of the progress.  

 
The next update is regarding the Marketing Contract which expires January of 2024 which is 
currently being worked on. There's a number of state contracts that State Purchasing published in 
RFP. She noted earlier in the year for MSA, so there are some statewide contracts where they’re 
working with those identified MSA holders to bring on a few new marketing firms to provide 
those services. She stated they will hopefully have someone on boarded early next year. 

 
This is an informational item only and therefore did not require a vote of the members. 

 
 

8. For discussion and possible action: the Prepaid Tuition Program annual actuarial valuation 
report as of June 30, 2023. 

 
Ms. Van Ry provided background on this item noting, each year the Board conducts an actuarial 
review of the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program’s Trust Fund. This review provides valuable insight 
for the Board into the financial health of the Program, as well as indicators for pricing and Program 
operations. This year, the review concluded that the Prepaid Tuition Trust Fund is currently funded 
at 227.5%. She noted representatives from GRS, who conducted the actuarial review, were on the 
line to answer any questions.  
  
Motion to approve the agenda item from Member Cano Burkhead and a second from 
Member Stanfel. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
9. For discussion and possible action: Annual marketing update and overview 

a. State Treasurer’s Office 
b. 529 Partners 

7



 

4 
 

i. USAA 529 Savings Plan 
ii. Wealthfront 529 Plan 
iii. JP Morgan Future Path 529 Plan 
iv. Vanguard 529 College Savings Plan 

 
Deputy Treasurer of College Savings Tya Mathis-Coleman provided an overview on the 
Treasurer's office marketing initiatives over the last year. Using the momentum of their successful 
social media and online presence in 2023, they focus on finally curated content and maximizing 
social media advertising. These efforts distinguished their target audience and increase 
engagement universally by 41% on Instagram and their website clicks are up to 40%. She reviewed 
for paid advertising they identified and focus on high performing topics across each platform and 
by focusing on the topics that created the most traction among users they continue to see growth 
across on all platforms. Impressions are up by 18% and engagement rose by over 1000% this year. 
They prioritize inclusivity and broadening their reach, and several programs were updated and 
successfully completed. They created assets for the Back-to-School and Winter Resource Fair, 
which will take place next Monday. They also worked on the Annual Art Contest, the upcoming 
Women and Money Summit, and their 25th anniversary for the prepaid campaign. She noted on 
page 131 on slide 4, the charts show the increase in their website traffic from 2022 to 2023 with 
heavy utilization during those back-to-school months. She reviewed the top chart is a fiscal year 
to date, year over year, and the bottom is calendar year to date, year over year. In the fiscal year, 
there is an increase of 12%, which is approximately 12,000 new visits, demonstrating the impact 
of their marketing and social media for the division. She stated they had great public relations 
performance this year, making nearly 7,000,000 total impressions and holding a sum value of more 
than $350,000. KDC diligently drafted press releases, pitches, media alerts, event recaps, and 
captured event photos, and also secured several publications as well as locked interviews 
throughout the states, media outlets. She noted interviews, and articles are invaluable because as a 
division they are not only building relationships but are elevating overall brand visibility as they 
continue to increase brand awareness. They will continue to host both in person and virtual events 
that are both informative and engaging moving forward. In the spring, they will host their second 
Women Financial Summit in March of 2024. They will also celebrate their graduates, host their 
third back to school fair, and gear up for their 4th annual Art Contest. She expressed they are 
excited about their work and are optimistic about their marketing vision moving forward. They are 
in the process of reviewing presentations and proposals from various marketing vendors 
throughout the state and their division is working to identify which marketing vendor would best 
fit their needs moving forward. She noted in the future, if anyone has any questions, she 
encouraged to reach out to herself or their marketing coordinator, Troy Watts.  
 
Head of Education Savings Scott Kiefer at Victory Capital noted he is joined by his colleague 
Jessica Campbell who leads their channel distribution on the marketing side, as well as members 
online representing sales and other leadership positions. He provided a couple of brief high-level 
overviews of the objectives of their 529 plan as well as some of the marketing and business goals. 
Ms. Campbell will then provide a little bit more detail on what they have accomplished in calendar 
year 2023 and what they look to accomplish in 2024. He referred to slide 137 in the materials and 
noted in terms of their objectives their primary goal is to provide access to Victory’s institutional 
grade investment capabilities but combine that with high levels of service through a robust digital 
offering as well as access to licensed investment professionals who are there to provide guidance 
to their clients, answer questions and help them achieve their savings goals. He reviewed slide 138 
noting their first goal is to drive new account growth and also look to deepen the relationship they 
have with existing clients. They accomplish that by providing the high level of service as well as 

8



 

5 
 

educational content and the ability for clients to reach them for questions about trying to navigate 
their savings goals around education. Lastly, they want to provide all of this with a particular focus 
on serving the military community both in the State of Nevada as well as throughout the country. 
Ms. Campbell stated she is the Head of Channel Marketing for Victory Capital and also leads the 
team that markets the USA 529 Education Savings Plan. She thanked the Board, Treasurer Conine, 
and staff for especially having them in person. She walked through 2023 marketing activities for 
the plan. She noted that the focus in the first half of the year was on deepening existing 
relationships, elevating the brand and enhancing the investor experience. They did this by focusing 
on their plan campaigns. In March they had their investor campaign, and also had their 529 
campaign. On top of that they spent a lot of time and thought into revamping their 529 pages and 
the navigation on vcm.com to make it easier and faster for people to find what they're really looking 
for. She then reviewed they were certainly busy in the third quarter of doing a fully automated 
campaign around College Savings Month which was a bit new to them. In the past, they've leaned 
more heavily into back-to-school and did more of a social campaign around that. Their theme was 
to launch and boost education savings. She stated they executed on tactics like email, web, social, 
proactive outbound calls, but also worked collaboratively with the State of Nevada. Across their 
campaigns, they continue to see some great investor engagement. What they saw were upwards of 
60% and opens in some segments, 80% opens and solid click through rates as well. One of their 
main calls to action for this College Savings Month Campaign was to increase (AIP) which is an 
automatic investment plan. During the life of the campaign, they saw about 1,500 new or increased 
AIP's. She noted their collaboration with the State of Nevada as social media is another great 
example where they've been able to partner together to reach more Nevada residents. Specifically, 
they did an Instagram and Facebook collaborative posts located on both the state’s page and their 
own page. She stated this has increased their engagement with the state and look forward to more 
partnerships like that. She went over their in-person events that they've been able to attend in 
Nevada in August, which is one way for them to get their boots on the ground to further their 
commitment to the military community, particularly in this state. They look for these opportunities 
as a way to educate and personalize the experience for folks that they believe could benefit from a 
plan account like USA 529 Education Savings Plan. She noted they did web incentive programs 
where each of these efforts have been critical in the overall experience for their investors and for 
these campaigns that they do. She noted they haven't wrapped the fourth quarter yet. They are in 
the middle of one of their favorites and probably one of their most successful campaigns in the 
past and that is the holiday Ugift campaign. With this they complement the benefits of the USA 
529 Education Savings Plan with the Ugift program and by doing so, they make it really easy for 
people to take action. With heartwarming imagery, they remind investors how important it is to 
save for loved ones. One thing they did differently in the fourth quarter before the holiday 
campaign is they warmed this audience with what they're calling the year-end review which is a 
mini-Fall themed campaign reminding current investors what they've achieved throughout the 
year. They did this through the AIP contributions that they made to stay on track with how many 
beneficiaries are using the 529 plans to achieve their educational goals to help them ease into the 
holiday season. She reviewed they have more in person events such as the Nellis Air Force Base 
Frost Fest, which was last week.  
 
Mr. Kefer went over the Distinguished Valor Matching Grant Program which is one of the 
important ways they look to serve the military community here, particularly in the State of Nevada. 
He reviewed this is a matching gift program where Victory will contribute up to $1,500 over 5years 
in matching donations as members contribute to their own plan only to military here in the state. 
Last quarter the Board approved their recommendations to enhance that plan. Those enhancements 
are designed to make that grant available to more military members. They just began promoting it 

9



 

6 
 

in late November. The enhancements were promoted through email, paid social, and another 
example of collaboration with the state. They put together a joint press release and thanked 
Treasurer Conine for contributing to that shown on page 143 of the materials. That press release 
was able to be further amplified through Nevada media as well as through the military connections 
and social relationships that they have. He noted they are still collecting data on those campaign 
efforts and applications are not due back until later in the month, however they have already seen 
record numbers of unique visitors hitting the Distinguished Valor Matching Grant web page and 
look forward to sharing some updates in the future. 
 
Ms. Campbell expressed that the Matching Grant Program is a great tool and big step with the 
expansion for all parties involved and importantly the Nevada military community. She stated they 
will continue to build upon the partnership with the state and continue monthly meetings to discuss 
and optimize marketing efforts with Mr. Watts and teams. They provide collateral for educational 
purposes and enjoy participating and attending in-person and virtual events. She noted they also 
send supplies to the state and staff to help advocate for their plan. For 2024, they've put together 
high-level tactics, maintaining their momentum where they think and feel impact is most 
successful will be the most important. This includes their fully integrated campaigns, events, their 
partnership with the state, and focus on their investor experience. She concluded the overview 
stating they look forward to growing their partnership and thanked everyone for listening. 
 
Director of Product Marketing KC Simon with Wealthfront provided a brief background of their 
marketing strategy which is to attract new clients through broad cash management advertising for 
their various investing accounts. In 2024, in today's high interest rate environment, the vast 
majority of advertising has been focused on their cash management account and have seen a lot of 
success bringing people in the door as well front clients with high interest rates and the cash 
management features that clients love. She noted that their target audience is more of a digital 
native millennial audience. They are delighted by the user experience and all the product 
functionality that they have; therefore, the rest of their strategy is to introduce them to additional 
services as their needs expand. This age group is planning for college top of mind and 529 fit 
directly into their current set of financial needs. All of investing products introduced to them to 
529s primarily, through life cycle content and educational content after they've joined for one of 
the cash management accounts. Whether saving for the near term or investing for future, they use 
technology to help build wealth on your own part. She noted a few examples of their top of funnel 
advertising strategies. The channels they show up include podcasts, affiliates, paid social, paid 
search on Google which leads with a very high API. That's been an effective strategy on channels 
like paid social to grab the attention of people who are not actively looking for financial solutions 
at that time. Once clients and are more engaged with Wealthfront as a brand and their content then 
they were able to introduce them higher complexity and consideration products such as investment 
accounts. For the 529 account specifically, their strategy is to use fairly targeted paid and organic 
content. They rely heavily on paid search and folks that are actively shopping for 529 accounts. In 
2024, their plan is to have a refreshed college savings page. She reviewed over the last three 
months; the performance is fairly low balance rate and healthy duration of engagement with that 
landing page and lifecycle content. They'll continue to deepen and expand their relationships with 
new clients, introduce them to other offerings, including the college account. She expressed they 
are excited about the opportunity to grow account adoption in 2024. They are responsive to what 
clients are out there looking for in different macroeconomic environments. 
 
Member Hager inquired about how many new clients this is driving and what they are getting out 
of these marketing campaigns. 

10



 

7 
 

 
Ms. Simon stated she is happy to follow up on those numbers. She restated that bringing new 
clients in right now has been focused primarily on cash management in 2023 and driving new 
investing account adoption has been primarily with existing clients who are coming through the 
cash management account.  

 
Mr. Kefer noted in general they are seeing their efforts on a gross account basis which drives about 
1,000 new accounts every month. Each of those campaigns would be contributing a different 
portion to that. He noted that overall, that's about the average gross on new accounts that they see 
on a monthly basis. 

 
They continued on to the JP Morgan presentation. Tricia Scarlata stated they are ready to turn six 
months old with Future Path at the end of the month. She noted they are a little too early in the 
game to determine the number of new clients. Their current focus for marketing is brand awareness 
by getting the word out internally to their sales force training, but also externally to their broker 
dealer partner firms and the advisors across all three channels being banking, independent broker 
dealer, and wealth management channel. Their focus is getting out there as much as possible, 
whether it be through social, web, advertising, and leadership. She noted they certainly hope as 
time goes on, they'll be able to share more of that information. She stated she is joined by Liz 
Farrell who runs their marketing for the Future Path Plan. Ms. Farrell stated it's been an exciting 
six months since the launch of the Future Path Plan. She provided a review of the marketing that 
they've done since that time and a preview of what to expect moving into 2024. She reviewed their 
primary goal from a marketing standpoint is building the Future Path and generating that 
awareness among financial advisors. As part of the launch, they’ve developed the name, the logo, 
the creative look and feel of Future Path. They have created both consumer and advisor materials 
for the launch. She noted they have a consumer brochure and have a shortened version of that 
brochure for people who don't want to go into too many details. She noted they have promoted this 
among their eligible financial advisor audience, and she announced with excitement that they’ve 
had 90,000 marketing engagements since launch across their digital components. They have a fast 
fax document which provides a more in depth look at planning components. They have created 
presentations and resources for the JP Morgan Asset Management Sales Team to have 
conversations with those financial advisors. They have a wealth of resources to talk to the advisor 
audience and clients. They have their website destination and a hub on jpmorganfunds.com, a 529 
hub, and a Nevada landing page. Under jpmorgan.com/future path, is the destination. At launch 
come last June, early July, they had PR promoting the introduction of the plan, promotion on 
jpmorganfunds.com homepage, on their app, and also had posts on their JP Morgan Asset 
Management LinkedIn handle which has half a million followers. On a firm-by-firm basis, they 
now have a digital launch toolkit and have been using this with firms as they've been on boarded 
to the plan and this includes a series of emails. They have an on-demand webcast that they've 
recorded and are promoting which feature Tricia Scarlata and Doug Polak. They also have paid 
search on. She noted that their thought leadership program is centered around college planning 
essentials which is a guide and is updated annually with a series of charts. They are approved for 
consumers but meant to be used by financial advisors to have conversations with their consumers 
to talk about the importance of saving for college and but also starting to save for college early. 
She expressed it is a great resource that helps financial advisors have those conversations with 
their clients. They have and article called the Latest Developments in College Planning that was 
very successful and launched last month. The article is on jpmorgan.com/collegesavings. This 
piece broke down some of the changes that are taking place in the college planning space and 
simplified what it means to consumers so most notably, restarting of student loans, which 

11



 

8 
 

happened in October, and the introduction of the revised form. She expressed it is great information 
for financial advisors and consumers. They held a webcast featuring Ms. Scarlata earlier this month 
and had nearly 1,100 financial advisors on that call. They have had a tremendous response which 
speaks to the importance of being timely and when these confusing things are happening, financial 
advisors are turning to JP Morgan Asset Management which allows them to them talk to them 
about future plan. Looking forward to 2024, they plan to continue to broaden awareness of Future 
Path among financial advisors. They are planning to ramp up marketing touch points, in particular 
when college planning is top of mind. As firms are onboarded, they will continue to promote the 
launch of the plan, promote that on demand webcast, and the other elements that they have on 
Future Path. Lastly, she went over the breakdown of some of the marketing levers at disposal that 
they will be using. College Planning Essentials launches in February, so they are working on the 
marketing campaign to promote that. They are also working closely this year and into next year 
with their Retirement Insights Program. They have The Guide to Retirement and Retirement 
Insights is another flagship program that JP Morgan Asset Management has and wanted to take 
advantage of those opportunities where they have the attention of a like-minded audience to talk 
about the importance of saving for both retirement, education, and college. They are looking for 
ways they can integrate the conversation more and more moving into 2024. From a digital event 
standpoint, this is something that's a key mechanism for them to reach financial advisors. They get 
on average around 400 advisors on these calls, even more if it's a timely topic and this is something 
they plan to implement during those timely college savings seasons of the year along with their 
own digital components that they have. 
 
Doug Polak with JPM noted that when they are doing the webcasts, when they are out in the field 
talking with advisors, they are being very commercial around how the investment proposition is 
very distinguished in the marketplace. He reviewed when they took over all passive plan of SSGA, 
they added some active management at the same fee level, restructured the glide path to be more 
appropriate to how participants are investing, also adding a degree of active allocation in their 
vernacular that is lowering risk. They are trying to de-risk the plan and even in the short period of 
time, maintaining capital visa vie the benchmarks. He noted in November, markets boomed and 
the same thing happened where positive returns. That first portfolio, the most aggressive portfolio 
was actually up mid 4%, well above of the benchmark. When going out and talking about the plan, 
they are talking about broad diversification, active asset allocation, talking about the introduction 
to active management, which makes a difference in both returns as well as risk management. 
Advisors like to hear that they are tuning the portfolio and all the participants that are in this 
portfolio to market conditions. He noted that markets are booming and want to make sure they are 
making those adjustments. They will continue to provide these kind of themes and updates for the 
portfolio every quarter. 

 
Christy Miller with Vanguard is the lead of their State Relations Team and Education Savings. 
She expressed they are grateful for this partnership and the opportunity to have this plan available 
to their investors to help them meet their education savings goals and a big part of that is ensuring 
that they are making that awareness known to them about the need that they have as well as the 
solutions that they can afford to them. 
 
Matthew Kurimay leads their marketing efforts on the 529 side at Vanguard. He provided a quick 
overview into the year from the past fiscal year and then discussed more about what their strategies 
are for the coming year. They are excited to see the growth and the continued commitment from 
Nevadans and those across the country and thinking about their education savings. They think 
about growth of the plan in a couple of different ways. One, there's the organic growth and what's 

12



 

9 
 

coming into the plan. They saw about 42,000 new accounts come into the plan during the year.  
On the marketing strategy end they drove just under 10,000 new accounts into the plan during the 
year and beat their internal goal by about 10% and made up about 23% of the total growth. The 
growth numbers and the strong results that they've seen is largely due to their strong conviction in 
that awareness and education focus helping people make that decision, giving them the right pieces 
of information through a full suite of tactics and marketing campaigns is really helping drive those 
outcomes. Within the 2023 themes, they continue to see strong results from their spend. 
Approximately a little over half of their new accounts come from the paid space, mostly in the 
paid search and savingforcollege.com banner space. They have an opportunity to continue to 
enhance the journey and the content that people are going through when they're thinking about a 
529 plan. They worked on a road map earlier this year. They want to make sure that they are 
providing the right info, tools, and the proper support to make sure people are making the right 
decision on their education savings goals. He noted they have spent a lot of time thinking about 
how to better target clients and how to send them the right types of content where they are in their 
journey. They are also starting to use more of proprietary research to help support decision making, 
help support what the goals are for saving, and really making sure that clients, prospects and the 
clients feel supported by that. One of the things they are most excited about within this section is 
the use of their proprietary propensity model. This propensity model ranks current Vanguard 
clients without a 529, have a presence of a child in the household, and who's most likely to convert 
in the next six months. They are currently testing messages to increase that higher than average 
conversion rate by data and experimentation to better understand those populations. He noted from 
their last 2023 theme was around continuing to build the foundation and this theme surrounds  how 
to automate messages, how to make sure they always have on content when going to the Vanguard 
site, and how to nudge them. They ensure to focus more time and attention on the targeted 
messages and audiences that are put into market. He reviewed there are more than 22 million of 
millennial parents and that number continues to grow. They have about a 1.5 million cross cell 
population within Vanguard that are currently retail or personal investor clients. The second 
audience he discussed was the grandparent audience in which they will be diving into further in 
2024. They're spending $180 billion on their grandchildren year and not a lot of that is going 
towards education, so it is a huge opportunity. He noted they will need to consider the feelings of 
the Gen Z parent side as well which is an emerging group. They are taking quite a bit of the insights 
to take the differences into consideration when thinking about what they're putting into market. 
They are trying to make sure they are being as proactive as possible in these spaces to help them 
make that decision to help them meet their journey. They want to be present across multiple 
platforms, whether that be through paid spend or through vanguard.com. He noted that the 
expansion of the automation is very important because as they continue to meet for information, it 
provides that opportunity to make sure that they are fully supporting the client and helping them 
meet their goal, whether it be opening a new account or whether it be contributing more to an 
account. He stated they are working on refreshing the digital experience. He noted they have a 
team that has made quite a heavy investment in thinking about the journey from prospects and 
account owners. It's called the Client Experience and Digital Team, and they're solely focused 
building intuitive interactions to help people meet their goals and be able to complement marketing 
strategy by streamlining the experience. This investment is in its early stages and have begun with 
their account owner hub and the real benefit to clients are to centralize the education savings 
content, actions and information. As they move forward and beyond MVP, it's really about helping 
them set goals and can do a better job helping them determine what those goals are. With the 
different types of hubs, it's a better way to know who they are because they'll be logged into their 
experience and can support them with content or custom pieces of information that will help them 

13



 

10 
 

drive that experience. From a 2024 standpoint, they feel confident that continuing and building on 
this excessive 2023 will give a real strong head start to the 2024 year. 
 
Treasurer Conine inquired about the 77% of accounts that were coming from places other than the 
marketing channels. 
 
Ms. Miller responded that they are coming from organic growth from their existing client base and 
some from peer prospects as well, but mostly from existing clients. 
 
Ms. Van Ry reviewed that Putnam is merging with Franklin Templeton Investments and decided 
to roll their marketing update to an overall 529 update after the merger with Franklin to the 
February board meeting. 
 
Motion to approve the agenda item from Member Stanfel and a second from Member 
Hager. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 

10. For discussion and possible action: the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Investment Monitoring 
Report prepared by Meketa Investment Group for the quarter ended September 30, 2023. 

 
Kay Ceserani with Meketa introduced Aysun Kilic who will also be joining the Meketa team along 
with Kevin to support going forward. Ms. Kilic began on page 173 of the materials. She stated she 
looks forward to getting to know all and provided an update on the economic and market 
environment. She started with the key market indicators and noted they watch these because they 
help gauge the overall health and the growth of the economy, which in turn can help can determine 
some of the policies and the market behavior. Some of the most commonly utilized indicators 
include the quarterly real GDP which helps measure the rate of economic growth. She noted that 
the US economy has been more resilient than expected, posting positive numbers. The US 
unemployment is a number they measure and gauge closely because it can predict rising inflation. 
US unemployment remains strong, and it is one of the key indicators being watched by the Feds 
and the market for what will likely unfold in 2024. US inflation has been on a downward trend,  
that appeared to affect the fit decision of keeping the rates constant. Lastly, the US yield curve 
looks at the yield versus the maturities of various debt instruments, the most closely watched part 
is 2 versus 10 and that part remains inverted but often an inversion in the yield curve can mean an 
upcoming recession. She expressed going into 2024, it's been a tug of war between inflation versus 
economic resilience and will see more of that unfold next year. In terms of the market update the 
markets were between equities and fixed income, and a lot of components were down for the third 
quarter. In terms of a quick summary, the quarter started strong with July more pivoting to a soft 
landing and then later in July, the Fed raised for the last time this year another 5% range, which 
seemed to take a toll on the markets in terms of shifting from soft-landing to higher for longer. 
This caused a broad sell off in the markets in August and September, causing the overall quarter 
to be negative in terms of returns, both equity and fixed income, which is not a correlation they 
like seeing and one diversifier was commodity index, which is not as commonly utilized that was 
benefiting from the energy spike. She went over some common themes, no emerging markets 
outperformed US that outperform developed non-US and then year to date growth and especially 
large cap growth has been very dominant in the markets. For the quarter value had a brief 
comeback, particularly in the mid and the small CAP segment of the market. 
 

14



 

11 
 

Ms. Ceserani went over the performance for the quarter of the total portfolio gross and net of fees 
versus its benchmark as well as versus its peer group. At the end of the quarter, there was about 
$378 million in the portfolio that was slightly down from last quarter where it was $392 million. 
Year to date, the portfolio was still up from a dollar perspective, it's up $39 million. Performance 
was -3.3% gross of fees, -3.4% net of fees which slightly underperformed the benchmark for the 
quarter and then looking out over long periods, the performance is quite strong in the double digits 
over one year, 12.9 net of fees outperforming the benchmark of 12.8 by 10 basis points or .1%, 
and the outperformance grows by ten basis points over each of the different periods. The 
performance is driven by active managers, where in this case there are two within an active 
manager in the fixed income space and then an active covered calls manager. Those two managers 
really dictate how the fund does versus its policy benchmark. This quarter the Fixed Income 
Manager Garcia Hamilton underperformed by 1.6% and the Covered Call Manager Glenmede 
outperformed by 1.6%. The fixed income manager has a slightly higher allocation of the portfolio 
at 27%, while the covered calls at 20%. This caused the deviation from the benchmark this quarter. 
Moving forward though, past the quarter performance improved, they're now closer in range. 
They've closed that gap to 50 basis points or .5% but still underperforming, therefore they will be 
continuing to monitor them. She went over the attribution that shows how the portfolios have done 
based on the managers that are held in the portfolio and it considers the weighting of each of the 
managers versus their policy benchmark and then determines how much of the over 
underperformance is due to being in line with the policy index versus security selection. She 
reviewed that Garcia Hamilton detracted 50 basis points and Glenmede added 30. She noted they 
are in line with the policy benchmark, with the exception of cash they have about $2,000,000. The 
policy doesn't allow for any cash, which appears to be a common theme. Overall, even though the 
performance was down, the long-term performance continues to be strong and above the actual 
rate of return of 5.25%. She noted they are on the top of the heap in terms of funding ratio. 
 
Motion to approve the agenda item from Member Cano Burkhead and a second from 
Member Rankin. Motion passed unanimously. 
 

 
11. For discussion and possible action: the Nevada 529 College Savings Plans Investment 

Monitoring Report prepared by Meketa Investment Group for the quarter ended September 30, 
2023. 
 

Ms. Cesarani presented this agenda item and began on page 186 of the materials. She provided 
some high-level comments about the collective group of the five plans. There are about 60 funds 
in college savings program, 59 that they monitor and of those funds, 90% of them are in the positive 
or acceptable range. She expressed this is phenomenal as they don't typically see that across their 
other client base. She gave kudos to all and partners with that regard. She also noted there are a 
few in the caution and watch categories. Over half of the ones that fall into the caution or watch 
are either passively managed international funds, international equities or international bonds and 
those type of funds will hit either the caution or the watch list due to some operational issues in 
terms of how they're managed and fair value pricing for the international equity. For bond funds, 
those tend to deviate from they're tracking and tends to be a little bit higher due to the way they're 
put together, which is called a sampling approach because the bond markets so big, it's hard for 
bond managers to go out and buy every single security. They are buying securities at a lower 
number to replicate the index that they invest or that they're trying to match which can cause some 
deviations as well. She noted that this leaves with only three funds that hit the watch list. For 
Vanguard, there's 15 funds in the program, 80% of those are either positive or acceptable. With 

15



 

12 
 

the three funds that fall into that caution or watch list, only one of them, is an actively managed 
fund, the Vanguard US Growth Fund. That’s been on the list for 21 months and last quarter took 
off one fund that being the STAR fund. Mr. Mclaughlin spent time talking about the US Growth 
Fund. He also went over the USAA fund which are all in positive or acceptable status and three of 
the funds improved over the quarter. They all improved to positive for the Putnam Fund where 
there's 14 funds of the 14 to qualify for watch. the Putnam Large CAP Growth fund and then the 
Federated Hermes Short-Int. Government Bond fund is newly qualifying this quarter and as shown 
in their memo. She noted the Wealthfront and  the JP Morgan programs are doing really well. The 
Wealthfront fund that's on the caution list is one of those international equity funds she mentioned 
and same for JP Morgan, the one that technically qualifies for watch is the same situation with that 
fair value pricing that impacts the tracking error. On page 203 it lists all the funds for reference. 
They have an age-based universe and a year of enrollment universe, where they divide those up 
into nine different groups based on the age or vintage of the portfolio. The goal is to have a high 
return with a low level of risk, but mostly have a better return than the median because everybody 
has a slightly different risk profile depending on how much equity they have. She stated that they 
portfolios look real good during the different time periods. 
 
Mr. Kevin McLaughlin went over the three funds that are on the watch list starting with page 220 
of the materials. At the end of the third quarter, two funds remained on watch status. One fund is 
being recommended to be removed from watch status and another fund is being recommended to 
be added to watch status. The one that remains on watch is the Vanguard US Growth Admiral 
Fund, which continues to qualify for watch as its 36-month access return has been below the -1.5% 
threshold for six or more consecutive months. Year to date, poor stock selection within the 
communication services, financials, healthcare and consumer discretionary sectors has all been 
detractors from performance. The next one that continues to qualify for watch status is Putnam 
CAP Growth Fund and this fund has been on watch status for about six months and continues to 
qualify for watch status as its 36-month access return has been below the -1.5% threshold for six 
or more consecutive months. The next fund they are recommending from the Putnam program to 
be added to watch status and is the Federated Hermes Short Intermediate Government Fund and 
this qualifies for watch status because it's 12-month access return has been below the -.75% 
threshold for six or more consecutive months and a little bit about the performance on that. 
Throughout the third quarter and the start of 2023, the fund’s longer duration stance relative to its 
benchmark has been a key detractor from performance therefore, they are recommending that it be 
added to watch status. Lastly, they are recommending that the Putnam Income Fund program be 
removed from watch status. This fund no longer qualifies for watch status as both its short- and 
medium-term performance are above their respective thresholds. The fund has outperformed its 
benchmark, the Bloomberg US aggregate by .4 and .6%, respectively over the latest quarter and 
one-year period. He summarized that the only changes they are recommending are the addition of 
the Federated Hermes Short Int. Government Fund and the removal of the Putnam Income Fund 
from watch status. 
 
Motion to approve the agenda item from Member Hager and a second from Member 
Stanfel. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 
12. For discussion and possible action: Vanguard presentation on the 2023 investment review 

and recommended changes. 
 a. Vanguard Presentation  
b. Meketa Presentation  

16



 

13 
 

 
Ms. Miller provided an overview of both the glide path as well as the standalone investment 
options which are the single asset portfolios and then the multi asset class portfolios. On page 240 
she noted the layout of framework through which they considered the standalone options in the 
plan. About 50% of the plan is in the glide path and the other half they have static multi asset class 
portfolios. They offer the building blocks of those portfolios as individual options for folks that 
want to build their own, and they also have supplemental options. They are looking at a size and 
style coverage since they do not have the age base glide path any longer. They are looking at multi 
asset class products in alignment to Life Strategy Funds, which is their other multi asset quest 
products that are available more broadly across Vanguard. They recommend a few additions to 
add a short-term bond index lineup to help folks that want to build their own portfolio and have a 
little more influence over their iteration. They also want to add a Core Bond fund, to give a bit of 
a complement to broader total bond market index offering, adding an ESG screen product for 
additional core equity exposure that would be their FTSE social. They are also recommending 
removing a couple of products such as the High Yield Bond as well as Inflation Protected 
Securities as part of historical glide path builds that were never a retired. They don’t see a high 
amount of usage and think the other short-term options that are available in the plan are more 
effective. As far as multi asset portfolio recommendations, it is a bit hard for individuals to 
reconcile now since there's no anchor and will make changes to the lineup. One is reducing equity 
steps, so as opposed to having 25% changes, making that a 20% change, they are making sure that 
no one experiences a change of more than 5%. She noted within their life strategy products, these 
allocations will now bring these portfolios in line in terms of naming convention as well as 
allocations to those other Vanguard products. They are recommending removal of the STAR fund 
portfolio and focusing on the revised multi asset lineup for the future. She noted they generate, 
between 40,000 and 60,000 new accounts a year. They are shy of 600,000 accounts in there, so 
while 60,000 is a very high number in the context of the broader plan, the impact is limited much 
more than their glide path change. They are taking all the current speed impacted portfolios and 
showing what the assets are in accounts and considering the changes to come. She stated they have 
a very thorough communication plan to all account owners, not just those that are impacted so that 
everyone would be aware of what the new offerings will look like. They have thoughtfully built in 
opportunities for engagement with the staff around approvals as well as abilities to validate what's 
happening which enables oversight, provides a clear road map, have regular check-ins throughout, 
and then also include data sharing. This will provide good oversight and documentation of who's 
moving from where and confirming that they landed at the conclusion of the product where they 
would were supposed to be. They will offer this multiple times throughout the project and as well 
as the conclusion. She mentioned Jonathan Keller was on the line at the meeting and his team will 
be involved throughout this. These points of validation happening with staff they’ll also be doing 
that internally. 

 
Ms. Cesarani reviewed they met with Vanguard to go through the changes and walk through in 
detail the similar report as discussed to allow to ask their questions and get some understanding of 
what they're proposing. She noted that the line of the different static options makes a lot of sense 
and think it’s a good one in terms of making the changes so that the equity changes between each 
of those options is closer than it was now. They provided a memo that writes up their analysis on 
page 266 of the report. With the data given they then push it through their asset allocation model 
and see what do with the changes proposed. She noted they also have the information in a table 
form on page 267 and then have a write up in terms of conclusion, which is to agree with the 
recommendation from Vanguard as presented to remove the STAR fund and make the changes to 
the single funds and the static options. 

17



 

14 
 

 
Motion to approve the agenda item from Member Rankin and a second from Member 
Stanfel. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 

13. For discussion and possible action: Calendar year 2024 College Savings Board of Trustees 
Meeting Schedule 

 
Motion to approve the agenda item from Member Cano Burkhead and a second from 
Member Stanfel. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 

14. Public Comment. 
There was no public comment.  

 
15. ADJOURNMENT. 

 
Meeting adjourned at 11:37 am.  
 
 

 
 

18



1 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 4 

February 21, 2024 
 

 
Item: Minutes of the College Savings Board of Trustees 

meeting of January 25, 2025 
 
Fiscal Impact:  None by this action. 
 
Summary:   
The minutes of the January 25, 2024, Board meeting have been 
prepared and are complete for review and approval. 
     
Staff Recommended Motion: 

To approve, as stated or amended, the minutes of the 
January 25, 2024, College Savings Board of Trustees 
meeting. 

 
 

19



 

1 
 

 
 
 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 
 

MINUTES OF BOARD MEETING 
Thursday, January 25th, 2024 

           ================================================================= 
 

The meeting was held virtually for all board members and participants.  
 
Board members present: 
 
Chairman Treasurer Zach Conine  
Michael Rankin  
Robin Hager  
Donna Stanfel  
Lisa Cano Burkhead – excused  
 
Others present: 
 
Nicole Ting, Deputy Attorney General 
Kirsten Van Ry, Chief of Staff 
Lori Hoover, Chief Deputy Treasurer 
Tya Mathis-Coleman, Deputy – College Savings 
Naomi Nevers, Treasurer’s Office 
Itzel Fausto, Treasurer’s Office 
Kay Ceserani, Meketa Investment  
Mannik Dhillon, Victory Capital 
Caroline Churchill, Victory Capital 
Shan Dagli, Victory Capital 
Jennifer Fuentes, Victory Capital 
Scott Kefer, Victory Capital 
Jessica Campbell, Victory Capital 
Randi Ussery, Victory Capital 
Tricia Scarlata, JP Morgan 
William Bishop, JP Morgan 
Andrea Feirstein, AKF Consulting  
Mark Chapleau, AKF Consulting  
Stewart Duffield, Vanguard 
Jordan Lee, Backer 
Kyle, Estipona Group 
Edward, Estipona Group 
Jessica Davila 
Mike Barcia 
Nicole Rose Dion 
Sandie Palmer 
 
 

20



 

2 
 

 
 

1. Roll Call  
Chairman Treasurer Conine called the meeting to order at 11:00 am, and determined a quorum 
was present.  
 
 

2. Public Comment. 
There was no public comment.  
 

Consent Agenda 
 

 
3.  For possible action to approve: Board review and approval to contract with the following 

three (3) firms to provide marketing services.   
a. The Abbi Agency 
b. Davidson Belluso 
c. Estipona Group 

 
Deputy Treasurer of College Savings Tya Mathis-Coleman presented this agenda item and shared 
the steps taken by the Treasurer’s office to identify new marketing vendors. KDC has served as 
their College Savings Division’s marketing vendor of reference since January 2020. She noted 
during their partnership they have successfully launched a new brand (navigate.gov) and a new tag 
line Helping Nevadans plan, save, and pay for post-secondary education. In early 2023 the office 
made the decision to find a new vendor knowing that the contract with KDC would end on January 
31, 2024. The office reviewed and contacted six marketing firms using the more streamlined 
process of selecting from the list of preapproved consulting marketing and education vendors lists 
from the State Purchasing office. Each marketing firm on this already approved list is permissive 
meaning they are available to use on a voluntary basis to all Nevada executive branch agencies 
without having to go through the competitive RFP process. After proposals were submitted, four 
firms were asked to present to their internal team during a two-day period in November of 2023. 
Each vendor provided the team with an in-depth marketing presentation. From the presentations, 
three firms were selected for potential contract that being The Abbi Agency, Davidson Belluso, 
and Estipona Group. The staff recommends that the scope of work will be divided amongst three 
vendors for the remainder of the fiscal year according to the expertise and their specializations. 
She stated that the budget cannot exceed $345,299 and will be allocated to one of the three vendors 
depending on the service that is being provided. The identified work areas include but are not 
limited to content creation, graphic design, website hosting, and services, account administration, 
video production, the production of public facing materials in both English and Spanish, and other 
duties as assigned by the division. The contracts will run upon approval from BOE through January 
31, 2025. Looking ahead, their plan for the next 120 days is to share their marketing plan and 
proposed budget based on the division’s strategic plan with their selected vendors. She noted they 
will also host strategy meetings to finalize an agreement on the proper delineation of marketing 
deliverables and duties by the firm. She expressed the importance of understanding that this is a 
partnership, and their team is committed to continued communication to ensure the successful 
implementation of the new marketing vendors. In conclusion, their current marketing contract with 
KDC ends on Wednesday, January 31st. The division worked diligently to identify these three 
potential marketing vendors who they believed will best suit the needs of the programs moving 
forward. She shared that they are confident that the selected vendors will work with the team to 

21



 

3 
 

continue the great work of the division and will have an update at the next meeting. She stated to 
reach out to her directly or to Troy Watts their, Marketing Coordinator for any questions.  

 
Treasurer Conine commented that when looking into this process, they knew that there were 
multiple vendors in the state who could do this sort of work and wanted to contract with all of 
them and then figure out which one would work better for specific areas, therefore there are three 
vendors as opposed to one although the dollar amount doesn’t mechanically change. He expressed 
that they are excited to see what they can bring to the table. 
 
Member Stanfel asked if the three vendors will be working cohesively with staff to ensure their 
image is carried through all their expert areas. 
 
Ms. Mathis-Coleman stated that they hope to have strategy meetings with all three of the brands 
of the marketing vendors to discuss what steps to take moving forward and work together to ensure 
they are successful. She expressed her excitement to have all three as they all seem committed, 
and all have very unique experiences within their presentations and proposals. 
 
Member Hager asked if this was already approved by the Board of Examiners (BOE). 
 
Treasurer Conine stated that they are within the next BOE agenda, and that next meeting is in 
February.   
 
Motion to approve the agenda item from Member Hager and a second from Member 
Rankin. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 
 

4. Closed Session: Board to enter into a closed session pursuant to NRS 241.015(3)(b)(2) with 
counsel to discuss the Putnam 529 for America contract.  
 

Treasurer Conine noted that at this stage of the meeting, they are going into a closed session to 
discuss the Putnam 529 for America Contract. Pursuant to NRS 241.015, this action does not 
qualify as a meeting per the definition, therefore the recording of the was stopped for this agenda 
item. 
 
 
5. For discussion and possible action: Board to direct State Treasurer staff to identify a solution 

to potential contractual issues as a result of the acquisition of Putnam Investments by Franklin 
Templeton.  

 
Treasurer Conine noted that additional information on this agenda item is on the Board memo on 
page 90 and 91 of the materials.  

 
 

Motion to approve the agenda item from Member Stanfel and a second from Member 
Rankin. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 
 

22



 

4 
 

6. Public Comment. 
There was no public comment.  

 
7. ADJOURNMENT. 

 
Meeting adjourned at 11:30 am.  
 
 

 
 

23



1 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 5 

February 21, 2024 
 

 
Item:    Ascensus program manager’s report encompassing 

results for Vanguard, USAA, Future Path, and 
Wealthfront 529 plans for the quarter ended 
December 31, 2023.  
 

 
Fiscal Impact:  None by this action. 
 
Summary:   
 
Christopher Catanese, Vice President, Relationship Management with 
Ascensus College Savings, will be available to answer questions. 
    
Staff Recommended Motion: 
To accept and approve the Ascensus College Savings 
Program Manager Report for the quarter ending December 
31, 2023. 
 
 

24



College Savings Plans of Nevada 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

Wednesday February 21st , 2024

Program Management Report
FY 2nd – CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

25



2

Table of Contents

College Savings Plans of Nevada
Board of Trustees Meeting

Wednesday February 21st , 2024

         
          Pages
 
All Plan Executive Summary   3

All Plan Highlights   4

Future Path 529 Service Levels   6

Marketing Activity                                                                                       9
 
Section I 
  Future Path® 529 Plan                                                                           10   
                                             
Section II 
  The Vanguard® 529 College Savings Plan                                             16

Section III
  Victory Capital/USAA 529 Education Savings Plan                                22
  
Section IV 
  Wealthfront College Savings Plan® Marketing                                       32        

                        26

http://www.ascensus.com/


3

Executive Summary

4th Quarter 2023, assets in the Future Path 529 Plan totaled $1.327 B, which was a slight increase from Q4 2022. Total funded accounts are 102,048 with 
10,500 NV resident accounts. There were a total of 5,890 unique NV account holders at the end of the quarter. Average account size for the plan is 
$13,012.26 with NV average account assets at $8,739.76. 

Future Path 529

4th Quarter 2023 assets in the Vanguard 529 College Savings Plan totaled $32,647 B, which was a 18% increase from Q4 2022. Total Funded Accounts 
are 579,674 with 10,228 NV resident accounts.  There were a total of 5,971 unique NV account holders at the end of the quarter. Average account size for 
the plan is $56,320.19 with NV average account assets at $38,467.74.

Vanguard 529® College Savings Plan

4th Quarter 2023 assets in the USAA 529 Education Savings Plan totaled over $5,451 B, which was a 15% increase from Q4 2022. Total Funded Accounts 
are 297,590 with 3,823 NV resident accounts. There were a total of 2,221 unique NV account holders at the end of the quarter. Average account size for 
the plan is $18,320.36 with NV average account assets at $14,760.91.

USAA ® 529 Education Savings Plan

4th Quarter 2023 assets in the Wealthfront 529 College Savings Plan totaled $614.93 million, which was a 25% increase from Q4 2022. Total Funded 
Accounts are 22,487 and NV funded accounts are 294. There were a total of 187 unique NV account holders at the end of the quarter. Average account 
size for the plan is $27,345.85 with NV average account assets at $19,303.36.

Wealthfront College Savings Plan

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
All Plan Highlights This Period

FY 2nd – CY 4th  Quarter Ended December 31st , 2023

27

http://www.ascensus.com/


4

Fourth Quarter 2023 Third Quarter 2023 Fourth Quarter 2022

Future Path 
529

The Vanguard 
529 College 
Savings Plan

USAA 529 
Education 

Savings Plan

Wealthfront
College 
Savings 

Program

Total SSGA
Upromise 529

The Vanguard 
529 College 
Savings Plan

USAA College 
Savings Plan

Wealthfront
College 
Savings 

Program

Total SSGA 
Upromise 529

The Vanguard 
529 College 
Savings Plan

USAA 529 
College Savings 

Plan

Wealthfront
College 
Savings 

Program

Total

AUM (Millions)
$1,327.88 $32,647.35 $5,451.95 $614.93 $40,042.11 $1,260.45 $29,811.67 $5,050.53 $543.12 $36,665.77 $1,326.26 $27,617.75 $4,715.56 $491.42 $34,151.00

Active Accounts 
120,116 608,074 310,122 28,755 1,067,067 119,566 592,871 307,259 28,195 1,047,891 117,665 559,667 298,523 26,763 1,002,618

Funded Accounts
102,048 579,674 297,590 22,487 1,001,799 103,315 570,916 298,289 22,199 994,719 108,574 553,970 300,861 21,529 984,934

NV Account Owners (Unique)
5,890 5,971 2,221 187 14,269 5,856 5,864 2,211 180 14,111 5,816 5,538 2,196 174 13,724

Account Owners 71,665 330,355 172,925 14,599 589,544 72,509 325,304 173,467 14,449 585,729 76,051 315,355 175,253 14,139 580,798
New Funded Accounts

491 13,216 2,527 476 16,710 518 10,738 2,580 397 14,233 403 9,738 2,463 364 12,968

Average Account Assets
$13,012.26 $56,320.19 $18,320.36 $27,345.85 $39,970.20 $12,200.09 $52,217.26 $16,931.66 $24,466.09 $36,860.43 $12,215.29 $49,854.23 $15,673.55 $22,826.11 $34,673.39

NV Funded Accounts
10,500 10,228 3,823 294 24,845 10,449 10,059 3,812 282 24,602 10,273 9,543 3,783 268 23,867

NV Average Account Assets
$8,739.76 $38,467.74 $14,760.91 $19,303.36 $22,029.45 $8,020.01 $35,643.81 $13,645.45 $17,413.82 $20,293.85 $7,924.58 $34,462.74 $12,666.23 $15,923.14 $19,377.00

NV AUM (Millions)
$91.77 $393.45 $56.43 $5.68 $547.32 $83.80 $358.54 $52.02 $4.91 $499.27 $81.41 $328.88 $47.92 $4.27 $462.47

Highlights This Period

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
All Plan Highlights This Period

FY 2nd – CY 4th  Quarter Ended December 31st , 2023

28

http://www.ascensus.com/


5

Highlights This Period
Fourth Quarter 2023 Third Quarter 2023 Fourth Quarter 2022

Future Path 
529

The Vanguard 
529 College 
Savings Plan

USAA 529 
Education 

Savings Plan

Wealthfront
College 
Savings 

Program

Total SSGA
Upromise 529

The Vanguard 
529 College 
Savings Plan

USAA College 
Savings Plan

Wealthfront
College 
Savings 

Program

Total SSGA 
Upromise 529

The Vanguard 
529 College 
Savings Plan

USAA 529 
College Savings 

Plan

Wealthfront
College 
Savings 

Program

Total

Rollovers In 
(Thousands)

Plan Transfer In $5.92 $5,555.92 $66.11 $0.00 $5,627.95 $5,863.81 $526.17 $0.51 $6,390.49 $0.00 $722.14 $386.34 $0.00 $1,108.48

Rollover In $1,314.66 $54,075.89 $836.31 $622.82 $56,849.68 $381.91 $50,623.91 $1,077.49 $384.48 $52,467.79 $187.99 $21,985.49 $918.52 $25.15 $23,117.16

Gross Rollovers In $1,320.58 $59,631.81 $902.42 $622.82 $62,477.63 $381.91 $56,487.72 $1,603.67 $384.98 $58,858.28 $187.99 $22,707.63 $1,304.87 $25.15 $24,225.64

Rollovers Out 
(Thousands)

Plan Transfer Out ($846.19) ($16.53) ($1,624.64) $0.00 ($2,487.36) ($1,189.36) ($39.89) ($2,474.62) $0.00 ($3,703.87) ($117.67) $0.00 ($583.07) $0.00 ($700.74)

Rollover Out ($3,996.04) ($50,702.75) ($14,774.63) $0.00 ($69,473.42) ($4,233.83) ($62,337.33) ($19,475.87) $0.00 ($86,047.03) ($1,793.22) ($30,463.20) ($13,136.22) $0.00 ($45,392.63)

Gross Rollovers Out ($4,842.22) ($50,719.28) ($16,399.28) $0.00 ($71,960.78) ($5,423.19) ($62,377.22) ($21,950.49) $0.00 ($89,750.90) ($1,910.89) ($30,463.20) ($13,719.29) $0.00 ($46,093.37)

Net Rollovers (Thousands) ($3,521.64) $8,912.53 ($15,496.86) $622.82 ($9,483.15) ($5,041.28) ($5,889.50) ($20,346.82) $384.98 ($30,892.62) ($1,722.90) ($7,755.56) ($12,414.42) $25.15 ($21,867.73)

Inflow 
(Millions)

Contribution $22.32 $692.32 $115.39 $22.76 $852.79 $21.09 $507.63 $111.00 $18.74 $658.46 $23.57 $607.52 $110.73 $20.16 $761.98
Plan Transfer In $0.01 $5.56 $0.07 $0.00 $5.63 $0.00 $5.86 $0.53 $0.00 $6.39 $0.00 $0.72 $0.39 $0.00 $1.11
Rollover In $1.31 $54.08 $0.84 $0.62 $56.85 $0.38 $50.62 $1.08 $0.38 $52.47 $0.19 $21.99 $0.92 $0.03 $23.12

Gross Contributions $23.64 $751.95 $116.30 $23.38 $915.27 $21.47 $564.11 $112.61 $19.13 $717.32 $23.76 $630.22 $112.04 $20.18 $786.20

Outflow 
(Millions)

Fee ($0.36) ($0.07) ($0.28) ($0.30) ($1.00) ($0.39) ($0.12) ($0.08) ($0.30) ($0.90) ($0.39) ($0.05) ($0.31) ($0.25) ($1.00)
Plan Transfer Out ($0.85) ($0.02) ($1.62) $0.00 ($2.49) ($1.19) ($0.04) ($2.47) $0.00 ($3.70) ($0.12) $0.00 ($0.58) $0.00 ($0.70)
Rollover Out ($4.00) ($50.70) ($14.77) $0.00 ($69.47) ($4.23) ($62.34) ($19.48) $0.00 ($86.05) ($1.79) ($30.46) ($13.14) $0.00 ($45.39)
Withdrawal ($55.50) ($494.04) ($89.95) ($8.42) ($647.91) ($92.27) ($700.84) ($151.83) ($9.45) ($954.39) ($49.53) ($410.42) ($72.40) ($5.76) ($538.11)

Gross Distributions ($60.71) ($544.82) ($106.63) ($8.72) ($720.88) ($98.08) ($763.34) ($173.86) ($9.75) ($1,045.03) ($51.83) ($440.93) ($86.43) ($6.00) ($585.20)

Total Net Contributions (Millions) ($37.07) $207.13 $9.67 $14.66 $194.39 ($76.61) ($199.23) ($61.25) $9.38 ($327.71) ($28.07) $189.29 $25.61 $14.18 $201.01

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
All Plan Highlights This Period

FY 2nd – CY 4th  Quarter Ended December 31st , 2023

29

http://www.ascensus.com/


Future Path 529 Plan
Service Levels

6

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
All Plan Highlights This Period

FY 2nd – CY 4th  Quarter Ended December 31st , 2023

30

http://www.ascensus.com/


7

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
Future Path 529 Plan Client Service Levels

FY 2nd – CY 4th  Quarter Ended December 31st , 2023Service Level Future Path 529 
Plan Actual 
10/31/2023

Future Path 529 
Plan  Actual  
11/30/2023

Future Path 529 
Plan Actual   
12/31/2023Agreement

TRANSACTIONS
Financial sub deposits (same day) 98.00% 100% 100% 100%
Financial sub deposits (accuracy) 98.00% 100% 100% 100%

New account set up (same day) 98.00% 100% 100% 100%
New account set up (accuracy) 97.00% 100% 100% 100%

Withdrawal (same day) 98.00% 100% 100% 100%
Withdrawal (accuracy) 98.00% 100% 90.91% 100%

Non-financial maintenance (3 day) 98.00% 100% 100% 100%
Non-financial maintenance (accuracy) 98.00% 100% 100% 100%

Financial correspondence (2 day) 98.00% 100% 100% 100%
Non-financial correspondence (7 day) 98.00% 100% 100% 100%

As of trading (accuracy) 98.00% 100% 100% 100%

CORRESPONDENCE
Average answer time 30 seconds or less 0:20 0:11 0:09

Average abandonment rate 5% or less 0.19% 0.30% 0.15%

Phone inquiries responded to  Within 30 seconds 1,078 (90.35%) 989 (91.41%) 1,327 (92.69%)

Email processed Within 2 business days 100% 100% 100%

Meet licensing requirements

INFORMATION DELIVERY Yes Yes Yes
Marketing kits delivered Within 3 business days Yes Yes Yes
Annual statements, quarterly statements and 
confirms

Delivered within industry 
guidelines 31

http://www.ascensus.com/


8

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
Future Path 529 Plan Client Service Levels

FY 2nd – CY 4th  Quarter Ended December 31st , 2023

32

http://www.ascensus.com/


9

Marketing Activity
Table of Contents

Section I: Future Path 529® College Savings Plan

Section II: Vanguard 529® College Savings Plan
 
Section III: Victory Capital/USAA 529 Education Savings Plan®

Section IV:  Wealthfront College Savings Plan

33

http://www.ascensus.com/


Section I 
Future Path 529® Plan

Marketing Activity

10

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
Future Path 529® Plan Marketing Activity

FY 2nd  – CY 4th   Quarter Ended December 31st , 2023

34

http://www.ascensus.com/


11 JPMC Institutional Use Only | Not for public distribution
35



12 JPMC Institutional Use Only | Not for public distribution | For the Exclusive Use of the State of Nevada 
36



13 JPMC Institutional Use Only | Not for public distribution
37



14 JPMC Institutional Use Only | Not for public distribution
38



15 JPMC Institutional Use Only | Not for public distribution
39



Section I 
Vanguard 529® College Savings Plan

Marketing Activity

16

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
Vanguard 529® College Savings Plan Marketing Activity

FY 2nd  – CY 4th   Quarter Ended December 31st , 2023

40

http://www.ascensus.com/


Grow the total number of accounts in the Vanguard 529 Plan through:

• Raising awareness as the plan of choice for Nevada residents, Vanguard Personal Investor 
clients, and education savers nationwide

• Increasing the number of new marketing-attributed accounts 
• Deepening engagement and driving positive outcomes for existing 529 plan clients

THE VANGUARD® 529 PLAN 
FY 2nd / CY 4th Quarter Marketing Activity

Marketing & Communications

• Paid advertising in market
 Paid search
 SavingforCollege.com 

• Outreach
 Year-end campaign targeting prospects and account 

owners
 Phase I of the high propensity campaign focused on 

better understanding engagement and content needs 
of those most likely to adopt a 529

 Always-on web banners targeting prospects and 
account owners on vanguard.com

• Organic Social Media
 Facebook posts throughout the quarter

Q1 2024 EFFORTS IN FLIGHT

GOALS

• Strategy development and creative kick-off for:
 High propensity campaign phase III
 529 Day campaign
 Grandparent targeting campaign

• Deployment of seasonal campaign
 Prospect focus – encouragement to review education 

savings options
 Account owner focus – encouragement to consider 

contributing even

• Development of new content and features for the 529 
home page

Q4 2023 RESULTS & 
UPDATES

41



Campaign details

Goal
Test and leverage data-driven targeting techniques to 
acquire new marketing-attributed accounts via paid 
advertising tactics

Primary target audience
• Parents 29 to 49 with children under age 10
• Grandparents of young children
• Prospective clients searching for information 

regarding college savings
• Users who have visited college savings content on 

vanguard.com

Live channels during the quarter
• Paid search
• SavingforCollege.com

Advertising
Paid search, Programmatic, Remarketing, & Site direct

Final results & focus

Final results
• Paid search continues to be our most effective and 

efficient spend driving 984 new accounts into the plan
• SavingforCollege.com banners drove 280 new 

accounts at a reasonable cost per acquisition

Focus areas
• The main focus of the paid media investment is 

converting on bottom of the funnel interest
 Revamping the 529 home page will make 

information and immediate next steps clearer for 
those being sourced from the paid channel

THE VANGUARD® 529 PLAN 
FY 2nd / CY 4th Quarter Marketing Activity

42



THE VANGUARD® 529 PLAN 
FY 2nd / CY 4th Quarter Marketing Activity

Outreach highlights: Year-end campaign

Vanguard clients without a 529 (~1.5M savers)

Goals:
• New accounts (measured by conversions)

Focus: 
• Build broad awareness and education prospective savers 

on the benefits of investing in a 529 
• Share projected savings benefits along with 

encouragement to get started

Deliverables: E-mail, public and secure site web banners, 
refreshed year-end article content

Results: 944 new accounts

Vanguard 529 clients (~340K account owners)

Goals:
• Drive contributions (measured by cash flow)
• New accounts (measured by conversions)

Focus: 
• Provide education and awareness on how current account 

owners can take advantage of locking in contributions by 
year-end

Deliverables: E-mail, public and secure site web banners, 
refreshed year-end article content

Results: $243.1M in contributions, 1,673 new accounts

43



20
For institutional use only. Not for distribution to retail investors.

20

Important information

For more information about Vanguard funds, visit vanguard.com to obtain a prospectus or, if available, a summary prospectus. Investment 
objectives, risks, charges, expenses, and other important information about a fund are contained in the prospectus; read and consider it 
carefully before investing. 
IMPORTANT: The projections or other information generated by the Vanguard Capital Markets Model® (VCMM) regarding the likelihood of 
various investment outcomes are hypothetical in nature, do not reflect actual investment results, and are not guarantees of future results. 
VCMM results will vary with each use and over time.
The VCMM projections are based on a statistical analysis of historical data. Future returns may behave differently from the historical patterns captured in 
the VCMM. More importantly, the VCMM may be underestimating extreme negative scenarios unobserved in the historical period on which the model 
estimation is based. 
The VCMM is a proprietary financial simulation tool developed and maintained by Vanguard’s primary investment research and advice teams. The model 
forecasts distributions of future returns for a wide array of broad asset classes. Those asset classes include U.S. and international equity markets, 
several maturities of the U.S. Treasury and corporate fixed income markets, international fixed income markets, U.S. money markets, commodities, and 
certain alternative investment strategies. The theoretical and empirical foundation for the VCMM is that the returns of various asset classes reflect the 
compensation investors require for bearing different types of systematic risk (beta). At the core of the model are estimates of the dynamic statistical 
relationship between risk factors and asset returns, obtained from statistical analysis based on available monthly financial and economic data from as 
early as 1960. Using a system of estimated equations, the model then applies a Monte Carlo simulation method to project the estimated 
interrelationships among risk factors and asset classes as well as uncertainty and randomness over time. The model generates a large set of simulated 
outcomes for each asset class over several time horizons. Forecasts are obtained by computing measures of central tendency in these simulations. 
Results produced by the tool will vary with each use and over time.
The Vanguard Life-Cycle Model (VLCM) is designed to identify the product design that represents the best investment solution for a theoretical, 
representative investor who uses the target-date funds to accumulate wealth for retirement. The VLCM generates an optimal custom glide path for a 
participant population by assessing the trade-offs between the expected (median) wealth accumulation and the uncertainty about that wealth outcome, 
for thousands of potential glide paths. The VLCM does this by combining two sets of inputs: the asset class return projections from the VCMM and the 
average characteristics of the participant population. Along with the optimal custom glide path, the VLCM generates a wide range of portfolio metrics 
such as a distribution of potential wealth accumulation outcomes, risk and return distributions for the asset allocation, and probability of ruin, such as the 
odds of participants depleting their wealth by age 95.
The VLCM inherits the distributional forecasting framework of the VCMM and applies to it the calculation of wealth outcomes from any given portfolio. 
The most impactful drivers of glide path changes within the VLCM tend to be risk aversion, the presence of a defined benefit plan, retirement age, 
savings rate, and starting compensation. The VLCM chooses among glide paths by scoring them according to the utility function described and choosing 
the one with the highest score. The VLCM does not optimize the levels of spending and contribution rates. Rather, the VLCM optimizes the glide path for 
a given customizable level of spending, growth rate of contributions, and other plan sponsor characteristics.
A full dynamic stochastic life-cycle model, including optimization of a savings strategy and dynamic spending in retirement, is beyond the scope of this 
framework.

44



21
For institutional use only. Not for distribution to retail investors.

21

Important information

All investing is subject to risk, including the possible loss of the money you invest. Diversification does not ensure a profit or protect against a loss. 
Investments in stocks or bonds issued by non-U.S. companies are subject to risks including country/regional risk and currency risk. Funds that concentrate on a relatively narrow market sector face the risk 
of higher share-price volatility. Prices of mid- and small-cap stocks often fluctuate more than those of large-company stocks. Investments in bonds are subject to interest rate, credit, and inflation risk. High-
yield bonds generally have medium- and lower-range credit quality ratings and are therefore subject to a higher level of credit risk than bonds with higher credit quality ratings. Although the income from a 
municipal bond fund is exempt from federal tax, you may owe taxes on any capital gains realized. For some investors, a portion of the fund's income may be subject to state and local taxes, as well as to the 
federal alternative minimum tax. While U.S. Treasury or government agency securities provide substantial protection against credit risk, they do not protect investors against price changes due to changing 
interest rates. Unlike stocks and bonds, U.S. Treasury bills are guaranteed as to the timely payment of principal and interest. 
The funds or securities referred to herein are not sponsored, endorsed, or promoted by MSCI, and MSCI bears no liability with respect to any such funds or securities. The prospectus or the Statement of 
Additional Information contains a more detailed description of the limited relationship MSCI has with Vanguard and any related funds. Russell is a trademark of The Frank Russell Company. Standard & 
Poor’s®, S&P®, S&P 500®, Standard & Poor’s 500, 500, S&P MidCap 400, and S&P SmallCap 600 are trademarks of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and have been licensed for use by The Vanguard 
Group. Vanguard mutual funds are not sponsored, endorsed, sold, or promoted by Standard & Poor’s, and Standard & Poor’s makes no representation regarding the advisability of investing in the funds. 
Advice services are provided by Vanguard Advisers, Inc., a registered investment advisor, or by Vanguard National Trust Company, a federally chartered, limited-purpose trust company.
Foreign investing involves additional risks including currency fluctuations and political uncertainty. Stocks of companies based in emerging markets are subject to national and regional political and economic 
risks and to the risk of currency fluctuations. These risks are especially high in emerging markets. 
Bond funds are subject to the risk that an issuer will fail to make payments on time and that bond prices will decline because of rising interest rates or negative perceptions of an issuer’s ability to make 
payments. 
Investments in target-date funds are subject to the risks of their underlying funds. The year in the fund name refers to the approximate year (the target date) when an investor in the fund would retire and 
leave the workforce. The fund will gradually shift its emphasis from more aggressive investments to more conservative ones based on its target date. An investment in target-date funds is not guaranteed at 
any time, including on or after the target date.
The Short-Term Inflation-Protected Securities Index Fund invests in bonds that are backed by the full faith and credit of the federal government and whose principal is adjusted periodically based on inflation. 
The fund is subject to interest rate risk because although inflation-indexed bonds seek to provide inflation protection, their prices may decline when interest rates rise and vice versa. The fund's quarterly 
income distributions are likely to fluctuate considerably more than the income distributions of a typical bond fund. Income fluctuations associated with changes in interest rates are expected to be low; 
however, income fluctuations associated with changes in inflation are expected to be high. Overall, investors can expect income fluctuations to be high for the fund.

© 2024 The Vanguard Group, Inc. All rights reserved. Vanguard Marketing Corporation, Distributor of the Vanguard Funds. 

45



Section II 

Victory Capital 

USAA® 529 Education Savings Plan
Marketing Activity

22

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

46

http://www.ascensus.com/


USAA 529 Education 
Savings Plan Objective
Our objective for the USAA 529
Education Savings Plan (“the Plan”) is 
to provide Nevada residents and 
investors with Victory Capital’s 
institutional grade investment 
capabilities, delivered as a unified 
service program that leverages a robust 
digital experience, fortified by thoughtful 
educational tools, financial resources 
and live support from U.S.-based 
representatives.

23Victory Capital Presentation to the State of Nevada and Ascensus regarding the Plan offered by Victory Capital Services, Inc.

A
D
M
A
S
T
E
R
-
S
T
A
M
P
!
2
0
2
3
0
2
0
2
-
2
7
1
8
2
8
4

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

47

http://www.ascensus.com/


2024 Business and Marketing Goals

24Victory Capital Presentation to the State of Nevada and Ascensus regarding the Plan offered by Victory Capital Services, Inc.

A
D
M
A
S
T
E
R
-
S
T
A
M
P
!
2
0
2
3
0
2
0
2
-
2
7
1
8
2
8
4

Grow the number of 
new 529 accounts

Deepen existing 
investor 

relationships

Increase presence 
within the military 
community and in 

Nevada

Deliver tools and 
resources 

to help investors 
make better 
investment 
decisions

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

48

http://www.ascensus.com/


4Q 2023 Recap

25

A
D
M
A
S
T
E
R
-
S
T
A
M
P
!
2
0
2
3
0
2
0
2
-
2
7
1
8
2
8
4

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

49

http://www.ascensus.com/


The Treasurer's Office is proud to partner 
with Victory Capital to expand the impact 
of the Distinguished Valor Matching Grant. 
This program will help Nevada’s military 
families put their children and loved ones 
on a path to a better future.”

- Nevada State Treasurer Zach Conine. 
published Oct. 30, 2023, vcm.com

26Victory Capital Presentation to the State of Nevada and Ascensus regarding the Plan offered by Victory Capital Services, Inc.

A
D
M
A
S
T
E
R
-
S
T
A
M
P
!
2
0
2
3
0
2
0
2
-
2
7
1
8
2
8
4

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

Distinguished Valor Matching Grant 
(October – November)

• Overview: Promoted awareness of program 
eligibility expansion for Nevada residents; 
press release and social media post in 
collaboration with the State of Nevada

• Tactics:
• Nevada media outreach
• Email
• Paid social media
• Victory Capital website
• State of Nevada website
• Investor collateral 
• Local military organization outreach

4Q Program Enhancements:
• Expands eligibility requirements to benefit 

more Nevada military families
• Now offered beyond active duty and Purple 

Heart recipients to include anyone who has 
honorably served in the U.S. military

• Supports the education goals of Veterans, 
reservists, and active-duty U.S. military, 
their families, and their loved ones

• Qualifies account holders with any 
beneficiaries under the age of 13

• Increases the maximum adjusted gross 
income for eligibility from less than $95K to 
less than $150K

• Effective October 1, 2023

50

http://www.ascensus.com/


27Victory Capital Presentation to the State of Nevada and Ascensus regarding the Plan offered by Victory Capital Services, Inc.

A
D
M
A
S
T
E
R
-
S
T
A
M
P
!
2
0
2
3
0
2
0
2
-
2
7
1
8
2
8
4

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

Year In Review Campaign 
(November)

• Overview: 
 Highlighted 529 investor 

accomplishments
 Encouraged follows on social 

media 

• Tactics:
 Email 
 Social media

Holiday Campaign (November -
December)

• Overview: 
 Promoted contributions 

through Ugift®
 Encouraged new account 

opens or asset transfers 
through bonus incentives

• Tactics:
 Email
 Web
 Social media
 Outbound calls

51

http://www.ascensus.com/


28Victory Capital Presentation to the State of Nevada and Ascensus regarding the Plan offered by Victory Capital Services, Inc.

A
D
M
A
S
T
E
R
-
S
T
A
M
P
!
2
0
2
3
0
2
0
2
-
2
7
1
8
2
8
4

SOCIAL MEDIA

• Retargeted warm leads through paid 
social ads via Facebook and 
Instagram  

EVENTS 

• Promoted 529 Plan in-person at Nellis
AFB Frost Fest event 

CONTENT & WEB

• Post-Login Pop-Up CTA Technology: 
“Pop up” on-screen messages on 
vcm.com and mobile app encouraging 
investors to open an account 

• Web: Revised CTA buttons on product 
pages so pre-login investors can 
navigate to post-login secure 
messaging easier and quicker

• Ugift: Created separate landing page 
to improve investor experience 

INCENTIVES & PROGRAMS

• It's Easy to Get Rewarded Program: 
Continued bonus incentive program 
offerings and promotions

ONGOING

• Investor Journey: Email journey for 
new investors to nurture them through 
their first year 

• Tactics in Partnership with USAA: 
Real Time Web ads, paid search, web 
referrals, email 

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

52

http://www.ascensus.com/


Partnership with the State of Nevada

29Victory Capital Presentation to the State of Nevada and Ascensus regarding the Plan offered by Victory Capital Services, Inc.

A
D
M
A
S
T
E
R
-
S
T
A
M
P
!
2
0
2
3
0
2
0
2
-
2
7
1
8
2
8
4

We continue to build upon our partnership and 
relationship with the State of Nevada 

• Monthly meetings to review upcoming events, 
optimize marketing tactics and collaborate 
marketing efforts

• Provide training and educational marketing 
collateral for State of Nevada marketing team

• Unique features of the USAA 529 
Education Savings Plan 

• Tools and resources Victory Capital 
provides to investors 

• Attend and distribute marketing material at 
Nellis Air Force Base events and conferences 

• National Guard Association of the United 
States (NGAUS) 

• Creech Community Support Info Fair
• Frost Fest 

• Collaboration with State of Nevada to amplify 
marketing campaigns

• NVigate social posts 
• Press releases, announcements and 

providing expert spokespersons  
• Promote expansion of the Distinguished 

Valor Matching Grant Program

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

53

http://www.ascensus.com/


30Victory Capital Presentation to the State of Nevada and Ascensus regarding the Plan offered by Victory Capital Services, Inc.

A
D
M
A
S
T
E
R
-
S
T
A
M
P
!
2
0
2
3
0
2
0
2
-
2
7
1
8
2
8
4

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

2024 Marketing Outlook

CAMPAIGNS

Integrated seasonal campaigns for 1st half of 2024 
• Tax Season
• 529 Day
• Month of the Military Child
• Graduation

Tactics: email, social media, web, media outreach, pop-ups, collateral, 
phone, and sales/service

EVENTS

• Attend in-person and virtual events in Nevada
• Continue calendar coordination efforts with the State of Nevada and Nellis

Air Force base to identify areas of opportunity

RETENTION 

Investor Journey
• Email journey for new investors to nurture them through their first year 

ACQUISITION 

Post-Login Pop Up CTA Technology
• “Pop up” on-screen messages on vcm.com and mobile app encouraging 

investors to open an account 

Tactics in Partnership with the State of Nevada
• Social Media
• Media Outreach
• Events

Tactics in Partnership with USAA
• Real Time Web ads
• Paid Search
• Email 

54

http://www.ascensus.com/


Disclosures

The USAA 529 Education Savings Plan (Plan) is distributed by Victory Capital Services, Inc. (VCS). VCS is not affiliated with United Services Automobile 
Association or its affiliates (USAA). USAA and the Plan logos are trademarks of USAA and are being used under license.

©2024 Victory Capital Management Inc.

31Victory Capital Presentation to the State of Nevada and Ascensus regarding the Plan offered by Victory Capital Services, Inc.

A
D
M
A
S
T
E
R
-
S
T
A
M
P
!
2
0
2
3
0
2
0
2
-
2
7
1
8
2
8
4

USAA 529 EDUCATION SAVINGS PLAN
Marketing Activity

 FY 2nd -  CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

55

http://www.ascensus.com/


Section III

Wealthfront College Savings Plan®

Marketing

32

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
                                                         Wealthfront College Savings Plan® Marketing/Highlights Activity

FY 2nd – CY 4th Quarter Ended December 31st, 2023

56

http://www.ascensus.com/


Strategy

● Attract new clients through broad Cash management or Investing advertising 

● Delight them with our user experience and product functionality

● Introduce them to additional services as their needs expand 

Positioning

Give all your money a place to grow. Whether you’re saving for the near-term or investing in 

your future, we use technology to help you easily build wealth on your own terms.

Marketing Overview

CONFIDENTIAL : For State of Nevada use only - Not for distribution to the public
57



Ad Creative & Channel Examples

CONFIDENTIAL : For State of Nevada use only - Not for distribution to the public
58



529 Marketing

Strategy: Targeted paid & organic content drives 
traffic to dedicated 529 landing page

CONFIDENTIAL : For State of Nevada use only - Not for distribution to the public
59



36

Wealthfront College Savings Landing Page

CONFIDENTIAL : For State of Nevada use only - Not for distribution to the public

COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA
Highlights This Period

Unique Pageviews 6,259
Bounce Rate 21.9%
Pages / Session 1.33
Avg. Session Duration 01:11
Google Analytics: November 10, 2023 - February 8, 2024

60



Distributed by Wealthfront Brokerage LLC
Check out the background of Wealthfront Brokerage LLC on FINRA's BrokerCheck.

Wealthfront's College Planning Service

Path is a planning model that allows Clients to explore 
projections of various possible financial outcomes based on data 
from your linked external financial accounts, a variety of other 
inputs, your tolerance for risk and your current investments. 
College Planning enhances the features of Path and provides for 
additional planning functionality using additional inputs and 
assumptions.

Wealthfront Advisers LLC is an SEC-registered investment 
advisor providing financial advisory and planning services to 
investors who become clients pursuant to a written agreement, 
which you can read here. Path's financial planning models are 
designed to assist Clients in preparing for their financial future 
and allows them to personalize assumptions for their portfolios.

Important Wealthfront 529 College Savings Plan 
Disclosures

The Wealthfront 529 College Savings Plan ("the Plan") is 
sponsored by the State of Nevada, acting through the Board of 
Trustees of the College Savings Plans of Nevada, and 
administered by the State Treasurer's Office. Ascensus Broker 
Dealer Services, Inc. serves as Program Manager.

Anyone may invest in the Plan and use the proceeds to pay for 
qualified higher education expenses of a beneficiary at an 
eligible educational institution. If you withdraw money for 
something other than qualified higher education expenses, you 
will owe federal income tax and may face a 10% federal tax 
penalty on your earnings.

Important Wealthfront 529 College Savings Plan 
Disclosures, continued

Before investing in a 529 plan, consider whether your state's 
plan or that of your beneficiary offers state tax and other benefits 
not available through the Plan. Nevada residents who open a 
Wealthfront 529 College Savings Plan account will have their 
first $25,000 managed for free.

All investing involves risk, including the possible loss of money 
you invest. Past performance does not guarantee future 
performance. Consider the investment objectives, risks, 
charges, and expenses of any 529 plan before investing. Please 
review the Plan Description and Participation Agreement
carefully before investing. Request one by calling us at (844) 
995-8437 or emailing support@wealthfront.com. Your 
investment is not insured or guaranteed by the State of Nevada, 
the Board, Plan or any state official, the FDIC or any other 
federal agency, the Program Manager or Wealthfront.

Wealthfront Brokerage LLC, member FINRA / SIPC, is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Wealthfront Corporation and serves as 
distributor and underwriter of the Plan. Neither Wealthfront 
Brokerage LLC or Wealthfront Advisers provide tax advice, and 
investors are encouraged to consult with their personal tax 
advisor.

.

A

Administered by
Nevada State Treasurer

61

https://brokercheck.finra.org/firm/summary/153407
https://www.wealthfront.com/faq/115000082363
https://www.wealthfront.com/static/documents/client-agreements%2FWEALTHFRONT-BROKERAGE-TAXABLE-CLIENT-ACCOUNT-AGREEMENT.pdf
https://www.wealthfront.com/static/documents/college_savings_plan_description.pdf
http://www.finra.org/
http://www.sipc.org/


1 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 6 

February 21, 2024 
 

 
Item: Putnam 529 for America program manager’s 

report for the quarter ended December 31, 2023.  
 

 
Fiscal Impact:  None by this action. 
 
Summary:   
Judy Minsk, Director Investment Strategies, with Putnam 
Investments, will be available to answer questions. 
     
Staff Recommended Motion: 
To accept and approve the Putnam 529 for America program 
manager’s report for the quarter ended December 31, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

62



For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

College Savings Plans of Nevada
Board of Trustees Meeting

Putnam 529 for America
SM

Quarterly Report

October 1 – December 31, 2023

FY 2024 Q2

63



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  2For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Putnam 529 for America 
Commentary as of 12/31/2023 (FY 2024 Q2)

Plan update

• Putnam 529 for America plan assets are $442M; up 7% for the quarter and up 8% year over year

Contributions

• Gross contributions were up 31% for the quarter and 8% year over year

• Net contributions were higher for the quarter and year over year, but totals were net out due to qualified distributions. 

– Over 80% of distributions were qualified

Rollovers

• Rollovers into the plan were up vs.20%  last quarter and year over year.

• Rollovers out of the plan were -20% for the quarter, and down year over year.

Nevada resident accounts

• NV assets and average account balances were slightly up for the quarter but number of new accounts were lower.

Franklin Templeton completed its acquisition of Putnam Investments on January 1, 2024. Putnam and Franklin 

Templeton have been communicating transition plans with STO.

Putnam 529 for America supplement: Customers received an offering statement update to notify of the ownership 

change and benefits of SECURE ACT 2.0 in mid January.

64



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  3For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Putnam 529 for America 
Highlights as of 12/31/2023 (FY 2024 Q2)

Accounts defined as a unique owner/beneficiary combination.
Average account balance defined as total assets divided by the number of unique owner/beneficiary combinations.
Dollars in millions except average account balances.

Highlights this period 4th quarter 2023 3rd quarter 2023 % change QvQ

4th quarter 

2022

% change 

y/y

Assets under management $442,382,524 $413,977,176 6.86% $410,518,623 7.76%

Total funded accounts 16,291 16,495 -1.24% 17,427 -6.52%

Total # unique customers 9,337 9,452 -1.22% 9,864 -5.34%

New accounts 159 160 -0.62% 136 16.91%

Average customer balance $27,155 $25,097 8.20% $23,556 15.28%

Nevada total assets $15,149,144 $14,046,961 7.85% $13,352,302 13.46%

Nevada funded accounts 638 635 0.47% 626 1.92%

Nevada average customer balance $23,745 $22,121 7.34% $21,330 11.32%

New Nevada accounts 11 23 -52.17% 6 83.33%

Total gross contributions $5,902,773 $4,489,062 31.49% $5,478,093 7.75%

Total distributions $11,394,886 $17,512,539 -34.93% $12,074,964 -5.63%

Net contributions ($5,492,114) ($13,023,477) 57.83% ($6,596,872) 16.75%

Rollovers in $556,632 $465,586 19.56% $87,393 536.93%

Rollovers out $1,311,038 $1,661,681 -21.10% $1,896,881 -30.88%

Net rollovers ($754,406) ($1,196,095) 36.93% ($1,809,487) 58.31%

% of funded accounts with systematic 

investments 28.50% 28.70% -0.70% 28.70% -0.70%

65



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  4For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Putnam 529 for America
Assets by investment category as of 12/31/2023 (FY 2024 Q2)

Excludes seed transactions.

47%

23%

30%

0%

Age-based

Goal-based

Individual fund options

Category 12/31/23 Assets Percentage of Grand Total

Age-based $208,257,784 47.08%

Goal-based $100,092,774 22.63%

Individual fund options $134,031,967 30.30%

Grand total $442,382,524 100.00%

66



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  5For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Putnam 529 for America
Assets by investment option as of 12/31/2023 (FY 2024 Q2)

Category Fund

12/31/23 

Assets

Percentage of 

Grand Total

Age-based Total $208,257,784 47.08%

Goal-based Total $100,092,774 22.63%

Goal-based balanced $30,348,741 6.86%

Goal-based growth $33,923,769 7.67%

Goal-based aggressive growth $35,820,264 8.10%

Individual fund 

options Total $128,947,334 29.15%

Federated Hermes Short-Intermediate Gov $1,164,570 0.26%

MFS International Equity $8,397,900 1.90%

Principal MidCap $17,828,763 4.03%

Putnam 529 State Street S&P 500 Index $17,194,933 3.89%

Putnam Large Cap Value $23,647,244 5.35%

Putnam Government Money Market $14,232,468 3.22%

Putnam Large Cap Growth $28,704,621 6.49%

Putnam High Yield $2,154,406 0.49%

Putnam Income $4,325,978 0.98%

Putnam Small Cap Value $4,750,579 1.07%

Putnam Core Bond $5,084,633 1.15%

Putnam Multi-Asset Income $6,545,874 1.48%

Grand total $442,382,524 100.00%

67



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  6For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Contributions by type as of 12/31/2023 (FY 2024 Q2)

Sales 

(calendar year)
Q4 2020 Q1 2021 Q2 2021 Q3 2021 Q4 2021 Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4, 2022 Q1, 2023 Q2, 2023 Q3 2023 Q4, 2023 

NV sales $248,675 $528,948 $415,303 $134,127 $348,309 $457,001 $372,615 $227,665 $174,289 $309,975 $264,997 $359,622 $333,049 

National 

sales
$6,691,822 $7,735,474 $5,457,851 $6,454,914 $7,637,351 $5,819,729 $4,398,347 $4,611,775 $5,303,804 $5,199,960 $4,075,493 $4,129,440 $5,569,724 

Gross $6,940,497 $8,264,422 $5,873,154 $6,589,041 $7,985,660 $6,276,730 $4,770,962 $4,839,440 $5,478,093 $5,509,935 $4,340,491 $4,489,062 $5,902,773 

NV net $196,890 $244,347 $239,627 ($582,027) ($131,295) ($322,170) $121,314 ($52,722) ($1,710) ($27,178) $80,699 ($321,816) ($6,423)

National net ($4,022,055) ($2,946,257) ($609,220) ($13,521,555) ($6,800,978) ($5,612,106) ($2,563,762) ($12,329,187) ($6,595,162) ($6,819,354) ($4,978,689) ($12,701,661) ($5,485,690)

Net ($3,825,165) ($2,701,910) ($369,593) ($14,103,583) ($6,932,274) ($5,934,276) ($2,442,448) ($12,381,909) ($6,596,872) ($6,846,532) ($4,897,990) ($13,023,477) ($5,492,114)

New or existing 

account 

contributions

$4,097,489 $5,349,985 $3,280,150 $3,688,233 $5,348,796 $3,655,437 $2,230,134 $2,345,286 $3,071,544 $2,833,798 $2,054,504 $1,851,022 $3,157,980 

Total rollovers $418,905 $497,052 $117,069 $430,913 $178,806 $187,740 $76,001 $142,872 $87,393 $368,845 $23,073 $465,586 $556,632 

Systematic 

investments
$2,424,104 $2,417,385 $2,475,935 $2,469,895 $2,458,059 $2,433,554 $2,464,827 $2,351,282 $2,319,155 $2,307,292 $2,262,913 $2,172,454 $2,188,161 

Systematics 

as % of sales
34.92% 29.25% 42.15% 37.48% 30.78% 38.77% 51.66% 48.58% 42.33% 41.87% 52.13% 48.39% 37.07%

Total rollovers 13 15 14 18 15 13 11 12 9 16 12 17 9

68



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  7For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

100,000

5,100,000

10,100,000

15,100,000

20,100,000

25,100,000

Putnam 529 for America
Distributions by category as of 12/31/2023 (FY 2024 Q2)

Q4 2020 Q1 2021 Q2 2021 Q3 2021 Q4 2021 Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3  2022 Q4, 2022 Q1, 2023 Q2, 2023 Q3, 2023 Q4, 2023 

Qualified 

distributions
$8,270,882 $8,400,207 $4,288,193 $17,504,085 $10,494,601 $8,697,589 $4,605,641 $15,614,755 $9,767,480 $8,796,399 $5,443,604 $15,409,074 $9,292,401 

Rollovers 

out
$1,880,311 $1,847,875 $1,343,993 $2,473,459 $3,990,035 $2,630,428 $1,675,623 $669,706 $1,896,881 $2,602,070 $2,935,419 $1,661,681 $1,311,038 

Non-qualified 

distributions
$392,709 $541,368 $466,992 $713,272 $375,765 $882,989 $849,848 $887,023 $410,604 $957,998 $816,849 $441,784 $622,230 

In-plan 

transfers
$221,760 $176,882 $143,568 $1,807 $57,533 $0 $82,299 $49,864 $0 $0 $42,609 $0 $169,218 

Total 

distributions
$10,765,662 $10,966,331 $6,242,746 $20,692,623 $14,917,934 $12,211,006 $7,213,410 $17,221,349 $12,074,964 $12,356,467 $9,238,481 $17,512,539 $11,394,886 

($)

69



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  8For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

CA

MNMA

PA

NV

MO

Putnam 529 for America 
Sales by state as of 12/31/2023 (FY 2024 Q2)

Top-selling states 

FY 2024 Q2 State FY 2024 Q2 Sales

CA $1,042,103 

MN $946,187 

MA $655,981 

PA $596,385 

NV $333,049 

MO $281,458 

FL $217,097 

TX $187,560 

RI $176,041 

DC $134,512 

70



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  9For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Putnam 529 for America
Client Services Metrics as of December 31, 2023

CRITERIA SERVICE LEVEL

Transactions

• 96% of all financial and non-financial transactions processed error 

free 

99.3%

Telephone service

• 80% of calls answered within 20 seconds

88.8%

Mail service

• Transaction confirmations

–99% of confirmations and checks mailed within 2 business 

days of any transaction

99.7%

• Quarterly statements 

–97% of customers receive quarterly statements within 5 

business days of the end of each quarter

100%

71



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  10For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Q4 

2020

Q1

 2021

Q2 

2021

Q3 

2021

Q4 

2021

Q1 

2022

Q2 

2022

Q3 

2022

Q4

 2022

Q1 

2023

Q2 

2023

Q3 

2023

Q4 

2023

Visits 6,512 6,668 4,881 5,097 4,958 5,302 4,116 4,547 3,511 3.577 4493 4,049 4,790 

Visitors 1,102 1,315 805 1,070 1,064 1,251 984 998 898 916 1010 961 1,005 

Putnam 529 for America 
Web usage by customers as of 12/31/2023 (FY 2024 Q2)

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

72



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  11For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Seasonal campaign — Gifting season

• Banners on advisor and shareholder websites

• Wealth Management Center blog 529 content promotion 

73



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  12For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Performance commentary: 
Funds on watch status

Fund Assets as of 12/31/2023 Percentage of plan 

Federated Hermes Short-Intermediate Gov $1,164,570 0.26%

Putnam Large Cap Growth Fund $23,647,244 5.35%

74



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  13For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Federated Hermes Short-Intermediate Government

For the three months ended December 31, 2023, Federated Hermes Short-Intermediate Government 

Fund (Institutional Shares) returned 4.13% versus 4.01% for the ICE BofA 3-5 Year US Treasury Index. 

The Institutional Shares’ net asset value (NAV) on Dec. 31, 2023, was $9.83. 

How We Are Positioned 

Duration was long relative to the index. The fund reduced some of its exposure in agency MBS but 

continues to hold 15- and 30-year pools. The fund continued to hold U.S. agency debt via callable bonds. 

Treasury futures were used for duration and yield curve management. 

75



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  14For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Putnam Large Cap Growth Fund

For the quarter ending December 31, 2023, Large Cap Growth (Y) outperformed the Russell 1000 Growth 

Index by .84%. As of December 31, 2023, the strategy ranks 24th, 29th, 15th and10th percentile within its 

Morningstar peer group over the trailing 1, 3, 5 and 10 years respectively.

For the quarter, outperformance was led by strong stock selection within consumer discretionary, 

industrials, and consumer staples. Our avoidance of the energy sector and underweights to consumer 

staples and industrials also proved favorable. 

Top contributors to relative outperformance included Broadcom (communication services), Advanced 

Micro Devices (information technology), Lululemon (consumer discretionary), American Tower (real 

estate), and Uber (industrials). 

Our out-of-benchmark position in AstraZeneca (health care) and Canadian Pacific Kansas (industrials) as 

well as an overweight to Oracle (information technology) were among our top detractors. 

76



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  15For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

3 MONTHS 1 YEAR 3 YEARS 5 YEARS 10 YEARS SINCE INCEPTION

PORTFOLIOS

INCEPTION 

DATE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER 

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

TOTAL 

EXPENSE 

RATIO

AGE-BASED PORTFOLIOS

Putnam 529 Age-Based Graduate 10/1/2010 2.28 -3.60 5.36 -0.69 1.45 -0.54 1.78 0.58 1.31 0.71 1.74 1.29 0.96

Putnam 529 Age-Based Graduate Index — 2.41 — 6.02 — 1.94 — 2.44 — 1.92 — 2.29 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2003 10/1/2010 2.30 -3.58 5.68 -0.39 1.33 -0.65 3.25 2.04 3.42 2.81 5.18 4.71 0.98

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2003 Index — 2.54 — 6.32 — 1.73 — 4.06 — 4.10 — 5.82 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2004 10/1/2010 2.91 -3.01 6.32 0.21 1.35 -0.63 3.70 2.48 3.81 3.20 5.58 5.11 1.00

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2004 Index — 3.10 — 6.95 — 1.69 — 4.55 — 4.52 — 6.25 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2005 10/1/2010 3.51 -2.45 7.00 0.85 1.48 -0.50 4.26 3.04 4.22 3.60 5.97 5.49 1.03

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2005 Index — 3.73 — 7.69 — 1.79 — 5.17 — 4.97 — 6.69 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2006 10/1/2010 4.19 -1.80 7.91 1.71 1.71 -0.28 4.88 3.65 4.64 4.02 6.36 5.89 1.04

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2006 Index — 4.40 — 8.56 — 1.94 — 5.84 — 5.43 — 7.14 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2007 10/1/2010 4.79 -1.24 8.89 2.63 1.97 -0.03 5.54 4.29 5.02 4.40 6.71 6.23 1.07

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2007 Index — 5.03 — 9.52 — 2.13 — 6.56 — 5.86 — 7.54 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2008 10/1/2010 5.49 -0.57 10.03 3.70 2.27 0.27 6.15 4.90 5.35 4.73 7.02 6.55 1.08

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2008 Index — 5.71 — 10.56 — 2.32 — 7.22 — 6.23 — 7.90 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2009 10/1/2010 6.24 0.13 11.29 4.89 2.64 0.63 6.72 5.47 5.68 5.05 7.33 6.85 1.09

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2009 Index — 6.46 — 11.76 — 2.61 — 7.80 — 6.56 — 8.21 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2010 10/1/2010 7.04 0.88 12.64 6.16 3.05 1.03 7.29 6.03 6.00 5.37 7.62 7.14 1.10

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2010 Index — 7.24 — 13.03 — 2.92 — 8.37 — 6.90 — 8.52 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2011 1/3/2011 7.77 1.57 14.02 7.46 3.41 1.39 7.73 6.46 6.25 5.62 7.43 6.94 1.11

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2011 Index — 7.98 — 14.32 — 3.22 — 8.81 — 7.16 — 8.27 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2012 1/3/2012 8.47 2.24 15.44 8.80 3.90 1.87 8.24 6.96 6.54 5.91 8.67 8.14 1.12

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2012 Index — 8.65 — 15.58 — 3.64 — 9.31 — 7.44 — 9.37 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2013 1/2/2013 8.97 2.70 16.40 9.71 4.26 2.22 8.65 7.37 6.75 6.12 8.31 7.73 1.13

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2013 Index — 9.14 — 16.48 — 3.96 — 9.70 — 7.67 — 9.07 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2014 1/2/2014 9.29 3.01 17.16 10.42 4.53 2.49 8.99 7.71 6.92 6.29 6.92 6.29 1.13

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2014 Index — 9.42 — 17.17 — 4.21 — 10.05 — 7.86 — 7.86 — —

Putnam 529 for America 
Performance as of 12/31/23

• Since inception performance is cumulative.
 All Bloomberg indices are provided by Bloomberg Index Services Limited. 
 All MSCI benchmarks are provided by MSCI. 
 Periods less than one year are not annualized.

77



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  16For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

3 MONTHS 1 YEAR 3 YEARS 5 YEARS 10 YEARS SINCE INCEPTION

PORTFOLIOS

INCEPTION 

DATE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER 

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

TOTAL 

EXPENSE 

RATIO

AGE-BASED PORTFOLIOS

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2015 1/2/2015 9.56 3.26 17.98 11.20 4.81 2.76 9.32 8.03 — — 6.82 6.12 1.13

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2015 Index — 9.68 — 17.83 — 4.45 — 10.36 — — — 8.06 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2016 1/4/2016 9.86 3.54 18.65 11.82 5.06 3.00 9.60 8.31 — — 7.91 7.12 1.14

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2016 Index — 9.91 — 18.43 — 4.68 — 10.64 — — — 9.38 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2017 1/3/2017 10.10 3.76 19.26 12.40 5.23 3.18 9.81 8.52 — — 8.18 7.27 1.14

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2017 Index — 10.10 — 18.98 — 4.87 — 10.88 — — — 9.49 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2018 1/2/2018 10.26 3.92 19.85 12.96 5.42 3.36 10.00 8.71 — — 6.52 5.47 1.14

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2018 Index — 10.27 — 19.48 — 5.08 — 11.10 — — — 8.02 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2019 1/2/2019 10.48 4.12 20.30 13.38 5.58 3.51 10.18 8.89 — — 10.18 8.89 1.15

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2019 Index — 10.41 — 19.89 — 5.26 — 11.29 — — — 11.29 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2020 1/2/2020 10.54 4.18 20.70 13.76 5.75 3.69 — — — — 7.85 6.27 1.15

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2020 Index — 10.51 — 20.24 — 5.41 — — — — — 8.13 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2021 1/4/2021 10.69 4.32 21.28 14.31 6.00 3.93 — — — — 6.00 3.93 1.15

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2021 Index — 10.60 — 20.54 — 5.52 — — — — — 5.52 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2022 1/3/2022 10.83 4.46 21.58 14.59 — — — — — — 0.15 -2.77 1.16

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2022 Index — 10.68 — 20.77 — — — — — — — 0.02 — —

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2023 1/3/2023 10.84 4.46 21.70 14.70 — — — — — — 21.64 14.66 1.16

Putnam 529 Age-Based 2023 Index — 10.73 — 20.92 — — — — — — — 20.92 — —

GOAL-BASED PORTFOLIOS

Balanced 10/1/2010 9.32 3.03 17.07 10.34 4.28 2.24 8.16 6.89 6.22 5.59 7.35 6.87 1.12

Balanced Index — 9.46 — 17.09 — 4.00 — 9.22 — 7.12 — 8.16 — —

Growth 10/1/2010 10.90 4.52 21.75 14.75 5.97 3.90 10.47 9.17 7.64 7.01 8.98 8.49 1.16

Growth Index — 10.80 — 21.04 — 5.65 — 11.64 — 8.67 — 9.99 — —

Aggressive Growth 10/1/2010 11.88 5.45 25.49 18.27 7.15 5.05 11.84 10.52 8.43 7.79 10.04 9.55 1.18

Aggressive Growth Index — 11.50 — 23.50 — 6.92 — 13.20 — 9.65 — 11.13 — —

Putnam 529 for America 
Performance as of 12/31/23

• Since inception performance is cumulative.
 All Bloomberg indices are provided by Bloomberg Index Services Limited. 
 All MSCI benchmarks are provided by MSCI. 
 Periods less than one year are not annualized.

78



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  17For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Putnam 529 for America
Performance as of 12/31/23

3 MONTHS 1 YEAR 3 YEARS 5 YEARS 10 YEARS SINCE INCEPTION

PORTFOLIOS

INCEPTION 

DATE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER 

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

BEFORE 

SALES 

CHARGE

AFTER

SALES 

CHARGE

TOTAL 

EXPENSE 

RATIO

INDIVIDUAL OPTIONS

Putnam Large Cap Value Fund 10/1/2010 9.36 3.07 15.18 8.56 12.18 9.99 14.11 12.76 9.95 9.30 11.93 11.44 1.03

Russell 1000 Value Index 9.50 — 11.46 — 8.86 — 10.91 — 8.40 — 10.71 — —

Putnam Small Cap Value Fund 9/12/2014 16.33 9.64 23.23 16.14 14.14 11.91 13.81 12.47 — — 7.95 7.26 1.30

Russell 2000 Value Index — 15.26 — 14.65 — 7.94 — 10.00 — — — 7.19 — —

MFS International Equity Fund 10/1/2010 11.87 5.44 18.55 11.74 4.91 2.86 10.32 9.02 5.82 5.20 6.97 6.49 1.09

MSCI EAFE Index (ND) — 10.42 — 18.24 — 4.02 — 8.16 — 4.28 — 5.54 — —

Putnam Large Cap Growth Fund 7/5/2016 14.84 8.24 43.90 35.63 7.01 4.92 18.17 16.78 — — 17.31 16.38 1.06

Russell 1000 Growth Index — 14.16 — 42.68 — 8.86 — 19.50 — — — 17.31 — —

Principal MidCap Fund 10/1/2010 14.68 8.08 25.32 18.12 6.20 4.13 14.95 13.60 11.22 10.56 13.57 13.07 1.06

Russell Midcap Index — 12.82 — 17.23 — 5.92 — 12.68 — 9.42 — 11.67 — —

State Street S&P 500 Index Fund 6/27/2012 11.53 5.12 25.58 18.36 9.42 7.28 15.12 13.76 11.45 10.79 13.27 12.69 0.55

S&P 500 Index — 11.69 — 26.29 — 10.00 — 15.69 — 12.03 — 13.89 — —

Putnam High Yield Fund 4/21/2017 6.52 2.26 11.90 7.43 1.01 -0.35 4.37 3.52 — — 3.28 2.65 1.18

JPMorgan Developed High Yield Index — 6.82 — 13.77 — 2.56 — 5.43 — — — 4.34 — —

Putnam Income Fund 10/1/2010 6.70 2.44 4.72 0.53 -4.39 -5.68 0.74 -0.08 1.45 1.03 2.31 1.99 0.89

Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond Index — 6.82 — 5.53 — -3.31 — 1.10 — 1.81 — 2.00 — —

Federated Hermes Short-Intermediate 

Government Fund
10/1/2010 4.04 -0.12 3.52 -0.62 -2.87 -4.18 0.10 -0.72 0.16 -0.25 0.22 -0.08 0.99

ICE BofA 3–5 Year U.S. Treasury Index — 4.01 — 4.35 — -1.95 — 1.02 — 1.26 — 1.34 — —

Putnam Government Money Market Fund 8/18/2016 1.20 1.20 4.53 4.53 1.88 1.88 1.47 1.47 — — 1.15 1.15 0.42

Lipper U.S. Government Money Market Funds 

Average
— 1.22 — 4.58 — 1.92 — 1.53 — — — 1.23 — —

Putnam Core Bond Fund 10/1/2010 6.59 5.53 4.36 3.32 -0.16 -0.49 1.72 1.52 1.54 1.43 1.67 1.59 0.85

Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond Index — 6.82 — 5.53 — -3.31 — 1.10 — 1.81 — 2.00 — —

Putnam Multi-Asset Income Fund* 2/9/2023 8.04 3.72 — — — — — — — — 7.50 3.20 0.93

Putnam Multi-Asset Income Blended Benchmark* — 8.17 — — — — — — — — — 7.96 — —

• Since inception performance is cumulative.
 All Bloomberg indices are provided by Bloomberg Index Services Limited. 
 All MSCI benchmarks are provided by MSCI. 
 Periods less than one year are not annualized.

79



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  18For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Putnam 529 for America
Underlying performance as of 12/31/23

QUARTER 1 YEAR 3 YEARS 5 YEARS 10 YEARS SINCE INCEPTION

Putnam GAA All Equity Portfolio (9/29/2010) 12.03 26.04 7.56 12.29 8.86 10.51

Putnam Equity Blended Index 11.50 23.50 6.92 13.20 9.65 11.14

Lipper Multi-Cap Core Funds average 11.50 21.27 7.17 13.31 9.57 11.49

Putnam GAA Growth Portfolio (9/29/2010) 10.70 21.02 5.99 10.44 7.80 9.09

Putnam Growth Blended Benchmark 10.57 20.22 5.23 11.11 8.34 9.61

Lipper Mixed-Asset Target Allocation Growth Funds average 9.60 15.59 4.06 9.05 6.62 7.87

Putnam GAA Balanced Portfolio (9/29/2010) 9.72 17.54 4.46 8.53 6.70 7.94

Putnam Balanced Blended Benchmark 9.81 17.21 3.74 9.24 7.22 8.32

Lipper Mixed-Asset Target Allocation Moderate Funds average 8.53 12.29 2.47 6.88 5.05 6.18

Putnam GAA Conservative Portfolio (9/29/2010) 8.11 10.66 0.33 4.63 4.14 5.04

Putnam Conservative Blended Benchmark 8.32 11.48 0.38 5.35 4.66 5.32

Lipper Mixed-Asset Target Allocation Consv. Funds average 7.52 9.29 0.19 4.32 3.51 4.34

Federated Hermes Short-Intermediate Government Fund (2/18/1983) 4.13 3.91 -2.54 0.47 0.53 4.86

ICE BofA 3-5 Year Treasury Index 4.01 4.35 -1.95 1.02 1.26 —

Lipper Short-Intermediate U.S. Government Funds average 3.99 4.41 -1.45 0.59 0.67 4.86

Putnam Small Cap Value Y (4/13/1999) 16.50 23.78 14.59 14.16 7.90 9.55

Russell 2000 Value Index 15.26 14.65 7.94 10.00 6.76 9.04

Lipper Small-Cap Value Funds average 13.46 16.41 12.10 12.05 6.66 9.46

Principal MidCap Fund Instl (3/1/2001) 14.83 25.87 6.61 15.40 11.68 11.16

Russell Mid Cap Index 12.82 17.23 5.92 12.68 9.42 9.27

Lipper Mid-Cap Growth Funds average 12.39 21.17 -1.12 12.22 9.18 7.97

State Street S&P 500 Index Fund;N (12/30/1992) 11.66 26.15 9.85 15.58 11.89 9.97

S&P 500 Index 11.69 26.29 10.00 15.69 12.03 10.12

Lipper S&P 500 Index Funds average 11.55 25.66 9.51 15.17 11.50 9.80

Putnam Large Cap Value Fund Y (6/15/1977) 9.49 15.64 12.64 14.57 10.40 10.49

Russell 1000 Value Index 9.50 11.46 8.86 10.91 8.40 —

Lipper Large-Cap Value Funds average 9.82 13.48 9.81 11.92 8.77 11.71

• Since inception performance is cumulative.
 All Bloomberg indices are provided by Bloomberg Index Services Limited. 
 All MSCI benchmarks are provided by MSCI. 
 Periods less than one year are not annualized.

80



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  19For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Putnam 529 for America
Underlying performance as of 12/31/23

QUARTER 1 YEAR 3 YEARS 5 YEARS 10 YEARS SINCE INCEPTION

Putnam Large Cap Growth Fund Y (10/2/1995) 15.00 44.58 7.44 18.67 14.57 9.75

Russell 1000 Growth Index 14.16 42.68 8.86 19.50 14.86 10.14

Lipper Large-Cap Growth Funds average 14.19 40.51 5.34 16.41 12.57 9.65

Putnam Income Fund Y (11/1/1954) 6.85 5.10 -4.06 1.11 1.83 6.98

Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond Index 6.82 5.53 -3.31 1.10 1.81 —

Lipper Core Bond Funds average 6.73 5.83 -3.32 1.24 1.73 —

Putnam High Yield Fund:Y (3/25/1986) 6.64 12.39 1.40 4.75 3.85 6.89

JPMorgan Developed High Yield Index 6.82 13.77 2.56 5.43 4.68 —

Lipper High Yield Funds average 6.46 12.03 1.72 4.76 3.70 6.83

Putnam Govt Money Market A (4/14/2016) 1.23 4.65 1.95 1.54 — 1.21

Lipper U.S. Government Money Market Funds 1.22 4.58 1.92 1.53 — 1.17

MFS  International Equity Fund (1/30/1996) 12.00 19.04 5.30 10.74 6.23 7.85

MSCI EAFE Index (ND) 10.42 18.24 4.02 8.16 4.28 4.91

Lipper International Large-Cap Core average 10.05 16.36 2.77 8.13 3.56 6.57

Putnam Core Bond Y (12/23/2008) 6.73 4.79 0.22 2.11 1.92 2.46

Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond Index 6.82 5.53 -3.31 1.10 1.81 2.69

Putnam Multi-Asset Income Fund Y (12/31/2019) 8.22 11.00 0.27 — — 1.97

Putnam Multi-Asset Income Blended Benchmark 8.17 12.01 0.93 — — 3.17

• Since inception performance is cumulative.
 All Bloomberg indices are provided by Bloomberg Index Services Limited. 
 All MSCI benchmarks are provided by MSCI. 
 Periods less than one year are not annualized.

81



PUTNAM INVESTMENTS |  20For use with the College Savings Plans of Nevada Board of Trustees. Not for public distribution.
335807  1/24  

Printed on 2/2/2024

BLOOMBERG® is a trademark and service mark of Bloomberg Finance L.P. and its affiliates (collectively “Bloomberg”). Bloomberg or Bloomberg’s 
licensors own all proprietary rights in the Bloomberg Indices. Neither Bloomberg nor Bloomberg’s licensors approve or endorse this material, or 
guarantee the accuracy or completeness of any information herein, or make any warranty, express or implied, as to the results to be obtained 
therefrom, and to the maximum extent allowed by law, neither shall have any liability or responsibility for injury or damages arising in connection 
therewith.

Frank Russell Company is the source and owner of the trademarks, service marks, and copyrights related to the Russell indexes. Russell® is a 
trademark of Frank Russell Company.

ICE Data Indices, LLC (ICE BofA), used with permission. ICE BofA permits use of the ICE BofA indices and related data on an “as is” basis; makes 
no warranties regarding same; does not guarantee the suitability, quality, accuracy, timeliness, and/or completeness of the ICE BofA indices or any 
data included in, related to, or derived therefrom; assumes no liability in connection with the use of the foregoing; and does not sponsor, endorse, or 
recommend Putnam Investments, or any of its products or services.

MSCI makes no warranties and shall have no liability with respect to any MSCI data reproduced herein. No further redistribution or use is permitted. 
This report is not prepared or endorsed by MSCI. Important data provider notices and terms available 
at www.franklintempletondatasources.com. You cannot invest directly in an index.

FOR USE WITH THE COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA BOARD OF TRUSTEES. 
NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION.

Putnam Retail Management 
putnam.com

82

http://www.franklintempletondatasources.com/


1 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 7 

February 21, 2024 
 

 
Item: Prepaid Summary and Quarterly Performance 

Report for the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program for 
the period ended December 31, 2023. 

 
Fiscal Impact:  None by this action. 
 
Summary:   
Please find attached the Prepaid Tuition Program report for period 
ended December 31, 2023. Staff will be available to answer 
questions. 
 
Staff Recommended Motion: 
To accept and approve the Prepaid Tuition quarterly program 
activity report for quarter ended December 31, 2023. 
 
 

83



QUARTERLY REPORT AS 
OF DECEMBER 31, 2023

84



Summary of Nevada Prepaid Tuition
2nd Quarter FY 24 Activity

Contracts Paid 
in Full
205

Funded Status
(as of 6/30/2023)

227.5%

Contracts 
Depleted

104

Contributions
$2,335,867

Tuition 
Payments

$4,855,764

Contracts Sold

79

Market Value of 
Assets 

$407,997,303

Active Contracts 
10,789

85



2nd Quarter FY 24 
Contributions vs. 
Tuition Payments

•Contributions decreased 19.9%  
($581,109) 2nd quarter FY 24 
compared to same quarter FY 23.
This is mainly due to lower 
enrollment and older contracts 
maturing.

•Tuition Payments decreased 
slightly, 4.6% ($233,161),  2nd
quarter FY 24 compared to same 
quarter FY  23.  This is mainly 
due to the timing in tuition 
disbursements and the decrease 
in credits paid out as more 
contracts are depleted. 

86



Funded Status by Fiscal Year
As of June 30, 2023 the funded status was 227.5%, the highest since inception. 

87



THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 8 

February 21, 2024 
 

Item: Staff updates 
 
Summary: STO Staff will provide a brief update on the 
following: 

1. Marketing Contracts 
2. Putnam Contract 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: None by this action.  
 
Recommendation: 
N/A this agenda item is presented as informational only. 
 

88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 9 

February 21, 2024 
 
Item: Prepaid Summary and Quarterly Performance 

Report for the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program for 
the period ended December 31, 2023 

 
Summary: 
In October 2011, the Board approved the Amended Investment 
Policy Statement and Comprehensive Investment Plan for the Nevada 
Higher Education Prepaid Tuition Trust Fund outlining the criteria for 
investment monitoring and analysis, including the establishment of a 
“Watch List” process.   
 
In October of 2014, the Board approved a contract with Pension 
Consulting Alliance, now known as Meketa Investment Group Inc. 
(Meketa), to perform investment review services of the Nevada 
Prepaid Tuition/Higher Education Trust Fund.  These services include 
an independent quarterly review of investment performance and fund 
monitoring of each underlying fund or separate account. Attached is 
Meketa’s report for the quarter ending December 31, 2023. 
 
Kay Ceserani with Meketa Investment Group Inc. will present this 
quarterly report.   
 
Fiscal Impact: None by this action.  
 
Staff recommended motion: 
Move to approve the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program  
quarterly review of investment performance by Meketa 
Investment Group Inc. for the quarter ending December 31, 
2023. 
 

213



 

 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

 

4Q 2023 Nevada Prepaid 

Tuition Plan Quarterly Report 

 

 

Nevada 529 College Savings Programs 

February 21, 2024 

214



Economic and Market Update

Economic Indicators Snapshot

-2.0%
-0.6%

2.7% 2.6% 2.2% 2.1%

4.9%
3.3%

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

1Q 22 2Q 22 3Q 22 4Q 22 1Q 23 2Q 23 3Q 23 4Q 23

Quarterly Real GDP (Annualized)

Source: Bureau of Economics Analysis. Data as of Q4 2023 represents the “advanced” estimate. The Q4 2023 and 
Year 2023 “second” estimate will be released February 28, 2024.

3.6% 3.6% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.6% 3.8% 3.7%

0%

2%

4%

6%

1Q 22 2Q 22 3Q 22 4Q 22 1Q 23 2Q 23 3Q 23 4Q 23

US Unemployment

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics. Data as of December 31, 2023. Seasonally adjusted.

8
.5

%

9
.1

%

8
.2

%

6
.5

%

5
.0

%

3
.0

%

3
.7

%

3
.4

%

6
.5

%

5
.9

%

6
.6

%

5
.7

%

5
.6

%

4
.8

%

4
.1

%

3
.9

%

0%

5%

10%

15%

1Q 22 2Q 22 3Q 22 4Q 22 1Q 23 2Q 23 3Q 23 4Q 23

US Inflation Trailing 12 Months

CPI Core CPI

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics. Data is non-seasonally adjusted CPI, which may be volatile in the short-term. 
Data as of December 31, 2023. 

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

1M 2M 3M 6M 1Y 2Y 3Y 5Y 7Y 10Y 20Y 30Y

US Yield Curve

3/31/2023 6/30/2023 9/30/2023 12/31/2023

Source: US Department of the Treasury.

Page 2 of 10 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

215



10 YR
(%)

5 YR
(%)

3 YR
(%)

1 YR
(%)

QTR
(%)

Domestic Equity

12.015.710.026.311.7S&P 500

11.515.28.526.012.1Russell 3000

11.815.59.026.512.0Russell 1000

14.919.58.942.714.2Russell 1000 Growth

8.410.98.911.59.5Russell 1000 Value

9.412.75.917.212.8Russell MidCap

10.613.81.325.914.6Russell MidCap Growth

8.311.28.412.712.1Russell MidCap Value

7.210.02.216.914.0Russell 2000

7.29.2(3.5)18.712.8Russell 2000 Growth

6.810.07.914.715.3Russell 2000 Value

Non-US Equity

3.87.11.615.69.8MSCI ACWI (ex. US)

4.38.24.018.210.4MSCI EAFE

5.28.80.317.612.7MSCI EAFE Growth

3.27.17.619.08.2MSCI EAFE Value

6.69.58.616.25.0MSCI EAFE (Local Currency)

4.86.6(0.7)13.211.1MSCI EAFE Small Cap

2.73.7(5.1)9.87.9MSCI Emerging Markets

5.25.4(2.5)9.95.6MSCI Emg Mkts (Local Currency)

(0.9)(2.8)(18.4)(11.2)(4.2)MSCI China

Fixed Income

2.11.4(3.0)6.26.8Bloomberg Universal

1.81.1(3.3)5.56.8Bloomberg Aggregate

2.43.2(1.0)3.94.7Bloomberg US TIPS

4.65.42.013.47.2Bloomberg High Yield

0.11.1(3.2)12.78.1JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

Other

7.77.47.213.716.2FTSE NAREIT Equity

(1.1)7.210.8(7.9)(4.6)Bloomberg Commodity Index

Page 3 of 10 

Market Update as of December 31, 2023

Index Returns
During the Quarter:

 Markets rallied in the fourth quarter after a weak Q3 as investors now
  believe the FOMC’s rate hiking cycle is over and that monetary easing
  is likely in 2024. Inflation declined over the quarter and has retreated
  meaningfully since December 2022. The consumer continues to be
  resilient as unemployment has remained historically low and wages
  have continued to increase.

 Looking forward, the paths of inflation and monetary policy,
  China’s economic slowdown, slowing global growth and the
  uncertainty surrounding the geopolitical risks with the wars in
  Ukraine and Israel will all be key.

 Markets posted strong results in Q4 and year-to-date with major asset
  classes producing positive returns except for commodities.

 The FOMC maintained the federal funds rate target rage of 5.25% to
  5.50% during the quarter and the updated projections from the Fed’s
  December Dot Plot now shows an overall 0.75% rate cut in 2024.

 Equities rebounded strongly in Q4 as most asset classes were positive.

 US equities (+12.1%) continue to outpace non-US equities  (+9.8%).

 US Small Caps outperformed US Large Caps during the quarter,
  but large cap stocks still outperformed by a wide margin YTD.

 Growth outpaced Value across all market capitalizations in the
  US except for Small Cap.

 YTD Large Cap Growth kept its massive lead over value (+42.7%
  v +11.5%). The “Magnificent 7” stocks generated more than 50% of
  the total gains for the S&P 500 for the year.

 Within Non-US, Developed Markets outperformed Emerging
  Markets.

 Broad fixed income returns were positive.

 US Treasury yields declined mainly due to more dovish policy
  expectations. The 10-year Treasury declined ~70 basis points
  during the quarter ending December below 4%.

 Diversifying asset classes produced mixed results.

 Commodities were down (-4.6%).

 REITs increased (+16.2%)

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

216



 
 

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio | As of December 31, 2023 

 

 

Introduction  

The Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan Portfolio had an aggregate value of $408.0 million as of December 31, 2023. During the latest quarter, the Total Portfolio increased 

in value by $30.4 million, and over the trailing one-year period the Total Portfolio increased in value by $52.6 million.  

Most markets rallied in the fourth quarter in anticipation that policy rate cuts were ahead in 2024 as major central banks have largely paused interest rate hikes.  

US Equity markets (Russell 3000 index) posted strong gains for the quarter with a return of 12.1%, raising full year results to 26.0%.  Small cap stocks outperformed 

their large cap peers for the quarter while growth outpaced value with the exception of small cap.  Large cap stocks outperformed small cap stocks by a wide 

margin for the calendar year and growth outpaced value across market caps.  Looking to 2024, the paths of inflation and monetary policy, China’s economic 

disorder and slowing economic growth, and the wars in Ukraine and Israel, will be key. 

Asset Allocation Trends 

With respect to policy targets, the Total Portfolio ended the latest quarter overweight Large Cap Equity, Mid Cap Equity, and Cash and underweight Fixed Income, 

Small Cap Equity, and Covered Calls.  All asset class weights, other than cash, remained within their policy target ranges for the fourth quarter.  

Recent Investment Performance 

The Total Portfolio returned 8.2% net of fees for the quarter beating the peer group median by 0.3% but lagged its benchmark by (0.6%). Over the 1-year period 

the Total Portfolio posted double digit results and outperformed its assumed rate of return1 by 10.3% and its peer group median by 3.0%, however lagged the 

benchmark by (0.3%). Underperformance over both periods is primarily attributable to Garcia Hamilton. Over the trailing 3- and 5-year periods, the Total Portfolio 

has performed in line with its index and done very well versus peers placing in the 4th and 15th percentile, respectively. 

    Quarter 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 

Total Portfolio (Gross of Fees)2 8.3 15.7 5.3 9.6 

Total Portfolio (Net of Fees) 8.2 15.5 5.1 9.4 

Policy Benchmark3 8.8 15.8 5.1 9.2 

Excess Return (Net) (0.6) (0.3) 0.0 0.2 

Public DB $250M-$1B Peer Median 7.9 12.7 3.3 8.4 
 

 
1 Assumed rate of return is 5.25%. 
2 Total Gross of Fees amounts estimated using the following manager fee schedule: Vanguard LCE = 4 bps, Vanguard MCE & SCE = 8 bps, Glenmede = 65 bps, GH = 19 bps 

3 Policy Benchmark consists of 39% S&P 500 Index, 30% Bloomberg US Aggregate A+ Bond Index, 20% CBOE BXM Index, 7% S&P Mid Cap 400 Index, 4% S&P Small Cap 600 Index as of 9/30/2014. Prior to 9/30/2014 Policy Benchmark consisted 

of 45% S&P 500 Index, 43% BBgBarc US Aggregate A+ Bond Index, 8% S&P Mid Cap 400 Index, 4% S&P Small Cap 600 Index. 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Page 4 of 10 

217



Summary of Cash Flows

QTD 1 Year

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio

   Beginning Market Value 377,557,831 355,406,957

   Net Cash Flow -554,775 -2,325,772

   Net Investment Change 30,994,247 54,916,118

   Ending Market Value 407,997,303 407,997,303

Return Summary - Net of Fees

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio Nevada Prepaid Custom Benchmark

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

R
a

te 
o

f
 

R
e

tu
rn 

%

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 7 Years

8.8

15.8

5.1

9.2
7.98.2

15.5

5.1

9.4

7.9

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Performance| As of December 31, 2023

Page 5 of 10 

218



Market Value

($)
QTD (Rank) 1 Yr (Rank) 3 Yrs (Rank) 5 Yrs (Rank) 7 Yrs (Rank) 10 Yrs (Rank)

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio 407,997,303 8.2 (45) 15.5 (23) 5.1 (4) 9.4 (15) 7.9 (36) 7.5 (6)

      Nevada Prepaid Custom Benchmark 8.8 (30) 15.8 (20) 5.1 (4) 9.2 (26) 7.9 (36) 7.5 (7)

            Excess Return -0.6 -0.3 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0

  Public Equity 216,513,588 11.8 24.1 9.6 15.0 12.5 11.4

    Vanguard - Large Cap Equity 175,936,857 11.7 (46) 26.2 (25) 10.0 (24) 15.7 (17) 13.4 (14) 12.0 (8)

      S&P 500 Index 11.7 (45) 26.3 (24) 10.0 (23) 15.7 (16) 13.4 (14) 12.0 (7)

            Excess Return 0.0 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

    Vanguard - Mid Cap Equity 29,038,123 11.6 (47) 16.4 (39) 8.0 (25) 12.5 (32) 9.3 (35) 9.2 (16)

      S&P MidCap 400 Index 11.7 (46) 16.4 (37) 8.1 (24) 12.6 (30) 9.4 (33) 9.3 (15)

            Excess Return -0.1 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1

    Vanguard - Small Cap Equity 11,538,608 15.1 (6) 16.0 (55) 7.2 (31) 11.0 (45) 8.3 (27) 8.6 (10)

      S&P SmallCap 600 Index 15.1 (6) 16.1 (54) 7.3 (30) 11.0 (45) 8.3 (27) 8.7 (10)

            Excess Return 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.0 -0.1

  Fixed Income Composite 109,569,881 4.7 1.8 -4.0 0.2 0.6 1.1

    Garcia Hamilton 109,569,881 4.7 (98) 1.8 (100) -4.0 (89) -- -- --

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate: A+ 6.5 (76) 5.0 (84) -3.4 (44) 0.8 (75) 1.0 (67) 1.6 (62)

            Excess Return -1.8 -3.2 -0.6 -- -- --

  Covered Calls 80,694,850 4.1 14.8 6.3 8.3 6.1 --

    Glenmede Secured Options 80,694,850 4.1 (88) 14.8 (65) 6.3 (39) 8.3 (40) 6.1 (41) --

      CBOE S&P 500 Buy Write Index 4.2 (87) 11.8 (83) 6.1 (45) 6.2 (66) 5.5 (54) 5.7 (26)

            Excess Return -0.1 3.0 0.2 2.1 0.6 --

  Nevada Cash 1,218,983

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Manager Performance - Net of Fees | As of December 31, 2023

Policy Benchmark consists of 39% S&P 500 Index, 30% BBgBarc US Aggregate A+ Bond Index, 20% CBOE Buy Write Index, 7% S&P MidCap 400 Index, 4% S&P SmallCap 600 Index as of 9/30/2014. Prior to 9/30/2014 Policy
Benchmark consisted of 45% S&P 500 Index, 43% BBgBarc US Aggregate A+ Bond Index, 8% S&P MidCap 400 Index, 4% S&P SmallCap 600 Index.
Garcia Hamilton's all-in effective fee as of December 31, 2023 is 19 basis points. Please note the following tiered fee schedule: 25 basis points on the first $25 million, 20 basis points on the next $25 million, 14 basis points on the next $200
million, and 13 basis points thereafter.

Page 6 of 10 

219



Attribution Effects

1 Quarter Ending December 31, 2023

Selection Effect Allocation Effect Interaction Effect Total Effects

0.0% 0.2%-0.2 %-0.4 %-0.6 %

Cash

Glenmede

Garcia Hamilton

Vanugard Small Cap

Vanguard Mid Cap Equity

Vanguard Large Cap

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio

Attribution Summary

1 Quarter Ending December 31, 2023

Wtd. Actual

Return

(%)

Wtd. Index

Return

(%)

Excess

Return

(%)

Selection

Effect

(%)

Allocation

Effect

(%)

Interaction

(%)

Total

Effect

(%)

Vanguard Large Cap 11.7 11.7 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1

Vanguard Mid Cap Equity 11.6 11.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Vanugard Small Cap 15.1 15.1 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0 -0.1

Garcia Hamilton 4.7 6.5 -1.8 -0.5 0.1 0.0 -0.5

Glenmede 4.1 4.2 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Cash 0.0 1.4 -1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio 8.2 8.8 -0.6 -0.6 -0.1 0.0 -0.6

Total Fund Attribution | As of December 31, 2023

Performance shown is net of fees.

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Page 7 of 10 

220



Attribution Effects

1 Year Ending December 31, 2023

Selection Effect Allocation Effect Interaction Effect Total Effects

0.0% 0.3% 0.6% 0.9%-0.3 %-0.6 %-0.9 %-1.2 %

Cash

Glenmede

Garcia Hamilton

Vanugard Small Cap

Vanguard Mid Cap Equity

Vanguard Large Cap

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio

Attribution Summary

1 Year Ending December 31, 2023

Wtd. Actual

Return

(%)

Wtd. Index

Return

(%)

Excess

Return

(%)

Selection

Effect

(%)

Allocation

Effect

(%)

Interaction

(%)

Total

Effect

(%)

Vanguard Large Cap 26.2 26.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.2

Vanguard Mid Cap Equity 16.4 16.4 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1

Vanugard Small Cap 16.0 16.1 -0.1 0.0 -0.1 0.0 -0.1

Garcia Hamilton 1.8 5.0 -3.2 -1.1 0.1 0.1 -0.8

Glenmede 14.8 11.8 3.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.6

Cash 0.0 5.0 -5.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0 -0.1

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio 15.5 15.8 -0.3 -0.5 0.0 0.1 -0.3

Total Fund Attribution | As of December 31, 2023

Performance shown is net of fees.

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Page 8 of 10 

221



With respect to policy targets, all asset class weights were within their policy target ranges except for Cash which had a 0.3% allocation at the end

of the quarter. Generally, deviations from the policy target are within +/-1%. However, allocations to Large Cap Equity and Fixed Income fell

outside this range.

Current

Balance ($)

Current

Allocation (%)

Policy

(%)

Difference

(%)

Policy Range

(%)

Within IPS

Range?

Small Cap Equity 11,538,608 2.8 4.0 -1.2 1.0 - 7.0 Yes

Mid Cap Equity 29,038,123 7.1 7.0 0.1 2.0 - 12.0 Yes

Large Cap Equity 175,936,857 43.1 39.0 4.1 34.0 - 44.0 Yes

Fixed Income 109,569,881 26.9 30.0 -3.1 25.0 - 35.0 Yes

Covered Calls 80,694,850 19.8 20.0 -0.2 15.0 - 25.0 Yes

Cash 1,218,983 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 - 0.0 No

Total 407,997,303 100.0 100.0 0.0

Asset Allocation as of December 31, 2022

Cash

1.0%

Covered Calls

19.8%

Small Cap Equity

3.3%

Mid Cap Equity

7.0%

Large Cap Equity

39.5%

Fixed Income

29.4%

Asset Allocation as of December 31, 2023

Cash

0.3%

Covered Calls

19.8%

Fixed Income

26.9%

Small Cap Equity

2.8%

Mid Cap Equity

7.1%

Large Cap Equity

43.1%

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Actual versus Target Allocation | As of December 31, 2023

Page 9 of 10 

222



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  
 

Page 10 of 10 

223



THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 10 

February 21, 2024 
 
Item: Meketa Investment Group Inc. Investment 

Monitoring Report for 529 Plans for the period 
ended December 31, 2023 

 
Summary: 
In December of 2010 the Board hired Pension Consulting Alliance 
(PCA), now known as Meketa Investment Group Inc. (Meketa), to 
perform investment review services of the Nevada College Savings 
Plans. These services include an independent quarterly review of 
investment performance and fund monitoring of each underlying fund 
or portfolio within each of the four college savings plans. 
 
In May of 2011, the Board adopted the 2011 Comprehensive 
Investment Policies for College Savings outlining the criteria for 
investment monitoring and analysis, including the establishment of a 
“Watch List” process.  Attached is the quarterly report for the quarter 
ending December 31, 2023.  
 
Kay Ceserani with Meketa Investment Group Inc. will present this 
quarterly report.   
 
Fiscal Impact: None by this action.  
 
Staff recommended motion: 
Move to approve and accept the Nevada 529 College Savings 
Plans Investment Monitoring Report prepared by Meketa 
Investment Group Inc. for the quarter ending December 31, 
2023. 
 

224



BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI   NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM

Nevada College Savings Programs

February 21, 2024

4Q 2023 Investment Performance 
Status Report

225



Nevada College Savings Programs

1. Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

2. Performance Summary

3. Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

4. Enrollment Date Risk/Return Analysis

Agenda

Page 2 of 50 

226



Summary of Fund Performance and
Watch Status

Page 3 of 50 

227



Nevada College Savings Programs

Vanguard 529 Program

 73% of funds in the Vanguard Program have
either a Positive or Acceptable status.

 Fund status changes:

 One fund deteriorated during the quarter.
 Vanguard Star (Acceptable to Caution)

 One fund remains on Watch:
 Vanguard US Growth (24 months)

Watch**CautionAcceptablePositive
Total

Funds^Program

Vanguard 529 Plan

132915Number of Funds

7%20%13%60%100%Percentage

----------Fund Status 

--1----1Fund Status 

1----78US Equity Funds

--1----1Intl Equity Funds

--1225Fixed Income Funds

--1----1Other Funds*

^Money Market funds and Stable Value not included
*Includes Balanced, Commodities, REITs, and MLPs
**Reflects funds currently on “Watch” status and new funds qualifying for “Watch” status

Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

Page 4 of 50 

228



USAA 529 Program

 100% of funds in the USAA 529 Program have
either a Positive or Acceptable status.

 Fund status changes:

 No funds improved/deteriorated during the quarter.

Putnam 529 Program

 86% of funds in the Putnam Program have either
a Positive or Acceptable status.

 Fund status changes:

 Two funds improved during the quarter:
 Principal Mid Cap (Positive from Acceptable)
 Putnam Large Cap Growth (Acceptable from Watch)

 One fund deteriorated during the quarter:
 Putnam Core Bond

 One fund qualifies for watch:
 Federated Hermes Short-Int. Govt Bond (3 months)

Watch**CautionAcceptablePositive
Total

Funds^Program

USAA 529 Plan

001910Number of Funds

0%0%10%90%100%Percentage

----------Fund Status 

----------Fund Status 

------44US Equity Funds

----112Intl Equity Funds

------44Fixed Income Funds

----------Other Funds*

Putnam 529 for America

204814Number of Funds

14%0%29%57%100%Percentage

----112Fund Status 

----1--1Fund Status 

1----34US Equity Funds

------11Intl Equity Funds

1--315Fixed Income Funds

----134Other Funds*

^Money Market funds and Stable Value not included
*Includes Balanced, Absolute Return, Commodities, REITs, and MLPs
**Reflects funds currently on “Watch” status and new funds qualifying for “Watch” status

Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 5 of 50 

229



Nevada College Savings Programs

Wealthfront 529 Program

 89% of funds in the Wealthfront Program have
either a Positive or Acceptable status.

 Fund status changes:

 No funds improved/deteriorated during the quarter.

JP Morgan 529 Program

 81% of funds in the JP Morgan Program have
either a Positive or Acceptable status.

 Fund status changes:

 Three funds deteriorated during the quarter:

 JPMorgan Active Growth ETF (Caution)

 JPMorgan Active Value ETF (Acceptable)

 JPMorgan ActiveBuilders EM Eq ETF (Acceptable)

Watch**CautionAcceptablePositive
Total

Funds^Program

Wealthfront 529 Plan

--1--89Number of Funds

0%11%0%89%100%Percentage

----------Fund Status 

----------Fund Status 

------22US Equity Funds

--1--12Intl Equity Funds

------44Fixed Income Funds

------11Other Funds*

JP Morgan 529 Plan

0471021Number of Funds

9%19%33%48%100%Percentage

----------Fund Status 

--12--3Fund Status 

--1449US Equity Funds

--1113Intl Equity Funds

--2248Fixed Income Funds

------11Other Funds*

^Money Market funds and Stable Value not included
*Includes Balanced, Commodities, REITs, and MLPs
**Reflects funds currently on “Watch” status and new funds qualifying for “Watch” status

Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

Page 6 of 50 

230



Nevada College Savings Programs

Vanguard 529 Plan: Summary of Fund Performance Status

Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

Qualifies for Watch?Currently on Watch?Current Quarter StatusPrior Quarter Status
Portfolios

Passively Managed Funds

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard 500 Index Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Ttl Stock Mkt Indx Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Value Index Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Growth Index Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Mid-Cap Index Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Small Cap Index Fund

Short, MediumNOCautionCautionVanguard Ttl Intl Stock Index Fund*

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Total Bond Market Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Ttl Bond Market II Fund

Short-TermNOCautionCautionVanguard Ttl Intl Bond Market Fund*

Actively Managed Funds

Medium-TermYES (24)On WatchOn WatchVanguard US Growth Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Windsor Fund

NONOCautionAcceptableVanguard STAR Fund

NONOAcceptableAcceptableVanguard Infl-Prot Securities Fund

NONOAcceptableAcceptableVanguard High Yield Bond Fund

* Fund has been excluded from Watch status but remains below watch criteria.

Current status is based on evaluation results from short-term (rolling 12-months), medium-term (rolling 36-month) analysis.
According to the Investment Status Schedule, the portfolio’s overall “Current Status” equals the lowest status as achieved by one or more of the criteria during the quarter (see page Appendix for details).
Funds identified as “Currently on Watch” are those whose Watch status has been approved by the State Treasurer’s Office.
Funds identified as “Qualifying for Watch” have not necessarily been approved as being on Watch by the State Treasurer’s Office but qualify for Watch according to the approved Monitoring Criteria (see Appendix for details).

Page 7 of 50 

231



Nevada College Savings Programs

USAA 529 Plan: Summary of Fund Performance Status

Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

Qualifies for Watch?Currently on Watch?Current Quarter StatusPrior Quarter StatusPortfolios

NONOPositivePositiveVictory Nasdaq-100 Index

NONOPositivePositiveVictory Value Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVictory Income Stock Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVictory Small Cap Stock Fund

NONOAcceptableAcceptableVictory International Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVictory Emerging Markets Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVictory Income Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVictory Intermediate-Term Bond

NONOPositivePositiveVictory High Income Fund

NONOPositivePositiveVictory Short-Term Bond Fund

Current status is based on evaluation results from short-term (rolling 12-months), medium-term (rolling 36-month) analysis.
According to the Investment Status Schedule, the portfolio’s overall “Current Status” equals the lowest status as achieved by one or more of the criteria during the quarter (see page Appendix for details).
Funds identified as “Currently on Watch” are those whose Watch status has been approved by the State Treasurer’s Office.
Funds identified as “Qualifying for Watch” have not necessarily been approved as being on Watch by the State Treasurer’s Office but qualify for Watch according to the approved Monitoring Criteria (see Appendix for details).

Page 8 of 50 

232



Nevada College Savings Programs

Putnam 529 for America Plan: Summary Of Fund Performance Status

Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

Qualifies for Watch?Currently on Watch?Current Quarter StatusPrior Quarter StatusPortfolios

Portfolios for Age/Goal Based

NONOPositivePositiveGAA All Equity 

NONOPositivePositiveGAA Growth

NONOPositivePositiveGAA Balanced

NONOAcceptableAcceptableGAA Conservative

Individual Fund Options

NONOPositivePositiveState Street S&P 500 Index Fund

NONOPositivePositivePutnam Large Cap Value

NONOPositiveAcceptablePrincipal Mid Cap 

NOYES (9)On WatchOn WatchPutnam Large Growth

NONOPositivePositivePutnam Small Cap Value

NONOPositivePositiveMFS International Equity

NONOAcceptableAcceptablePutnam Income

Medium-TermYES (3)On WatchCautionFederated Hermes Short-Int. Gvt Fund

NONOAcceptableAcceptablePutnam High Yield

NONOAcceptablePositivePutnam Core Bond Fund

Absolute Return Funds

N/AN/AN/AN/APutnam Multi-Asset Income Fund

* Fund does not have performance history long enough to run watch criteria.

Current status is based on evaluation results from short-term (rolling 12-months), medium-term (rolling 36-month) analysis.
According to the Investment Status Schedule, the portfolio’s overall “Current Status” equals the lowest status as achieved by one or more of the criteria during the quarter (see page Appendix for details).
Funds identified as “Currently on Watch” are those whose Watch status has been approved by the State Treasurer’s Office.
Funds identified as “Qualifying for Watch” have not necessarily been approved as being on Watch by the State Treasurer’s Office but qualify for Watch according to the approved Monitoring Criteria (see Appendix for details).

Page 9 of 50 

233



Wealthfront 529 Plan: Summary of Fund Performance Status

Currently on Watch?Qualifies for Watch?
Current Quarter 

StatusPrior Quarter StatusPortfolios

Passively Managed Funds

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Total Stock Market ETF

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Dividend Appreciation ETF

Short, MediumNOCautionCautionVanguard FTSE Developed Markets ETF*

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard FTSE Emerging Markets ETF

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard REIT ETF

NONOPositivePositiveiShares iBoxx $ Invst. Grade Corp. Bond ETF

NONOPositivePositiveiShares JP Morgan USD Em. Mkt. Bond ETF

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Short Treasury Bond ETF

NONOPositivePositiveVanguard Short-Term Infl-Prot Securities ETF

* Fund has been excluded from Watch status but remains below watch criteria due to fair-value- pricing.

Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

Current status is based on evaluation results from short-term (rolling 12-months), medium-term (rolling 36-month) analysis.
According to the Investment Status Schedule, the portfolio’s overall “Current Status” equals the lowest status as achieved by one or more of the criteria during the quarter (see page Appendix for details).
Funds identified as “Currently on Watch” are those whose Watch status has been approved by the State Treasurer’s Office.
Funds identified as “Qualifying for Watch” have not necessarily been approved as being on Watch by the State Treasurer’s Office but qualify for Watch according to the approved Monitoring Criteria (see Appendix for details).

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 10 of 50 

234



JP Morgan 529 Plan: Summary of Fund Performance Status

Qualifies for Watch?Currently on Watch?
Current Quarter 

StatusPrior Quarter StatusPortfolios

Future Path – Passively Managed

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan BetaBuilders US Equity ETF

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan BetaBuilders US Mid Cap Equity ETF

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity ETF

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan BetaBuilders MSCI US REIT ETF

Short, MediumNOCautionCautionJP Morgan BetaBuilders Intl Equity ETF*

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan BetaBuilders Aggregate ETF

Short, MediumNOCautionCautionJP Morgan BetaBuilders $ High Yield Corp Bond ETF**

Short, MediumNOCautionCautionJP Morgan BetaBuilders $ Inv Grade Corp Bond ETF**

Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

Current status is based on evaluation results from short-term (rolling 12-months), medium-term (rolling 36-month) analysis.
According to the Investment Status Schedule, the portfolio’s overall “Current Status” equals the lowest status as achieved by one or more of the criteria during the quarter (see page Appendix for details).
Funds identified as “Currently on Watch” are those whose Watch status has been approved by the State Treasurer’s Office.
Funds identified as “Qualifying for Watch” have not necessarily been approved as being on Watch by the State Treasurer’s Office but qualify for Watch according to the approved Monitoring Criteria (see Appendix for details).

* Fund has been excluded from Watch status but remains below watch criteria due to fair-value- pricing.
** Fund has been excluded from Watch status but remains below watch criteria.

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 11 of 50 

235



Nevada College Savings Programs

JP Morgan 529 Plan: Summary of Fund Performance Status

Qualifies for Watch?Currently on Watch?
Current Quarter 

StatusPrior Quarter StatusPortfolios

Future Path – Actively Managed

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan US Equity Fund

NONOCautionAcceptableJP Morgan Active Growth ETF

NONOAcceptableAcceptableJP Morgan Growth Advantage Fund

NONOAcceptablePositiveJP Morgan Active Value ETF

NONOAcceptableAcceptableJP Morgan Value Advantage Fund

NONOAcceptableAcceptableJP Morgan US Sustainable Leaders 

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan Intl Research Enhanced Equity ETF

NONOAcceptablePositiveJP Morgan ActiveBuilders Emerging Markets Equity ETF

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan Core Bond Fund

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan Income ETF

NONOAcceptableAcceptableJP Morgan Inflation Managed Bond ETF

NONOAcceptableAcceptableJP Morgan Ultra-Short Income ETF

NONOPositivePositiveJP Morgan International Bond Opportunities ETF

Summary of Fund Performance and Watch Status

Current status is based on evaluation results from short-term (rolling 12-months), medium-term (rolling 36-month) analysis.
According to the Investment Status Schedule, the portfolio’s overall “Current Status” equals the lowest status as achieved by one or more of the criteria during the quarter (see page Appendix for details).
Funds identified as “Currently on Watch” are those whose Watch status has been approved by the State Treasurer’s Office.
Funds identified as “Qualifying for Watch” have not necessarily been approved as being on Watch by the State Treasurer’s Office but qualify for Watch according to the approved Monitoring Criteria (see Appendix for details).

Page 12 of 50 

236



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview - Vanguard

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Passively Managed

Donald M. Butler04/27/2016 – 12/21/2023
Michelle Louie
Aaron Choi
Nick Birkett

11/30/2017
08/04/2023
08/04/2023

VFIAXVanguard 500 Index

Gerard C. O’Reilly
Walter Nejman

04/27/2016
04/27/2016

VITPXVanguard Total Stock Mkt Index

Gerard C. O’Reilly
Walter Nejman

12/31/1994
04/27/2016

VIVIXVanguard Value Index

Gerard C. O’Reilly
Walter Nejman

12/31/1994
04/27/2016

VIGIXVanguard Growth Index

Michael A. Johnson
Donald M. Butler

04/27/2016-07/19/2021
05/21/1998-12/21/2023

Awais Khan 
Aurélie Denis
Aaron Choi

07/19/2021
02/17/2023
08/04/2023

VMCPXVanguard Mid-Cap Index

Gerard C. O’Reilly
Walter Nejman

04/27/2016
04/27/2016

VSCPXVanguard Small-Cap Index

Michael Perre
Christine D. Franquin

08/05/2008
11/30/2017

VGTSXVanguard Total Intl Stock Index

Joshua C. Barrickman02/22/2013VBMPXVanguard Total Bond Mkt Index

Joshua C. Barrickman01/31/2010VTBNXVanguard Total Bond Mkt II Index

Joshua C. Barrickman
Tara Talone

05/31/2013
09/30/2022

VTIFXVanguard Total Intl Bond Index

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 13 of 50 

237



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview - Vanguard

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Actively Managed

Christopher M. Ericksen
Daniel J. Prislin
Jeffrey S. Van Harte
James P. Stetler
Binbin Guo
Billy Montana
Cesar Orosco

10/07/2010 – 03/01/2021
10/07/2010 – 03/01/2021
10/07/2010 – 03/01/2021 
04/08/2019 - 02/07/2021
04/08/2019 - 09/30/2021
12/22/2020 - 03/01/2021
02/26/2021 - 05/26/2023

Andrew J. Shilling
Blair A. Boyer
Gary Robinson
Tom Slater

07/10/2010
02/21/2014
05/05/2015
11/30/2015

VWUAXVanguard US Growth Admiral 

Richard S. Pzena
Benjamin S. Silver
John J. Flynn
David W. Palmer 

08/02/2012
12/31/2014
02/23/2017
02/26/2018

VWNEXVanguard Windsor

William A. Coleman02/22/2013-02/17/2023
Walter Nejman
Aurélie Denis
Michael R. Roach 

02/22/2013
02/17/2023
02/17/2023

VGSTXVanguard STAR

Gemma Wright-Casparius08/19/2011-12/31/2021
John Madziyire11/08/2021VIPIXVanguard Infl-Prot Securities

Michael L. Hong02/14/2008-07/31/2023
Elizabeth H. Shortsleeve
Michael Chang

08/29/2022
08/29/2022

VWEAXVanguard High Yield Corp Bond

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 14 of 50 

238



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview - USAA

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Wasif A. Latif07/01/2019-02/12/2021
Mannik S. Dhillon
Free Foutz

07/01/2019
09/16/2022

UINQXVictory Nasdaq-100 Index

Tyler Dann
Wasif A. Latif

07/07/2019-01/04/2021
07/01/2019-02/12/2021

Joseph M. Mainelli
Mannik S. Dhillon
Robert J. Harris

07/01/2019
07/01/2019
07/01/2019

UVALXVictory Value

Wasif A. Latif
07/01/2019-02/12/2021

Mannik S. Dhillon
Elie J. Masri
Lance Humphrey

07/01/2019
02/12/2021
02/12/2021

USISXVictory Income Stock

Timothy J. Petryk
Gary C. Hatton
Wasif A. Latif
Brian S. Matuszak
Gavin Hayman
Robert D. Glise
Robert E. Crosby
Sean D. Wright
Tony Y. Dong
Edmund C. Griffin
Tyler Dann

07/31/2008-03/19/2021
07/11/2012-12/01/2021
07/01/2019-09/30/2022
07/01/2019-09/30/2022
07/01/2019-09/30/2022
07/01/2019-09/30/2022
07/01/2019-09/30/2022
07/01/2019-09/30/2022
07/01/2019-09/30/2022
12/01/2019-03/19/2021
06/30/2020-01/04/2021

Andrew L. Beja
Jennifer Pawloski
David M. Rose
Jeffrey A. Harrison
Mannik S. Dhillon
Joseph M. Mainelli
Robert J. Harris
Adam I. Friedman
Christopher N. Cuesta
Daniel G. Bandi
Daniel J. DeMonica
J. Bryan Tinsley
Joe A. Gilbert
Manish Maheshwar
Michael P. Wayton
Richard Watson
Kelvin Wong

07/11/2012
07/11/2012
03/31/2015
07/31/2015
07/01/2019
06/30/2020
06/30/2020
03/19/2021
03/19/2021
03/19/2021
03/19/2021
03/19/2021
03/19/2021
03/19/2021
03/19/2021
08/31/2021
09/01/2023

USCAXVictory Small Cap Stock

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 15 of 50 

239



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview - USAA

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Ciprian Marin
Craig Scholl
Paul Moghtader
Susanne Willumse
Taras Ivanenko
Wasif A. Latif
Jason Williams
Peter Kashanek

08/28/2015-03/01/2021
08/28/2015-03/01/2021
08/28/2015-03/01/2021
08/28/2015-03/01/2021
08/28/2015-03/01/2021
07/01/2019-02/12/2021
01/10/2020-03/01/2021
10/01/2020-03/01/2021

Andrew M. Corry
James H. Shakin
Adam Mezan
Jeffrey R. Sullivan
Mannik S. Dhillon
Peter S. Carpenter
U-Wen Kok
Christopher N. Cuesta
Manish Maheshwari

08/28/2015
08/28/2015
07/01/2019
07/01/2019
07/01/2019
07/01/2019
07/01/2019
03/01/2021
03/01/2021

USIFXVictory International

Christopher J. Garrett
Gerardo Zamorano
Louis Y. Lau
Mauricio Abadia
Wasif A. Latif
Michael Ade

10/16/2012-06/29/2020
10/16/2012-06/29/2020
10/16/2012-06/29/2020
02/29/2016-06/29/2020
07/01/2019-02/12/2021
07/31/2019-05/01/2020

Jai Jacob
James M. Donald
Kevin O’Hare
Stephen Marra
John W. Evers
Mannik S. Dhillon
Maria Freund
Michael L. Reynal
Robert D. Cerow

10/16/2012
10/16/2012
10/16/2012
10/01/2013
07/01/2019
07/01/2019
07/01/2019
07/01/2019
07/01/2019

USEMXVictory Emerging Mkts

Julianne Bass07/16/2012-11/01/2022

Brian W. Smith
John Spear
Kurt Daum
James F. Jackson
R. Neal Graves

12/01/2013
11/04/2016
11/04/2016
07/01/2019
07/01/2019

USAIXVictory Income

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 16 of 50 

240



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview - USAA

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Julianne Bass07/16/2012-11/01/2022

Brian W. Smith
John Spear
Kurt Daum
James F. Jackson
R. Neal Graves

12/01/2013
11/04/2016
11/04/2016
07/01/2019
07/01/2019

USIBXVictory Intrm-Term Bond

Julianne Bass07/16/2012-11/01/2022

John Spear
Kurt Daum
James F. Jackson
R. Neal Graves

11/04/2016
11/04/2016
07/01/2019
07/01/2019

USHYXVictory High Income

Julianne Bass07/16/2012-11/01/2022

Brian W. Smith
John Spear
Kurt Daum
James F. Jackson
R. Neal Graves
Douglas J. Rollwitz

12/01/2013
11/04/2016
11/04/2016
07/01/2019
07/01/2019
12/01/2019

USSBXVictory Short-Term Bond

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 17 of 50 

241



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview - Putnam

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Darren A. Jaroch
Lauren B. DeMore

08/29/2012
08/31/2019

PGOYX
Putnam Large Cap Value

Bill Nolin
Thomas Rozyci

12/06/2000
03/01/2013

PCBIXPrincipal Mid Cap Blend

Richard E. Bodzy
Greg McCullough

08/02/2017
05/31/2019

PEIYXPutnam Large Cap Growth

Michael Petro01/31/2019PYSVXPutnam Small Cap Value

Daniel Ling
Filipe M.G. Benzinho

10/01/2009
05/01/2016

MIEIXMFS Institutional Intl Equity

D. William Kohli
Paul D. Scanlon
Norman P. Boucher

12/23/2008-06/30/2021
12/23/2008-03/31/2022
03/31/2022-02/28/2023

Michael V. Salm
Albert Chan
Andrew Benson
Sriketan Mahanti

12/23/2008
02/28/2017
02/28/2023
02/28/2023

PYTRXPutnam Core Bond Fund

Emily E. Shanks02/28/2017-08/31/2021
Michael V. Salm
Brett Kozlowski
Andrew Benson

06/30/2007
07/27/2011
08/31/2021

PNCYXPutnam Income

J. Andrew Kirschler
Todd A. Abraham

07/05/2013
05/31/2017

FIGTXFederated Hermes Short-Intl Gvt

Paul D. Scanlon12/31/2002-03/31/2022
Norman P. Boucher
Robert L. Salvin

11/30/2005
11/30/2005

PHAYXPutnam High Yield

James A. Fetch
Robert J. Schoen
Brett Goldstein
Adrian H. Chan

12/23/2008
12/23/2008
03/31/2019
06/30/2021

N/APutnam Multi-Asset Income Fund

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 18 of 50 

242



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview - Wealthfront

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Gerard C. O’Reilly
Walter Nejman
Michelle Louie

12/31/1994
04/27/2016
02/17/2023

VTIVanguard Total Stock Mkt ETF

Gerard C. O’Reilly
Walter Nejman

05/25/2016
05/25/2016

VIGVanguard Div Appreciation ETF

Christine D. Franquin
Michael Perre

02/22/2013
11/30/2017

VEAVanguard FTSE Dev Mkts ETF

Michael Perre
Jeffrey D. Miller

08/29/2008
02/26/2016

VWOVanguard FTSE Emerging Mkts ETF

Gerard C. O’Reilly
Walter Nejman

05/13/1996
05/25/2016

VNQVanguard REIT ETF

Scott Radell07/01/2010-06/29/2021
James J. Mauro
Karen Uyehara

07/01/2011
06/29/2021

LQDiShares iBoxx $ Inv Grade Corp Bond ETF

Scott Radell07/01/2010-03/01/2021
James J. Mauro
Karen Uyehara

07/01/2011
03/01/2021

EMBiShares JP Morgan USD EM Bond ETF

Scott Radell07/01/2010-06/29/2021
James J. Mauro
Karen Uyehara

07/01/2011
06/29/2021

SHViShares Short Treasury Bond ETF

Joshua C. Barrickman10/12/2012VTIP
Vanguard Short-Term Infl Prot Sec Index 
ETF

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 19 of 50 

243



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview – JP Morgan

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Passively Managed

Alex Hamilton
Michael Loeffler
Nicholas D’ Eramo
Oliver Furby

03/12/2019
03/12/2019
03/12/2019
03/12/2019

BBUSJP Morgan BetaBuilders US Equity ETF

Alex Hamilton
Michael Loeffler
Nicholas D’ Eramo
Oliver Furby

04/14/2020
04/14/2020
04/14/2020
04/14/2020

BBMCJP Morgan  BetaBuilders US Mid Cap

Alex Hamilton
Michael Loeffler
Nicholas D’ Eramo
Oliver Furby

11/16/2020
11/16/2020
11/16/2020
11/16/2020

BBSCJP Morgan  BetaBuilders US Small Cap

Alex Hamilton
Michael Loeffler
Nicholas D’ Eramo
Oliver Furby

06/15/2018
06/15/2018
06/15/2018
06/15/2018

BBREJP Morgan BetaBuilders MSCI US REIT ETF

Alex Hamilton
Michael Loeffler
Nicholas D’ Eramo
Oliver Furby

03/12/2019
03/12/2019
03/12/2019
03/12/2019

BBINJP Morgan BetaBuilders Intl Equity ETF

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 20 of 50 

244



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview – JP Morgan

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Passively Managed (continued)

Niels Schuehle
Eric J Isenberg
Behnood Noei
Jonathan Msika

12/12/2018-02/01/2023
12/12/2018-12/01/2023
06/17/2021-10/19/2022
01/06/2021-07/14/2023

Naveen Kumar
Supreet Khandate
Evan Olonoff
Jan Ho

12/12/2018
07/14/2023
10/12/2023
10/12/2023

BBAGJP Morgan BetaBuilders Aggregate ETF

Naveen Kumar
Qiwei Zhu
Supreet Khandate
Edward Gibbons
John Lux

10/4/2021
10/4/2021
07/14/2023
10/12/2023
10/12/2023

BBHYJP Morgan BetaBuilders $ HY Corp Bd ETF

Lisa Coleman
Ghupinder Bahra
Frederick Bourgoin
Sameer Iqbal
Lorenzo Napolitano
Eric J Isenberg
Jonathan Msika

12/12/2018-12/01/2023
01/06/2021-07/14/2023

Naveen Kumar
Qiwei Zhu
Supreet Khandate
Sameer Iqbal

10/04/2021
10/04/2021
07/14/2023
10/12/2023

BBCBJP Morgan BetaBuilders $ IG Corp Bd ETF

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 21 of 50 

245



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview – JP Morgan

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Actively Managed

David Small07/21/2016-11/01/2023
Scott B. Davis
Shilpee Raina

08/18/2014
11/01/2021

JUEMXJP Morgan  US Equity Fund-R6

Andrew Stern
Wonseok Choi
Lei (Grace) Liu

11/01/2018
11/01/2019
11/01/2023

JGROJP Morgan Active Growth ETF

Timothy RV Parton
Felise Agranoff
Larry H. Lee

01/01/2002
11/01/2020
07/12/2022

JGVVXJP Morgan  Growth Advantage Fund

Scott Blasdell
Andrew Brandon
Clare A. Hart
David Silberman

10/04/2021
10/04/2021
10/04/2021
10/04/2021

JAVAJP Morgan Active Value ETF

Gloria H. Fu
Lawrence E. Playford

05/01/2006-02/12/2019
02/28/2005-11/01/2022

Jonathan K.L. Simon
Graham Spence

02/28/2005
11/01/2020

JVAYX
JP Morgan  Growth Value Fund

Jason  Alonzo
Jonathan Tse

2021
2023

Andrew Stern
Wonseok Choi
Lei (Grace) Liu

11/01/2018
11/01/2019
11/01/2023

JIISXJP Morgan US Sustainable Leaders

Nicholas Farserotu
Piera Elisa Grassi
Winnie Cheung

10/28/1992
10/28/1992
10/28/1992

JIREJP Morgan Intl Research Enh Equity ETF

Anuj Arora
Joyce Weng
Harold Yu

03/10/2021
03/10/2021
03/01/2022

JEMAJP Morgan ActiveBuilders EM Eq ETF

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 22 of 50 

246



Nevada College Savings Programs

Portfolio Manager Overview – JP Morgan

Summary of Fund Performance Status

Recent PM  Departures*Current PM TeamTickerFund

Actively Managed (continued)

Steven S. Lear01/0602021-01/01/2024

Richard D. Figuly
Justin Rucker
Andrew Melchiorre
Edward Fitzpatrick

09/14/2015
03/27/2019
05/23/2023
05/23/2023

JCBUXJP Morgan Core Bond Fund

Thomas J. Hauser
Andrew Headley
J. Andrew Norelli

10/28/2021
10/28/2021
10/28/2021

JPIEJP Morgan Income ETF

Scott E. Grimshaw
Steven S. Lear
David P. Rooney
Edward Fitzpatrick

03/31/2010
12/31/2013
12/31/2015
07/01/2023

JCPIJP Morgan Inflation Managed Bond ETF

Cecilia Junker
David N. Martucci
James McNerny
Kyongsoo Noh

05/17/2017
05/17/2017
05/17/2017
05/17/2017

JPSTJP Morgan Ultra-Short Income ETF

Diana Kiluta Amoa2021

Robert Michele
Iain T. Stealey
Peter Aspbury
Lisa Coleman

04/03/2017
04/03/2017
07/01/2020
07/01/2020

JPIBJP Morgan Intl Bond Opportunities ETF

*Recent is defined as having occurred in the last three years. Source: Morningstar

Page 23 of 50 

247



Performance Summary

Page 24 of 50 

248



QTR 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Vanguard 529

Vanguard Plan - Passive

    Vanguard 500 Index 11.7 (46) 26.2 (25) 10.0 (25) 15.6 (18) -18.1 (51) 28.7 (21) 18.4 (36) 31.5 (22) -4.4 (25)

      S&P 500 Index 11.7 (45) 26.3 (24) 10.0 (23) 15.7 (16) -18.1 (49) 28.7 (20) 18.4 (35) 31.5 (22) -4.4 (24)

    Vanguard Total Stock Mkt Index 12.2 (25) 26.1 (29) 8.5 (64) 15.1 (35) -19.5 (76) 25.8 (62) 21.0 (17) 30.9 (38) -5.1 (44)

      CRSP U.S. Total Market TR Index 12.1 (26) 26.0 (32) 8.4 (65) 15.1 (36) -19.5 (76) 25.7 (62) 21.0 (17) 30.8 (39) -5.2 (44)

    Vanguard Value Index 9.1 (63) 9.3 (66) 10.6 (34) 11.7 (39) -2.1 (19) 26.5 (44) 2.3 (56) 25.8 (47) -5.4 (16)

      CRSP U.S. Large Cap Value TR Index 9.0 (65) 9.2 (67) 10.6 (34) 11.7 (39) -2.0 (19) 26.5 (44) 2.3 (56) 25.9 (46) -5.4 (16)

    Vanguard Growth Index 14.4 (36) 46.8 (16) 7.7 (23) 19.2 (9) -33.1 (68) 27.3 (17) 40.2 (33) 37.3 (13) -3.3 (67)

      CRSP U.S. Large Cap Growth TR Index 14.4 (35) 46.9 (16) 7.7 (22) 19.2 (9) -33.1 (68) 27.3 (17) 40.3 (33) 37.3 (13) -3.3 (68)

    Vanguard Mid-Cap Index 12.3 (33) 16.0 (48) 5.5 (68) 12.7 (26) -18.7 (79) 24.5 (41) 18.3 (21) 31.1 (20) -9.2 (28)

      CRSP U.S. Mid Cap TR Index 12.3 (33) 16.0 (49) 5.5 (69) 12.7 (27) -18.7 (79) 24.5 (41) 18.2 (21) 31.1 (19) -9.2 (29)

    Vanguard Small-Cap Index 13.4 (38) 18.2 (24) 4.7 (63) 11.7 (31) -17.6 (57) 17.7 (78) 19.1 (23) 27.4 (18) -9.3 (19)

      CRSP U.S. Small Cap TR Index 13.4 (38) 18.1 (25) 4.6 (64) 11.7 (33) -17.6 (58) 17.7 (79) 19.1 (24) 27.3 (19) -9.3 (20)

    Vanguard Total Intl Stock Index 10.0 (51) 15.4 (65) 1.7 (64) 7.3 (68) -16.1 (56) 8.6 (69) 11.2 (38) 21.4 (62) -14.4 (43)

      FTSE Global ex USA All Cap Index 9.8 (56) 16.2 (53) 2.2 (55) 7.8 (52) -15.8 (52) 9.1 (64) 11.5 (35) 22.2 (47) -14.4 (42)

    Vanguard Total Bond Mkt Index 6.7 (52) 5.7 (44) -3.3 (40) 1.1 (45) -13.1 (35) -1.6 (53) 7.7 (51) 8.7 (34) 0.0 (28)

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Float Adjusted 6.7 (49) 5.6 (51) -3.3 (39) 1.2 (42) -13.1 (31) -1.6 (49) 7.7 (51) 8.9 (31) -0.1 (31)

    Vanguard Total Bond Mkt II Index 6.7 (59) 5.7 (47) -3.4 (42) 1.0 (53) -13.1 (33) -1.7 (55) 7.4 (64) 8.7 (37) 0.0 (29)

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Float Adjusted 6.7 (49) 5.6 (51) -3.3 (39) 1.2 (42) -13.1 (31) -1.6 (49) 7.7 (51) 8.9 (31) -0.1 (31)

    Vanguard Total Intl Bond Index 6.5 (53) 8.9 (26) -2.5 (50) 0.9 (73) -12.9 (60) -2.2 (62) 4.6 (79) 7.9 (64) 3.0 (3)

      Blmbg. Global Agg ex-USD Flt Adj RIC Cpd (H) 6.4 (72) 8.7 (32) -2.4 (49) 1.0 (66) -12.7 (56) -2.1 (57) 4.7 (71) 8.1 (60) 3.2 (2)

Performance Summary | As of December 31, 2023

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 25 of 50 

249



Performance Summary | As of December 31, 2023

QTR 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Vanguard Plan - Active

    Vanguard US Growth Admiral 15.4 (18) 45.3 (21) -0.4 (88) 15.9 (53) -39.6 (91) 12.5 (87) 58.7 (9) 33.5 (43) 0.7 (27)

      Russell 1000 Growth Index 14.2 (44) 42.7 (32) 8.9 (10) 19.5 (7) -29.1 (36) 27.6 (15) 38.5 (38) 36.4 (20) -1.5 (51)

    Vanguard Windsor 11.0 (21) 15.0 (20) 12.7 (9) 15.0 (5) -3.0 (26) 28.1 (27) 7.5 (17) 30.5 (7) -12.4 (87)

      Russell 1000 Value Index 9.5 (52) 11.5 (47) 8.9 (67) 10.9 (60) -7.5 (70) 25.2 (62) 2.8 (50) 26.5 (37) -8.3 (41)

    Vanguard STAR 10.4 (7) 17.1 (16) 1.7 (81) 9.3 (19) -18.0 (91) 9.7 (90) 21.4 (5) 22.2 (13) -5.3 (43)

      STAR Composite Benchmark 9.3 (48) 16.4 (20) 3.4 (45) 8.8 (29) -15.2 (50) 12.0 (62) 14.6 (27) 20.6 (28) -4.7 (32)

    Vanguard Infl-Prot Securities 4.6 (35) 3.8 (48) -1.1 (48) 3.0 (44) -11.9 (56) 5.7 (30) 11.0 (29) 8.2 (34) -1.4 (46)

      Blmbg. U.S. TIPS 4.7 (31) 3.9 (47) -1.0 (46) 3.2 (33) -11.8 (54) 6.0 (23) 11.0 (30) 8.4 (19) -1.3 (37)

    Vanguard High Yield Corp Bond 7.3 (9) 11.7 (62) 1.8 (47) 5.2 (28) -9.0 (22) 3.8 (77) 5.4 (50) 15.9 (8) -2.9 (49)

      Blmbg. U.S. Corp: High Yield Index 7.2 (15) 13.4 (13) 2.0 (42) 5.4 (21) -11.2 (61) 5.3 (40) 7.1 (19) 14.3 (37) -2.1 (26)

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 26 of 50 

250



Performance Summary | As of December 31, 2023

QTR 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

USAA 529

    Victory Nasdaq-100 Index 14.5 (34) 54.5 (3) 9.7 (5) 22.1 (2) -32.7 (65) 26.9 (19) 48.3 (18) 38.9 (7) -0.4 (38)

      NASDAQ 100 Stock Index 14.6 (30) 55.1 (2) 10.2 (3) 22.7 (1) -32.4 (62) 27.5 (16) 48.9 (17) 39.5 (5) 0.0 (33)

    Victory Value 8.9 (68) 13.9 (27) 10.6 (35) 10.8 (62) -5.7 (53) 25.9 (53) -1.0 (83) 24.9 (59) -12.8 (89)

      Russell 1000 Value Index 9.5 (52) 11.5 (47) 8.9 (67) 10.9 (60) -7.5 (70) 25.2 (62) 2.8 (50) 26.5 (37) -8.3 (41)

    Victory Income Stock 11.0 (22) 12.0 (42) 10.7 (31) 11.0 (58) -4.2 (38) 26.5 (44) 0.3 (74) 23.6 (73) -5.5 (17)

      MSCI USA High Dividend Yield Index (Net) 8.1 (85) 5.8 (86) 6.9 (91) 8.3 (94) -4.6 (42) 20.9 (92) 0.6 (72) 21.3 (89) -3.2 (6)

    Victory Small Cap Stock 12.7 (56) 17.3 (34) 3.5 (74) 11.8 (28) -20.0 (76) 18.1 (77) 22.2 (8) 29.0 (11) -9.9 (24)

      Russell 2000 Index 14.0 (21) 16.9 (40) 2.2 (84) 10.0 (67) -20.4 (82) 14.8 (87) 20.0 (15) 25.5 (37) -11.0 (36)

    Victory International 10.8 (22) 17.4 (35) 4.3 (18) 7.5 (60) -15.9 (53) 14.8 (6) 3.3 (93) 22.8 (40) -14.0 (34)

      MSCI EAFE Index 10.5 (37) 18.9 (17) 4.5 (14) 8.7 (23) -14.0 (21) 11.8 (28) 8.3 (58) 22.7 (42) -13.4 (20)

    Victory Emerging Mkts 7.3 (63) 16.0 (21) -2.9 (31) 5.6 (25) -20.2 (31) -1.2 (49) 16.7 (59) 22.9 (35) -19.9 (82)

      MSCI Emerging Markets (Net) 7.9 (48) 9.8 (60) -5.1 (44) 3.7 (56) -20.1 (30) -2.5 (58) 18.3 (47) 18.4 (65) -14.6 (30)

    Victory Income 7.1 (16) 7.1 (99) -2.3 (100) 2.3 (99) -13.4 (93) 0.4 (99) 8.2 (8) 11.1 (83) -1.4 (16)

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 6.8 (33) 5.5 (100) -3.3 (100) 1.1 (100) -13.0 (92) -1.5 (100) 7.5 (14) 8.7 (93) 0.0 (6)

    Victory Intrm-Term Bond 6.3 (89) 7.2 (17) -1.9 (8) 2.8 (4) -12.7 (17) 0.9 (7) 9.4 (25) 11.1 (10) -1.0 (59)

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 6.8 (61) 5.5 (74) -3.3 (51) 1.1 (68) -13.0 (26) -1.5 (81) 7.5 (71) 8.7 (68) 0.0 (20)

    Victory High Income 6.6 (42) 13.1 (20) 2.1 (38) 4.5 (58) -10.9 (55) 5.6 (32) 3.7 (77) 13.1 (60) -3.5 (69)

      Credit Suisse High Yield Index 6.8 (34) 13.6 (12) 2.3 (31) 5.2 (28) -10.6 (46) 5.5 (35) 5.5 (47) 14.0 (44) -2.4 (33)

    Victory Short-Term Bond 3.4 (35) 6.3 (21) 1.4 (5) 2.8 (6) -2.9 (5) 1.1 (14) 4.5 (34) 5.0 (35) 1.2 (28)

      Blmbg. 1-3 Year Gov/Credit index 2.7 (89) 4.6 (83) 0.1 (45) 1.5 (66) -3.7 (17) -0.5 (58) 3.3 (70) 4.0 (77) 1.6 (9)

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 27 of 50 

251



Performance Summary | As of December 31, 2023

QTR 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Putnam 529 for America

Age/Goal Based Portfolios

    GAA All Equity 12.0 (40) 26.0 (19) 7.6 (60) 12.3 (63) -18.9 (70) 21.7 (79) 16.3 (46) 23.4 (84) -10.0 (63)

      GAA All Equity Benchmark 11.5 (64) 23.5 (36) 6.9 (68) 13.2 (51) -18.2 (59) 21.0 (81) 18.3 (32) 28.5 (47) -7.4 (45)

    GAA Growth 10.7 (76) 21.0 (46) 6.0 (77) 10.4 (83) -16.7 (45) 18.1 (89) 14.5 (55) 20.5 (95) -8.9 (55)

      GAA Growth Benchmark 10.6 (77) 20.2 (49) 5.2 (82) 11.1 (78) -16.9 (47) 16.7 (91) 16.5 (45) 24.5 (79) -5.9 (34)

    GAA Balanced 9.7 (87) 17.6 (60) 4.5 (86) 8.5 (96) -15.2 (32) 14.4 (95) 12.1 (70) 17.8 (97) -6.7 (41)

      GAA Balanced Benchmark 9.8 (86) 17.2 (63) 3.7 (89) 9.2 (93) -15.9 (37) 13.2 (98) 14.8 (54) 21.4 (93) -3.9 (13)

    GAA Conservative 8.1 (96) 10.7 (94) 0.3 (99) 4.6 (100) -14.0 (25) 6.2 (100) 9.6 (81) 13.3 (99) -4.1 (13)

      GAA Conservative Benchmark 8.3 (96) 11.5 (92) 0.4 (99) 5.4 (100) -14.3 (26) 5.8 (100) 11.4 (73) 15.2 (99) -1.9 (6)

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 28 of 50 

252



Performance Summary | As of December 31, 2023

QTR 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Individual Funds

    State Street S&P 500 ETF 11.6 (49) 26.1 (27) 9.9 (26) 15.6 (20) -18.1 (50) 28.6 (22) 18.4 (35) 31.3 (27) -4.4 (26)

      S&P 500 Index 11.7 (45) 26.3 (24) 10.0 (23) 15.7 (16) -18.1 (49) 28.7 (20) 18.4 (35) 31.5 (22) -4.4 (24)

    Putnam Large Cap Value 9.5 (52) 15.6 (18) 12.6 (10) 14.6 (6) -2.8 (25) 27.2 (37) 6.1 (24) 30.2 (7) -8.1 (38)

      Russell 1000 Value Index 9.5 (52) 11.5 (47) 8.9 (67) 10.9 (60) -7.5 (70) 25.2 (62) 2.8 (50) 26.5 (37) -8.3 (41)

    Principal Mid Cap Blend 14.8 (12) 25.9 (17) 6.6 (5) 15.4 (9) -23.2 (17) 25.3 (5) 18.3 (96) 42.9 (3) -6.7 (65)

      Russell Midcap Index 12.8 (45) 17.2 (78) 5.9 (6) 12.7 (52) -17.3 (6) 22.6 (9) 17.1 (98) 30.5 (76) -9.1 (84)

    Putnam Large Cap Growth 15.0 (24) 44.6 (23) 7.4 (26) 18.7 (13) -30.2 (44) 22.8 (44) 38.8 (37) 36.7 (17) 2.5 (14)

      Russell 1000 Growth Index 14.2 (44) 42.7 (32) 8.9 (10) 19.5 (7) -29.1 (36) 27.6 (15) 38.5 (38) 36.4 (20) -1.5 (51)

    Putnam Small Cap Value 16.5 (6) 23.8 (7) 14.6 (12) 14.2 (12) -13.1 (66) 39.9 (7) 3.8 (47) 24.2 (29) -19.5 (90)

      Russell 2000 Value Index 15.3 (17) 14.6 (59) 7.9 (84) 10.0 (76) -14.5 (81) 28.3 (64) 4.6 (39) 22.4 (45) -12.9 (26)

    MFS Institutional Intl Equity 12.0 (47) 19.0 (21) 5.3 (2) 10.7 (13) -14.8 (3) 15.2 (10) 11.1 (97) 28.4 (45) -10.7 (21)

      MSCI EAFE Index 10.5 (79) 18.9 (23) 4.5 (2) 8.7 (41) -14.0 (3) 11.8 (24) 8.3 (99) 22.7 (95) -13.4 (46)

    Putnam Core Bond Fund 6.7 (47) 4.8 (89) 0.2 (1) 2.1 (4) -0.4 (1) -3.6 (100) 0.8 (100) 9.4 (17) 0.9 (5)

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 6.8 (39) 5.5 (56) -3.3 (38) 1.1 (48) -13.0 (29) -1.5 (48) 7.5 (58) 8.7 (36) 0.0 (27)

    Putnam Income 6.8 (58) 5.1 (84) -4.1 (84) 1.1 (68) -12.8 (21) -3.6 (98) 7.2 (76) 11.7 (5) 0.6 (10)

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 6.8 (61) 5.5 (74) -3.3 (51) 1.1 (68) -13.0 (26) -1.5 (81) 7.5 (71) 8.7 (68) 0.0 (20)

    Federated Hermes Short-Int Gvt 4.1 (17) 3.9 (65) -2.5 (98) 0.5 (76) -8.7 (95) -2.4 (94) 5.8 (4) 4.6 (6) 0.9 (59)

      ICE BofA 3-5 Year U.S. Treasury 4.0 (17) 4.4 (27) -1.9 (84) 1.0 (33) -7.9 (88) -2.0 (87) 6.1 (2) 5.2 (6) 1.5 (11)

    Putnam High Yield 6.6 (41) 12.4 (42) 1.4 (63) 4.8 (46) -11.7 (76) 5.1 (45) 5.9 (37) 14.2 (40) -3.5 (69)

      JP Morgan Developed High Yield Index 6.9 (29) 13.8 (9) 2.6 (25) 5.4 (20) -10.5 (45) 5.9 (24) 5.3 (50) 14.6 (31) -2.4 (33)

Absolute Return Funds

    Putnam Multi-Asset Income Fund 8.2 (12) 11.2 (8) 1.1 (12) -- -12.4 (47) 6.0 (13) 8.3 (50) -- --

       Putnam Multi-Asset Income Blended Benchmark 8.2 (15) 12.0 (4) 0.8 (16) -- -13.8 (71) 6.1 (10) 10.7 (8) -- --

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 29 of 50 

253



Performance Summary | As of December 31, 2023

QTR 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Wealthfront

    Vanguard Total Stock Mkt ETF 12.2 (25) 26.0 (30) 8.4 (65) 15.1 (37) -19.5 (76) 25.7 (62) 20.9 (18) 30.8 (40) -5.1 (44)

      CRSP U.S. Total Market TR Index 12.1 (26) 26.0 (32) 8.4 (65) 15.1 (36) -19.5 (76) 25.7 (62) 21.0 (17) 30.8 (39) -5.2 (44)

    Vanguard Div Appreciation ETF 10.2 (79) 14.4 (90) 8.5 (63) 13.8 (66) -9.8 (10) 23.6 (84) 15.5 (61) 29.7 (54) -2.0 (9)

      NASDAQ U.S. Dividend Achievers Select Index 10.4 (76) 14.2 (91) 8.5 (64) 13.9 (65) -9.5 (10) 23.5 (85) 15.6 (60) 29.8 (54) -2.0 (9)

    Vanguard FTSE Dev Mkts ETF 11.2 (67) 17.8 (81) 3.6 (99) 8.4 (99) -15.3 (28) 11.5 (99) 10.3 (87) 22.1 (97) -14.5 (98)

      FTSE Dvlp ex US All Cap (US RIC) NR 10.9 (71) 18.0 (80) 3.6 (99) 8.4 (99) -15.6 (30) 11.6 (99) 10.0 (88) 22.3 (96) -14.8 (99)

    Vanguard FTSE Emerging Mkts ETF 7.6 (55) 10.3 (55) -2.9 (30) 4.9 (32) -17.7 (20) 1.0 (35) 15.3 (66) 20.4 (51) -14.6 (30)

      FTSE Emerging Mkts All Cap China A Inclusion Index 6.8 (74) 10.0 (59) -2.5 (28) 5.3 (27) -17.3 (18) 1.8 (31) 15.8 (63) 20.8 (49) -14.5 (29)

    Vanguard REIT ETF 18.1 (11) 11.8 (57) 5.0 (65) 7.3 (54) -26.2 (50) 40.4 (63) -4.7 (50) 28.9 (37) -5.9 (54)

      MSCI US Inv Mkt RE 25-50 GR 18.2 (10) 12.0 (51) 5.2 (59) 7.4 (47) -26.1 (46) 40.6 (61) -4.6 (48) 29.0 (35) -5.9 (52)

    iShares iBoxx $ Inv Grade Corp Bond ETF 9.9 (3) 9.3 (13) -4.1 (84) 2.8 (35) -18.0 (96) -1.6 (77) 11.1 (27) 17.1 (1) -3.8 (82)

      Markit iBoxx Liquid IG 9.9 (3) 9.5 (9) -4.0 (80) 2.9 (17) -17.9 (96) -1.5 (73) 11.3 (25) 17.3 (1) -3.7 (81)

    iShares JP Morgan USD EM Bond ETF 9.7 (34) 10.6 (63) -4.0 (81) 1.5 (68) -18.0 (84) -2.4 (39) 5.5 (54) 15.6 (13) -5.7 (50)

      JPM EMBI Global (USD) 9.3 (46) 10.5 (66) -3.1 (63) 1.9 (57) -16.5 (71) -1.5 (22) 5.9 (48) 14.4 (29) -4.6 (32)

    iShares Short Treasury Bond ETF 1.4 (83) 5.0 (85) 1.9 (48) 1.8 (76) 0.9 (23) -0.1 (74) 0.8 (78) 2.3 (84) 1.7 (41)

      Blmbg. Short Treasury 1.5 (79) 5.1 (82) 2.0 (41) 1.9 (67) 1.0 (20) 0.0 (51) 0.9 (70) 2.5 (77) 1.9 (24)

    Vanguard Short-Term Infl Prot Sec Index ETF 2.5 (94) 4.6 (21) 2.3 (7) 3.3 (21) -2.8 (3) 5.3 (48) 5.0 (97) 4.8 (93) 0.5 (3)

      Blmbg. U.S. TIPS 0-5 Year 2.6 (92) 4.6 (24) 2.3 (7) 3.4 (18) -2.7 (1) 5.3 (47) 5.1 (94) 4.8 (92) 0.6 (2)

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 30 of 50 

254



Performance Summary | As of December 31, 2023

QTR 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Future Path

Future Path - Passive

    JPMorgan BetaBuilders U.S. Equity ETF 12.0 (32) 27.2 (16) 9.2 (47) -- -19.4 (75) 27.0 (48) 20.7 (20) -- --

      Morningstar US Target Market Exposure Index 12.0 (33) 27.2 (16) 9.2 (46) -- -19.4 (75) 27.0 (48) 20.8 (19) -- --

    JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Mid Cap 13.0 (18) 18.3 (23) 3.8 (83) -- -19.6 (84) 17.5 (85) -- -- --

      MS US Mid Cap TME Extended Index 13.1 (18) 18.3 (23) 3.8 (83) -- -19.6 (84) 17.6 (85) -- -- --

    JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Small Cap 15.7 (3) 20.0 (14) 3.6 (72) -- -19.7 (74) 15.5 (85) -- -- --

      MS US Small Cap TME Extended Index 15.8 (3) 20.0 (14) 3.7 (72) -- -19.8 (74) 15.7 (85) -- -- --

    JPMorgan BetaBuilders MSCI US REIT ETF 16.1 (58) 13.8 (18) 7.0 (10) 7.3 (53) -24.6 (14) 42.9 (32) -7.5 (78) 25.7 (69) --

      Dow Jones U.S. Select REIT 16.3 (49) 14.0 (16) 7.2 (9) 6.1 (78) -26.0 (42) 45.9 (16) -11.2 (93) 23.1 (87) --

    JPMorgan BetaBuilders Intl Equity ETF 10.8 (25) 18.2 (23) 4.2 (19) -- -14.1 (22) 11.4 (34) 8.6 (55) -- --

      MS Dev Mkts ex-North America TME Index 10.3 (42) 18.2 (23) 4.1 (22) -- -14.3 (28) 11.3 (36) 8.2 (59) -- --

    JPMorgan BetaBuilders Aggregate ETF 6.7 (50) 5.5 (58) -3.5 (57) 0.8 (68) -13.3 (41) -1.8 (64) 7.3 (68) 8.2 (61) --

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 6.8 (39) 5.5 (56) -3.3 (38) 1.1 (48) -13.0 (29) -1.5 (48) 7.5 (58) 8.7 (36) --

    JPMorgan BetaBuilders $ HY Corp Bond ETF 7.2 (14) 12.0 (55) 1.4 (63) 4.7 (51) -10.4 (43) 3.9 (76) 5.4 (50) 14.3 (37) -2.5 (36)

      ICE BofA US High Yield, Cash Pay Index 7.1 (19) 13.4 (14) 2.0 (41) 5.2 (28) -11.1 (58) 5.3 (40) 6.2 (31) 14.4 (35) -2.3 (30)

    JPMorgan BetaBuilders $ InvGradeCorp Bond 8.3 (31) 8.6 (46) -3.5 (58) 2.4 (61) -15.8 (36) -1.8 (83) 9.6 (62) 14.7 (28) --

      Blmbg. U.S. Corporate Investment Grade Index 8.5 (18) 8.5 (47) -3.3 (44) 2.6 (44) -15.8 (34) -1.0 (53) 9.9 (56) 14.5 (36) --

Future Path - Active

    JPMorgan U.S. Equity Fund-R6 12.2 (25) 27.4 (15) 10.0 (22) 17.4 (2) -18.8 (65) 28.8 (19) 26.7 (3) 32.3 (14) -5.9 (56)

      S&P 500 Index (Net) 11.6 (57) 25.7 (38) 9.5 (39) 15.1 (36) -18.5 (60) 28.2 (31) 17.8 (47) 30.7 (42) -4.9 (40)

    JPMorgan Active Growth ETF 13.6 (63) 37.7 (57) -- -- -- -- -- -- --

      Russell 1000 Growth Index 14.2 (44) 42.7 (32) -- -- -- -- -- -- --

    JP Morgan Growth Advantage Fund 13.5 (64) 40.5 (42) 6.5 (37) 20.5 (4) -29.9 (41) 22.5 (46) 54.0 (13) 36.5 (19) -1.1 (46)

      Russell 3000 Growth Index 14.1 (46) 41.2 (38) 8.1 (17) 18.8 (11) -29.0 (35) 25.8 (24) 38.3 (39) 35.8 (25) -2.1 (57)

    JPMorgan Active Value ETF 9.1 (63) 10.5 (54) -- -- -0.9 (13) -- -- -- --

      Russell 1000 Value Index 9.5 (52) 11.5 (47) -- -- -7.5 (70) -- -- -- --

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 31 of 50 

255



Performance Summary | As of December 31, 2023

QTR 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

    JP Morgan Value Advantage Fund 10.9 (23) 10.0 (57) 11.0 (26) 11.4 (47) -3.7 (33) 29.0 (20) -1.5 (86) 27.4 (28) -9.0 (52)

      Russell 3000 Value Index 9.8 (44) 11.7 (45) 8.8 (68) 10.8 (62) -8.0 (74) 25.4 (59) 2.9 (49) 26.3 (41) -8.6 (46)

    JPMorgan US Sustainable Leaders 12.7 (15) 25.3 (43) 9.0 (51) 15.0 (39) -21.2 (91) 31.0 (7) 19.7 (26) 29.9 (51) -4.8 (35)

      S&P 500 Index 11.7 (45) 26.3 (24) 10.0 (23) 15.7 (16) -18.1 (49) 28.7 (20) 18.4 (35) 31.5 (22) -4.4 (24)

    JPMorgan Intl Research Enhanced Equity ETF 10.7 (30) 19.7 (9) 5.2 (6) 8.4 (30) -13.7 (19) 12.8 (18) 5.3 (86) 21.8 (53) -14.8 (47)

      MSCI EAFE Index 10.5 (37) 18.9 (17) 4.5 (14) 8.7 (23) -14.0 (21) 11.8 (28) 8.3 (58) 22.7 (42) -13.4 (20)

    JPMorgan ActiveBuilders EM Eq ETF 8.1 (42) 9.8 (61) -- -- -25.0 (70) -- -- -- --

      MSCI Emerging Markets (Net) 7.9 (48) 9.8 (60) -- -- -20.1 (30) -- -- -- --

    JPMorgan Core Bond Fund 6.4 (86) 5.8 (36) -2.7 (12) 1.6 (17) -12.2 (12) -1.0 (21) 8.3 (36) 8.6 (44) 0.3 (13)

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 6.8 (39) 5.5 (56) -3.3 (38) 1.1 (48) -13.0 (29) -1.5 (48) 7.5 (58) 8.7 (36) 0.0 (27)

    JPMorgan Income ETF 4.9 (80) 7.1 (79) -- -- -6.1 (12) -- -- -- --

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 6.8 (29) 5.5 (94) -- -- -13.0 (85) -- -- -- --

    JPMorgan Inflation Managed Bond ETF 4.1 (65) 5.0 (16) 0.2 (34) 2.7 (73) -8.4 (27) 4.6 (75) 6.1 (81) 6.8 (65) -1.1 (31)

      Blmbg. U.S. TIPS 1-10 Year 3.9 (73) 4.4 (29) 0.7 (26) 3.4 (14) -7.3 (25) 5.7 (31) 8.4 (71) 6.9 (64) -0.3 (14)

    JPMorgan Ultra-Short Income ETF 1.8 (43) 5.2 (78) 2.1 (33) 2.4 (18) 1.1 (18) 0.2 (31) 2.2 (20) 3.4 (26) 2.2 (4)

      ICE BofA 3 Month U.S. T-Bill 1.4 (88) 5.0 (85) 2.2 (30) 1.9 (68) 1.5 (7) 0.0 (50) 0.7 (82) 2.3 (86) 1.9 (25)

    JPMorgan Int'l Bond Opps ETF 6.4 (46) 8.7 (48) 0.6 (24) 3.9 (19) -6.4 (13) 0.1 (89) 7.1 (42) 10.8 (42) -2.2 (53)

      Bloomberg Multiverse ex US TR Hdg 5.4 (74) 8.4 (55) -1.2 (79) 1.6 (92) -9.8 (36) -1.3 (99) 3.9 (74) 7.7 (85) 3.1 (2)

Nevada College Savings Programs

Page 32 of 50 

256



Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Page 33 of 50 

257



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Std Dev

0.0 3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 21.0
0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0 NV Victory Age-Based 0-2 Very Agg Port

NV Victory Age-Based 3-4 Agg Growth Port

Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 0-4

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Victory Age-Based 0-2 Very Agg Port

NV Victory Age-Based 3-4 Agg Growth Port

Median

Count

5.20 14.84 0.18

6.02 16.36 0.21

4.52 15.27 0.13

133 133 133

11 24

37 58

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 0-4

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

0.0
2.0
4.0
6.0
8.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

10.0
12.0
14.0
16.0
18.0
20.0
22.0
24.0

NV Victory Age-Based 0-2 Very Agg Port NV Victory Age-Based 3-4 Agg Growth Port

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Page 34 of 50 

258



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Std Dev

0.0 3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0
0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0 NV Victory Age-Based 5-6 Growth Port

Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 5-6

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Victory Age-Based 5-6 Growth Port

Median

Count

4.50 13.48 0.15

3.46 13.81 0.07

57 57 57

24 61

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 5-6

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

0.0

2.0

4.0
6.0

8.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

10.0

12.0

14.0
16.0

18.0
20.0

NV Victory Age-Based 5-6 Growth Port

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Nevada College Savings Programs

Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Page 35 of 50 

259



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Std Dev

0.0 3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0
0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0 NV Victory Age-Based 7-8 Mod Agg Port

Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 7-8

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Victory Age-Based 7-8 Mod Agg Port

Median

Count

3.76 12.14 0.10

3.39 13.34 0.06

57 57 57

43 79

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 7-8

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

0.0

2.0

4.0
6.0

8.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

10.0

12.0

14.0
16.0

18.0
20.0

NV Victory Age-Based 7-8 Mod Agg Port

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Page 36 of 50 

260



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Std Dev

0.0 3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0
-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0 NV Victory Age-Based 9-11 Moderate Port

Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 9-10

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Victory Age-Based 9-11 Moderate Port

Median

Count

3.13 10.76 0.06

2.29 12.11 -0.02

94 94 94

30 76

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 9-10

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

18.0

NV Victory Age-Based 9-11 Moderate Port

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Page 37 of 50 

261



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Std Dev

0.0 3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0
-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0 NV Victory Age-Based 12-13 Mod Cnsv Port

Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 11-12

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Victory Age-Based 12-13 Mod Cnsv Port

Median

Count

2.49 9.41 0.00

1.89 11.07 -0.06

93 93 93

29 82

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 11-12

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

-2.0

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

NV Victory Age-Based 12-13 Mod Cnsv Port

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Page 38 of 50 

262



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Std Dev

0.0 2.0 4.0 6.0 8.0 10.0 12.0 14.0
-2.0

-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0 NV Victory Age-Based 14-15 Cnsv Port

Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 13-14

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Victory Age-Based 14-15 Cnsv Port

Median

Count

1.92 7.65 -0.08

1.21 9.55 -0.13

93 93 93

26 88

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 13-14

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

-2.0

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

NV Victory Age-Based 14-15 Cnsv Port

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Page 39 of 50 

263



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Std Dev

0.0 2.0 4.0 6.0 8.0 10.0 12.0 14.0
-3.0

-2.0

-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0 NV Victory Age-Based 16-17 Very CnsvPort

Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 15-16

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Victory Age-Based 16-17 Very CnsvPort

Median

Count

2.14 5.12 -0.07

0.74 8.15 -0.21

99 99 99

5 94

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 15-16

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

-4.0

-2.0

0.0

2.0

4.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

NV Victory Age-Based 16-17 Very CnsvPort

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Page 40 of 50 

264



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Std Dev

-1.0 1.0 3.0 5.0 7.0 9.0
-3.0

-2.0

-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0 NV Victory Age-Based 18+ In Coll Port

Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 19+

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Victory Age-Based 18+ In Coll Port

Median

Count

2.11 3.19 -0.12

0.36 4.50 -0.54

96 96 96

4 72

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Age 19+

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

-2.0
-1.0
0.0
1.0
2.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

3.0
4.0
5.0
6.0
7.0
8.0
9.0
10.0

NV Victory Age-Based 18+ In Coll Port

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Age-Based Risk/Return Analysis

Page 41 of 50 

265



Enrollment Date Risk/Return Analysis

Page 42 of 50 

266



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment College

Std Dev

0.0 2.0 4.0 6.0 8.0
-2.0

-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0 NV Putnam Age-Based Grad A
Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment College

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Putnam Age-Based Grad A

Median

Count

1.45 1.55 -0.68

0.35 4.70 -0.44

43 43 43

13 99

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment College

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

-2.0

-1.0

0.0

1.0
2.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

3.0

4.0
5.0

6.0

7.0
8.0

NV Putnam Age-Based Grad A

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Enrollment Date Risk/Return Analysis

Page 43 of 50 

267



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2024

Std Dev

0.0 2.0 4.0 6.0 8.0 10.0
-2.0

-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0 NV Putnam Age-Based 2005 A
NV Putnam Age-Based 2006 A
NV Putnam Age-Based 2007 A
Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2024

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Putnam Age-Based 2005 A

NV Putnam Age-Based 2006 A

NV Putnam Age-Based 2007 A

Median

Count

1.48 4.13 -0.25

1.97 6.04 -0.09

1.71 5.06 -0.16

0.31 7.11 -0.33

51 51 51

12 96

6 85

1 77

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2024

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

-1.0
0.0
1.0
2.0
3.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

4.0
5.0
6.0
7.0
8.0
9.0
10.0
11.0

NV Putnam Age-Based 2005 A NV Putnam Age-Based 2006 A NV Putnam Age-Based 2007 A

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Enrollment Date Risk/Return Analysis

Page 44 of 50 

268



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2027

Std Dev

0.0 2.0 4.0 6.0 8.0 10.0 12.0 14.0
-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0 NV Putnam Age-Based 2008 A
NV Putnam Age-Based 2009 A
NV Putnam Age-Based 2010 A
Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2027

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Putnam Age-Based 2008 A

NV Putnam Age-Based 2009 A

NV Putnam Age-Based 2010 A

Median

Count

2.27 7.10 -0.03

3.05 9.29 0.06

2.64 8.19 0.02

1.05 9.53 -0.15

58 58 58

15 94

5 79

1 62

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2027

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

-2.0

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

NV Putnam Age-Based 2009 A NV Putnam Age-Based 2008 A NV Putnam Age-Based 2010 A

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Enrollment Date Risk/Return Analysis

Page 45 of 50 

269



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2030

Std Dev

0.0 3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0
0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0 NV Putnam Age-Based 2011 A
NV Putnam Age-Based 2012 A
NV Putnam Age-Based 2013 A
Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2030

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Putnam Age-Based 2011 A

NV Putnam Age-Based 2012 A

NV Putnam Age-Based 2013 A

Median

Count

3.90 11.04 0.13

3.41 10.25 0.09

4.26 11.61 0.15

2.25 11.59 -0.02

58 58 58

19 87

4 72

1 45

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2030

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

18.0

NV Putnam Age-Based 2011 A NV Putnam Age-Based 2012 A NV Putnam Age-Based 2013 A

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Enrollment Date Risk/Return Analysis

Page 46 of 50 

270



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2033

Std Dev

0.0 3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0
0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0 NV Putnam Age-Based 2014 A
NV Putnam Age-Based 2015 A
NV Putnam Age-Based 2016 A
Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2033

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Putnam Age-Based 2014 A

NV Putnam Age-Based 2015 A

NV Putnam Age-Based 2016 A

Median

Count

4.53 12.12 0.17

4.81 12.59 0.18

5.06 13.02 0.20

2.96 13.26 0.04

57 57 57

3 81

1 70

1 58

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2033

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0
8.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

10.0

12.0
14.0

16.0

18.0
20.0

NV Putnam Age-Based 2014 A NV Putnam Age-Based 2015 A NV Putnam Age-Based 2016 A

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Enrollment Date Risk/Return Analysis

Page 47 of 50 

271



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2036

Std Dev

0.0 3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0
0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0 NV Putnam Age-Based 2017 A
NV Putnam Age-Based 2018 A
Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2036

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Putnam Age-Based 2017 A

NV Putnam Age-Based 2018 A

Median

Count

5.42 13.69 0.21

5.23 13.36 0.20

3.90 14.40 0.10

58 58 58

2 90

1 83

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2036

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

2.0

4.0

6.0
8.0

10.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

12.0

14.0

16.0
18.0

20.0
22.0

NV Putnam Age-Based 2017 A NV Putnam Age-Based 2018 A

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Enrollment Date Risk/Return Analysis

Page 48 of 50 

272



Risk-Reward
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023

Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2039+

Std Dev

0.0 3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 21.0
0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0 NV Putnam Age-Based 2020 A
Peer Group Median

Re
tu

rn

Risk
Time Period: 1/1/2021 to 12/31/2023 Peer Group: 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2039+

Return
Peer

group
percentile

Std Dev
Peer

group
percentile

Sharpe
Ratio

(arith)

NV Putnam Age-Based 2020 A

Median

Count

5.75 14.24 0.23

4.43 15.91 0.12

38 38 38

4 92

Performance Relative to Peer Group
Peer Group (5-95%): 529 Portfolios - U.S. - Target-Enrollment 2039+

Top Quartile 2nd Quartile 3rd Quartile Bottom Quartile

2.0

4.0

6.0
8.0

10.0

QTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

12.0

14.0

16.0
18.0

20.0
22.0

NV Putnam Age-Based 2020 A

R
et
u
rn

Nevada College Savings Programs

Enrollment Date Risk/Return Analysis

Page 49 of 50 

273



Nevada College Savings Programs

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”).

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR RESPONSIBILITY TO
UPDATE THIS REPORT. ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF THIS
REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME. ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK. THERE CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES,
TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL.

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL SOURCES. WHILE
WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL SOURCE INFORMATION
CONTAINED HEREIN.

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF
TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,”
OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS,
PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY
HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY
THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.

Disclosures

Page 50 of 50 

274



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO  

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

 

TO:  Nevada College Savings Plans 

FROM:  Kay Ceserani; Aysun Kilic, CFA; Kevin McLaughlin, CFA; 

  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 

DATE:  February 21, 2024 

RE:  Review of Portfolios Qualifying for Watch Status 

 

Summary  

Meketa has conducted a review of the underlying funds in each of the five Nevada College Savings 

Plans for the period ending December 31, 2023. The following table highlights our findings. 

Three of the plans, USAA/Victory, Wealthfront and JP Morgan do not have any funds that qualify for 

Watch status or are currently on Watch status.  

One fund from the Vanguard 529 Program continues to qualify for Watch status.  

→ Vanguard US Growth Admiral 

Within the Putnam 529 for America Program one fund continues to qualify for Watch status and one 

fund is being recommended to be removed from Watch status. 

→ Putnam Large Cap Growth – Recommend removing from Watch status 

→ Federated Hermes Short-Int. Govt  

  

Funds on Watch Status 

Board 
Action 
Date 

Watch 
Status Start 

Date 

No. Months 
Since Watch 

Began 

Excess 
Return 
Since 
Watch 

Qualifies 
for 

Watch 

Vanguard      

Vanguard US Growth Admiral  6/23/2022 1/1/2022 24 (6.9%) Medium 

USAA/Victory      

No Funs on Watch -- -- -- -- -- 

Putnam      

Putnam Large Cap Growth 6/22/2023 4/1/2023 9 +1.9% -- 

Federated Hermes Short-Int Gvt  12/14/2023 10/1/2023 3 +0.1% Medium 

Wealthfront      

No Funds Watch -- -- -- -- -- 

JP Morgan      

No Funds on Watch -- -- -- -- -- 

275



 

February 21, 2024 

 

 
 Page 2 of 6 

Vanguard 529 Plan 

Funds Currently on Watch 

Vanguard US Growth Admiral Fund  

This fund is sub-advised by three managers: Wellington Management Company, Baillie Gifford Overseas, 

and Jennison Associates. Wellington oversees roughly half of the assets while Jennison is responsible for 

30% and Baillie has the remaining 20%. Each employs their own distinct process focused on growth 

companies. 

The Vanguard US Growth Admiral fund continues to qualify for Watch status as its rolling 36-month 

excess return has been below (1.5%) for more than six consecutive months. Over the quarter and trailing 

1-year period, the fund outperformed the benchmark by 1.2% and 2.6%, respectively. During the quarter, 

strong stock selection within the information technology and consumer discretionary sectors contributed 

positively to performance. More specifically, allocations to Shopify and Affirm holdings were some of the 

top contributors.  

Underperformance of (10.5%) and (15.1%), in calendars year 2022 and 2021, respectively, continue to pull 

down trailing 3- and 5-year results, where the fund lagged by (9.3%) and (3.6%), respectively. Poor stock 

selection and allocation decisions impacted both years. In calendar year 2021 positioning in consumer 

discretionary had the largest negative impact to results followed by information technology and 

communication services. While the largest detractors in 2022 were stock selection within the information 

technology sector and both sector positioning and selections in consumer discretionary and 

communication services.  

Year-to-date, positive stock selection within the information technology and industrials sectors 

contributed positively to performance. Allocations to NVIDIA, Shopify, and Uber all contributed positively 

to performance. Additionally, an underweight to consumer staples and industrials also contributed 

positively to performance.  

The fund continues to qualify for Watch under the medium-term criteria. Therefore, Meketa recommends 

Vanguard US Growth fund remain on Watch status and be closely monitored over the coming periods.  

  

276



 

February 21, 2024 

 

 
 Page 3 of 6 

Putnam 529 for America Plan 

Funds Currently on Watch 

Putnam Large Cap Growth Fund  

The Putnam Large Cap Growth fund no longer qualifies for Watch status as its relative performance is 

above the medium-term criteria, rolling 36-month excess return is now above (1.5%). Over the quarter 

and 1-year periods, the fund outperformed its benchmark by 0.8% and 1.9%, respectively. Subpar results 

in calendar year 2021 (22.8% v. 27.6%) continue to pulldown longer term benchmark relative performance. 

However, from a peer perspective the fund has placed near or in the top quartile of the Morningstar Large 

Cap Growth peer group over the 3- and 5-year periods. 

Throughout the quarter, strong stock selection within the consumer discretionary, industrials, and 

consumer staples sectors contributed positively to performance. More specifically, allocations to 

Broadcom, Advanced Micro Devices, Lululemon, American Tower, and Uber were all top contributors to 

outperformance. Additionally, having no exposure to the energy sector as well as being underweight to 

consumer staples and industrials aided results. Detractors for the quarter include the fund’s out of 

benchmark exposures to AstraZeneca and Canadian Pacific Kansas.  

Over the trailing 1-year period, the fund returned 44.6%, outperforming its benchmark by 1.9%. Stock 

selection within the information technology sector contributed positively to performance with allocations 

to NVIDIA, Palo Alto, Broadcom, and Cadence Design Systems. Positions within consumer discretionary, 

consumer staples, and health care also benefited the fund.  

While the fund no longer qualifies for Watch status, longer-tern results remain challenged due to a poor 

showing on a relative basis in 2021, when  the fund underperformed the benchmark by (4.9%) returning 

(22.8% v. 27.6%). The underperformance can mainly be attributed to the funds’ focus on high quality 

names, which were out of favor due to market dynamics.  The fund no longer qualifies for Watch status 

based on its medium-term performance. Therefore, Meketa recommends the Putnam Large Cap Growth 

Fund be removed from Watch status. 

  

277



 

February 21, 2024 

 

 
 Page 4 of 6 

Funds that Qualify for Watch 

Federated Hermes Short-Int Govt Fund 

The Federated Hermes Short-Int Govt fund continues to qualify for Watch status as its relative 

performance falls below the medium-term criteria, rolling 36-month excess return falling below (0.5%) 

for six or more consecutive months. Over the quarter, the fund slightly outperformed the ICE BofA 3-5 

Year US Treasury index by 0.1%. However, over the 1-, 3-, and 5-year periods, the fund has 

underperformed by (0.5%), (0.6%) and (0.5%), respectively.  

 

Excess returns for the quarter were primarily generated from sector allocation, due to exposures in off 

benchmark agency Mortgage Back security positions, which saw spreads tighten throughout the quarter. 

During the quarter the net effect of the fund’s duration positioning was a slight detractor to performance.  

 

The fund qualifies for Watch status based on its short-term performance. Therefore, Meketa 

Recommends the Federated Hermes Short-Int Govt Fund be added to Watch status and be closely 

monitored over the coming periods.  

 

  

278



 

February 21, 2024 

 

 
 Page 5 of 6 

APPROVED FOR WATCH STATUS: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Zach Conine, State Treasurer    

279



 

February 21, 2024 

 

 
 Page 6 of 6 

Disclosures 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR 

FUNCTION OR RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT. ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN 

REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME. ALL 

INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK. THERE CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED 

HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER 

EXTERNAL SOURCES. WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT 

GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  

 

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN 

BE IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” 

“PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS 

THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, 

VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY 

ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, 

VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.  

 

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF 

FUTURE RESULTS. 
  

 

KRC/AK/KM/mp 

280



THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 11 

February 21, 2024 
 

 
Item: J.P. Morgan presentation on the 2024 investment 

review and recommended changes. 
 
 
Summary: 
a. J.P. Morgan Presentation 
b. Meketa Presentation 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: None by this action.  
 
Staff recommended motion: 
Move to approve and accept the 2024 investment review and 
recommended changes as provided by J.P. Morgan and 
Meketa. 
 

281



Annual Review & Investment 
Recommendations  

February 21, 2024

Future Path 529 Plan

FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE 

NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC 

DISTRIBUTION
282



2 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

JPMAM Education Savings Business: Organizational Chart  

Sales / Relationship Management Multi-Asset Solutions

Head of Global Research

Scott Garsson

Marketing

Marketing Director

Liz Farrell 

Marketing Manager

Jacklyn Tarapacki 

NY 529 Advisor-Guided Plan 

Relationship Manager

Kris Adrian  

Marketing Manager

Katie Taranto

Doug Polak 

Investment Specialists

Tricia Scarlata 

Head of Education Savings

Jen Pak

Portfolio Management

Morgan Moriarty Navi Saini 

Future Path 529 Plan

Relationship Manager

Olivia Haller

GSR Analyst 

Michael Di Pentima 

GSR Analyst

Will Bishop 

Bo Fick 

Gary Herbert 

Co-US CIO, Multi-Asset Solutions

Christine Tong

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management. There can be no assurance that the professionals currently employed by J.P. Morgan Asset Management (JPMAM) will continue to be employed by 

JPMAM or that the past performance or success of any such professional serves as an indicator of such professional's future performance or success.

283



3
FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Annual Portfolio Review

284



4 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Future Path 529 Plan process and components of success

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management. For illustrative purposes only. 

Asset Allocation

Flexibility to adjust allocations to 

adapt to changing market 

conditions over the short-term.

Portfolio Construction

Selection of active and passive 

managers to populate our glide path.

Glide Path Decisions

Rigorous research  

incorporating behavior 

and market insights.

Three pillars that drive Glidepath design success: research on long 

term capital markets, participant behavior and tuition inflation  

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

285



5 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Future Path 529 Enrollment Portfolios: Glidepath

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management. For illustrative purposes only. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2042 2039 2036 2033 2030 2027 Enrollment

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 A
ll

o
c

a
ti

o
n

Enrollment Year

US Large Cap Equity US Small / Mid Cap Equity International Developed Equity Core Fixed Income Ultra-Short Fixed Income

286



6 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Future Path 529 Enrollment Portfolios: Asset Allocation

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management. For illustrative purposes only. 

60.00% 60.00%
56.75%

47.50%

38.00%

25.25%

12.75%

6.50% 6.50%

6.25%

5.00%

4.00%

2.75%

1.25%

28.50% 28.50%

27.00%

22.50%

18.00%

12.00%

6.00%

5.00% 5.00%
10.00%

25.00%

40.00%

60.00%

50.00%

30.00%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2042 2039 2036 2033 2030 2027 Enrollment

US Large Cap Equity US Small / Mid Cap Equity International Developed Equity Core Fixed Income Ultra-Short Fixed Income

287



7 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Key Investment Themes

As of December 2023

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management. For illustrative purposes only. Forecasts, projections and other forward-looking statements 
are based upon current beliefs and expectations. They are for illustrative purposes only and serve as an indication of what may 
occur. Given the inherent uncertainties and risks associated with forecasts, projections and other forward statements, actual events, 
results or performance may differ materially from those reflected or contemplated. 

Balance is key

Looking past the peak in Fed rates with easing on 

the horizon

▪ Bonds may benefit from future rate cuts

▪ Balance with high quality bonds for diversification

Rooting for the home team

Potential for further breadth in US equities; strength 

in margins and earnings growth are key

▪ Leaning into US equities with higher quality 

attributes.

▪ Within US Equities, Small Cap stocks may 

benefit from rate cuts and lower cost of financing

Remain flexible & diversified

Though volatility is low, uncertainty remains high with 

tightening credit conditions & geopolitical risks  

▪ Ultra-short fixed income can be a ballast to 

portfolios in times of risk

▪ Remain vigilant as facts and data change

Steady and resilient

Expect continued moderation in inflation and 

slowing but not stalling economic growth

▪ Supportive of being overweight equites.

▪ Emerging markets equity offers opportunities in 

Taiwan, Korea and India.  China valuations low.

EQUITIES

FIXED INCOME

MACRO BACKDROP

INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES

288



8 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

As of December 31, 2023

2033 Enrollment Year – Asset Allocation and Performance Highlights 

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management. For illustrative purposes only. Should not be considered a recommendation to buy or 
sell a particular security or asset class. Values may not equal 100% due to rounding. Depending on market conditions, allocation
percentages and/or underlying funds are subject to change without notice. Numbers rounded. *Since Inception June 26, 2023. 

Detractors to return

Contributors to return

• Overweight to equities added to performance

• US small cap equities outperformed US large cap 

counterparts and US aggregate bonds

• Security selection in international equities 

outperformed its benchmark

• Security selection in value equities outperformed 

due to stock selection in financial and healthcare 

sectors

Asset Class / Strategy
Strategic 

Allocation

Current 

Weight 

Current 

OW/UW

US Equity 52.50% 54.50% +2.00%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders U.S. Equity ETF 25.25% 25.25% 0.00%

JPMorgan U.S. Equity Fund-R6 8.25% 8.25% 0.00%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Mid Cap Equity ETF 2.50% 2.50% 0.00%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity ETF 2.50% 4.50% +2.00%

JPMorgan Value Advantage Fund-R6 7.00% 7.00% 0.00%

JPMorgan Growth Advantage Fund-R6 7.00% 7.00% 0.00%

EAFE Equity 22.50% 22.50% 0.00%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders International Equity ETF 16.50% 16.50% 0.00%

JPMorgan International Rsrch Enh Eq ETF 6.00% 6.00% 0.00%

EM Broad Equity 0.00% 1.00% +1.00%

JPMorgan Emerging Markets Research Enhanced 

Equity Fund-R6
0.00% 1.00% +1.00%

US Core Fixed Income 25.00% 22.00% -3.00%

JPMorgan Core Bond Fund-R6 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

JPMorgan US Aggregate Bond ETF 25.00% 22.00% -3.00%

Ultra Short Fixed Income 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

JPMorgan Ultra-Short Income ETF 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Performance Spotlight

Enrollment Year 2033
3 mos 6 mos SI*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 10.74% 6.85% 8.66%

Benchmark 10.39% 6.62% 8.56%

Net of Fee Alpha 0.34% 0.24% 0.10%

• While deliberate, our underweight to core bonds 

to fund the equity overweight detracted as rates 

fell

289



9 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Future Path 529 Enrollment Portfolios: Performance

Source: JP Morgan Asset Management internal performance systems - Hypo account returns – net of acquired fund fees; gross of program fees. Numbers are rounded. Ascensus is 

the official books and records for performance. *Since Inception June 26, 2023.

2042 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 11.72% 7.72% 10.13%

Benchmark 11.34% 7.46% 9.80%

Excess 0.38% 0.27% 0.33%

2039 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 11.72% 7.72% 10.13%

Benchmark 11.34% 7.46% 10.04%

Excess 0.38% 0.27% 0.09%

2036 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 11.48% 7.51% 9.77%

Benchmark 11.10% 7.25% 9.67%

Excess 0.37% 0.26% 0.09%

2033 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 10.74% 6.85% 8.66%

Benchmark 10.39% 6.62% 8.56%

Excess 0.34% 0.24% 0.10%

2030 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 9.95% 6.17% 7.55%

Benchmark 9.68% 5.98% 7.45%

Excess 0.27% 0.19% 0.11%

As of December 31, 2023

290



10 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Future Path 529 Enrollment Portfolios & Risk-Based Portfolios: Performance

2027 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 8.90% 5.24% 6.06%

Benchmark 8.73% 5.12% 5.95%

Excess 0.17% 0.12% 0.11%

Enrollment 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 6.46% 4.41% 4.76%

Benchmark 6.15% 4.12% 4.47%

Excess 0.31% 0.29% 0.30%

Aggressive 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 10.99% 7.07% 9.03%

Benchmark 10.63% 6.83% 8.93%

Excess 0.36% 0.24% 0.10%

Moderate 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 9.95% 6.17% 7.55%

Benchmark 9.68% 5.98% 7.45%

Excess 0.27% 0.19% 0.11%

Conservative 3 months 6 months Since Inception*

Return (net of acquired fund fees) 8.35% 4.77% 5.31%

Benchmark 8.25% 4.69% 5.20%

Excess 0.10% 0.08% 0.11%

Source: JP Morgan Asset Management internal performance systems - Hypo account returns – net of acquired fund fees; gross of program fees. Numbers are rounded. Ascensus is 

the official books and records for performance. *Since Inception June 26, 2023.

As of December 31, 2023

291



11
FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Proposal Summary

292



12
FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Proposal for the Future Path 529 Portfolios 

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management Multi-Asset Solutions 

Proposed enhancement to current Enrollment & Asset Allocation portfolios  

We are recommending the addition of the JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO) across portfolios

• The JPM Global Select Equity strategy is the JPMAM equity platform’s best ideas, high active share developed equity 

strategy.  The philosophy is to generate alpha from stock selection, remaining relatively style/region neutral. 

• The rationale for inclusion includes consistent alpha proposition, disciplined process, senior experienced PM team.

• JGLO has an attractive fee of 47 basis points. 

• The reallocation across portfolios would be fee neutral at the portfolio level.

• The reallocations of the asset mix across portfolios are based on the inclusion of the Global Select strategy and not on 

changes to our capital market forecasts

We are also proposing to expand the asset allocation toolkit with the addition of a series of fixed income ETFs.  The expanded 

toolkit would facilitate duration and risk management

• BBLB – US Treasury 20+ Year Bond ETF

• BBSA – 1-5 Year Bond ETF

• BBIP – 0-5 Year TIPS ETF

• BBSB – 1-3 Year Bond ETF

• BBIB – 3-10 Year Bond ETF

For Advisor use, consider adding the JGLO ETF to the individual line up

293



13 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO)

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management, as of December 31, 2023. There can be no assurance that the professionals currently employed by JPMAM will continue to be employed by JPMAM 

or that the past performance or success of any such professional serves as an indicator of such professional’s future performance or success. The manager seeks to achieve the stated 

objectives. There can be no guarantee the objectives will be met. Past performance is not a reliable indicator for current or future results.

Time-tested fundamental research process 

• PM team, Helge Skibeli and Christian Pecher have a 

combined 50+ years of industry experience 

• Global consistent investment discipline in place for

more than three decades backed by a team of 110+ 

fundamental research analysts

All-weather global core portfolio

• Generated 2.9% alpha (gross) and 2.3% (net) vs. MSCI 

World Index since lead PM inception (Nov. 30, 2015)

• Value added in both growth and value-led markets  

• Stock selection attributable for >85% of excess returns 

since inception 

Active ETF offering

• Attractive fee of 47bps

• Daily transparency of holdings

• Numerous benefits for ETFs in a portfolio: building 

blocks, liquidity buffer, and tactical positioning

Uncorrelated micro insights

• A disciplined process maximizing our fundamental 

analysts’ insights with quantitative and qualitative portfolio 

risk controls

• Active share of 75 to 80% with controlled sector and 

region deviations

294



14
FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Detailed Portfolio 
Recommendation

295



15 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Current Glidepath and Expectations: Enrollment year glide path portfolios

For illustrative and discussion purposes. Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management. MAS has tactical asset allocation bands of +/-15% on equity and fixed income asset classes. The expected 

returns are for illustrative purposes only and are subject to significant limitations. An investor should not expect to achieve actual returns similar to the target returns shown above. Expected 

returns, expected volatility are based on assumptions and calculations using disclosure at the conclusion of the presentation for more information on the risks and limitation of target returns 

based on JP Morgan 2024 LTCMAs. Estimates are net of acquired fund fees and rounded.

Underlying Fund Name Ticker

Future Path

College 2042 

Portfolio

Future Path  

College 2039 

Portfolio

Future Path

College 2036 

Portfolio 

Future Path

College 2033 

Portfolio

Future Path 

College 2030 

Portfolio 

Future Path 

College 2027 

Portfolio

Future Path 

Enrollment 

Portfolio

Equity 95.00% 95.00% 90.00% 75.00% 60.00% 40.00% 20.00%

US Large Cap 45.00% 45.00% 41.75% 33.50% 26.00% 16.75% 7.75%

JPMorgan US Equity Fund JUEMX 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 8.25% 7.00% 5.00% 2.00%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Equity ETF BBUS 36.00% 36.00% 32.75% 25.25% 19.00% 11.75% 5.75%

US Mid Cap 3.25% 3.25% 3.25% 2.50% 2.00% 1.50% 0.75%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Mid Cap Equity ETF BBMC 3.25% 3.25% 3.25% 2.50% 2.00% 1.50% 0.75%

US Small Cap 3.25% 3.25% 3.00% 2.50% 2.00% 1.25% 0.50%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity ETF BBSC 3.25% 3.25% 3.00% 2.50% 2.00% 1.25% 0.50%

US All Cap 15.00% 15.00% 15.00% 14.00% 12.00% 8.50% 5.00%

JPMorgan Growth Advantage Fund JGVVX 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.00% 6.00% 4.25% 2.50%

JPMorgan Value Advantage Fund JVAYX 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.00% 6.00% 4.25% 2.50%

EAFE Equity 28.50% 28.50% 27.00% 22.50% 18.00% 12.00% 6.00%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders International Equity ETF BBIN 21.50% 21.50% 20.75% 16.50% 13.00% 9.00% 3.00%

JPMorgan International Research Enhanced Equity ETF JIRE 7.00% 7.00% 6.25% 6.00% 5.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Fixed Income 5.00% 5.00% 10.00% 25.00% 40.00% 60.00% 50.00%

US Aggregate 5.00% 5.00% 10.00% 25.00% 40.00% 60.00% 50.00%

JPMorgan Core Bond Fund JCBUX 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 10.00% 20.00% 15.00%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders Aggregate Bond ETF BBAG 5.00% 5.00% 10.00% 25.00% 30.00% 40.00% 35.00%

Ultra-Short Duration Fixed Income 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 30.00%

JPMorgan Ultra-Short Income ETF JPST 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 30.00%

Estimated Portfolio Expenses 0.17% 0.17% 0.17% 0.16% 0.17% 0.17% 0.16%

Expected Total Return 8.00% - 8.25% 8.00% - 8.25% 7.75% - 8.00% 7.50% - 7.75% 7.25% - 7.50% 6.75% - 7.00% 5.50% - 5.75%

Expected Volatility 15.50% - 16.50% 15.50% - 16.50% 14.50% - 15.50% 12.50% - 13.50% 10.25% - 11.25% 7.50% - 8.50% 4.25% - 5.25%

296



16 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Spotlight on proposed changes: A detailed look into Enrollment Portfolio 2030

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management Multi-Asset Solutions. 

Future Path 2030 Portfolio 

Reallocation of glidepath is based in the incorporation of the Global Select (JGLO) into the equity portfolio and 

not with respect to changes in JPMAM 2024 capital market assumptions   

Proposal Current Changes

Equity 60.00% 60.00% --

Developed World Equity 12.00% 0.00% 12.00%

JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO) 12.00% -- 12.00%

US Large Cap 23.25% 26.00% -2.75%

JPMorgan U.S. Equity Fund-R6 -- 7.00% -7.00%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders U.S. Equity ETF 23.25% 19.00% 4.25%

US Mid Cap 2.25% 2.00% 0.25%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Mid Cap Equity ETF 2.25% 2.00% 0.25%

US Small Cap 0.75% 2.00% -1.25%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity ETF 0.75% 2.00% -1.25%

US All Cap 7.50% 12.00% -4.50%

JPMorgan Growth Advantage Fund-R6 3.75% 6.00% -2.25%

JPMorgan Value Advantage Fund-R6 3.75% 6.00% -2.25%

EAFE Equity 14.25% 18.00% -3.75%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders International Equity ETF 14.25% 13.00% 1.25%

JPMorgan International Research Enhanced Equity Fund-R6 -- 5.00% -5.00%

Fixed Income 40.00% 40.00% --

US Aggregate 40.00% 40.00% --

JPMorgan Core Bond Fund-R6 12.50% 10.00% 2.50%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders U.S. Aggregate Bond ETF 27.50% 30.00% -2.50%

Ultra-Short Duration Fixed Income 0.00% 0.00% --

JPMorgan Ultra-Short Income ETF -- -- --

297



17 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Entire Range of Proposed Enrollment Portfolios

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management Multi-Asset Solutions 

Future Path 

College 2042 

Portfolio

Future Path

College 2039 

Portfolio

Future Path

College 2036 

Portfolio 

Future Path 

College 2033 

Portfolio

Future Path 

College 2030 

Portfolio 

Future Path 

College 2027 

Portfolio

Future Path 

Enrollment 

Portfolio

Equity 95.00% 95.00% 90.00% 75.00% 60.00% 40.00% 20.00%

Developed World Equity 19.00% 19.00% 18.00% 15.00% 12.00% 8.00% 4.00%

JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO) 19.00% 19.00% 18.00% 15.00% 12.00% 8.00% 4.00%

US Large Cap 39.00% 39.00% 36.75% 29.50% 23.25% 14.50% 5.50%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders U.S. Equity ETF 39.00% 39.00% 36.75% 29.50% 23.25% 14.50% 5.50%

US Mid Cap 4.00% 4.00% 3.50% 3.00% 2.25% 1.50% 0.50%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Mid Cap Equity ETF 4.00% 4.00% 3.50% 3.00% 2.25% 1.50% 0.50%

US Small Cap 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.00% 0.75% 0.50% 0.25%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity ETF 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.00% 0.75% 0.50% 0.25%

US All Cap 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 8.50% 7.50% 6.00% 5.00%

JPMorgan Growth Advantage Fund-R6 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.25% 3.75% 3.00% 2.50%

JPMorgan Value Advantage Fund-R6 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.25% 3.75% 3.00% 2.50%

EAFE Equity 22.75% 22.75% 21.50% 18.00% 14.25% 9.50% 4.75%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders International Equity ETF 22.75% 22.75% 21.50% 18.00% 14.25% 9.50% 4.75%

Fixed Income 5.00% 5.00% 10.00% 25.00% 40.00% 60.00% 50.00%

US Aggregate 5.00% 5.00% 10.00% 25.00% 40.00% 60.00% 50.00%

JPMorgan Core Bond Fund-R6 -- -- -- 5.00% 12.50% 20.00% 12.50%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders U.S. Aggregate Bond ETF 5.00% 5.00% 10.00% 20.00% 27.50% 40.00% 37.50%

Ultra-Short Duration Fixed Income 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 30.00%

JPMorgan Ultra-Short Income ETF -- -- -- -- -- -- 30.00%

Recommendations of the new glidepath with the incorporation of JGLO in the equity portfolio  

298



18 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Fund allocation changes across the range of Enrollment portfolios

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management Multi-Asset Solutions 

Reallocation of glidepath is based in the incorporation of the Global Select (JGLO) into the equity portfolio and 

not with respect to changes in the JPMAM 2024 capital market assumptions   

Future Path 

College 2042 

Portfolio

Future Path 

College 2039 

Portfolio

Future Path 

College 2036 

Portfolio

Future Path 

College 2033 

Portfolio

Future Path 

College 2030 

Portfolio 

Future Path 

College 2027 

Portfolio

Future Path 

Enrollment 

Portfolio

Equity -- -- -- -- -- -- --

Developed World Equity 19.00% 19.00% 18.00% 15.00% 12.00% 8.00% 4.00%

JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO) 19.00% 19.00% 18.00% 15.00% 12.00% 8.00% 4.00%

US Large Cap -6.00% -6.00% -5.00% -4.00% -2.75% -2.25% -2.25%

JPMorgan U.S. Equity Fund-R6 -9.00% -9.00% -9.00% -8.25% -7.00% -5.00% -2.00%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders U.S. Equity ETF 3.00% 3.00% 4.00% 4.25% 4.25% 2.75% -0.25%

US Mid Cap 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25% -- -0.25%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Mid Cap Equity ETF 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25% -- -0.25%

US Small Cap -2.00% -2.00% -1.75% -1.50% -1.25% -0.75% -0.25%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity ETF -2.00% -2.00% -1.75% -1.50% -1.25% -0.75% -0.25%

US All Cap -6.00% -6.00% -6.00% -5.50% -4.50% -2.50% --

JPMorgan Growth Advantage Fund-R6 -3.00% -3.00% -3.00% -2.75% -2.25% -1.25% --

JPMorgan Value Advantage Fund-R6 -3.00% -3.00% -3.00% -2.75% -2.25% -1.25% --

EAFE Equity -5.75% -5.75% -5.50% -4.50% -3.75% -2.50% -1.25%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders International Equity ETF 1.25% 1.25% 0.75% 1.50% 1.25% 0.50% 1.75%

JPMorgan International Research Enhanced Equity Fund-

R6
-7.00% -7.00% -6.25% -6.00% -5.00% -3.00% -3.00%

Fixed Income -- -- -- -- -- -- --

US Aggregate -- -- -- -- -- -- --

JPMorgan Core Bond Fund-R6 -- -- -- 5.00% 2.50% -- -2.50%

JPMorgan BetaBuilders U.S. Aggregate Bond ETF -- -- -- -5.00% -2.50% -- 2.50%

Ultra-Short Duration Fixed Income -- -- -- -- -- -- --

JPMorgan Ultra-Short Income ETF -- -- -- -- -- -- --

299



19 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Active asset allocation toolkit

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management Multi-Asset Solutions. The listed strategies are active asset allocations strategies and are not part of the Glidepath strategic portfolios 

Strategies listed are used for active asset allocation and are not part of the strategic allocation 

Fund Name Ticker Fund Name Ticker

JPMorgan BetaBuilders 1-5 Yr US Aggregate Bond ETF BBSA JPMorgan Emerging Markets Debt R6 JEMVX

JPMorgan BetaBuilders USD High Yield Corporate Bond ETF BBHY JPMorgan Emerging Markets Equity R6 JEMWX

JPMorgan BetaBuilders USD Investment Grade Corporate Bond ETF BBCB JPMorgan Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Equity R6 EMRSX

JPMorgan BetaBuilders Canada ETF BBCA JPMorgan Inflation Managed Bond ETF JCPI

JPMorgan BetaBuilders Developed APAC ex-Japan ETF BBAX JPMorgan International Equity R6 JNEMX

JPMorgan BetaBuilders Europe ETF BBEU JPMorgan International Focus R6 IUENX

JPMorgan BetaBuilders Japan ETF BBJP JPMorgan Short Duration Bond R6 JSDUX

JPMorgan BetaBuilders MSCI US REIT ETF BBRE JPMorgan Small Cap Equity R6 VSENX

JPMorgan Core Plus Bond R6 JCPUX JPMorgan SMID Cap Equity R6 WOOSX

JPMorgan BetaBuilders US Treasury 20+ Year Bond ETF BBLB JPMorgan BetaBuilders 1-5 Year Bond ETF BBSA

JPMorgan BetaBuilders 0-5 Year TIPS ETF BBIP JPMorgan BetaBuilders 1-3 Year Bond ETF BBSB

JPMorgan BetaBuilders 3-10 Year Bond ETF BBIB

Bolded strategies indicate recommended additions 

300



20
FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Appendix

301



21 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO)

A process focusing on Quality, Growth & Cash Flows

Helge Skibeli

Portfolio Manager

Experience:1 35/33

Christian Pecher

Portfolio Manager

Experience:1 25/25

A high conviction, bottom-up core portfolio of best ideas 

from our global research team

An investment philosophy prioritizing 

long-term normalized industry & 

company frameworks

A truly global research platform

2026E Normalized P/E4

Similar 

Price/Earnings

2026E Normalized Free Cash Flow Yield

Similar 

FCF Yield

’26E – ’29E Normalized EPS Growth

Higher Long-Term 

Earnings Growth

Fund Information              

Inception Date (ETF / Strategy) September 2023 / April 1981

Benchmark MSCI World Index

Target number of holdings 70-100

Normal tracking error Typically <4%

Sector ranges2 ± 3%

Region ranges2 ± 15%

Emerging markets Typically <5%

AUM (Total Strategy)3 USD 24.1 bn 

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management, Factset. All data as of December 31, 2023, unless otherwise stated. 1Years of experience: Industry/Firm as of December 2023. 2Relative to benchmark weight. 
3Strategy AUM as of December 31, 2023. 4Figures as of January 12, 2024. Abbreviations used: P/E = price to earnings, FCF = free cash flow, EPS = earnings per share. Benchmark is MSCI World Index 

(Total Return Net). Past performance is no guarantee of future results. The information is taken from a representative account. Actual account information may differ. Portfolio characteristic shown above 

are subject to change without notice. Any companies highlighted above have been selected based on their significance and are shown for illustrative purposes only. They are not recommendations. Portfolio 

characteristics are gross of all fees. Forecasts, projections and other forward-looking statements are based upon current beliefs and expectations. They are for illustrative purposes only and serve as an 

indication of what may occur. Given the inherent uncertainties and risks associated with forecasts, projections and other forward statements, actual events, results or performance

may differ materially from those reflected or contemplated. 

0x

4x

8x

12x

16x

Strategy Index

0%

2%

4%

6%

Strategy Index

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

Strategy Index

302



22 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

• Higher volatility or less 

liquidity

• Attractive long-term JPM 

valuation signal

• Supportive Free Cashflow 

Yield

• Lower range of outcomes           

• Strong track record of 

insights

Position Sizing: Driven by Valuation, Insight and Conviction

Higher active weight

• High quality business

• Resilient, more predictable 

earnings

Position sizing is adjusted incrementally as data and investment views evolve

Lower active weight

Position Sizing

Amazon +3 % Quintile 1
Lower range of 

outcomes
Premium

Meta +2 % Quintile 2
Higher range of 

outcomes
Quality

Typically, max + 3%

Typically, min + 0.5%

• Smaller deviation from 

consensus expectations

• Investment thesis starts to 

drift

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management as of September 2023. Active weight versus the portfolio benchmark, MSCI World Index. Past performance is no guarantee of future results. The information is

taken from a representative account. Actual account information may differ. Portfolio characteristic shown above are subject to change without notice. Any companies highlighted above have been selected

based on their significance and are shown for illustrative purposes only. They are not recommendations. Portfolio characteristics are gross of all fees.

Valuation Insight Conviction

303



23 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Quarterly excess returns relative to 

MSCI World Index4

Competitive risk-adjusted return profile1

Since inception 

percentiles

● Return: 6th

● Sharpe ratio: 10th

● Information Ratio: 2nd

Batting average2

63%
52%

Global Select Equity Strategy Global Large-Cap Core Equity
Median

1st

Percentile

Return
Standard

Deviation

Sharpe

ratio

Global Select Strategy Composite (Net) 12.31% 16.4% 0.60

MSCI World Index 9.97% 15.5% 0.47

Related performance: the strategy has delivered significant outperformance across 
varied market environments, with a consistent core approach

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management, eVestment, Morningstar. 1,2,3Data shown for the Global Select Equity Strategy composite as of December 31, 2023, since composite inception (November 30, 2015). 

Excess returns in USD and are calculated arithmetically. eVestment universe is Global Large-Cap Core Equity; ranks as of September 30, 2023. Consistency is measured by batting average – calculated by 

dividing the number of months in which the manager beats or matches the index by the total number of months in the period. 3Source: Morningstar Direct. Holdings-based style trail data shown for a 

representative account for the strategy, as of September 30, 2023. 4Quarterly composite returns, net of fees. ^Indicates the MSCI World Value Index outperformed the MSCI World Growth Index during the 

period. *Indicates the MSCI World Growth Index outperformed the MSCI World Value Index during the period. For more information regarding composites and performance calculation methodology, please 

refer to the GIPS Composite Disclosure page in the Appendix. Past performance is not a reliable indicator of current and future results.

0.0

-0.7

1.3

0.7

-0.8
-1.2

3.5

1.8 1.8

-0.5

1.9

0.5

2.1

0.20.3

0.9

0.0

-0.4

0.5 0.5

-0.2

2.1

-0.2

1.0

-0.2
-0.5-0.3

0.7

1.8

2.5

-1.7

1.7

-2.5

-1.5

-0.5

0.5

1.5

2.5

3.5

4.5

Q
1

 1
6

Q
2

 1
6

Q
3

 1
6

Q
4

 1
6

Q
1

 1
7

Q
2

 1
7

Q
3

 1
7

Q
4

 1
7

Q
1

 1
8

Q
2

 1
8

Q
3

 1
8

Q
4

 1
8

Q
1

 1
9

Q
2

 1
9

Q
3

 1
9

Q
4

 1
9

Q
1

 2
0

Q
2

 2
0

Q
3

 2
0

Q
4

 2
0

Q
1

 2
1

Q
2

 2
1

Q
3

 2
1

Q
4

 2
1

Q
1

 2
2

Q
2

 2
2

Q
3

 2
2

Q
4

 2
2

Q
1

 2
3

Q
2

 2
3

Q
3

 2
3

Q
4

 2
3

Value outperformed growth^

Growth outperformed value**

Style 

regime

Hit Ratio 

(Gross)

Hit Ratio 

(net)

Value 73% 64%

Growth 62% 62%

MSCI World Index

Global Select Equity Strategy

Morningstar holdings-based style trail3

304



24 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

67%

33%

1.6…

1.20%

0.78%

0.21% 0.20% 0.08%

-0.07%

North America International Europe ex UK Pacific ex Japan Japan Emerging Markets United Kingdom

Related performance: stock selection drives alpha across sectors and regions

0.49 0.36 0.34
0.24 0.19 0.19 0.17 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.12 0.11 0.10 0.09 0.06 0.02

-0.01 -0.02 -0.03

Global Select has seen positive attribution in over 80% of sectors since inception…
Attribution 

summary

Stock: +2.60

Sector:  +0.04

Many uncorrelated micro insights across regions and sectors – as of December 31, 2023

…and attribution impact in North America and International has been proportional
Attribution 

summary

Stock: +2.64

Region: 0.00

MSCI World (%) Excess Returns (%)

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management, Factset. The JPMorgan Global Select Equity Strategy composite incepted on Nov. 30, 2015. At that point, Helge Skibeli became lead PM on the strategy. Attribution 
analysis is designed to be indicative of the sources of excess returns. Figures may not add up to actual performance. Data in USD. Past performance is no guarantee of future results. The information is 
taken from a representative account. Actual account information may differ.  Performance attribution shown above is subject to change without notice. Any securities highlighted above have been selected 
based on their significance and are shown for illustrative purposes only. They are not recommendations. Performance attribution is gross of all fees. Cash line is not shown. 

305



25 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Q4
Since

inception1

JGLO ETF (at NAV) 13.16 9.10

Market price returns 12.93 9.36

MSCI World NTR 11.42 7.62

Excess return 1.74 1.48

Morningstar Rank % (Global Large-Stock Blend) 8 10

As of December 31, 2023

Annual operating expenses

Net expenses (%) 0.47

Trailing performance, at NAV (USD, %)

The performance quoted is past performance and is not a guarantee of future results. Investment returns and principal value of an investment will 

fluctuate so that an investor's shares, when sold or redeemed, may be worth more or less than their original cost. Current performance may be 

higher or lower than the performance data shown. For performance current to the most recent month-end please call 1-844-4JPM-ETF.

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management. Market value as of December 31, 2023. 1Fund incepted COB September 13, 2023. Performance is shown net of fees in USD. Please see disclosure page for index 

definitions. Index performance returns do not reflect any management fees, transaction costs or expenses. Indexes are unmanaged. NTR = net total return. Performance may reflect the waiver of a portion of 

the Funds' advisory or administrative fees for certain periods since the inception date. If fees had not been waived, performance would have been less favorable. The JPMorgan JGLO ETF was ranked in the 

Morningstar Global Large-Stock Blend peer group as follows: Q4 (28/372), since inception (30/371). 

JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO) Performance

Market value

JPM Global Select Equity ETF USD 980 mn

306



26 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Related Performance: JPMorgan Global Select Equity Strategy Composite

As of December 31, 2023

Calendar year performance (USD, %)

Trailing performance (USD, %)

Market value

JPM Global Select Equity Strategy USD 24.1 bn

Source: J.P. Morgan Asset Management. Strategy AUM as of December 31, 2023. Performance for periods greater than one year are annualized. *Strategy inception date: November 30, 2015. Performance 

results are shown in USD, and excess returns are calculated arithmetically. The performance quoted is past performance and is not a guarantee of future results. Performance includes the 

reinvestment of income. For more information regarding composites and performance calculation methodology, please refer to the GIPS Composite Disclosure page in the Appendix. Please note, the “net of 

fee” composite performance returns is calculated using a model investment management fee. It is based on a representative fee applicable to institutional clients looking to invest in the strategy and it is higher 

or equal to the weighted average investment management fee of the underlying accounts within the composite at year end. Actual fees may be lower based on assets under management and other factors. 

Where fees are lower, “net of fees” performance returns will be higher. As such, “net of fees” performance for actual accounts may differ significantly from the “net of fees” performance shown above. The 

typical schedule of investment management fees for institutional clients investing in this strategy is 0.50% per annum.

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

JPM Global Select Strategy Composite (Gross) 9.34 26.92 -8.97 29.69 20.38 24.42 -13.65 27.69

JPM Global Select Strategy Composite (Net) 8.79 26.29 -9.42 29.04 19.78 23.80 -14.08 27.05

MSCI World Net Index 7.51 22.40 -8.71 27.67 15.90 21.82 -18.14 23.79

Excess return (Gross) 1.83 4.52 -0.26 2.02 4.48 2.60 4.49 3.90

Excess return (Net) 1.28 3.89 -0.71 1.37 3.88 1.98 4.06 3.26

Q4
One

year

Three

years

Five

years

Since

inception*

JPM Global Select Strategy Composite (Gross) 13.26 27.69 11.11 16.45 12.87

JPM Global Select Strategy Composite (Net) 13.11 27.05 10.55 15.87 12.31

MSCI World Net Index 11.42 23.79 7.27 12.80 9.97

Excess return (Gross) 1.84 3.90 3.84 3.65 2.90

Excess return (Net) 1.69 3.26 3.28 3.07 2.34

307



27 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Biographies

Helge Skibeli

Helge Skibeli, Managing Director, is a portfolio manager within the J.P. Morgan Asset Management International Equity Group, based in London. He

leads the Global Core Portfolio Management Team. An employee since 1990, Helge was previously the Global Head of Developed Market Equity

Research. Before that he was Head of Research for the US, based in New York, which followed being Head of Asia ex Japan Research, based in

Singapore. Prior to that he was a research analyst for European autos and basic industries. Helge obtained an MA in General Business from the

Norwegian School of Management and earned an MBA from the University of Wisconsin-Madison. He is a CFA charterholder.

Christian Pecher

Christian Pecher, Managing Director, is a portfolio manager within the J.P. Morgan Asset Management International Equity Group, based in London.

He is a member of the Global Core Portfolio Management Team. An employee since 1998, Christian was previously Head of Developed Asia Research

based in Tokyo, and before that, European utilities research analyst. Prior to that, Christian covered the European technology sector. Christian obtained

a BSc. in business economics from the University of London and earned an MSc. in Economics from the London School of Economics. He is a CFA

charterholder.

As of December 31, 2023. There can be no assurance that the professionals currently employed by J.P. Morgan Asset Management (JPMAM) will continue to be employed by JPMAM or that the past 

performance or success of any such professional serves as an indicator of such professional's future performance or success. 

308



28 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

Global Select (USD) – GIPS Report

Past performance is not necessarily a reliable indicator of current and future results.

Composite performance results

Composite Global Select

Benchmark MSCI World Net

Base currency US Dollar

Data as of 31 December 2022

GIPS Firm JPM EMEA, J.P. Morgan Asset Management.

Firm Definition

For the purpose of GIPS's® compliance, the Firm is defined as the J.P. Morgan London, J.P. Morgan Hong Kong, J.P. Morgan Singapore and J.P. Morgan Taiwan investment processes of J.P. Morgan Asset Management. J.P. Morgan Taiwan 

investment process was added to the Firm definition with effect from 1st January 2019. J.P. Morgan Japan was removed from the Firm definition with effect from 1st January 2020. A list of composite descriptions, pooled fund descriptions for limited 

distribution pooled funds and a list of broad distribution pooled funds are available on request.

Compliance Statement

J.P. Morgan Asset Management claims compliance with the Global Investment Performance Standards (GIPS®) and has prepared and presented this report in compliance with the GIPS standards. J.P. Morgan Asset Management has been 

independently verified for the periods 1st January 1996 to 31st December 2021. The verification reports are available upon request. A firm that claims compliance with the GIPS standards must establish policies and procedures for complying with all the 

applicable requirements of the GIPS standards. Verification provides assurance on whether the firm’s policies and procedures related to composite and pooled fund maintenance, as well as the calculation, presentation, and distribution of performance, 

have been designed in compliance with the GIPS standards and have been implemented on a firm-wide basis. Verification does not provide assurance on the accuracy of any specific performance report. GIPS® is a registered trademark of CFA 

Institute. CFA Institute does not endorse or promote this organization, nor does it warrant the accuracy or quality of the content contained herein.

Composite Description

This composite consists of portfolios which are managed according to the following rules. The portfolios invested within the Global Region is managed by the International Equity Group using a fundamental, bottom-up stock selection process built upon 

stock level analysis. They are broadly sector-neutral strategy globally and seek to target a 2% excess return versus the benchmark. They must be free to invest in global equity markets including both developed and emerging countries. The benchmark 

of the composite is the MSCI World (Net) Index. The portfolios may also be managed against the MSCI World Index excluding a particular sector or country, provided that the level of exclusion does not impact the management of the portfolio in line with 

the strategy, such that it merits allocation to a different composite. The composite benchmark is calculated net of tax from a Luxembourg holding company’s perspective. No portfolios in this composite are leveraged through the use of derivatives or other 

means. Portfolios may be permitted to use forward contracts for the purposes of hedging. Additionally, some portfolios are permitted to use security and currency futures and options for positioning, according to the guidelines. The writing of uncovered 

options for any purpose is not permitted. The composite was created in March 2016 with an inception date of 30 November 2015.

Valuation and Calculation 

The returns shown for this composite are the asset-weighted averages of the performance of all individual portfolios in the composite using beginning of period weightings. The performance results are time-weighted rates of return with the reinvestment 

of income, that are net of commissions, transaction costs and non-reclaimable withholding taxes, where applicable. Gross returns do not reflect the deduction of management fees or any other expenses that may be incurred in the management of the 

account. Net returns are net of model fees in effect for the respective time period. Model net returns are calculated by subtracting 1/12th of the model fee listed in the fee disclosure section from the gross composite return on a monthly basis.  The model

fee is either the highest tier of the fee schedule in effect for the period, or a higher value, whichever is required to ensure the composite model net of fee return is lower than or equal to the composite net of fee return calculated using actual fees. Actual 

fees charged may vary by account due to various conditions described in Part IIA of Form ADV.  The returns for indices do not include any transaction costs, management fees or other costs. Additional information regarding policies for valuing 

investments, calculating performance and preparing GIPS Reports are available upon request.  Internal dispersion measures the spread of annual returns of individual portfolios within a composite. It is calculated using the asset-weighted standard 

deviation of the gross returns of portfolios that were included in the composite for the full year.  Internal dispersion is not shown for calendar years with five or fewer portfolios in the composite for the full year.  The three-year annualised standard 

deviation measures the variability of the composite and benchmark returns over the preceding 36-month period. Standard deviation measures are not shown where there are less than 36 monthly observations available. Gross returns were used to 

calculate the three-year annualised ex post standard deviation of the composite.  All portfolios in this composite for the periods displayed on the GIPS Report have been valued daily, on a trade date basis using accrual accounting, except if the 

composite contains a Hong Kong segregated account which was valued monthly until June 2020. During the period from June 2020 to March 2021 they transitioned to be valued daily. Past performance is no guarantee of future results.  As with any 

investment vehicle, there is always the potential for gains as well as the possibility of losses.

Fees

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the model fee applied is 0.50%. The standard annual fee schedule is 0.50% of assets managed. Individual clients are subject to negotiation and may deviate from the typical fee presented within this report.

Year

Composite 

Gross of Fees 

Return %

Composite 

Net of Fees 

Return %

Benchmark 

Return %

Number of 

Accounts

Internal 

Dispersion

Composite 3Yr 

Annualized Std 

Dev (%)

Benchmark 3Yr 

Annualized Std 

Dev (%)

Composite 

Assets 

(Millions)

Firm Assets 

(Billions)

2022 -13.65 -14.08 -18.14 16 0.25 21.82 20.72 8,298 374 

2021 24.42 23.80 21.82 15 0.17 18.51 17.30 7,058 464 

2020 20.38 19.78 15.90 14 0.75 19.72 18.53 4,715 422 

2019 29.69 29.04 27.67 12 n/a 12.16 11.29 3,463 412 

2018 -8.97 -9.42 -8.71 <6 n/a 11.75 10.53 718 349 

2017 26.92 26.28 22.40 <6 n/a n/a n/a 481 398 

2016 9.34 8.79 7.51 <6 n/a n/a n/a 189 323 

2015 (Dec) -1.65 -1.69 -1.76 <6 n/a n/a n/a 198 337 

309



29 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

J.P. Morgan’s 2024 Long-Term Capital Market Return Assumptions

U.S. Inflation 2.50 2.51 1.52 2.60

U.S. Cash 2.90 2.90 0.59 2.40

U.S. Intermediate Treasuries 3.90 3.95 3.27 3.60

U.S. Long Treasuries 5.20 5.92 12.39 4.20

TIPS 4.60 4.76 5.75 4.30

U.S. Aggregate Bonds 5.10 5.19 4.28 4.60

U.S. Securitized 5.30 5.35 3.34 4.80

U.S. Short Duration Government/Credit 3.90 3.91 1.58 3.60

U.S. Long Duration Government/Credit 5.70 6.24 10.76 5.20

U.S. Inv Grade Corporate Bonds 5.80 6.04 7.14 5.50

U.S. Long Corporate Bonds 6.00 6.64 11.70 5.80

U.S. High Yield Bonds 6.50 6.83 8.36 6.80

U.S. Leveraged Loans 6.50 6.79 7.89 6.20

World Government Bonds hedged 4.20 4.27 3.74 3.70

World Government Bonds 4.80 5.03 6.91 4.40

World ex-U.S. Government Bonds hedged 4.00 4.07 3.71 3.60

World ex-U.S. Government Bonds 4.90 5.25 8.61 4.60

Emerging Markets Sovereign Debt 6.80 7.23 9.64 7.10

Emerging Markets Local Currency Debt 6.00 6.69 12.23 7.10

Emerging Markets Corporate Bonds 6.70 7.08 9.01 7.00

U.S. Muni 1-15 Yr Blend 4.00 4.07 3.89 3.70

U.S. Muni High Yield 5.80 6.14 8.49 5.20

U.S. Large Cap 7.00 8.19 16.19 7.90

U.S. Mid Cap 7.60 9.08 18.13 8.00

U.S. Small Cap 7.20 9.07 20.44 8.10

Euro Area Large Cap 9.70 11.83 22.15 10.50

Japanese Equity 9.30 10.39 15.62 10.40

Hong Kong Equity 9.90 11.80 20.89 7.50

UK Large Cap 8.60 10.01 17.76 9.10

EAFE Equity 9.20 10.58 17.64 9.80

Chinese Domestic Equity 10.80 14.38 29.33 11.80

Emerging Markets Equity 8.80 10.77 21.20 10.10

AC Asia ex-Japan Equity 8.90 10.83 20.98 10.00

AC World Equity 7.80 9.05 16.68 8.50

U.S. Equity Value Factor 8.40 9.76 17.42 10.10

U.S. Equity Momentum Factor 7.90 9.14 16.62 8.90

U.S. Equity Quality Factor 7.00 8.00 14.81 7.80

U.S. Equity Minimum Volatility Factor 7.40 8.17 12.98 8.20

U.S. Equity Dividend Yield Factor 8.00 9.17 16.15 8.90

Global Convertible Bonds hedged 7.90 8.53 11.78 9.10

U.S. Core Real Estate 7.50 8.02 10.60 5.70

U.S. Value-Added Real Estate 9.70 11.08 17.66 7.70

European Core Real Estate 7.30 8.06 12.84 6.80

Asia Pacific Core Real Estate 8.70 9.75 15.32 8.10

U.S. REITs 8.20 9.36 16.05 6.80

Commercial Mortgage Loans 6.30 6.58 7.78 -

Global Core Infrastructure 6.80 7.38 11.24 6.30

Global Core Transport 7.70 8.60 14.06 7.50

Global Timberland 6.20 6.74 10.81 6.70

Commodities 3.80 5.31 18.00 3.10

Gold 4.10 5.43 16.93 3.50

Private Equity 9.70 11.46 20.06 9.90

Venture Capital 9.20 11.34 22.17 8.50

Diversified Hedge Funds 5.00 5.16 5.80 5.00

Event Driven Hedge Funds 5.00 5.32 8.22 5.40

Long Bias Hedge Funds 4.70 5.27 11.04 5.00

Relative Value Hedge Funds 4.90 5.06 5.73 4.90

Macro Hedge Funds 3.60 3.84 7.08 4.10

Direct Lending 8.50 9.29 13.21 7.80

310



30 FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

NOT FOR RETAIL DISTRIBUTION: This communication has been prepared exclusively for institutional, wholesale, professional clients and qualified investors only, as defined by local laws and

regulations

JPMAM Long-Term Capital Market Assumptions: Given the complex risk-reward trade-offs involved, we advise clients to rely on judgment as well as quantitative optimization approaches in setting strategic allocations.

Please note that all information shown is based on qualitative analysis. Exclusive reliance on the above is not advised. This information is not intended as a recommendation to invest in any particular asset class or

strategy or as a promise of future performance. Note that these asset class and strategy assumptions are passive only – they do not consider the impact of active management. References to future returns are not

promises or even estimates of actual returns a client portfolio may achieve. Assumptions, opinions and estimates are provided for illustrative purposes only. They should not be relied upon as recommendations to buy or

sell securities. Forecasts of financial market trends that are based on current market conditions constitute our judgment and are subject to change without notice. We believe the information provided here is reliable, but

do not warrant its accuracy or completeness. This material has been prepared for information purposes only and is not intended to provide, and should not be relied on for, accounting, legal or tax advice. The outputs of

the assumptions are provided for illustration/discussion purposes only and are subject to significant limitations. “Expected” or “alpha” return estimates are subject to uncertainty and error. For example, changes in the

historical data from which it is estimated will result in different implications for asset class returns. Expected returns for each asset class are conditional on an economic scenario; actual returns in the event the scenario

comes to pass could be higher or lower, as they have been in the past, so an investor should not expect to achieve returns similar to the outputs shown herein. References to future returns for either asset allocation

strategies or asset classes are not promises of actual returns a client portfolio may achieve. Because of the inherent limitations of all models, potential investors should not rely exclusively on the model when making a

decision. The model cannot account for the impact that economic, market, and other factors may have on the implementation and ongoing management of an actual investment portfolio. Unlike actual portfolio

outcomes, the model outcomes do not reflect actual trading, liquidity constraints, fees, expenses, taxes and other factors that could impact the future returns. The model assumptions are passive only – they do not

consider the impact of active management. A manager’s ability to achieve similar outcomes is subject to risk factors over which the manager may have no or limited control. The views contained herein are not to be

taken as advice or a recommendation to buy or sell any investment in any jurisdiction, nor is it a commitment from J.P. Morgan Asset Management or any of its subsidiaries to participate in any of the transactions

mentioned herein. Any forecasts, figures, opinions or investment techniques and strategies set out are for information purposes only, based on certain assumptions and current market conditions and are subject to

change without prior notice. All information presented herein is considered to be accurate at the time of production. This material does not contain sufficient information to support an investment decision and it should

not be relied upon by you in evaluating the merits of investing in any securities or products. In addition, users should make an independent assessment of the legal, regulatory, tax, credit and accounting implications and

determine, together with their own professional advisers, if any investment mentioned herein is believed to be suitable to their personal goals. Investors should ensure that they obtain all available relevant information

before making any investment. It should be noted that investment involves risks, the value of investments and the income from them may fluctuate in accordance with market conditions and taxation agreements and

investors may not get back the full amount invested. Both past performance and yield are not a reliable indicator of current and future results.

The Target Return has been established by J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. “J.P. Morgan” based on its assumptions and calculations using data available to it and in light of current market conditions and

available investment opportunities and is subject to the risks set forth herein and to be set forth more fully in the Memorandum. The target returns are for illustrative purposes only and are subject to significant limitations.

An investor should not expect to achieve actual returns similar to the target returns shown above. Because of the inherent limitations of the target returns, potential investors should not rely on them when making a

decision on whether or not to invest in the strategy. The target returns cannot account for the impact that economic, market, and other factors may have on the implementation of an actual investment program. Unlike

actual performance, the target returns do not reflect actual trading, liquidity constraints, fees, expenses, and other factors that could impact the future returns of the strategy. The manager’s ability to achieve the target

returns is subject to risk factors over which the manager may have no or limited control. There can be no assurance that the Fund will achieve its investment objective, the Target Return or any other objectives. The

return achieved may be more or less than the Target Return. The data supporting the Target Return is on file with J.P. Morgan and is available for inspection upon request.

Disclosures: Long Term Capital Market Assumptions (LTCMA) 

311



31
FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

J.P. Morgan Asset Management

For use with institutions only, not for use with retail 

investors.

This document is a general communication being 

provided for informational purposes only. It is 

educational in nature and not designed to be a 

recommendation for any specific investment product, 

strategy, plan feature or other purpose. Any examples 

used are generic, hypothetical and for illustration 

purposes only. Prior to making any investment or 

financial decisions, an investor should seek 

individualized advice from a personal financial, legal, 

tax and other professionals that take into account all 

of the particular facts and circumstances of an 

investor’s own situation. 

Investors should carefully consider the investment 

objectives and risks as well as charges and expenses 

before investing. The summary and full prospectuses 

contains this and other information about ETF and 

should be read carefully before investing. To obtain a 

prospectus for Exchange Traded Funds: Call 1-844-

4JPM-ETF or download it from this site

Index information provided on slides 9-17 is based on 

back-tested and live index results, as of 9/30/2022. Past 

performance is not a guarantee of comparable future 

results. Total return assumes the reinvestment of income. 

Performance results are gross of investment 

management fees. The deduction of an advisory fee 

reduces an investor’s return. Actual account performance 

will vary depending on individual portfolio security 

selection and the applicable fee schedule. Investing in the 

strategy is subject to certain market risk. Investment 

returns and principal value of an investment will fluctuate 

so that an account, when redeemed, may be worth more 

or less than the initial investment

Risks of investing in the BetaBuilders ETFs

Investing involves risk, including possible loss of principal. 

Investment returns and principal value of an investment 

will fluctuate so that an investor's shares, when sold or 

redeemed, may be worth more or less than their original 

cost. ETF shares are bought and sold throughout the day 

on an exchange at market price (not NAV) through a 

brokerage account and are not individually redeemed 

from the fund. Shares may only be redeemed directly 

from a fund by Authorized Participants, in very large 

creation/redemption units. For all products, brokerage 

commissions will reduce returns.

International investing has a greater degree of risk and 

increased volatility due to political and economic 

instability of some overseas markets. Changes in 

currency exchange rates and different accounting and 

taxation policies outside the U.S. can affect returns. 

The manager seeks to achieve the stated objectives. 

There is no guarantee the objectives will be met. 

Diversification does not guarantee investment returns and 

does not eliminate the risk of loss. 

The fund uses derivatives, which may be riskier than 

other types of investments and may increase the volatility 

of the fund. The fund may not track the return of its 

underlying index for a number of reasons, such operating 

expenses incurred by the fund that are not applicable to 

the index, and the time difference between calculating the 

value of the index and the net asset value of the fund. 

Narrowly focused investments typically exhibit higher 

volatility. 

The Underlying indices are comprised of equity securities 

from developed global equity markets, weighted by 

market cap. Morningstar is the Index Provider. The equity 

securities in the Underlying Index will be diversified 

across international regions and industries. These 

securities will be large- and mid-cap equity securities of 

companies from developed countries, including common 

stock, preferred stock and real estate investment trusts 

(REITs).

Opinions and statements of financial market trends that 

are based on current market conditions constitute our 

judgment and are subject to change without notice. We 

believe the information provided here is reliable but 

should not be assumed to be accurate or complete. The 

views and strategies described may not be appropriate 

for all investors. 

There is no guarantee the funds will meet their 

investment objective. Diversification may not protect 

against market loss. 

Shares are bought and sold throughout the day on 

exchange at market price (not NAV) through a brokerage 

account and are not individually redeemed from the fund. 

Shares may only be redeemed directly from a fund by 

Authorized Participants, in very large creation/redemption 

units. Brokerage commissions will reduce returns. 

312



32
FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

J.P. Morgan Asset Management

Morningstar® is a registered trademark of Morningstar, 

Inc. and has been licensed for use by JPMorgan. The 

JPMorgan BetaBuilders ETFs are not sponsored, 

endorsed, issued, sold or promoted by Morningstar, Inc., 

nor does it make any representation regarding the 

advisability of investing in the fund. JPMorgan is not 

affiliated with Morningstar, Inc.

MSCI Indexes are the exclusive property of MSCI and 

registered Service Mark of MSCI Inc. (MSCI) or its 

affiliates and has been licensed for use for certain 

purposes by JPMorgan Chase & Co. (“Licensee”) The 

JPMorgan BetaBuilders MSCI U.S. REIT ETF is not 

sponsored, endorsed, issued, sold or promoted by MSCI 

and MSCI bears no liability with respect to any such funds 

or securities or any index on which such funds or 

securities are based. The Prospectus contains a more 

detailed description of the relationship MSCI has with 

Licensee and any related funds.

The following ETFs are listed in the international 

quotation system of the Mexican Stock Exchange 

(“Sistema internacional de cotizaciones de la bolsa

Mexicana de valores”). JPMORGAN BETABUILDERS 

EUROPE ETF (BBEU), JPMORGAN BETABUILDERS 

CANADA ETF (BBCA), JPMORGAN BETABUILDERS 

MSCI US REIT ETF (BBRE), JPMORGAN 

BETABUILDERS U.S. EQUITY ETF (BBUS), 

JPMORGAN BETABUILDERS JAPAN ETF (BBJP), 

JPMORGAN BETABUILDERS INTERNATIONAL 

EQUITY ETF (BBIN), JPMORGAN BETABUILDERS U.S. 

MID CAP EQUITY ETF (BBMC), JPMORGAN 

BETABUILDERS U.S. SMALL CAP EQUITY ETF (BBSC) 

and JPMORGAN BETABUILDERS DEVELOPED ASIA 

EX-JAPAN ETF (BBAX). The registration does not imply 

a certification of the performance of the ETF.

This Fund integrates financially material Environmental, 

Social and Governance (“ESG”) factors as part of its 

investment decision-making process (“ESG Integration”). 

ESG Integration is the systematic inclusion of ESG issues 

in investment analysis and investment decisions. ESG 

Integration for a Fund is dependent upon the availability 

of sufficient ESG information on the Fund’s investment 

universe. ESG determinations may not be conclusive and 

securities of companies/issuers may be purchased and 

retained, without limit, by the adviser regardless of 

potential ESG impact. The impact of ESG Integration on a 

Fund’s performance is not specifically measurable as 

investment decisions are discretionary regardless of ESG 

considerations.

313



33
FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA STATE TREASURER | NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION

J.P. Morgan Asset Management

Index Definitions

The Russell 1000 Index® measures the performance of 

the 1,000 largest companies in the Russell 3000.

The S&P 500 Index is widely regarded as the best single 

gauge of the U.S. equities market. The index includes a 

representative sample of 500 leading companies in 

leading industries of the U.S. economy. 

The Morningstar US Target Market Exposure (TME)

Index is designed to provide exposure to the top 85% 

market capitalization by free float in the United States 

equity market. The index contains large and mid-

capitalization equities and is designed with the following 

objectives in mind: (1) transparent and objective rules; (2) 

full investibility; and (3) low turnover

The Morningstar® Japan Target Market Exposure 

(TME) Index is designed to provide exposure to the top 

85% market capitalization by free float in Japan's equity 

market. The index contains large and mid-capitalization 

equities and is designed with the following objectives in 

mind: (1) transparent and objective rules; (2) full 

investibility; and (3) low turnover

The MSCI Japan Index is designed to measure the 

performance of the large and mid cap segments of the 

Japanese market. With 323 constituents, the index covers 

approximately 85% of the free float-adjusted market 

capitalization in Japan.

The Morningstar Developed Europe Target Market 

Exposure (TME) Index is designed to provide exposure 

to the top 85% market capitalization by free float in 

Europe's developed markets. The index contains large 

and mid-capitalization equities and is designed with the 

following objectives in mind: (1) transparent and objective 

rules; (2) full investibility; and (3) low turnover.

The MSCI Europe Index is a free float-adjusted market 

capitalization index that is designed to measure 

developed market equity performance in Europe.

The Morningstar Canada Target Market Exposure 

(TME) Index is designed to provide exposure to the top 

85% market capitalization by free float in Canada's equity 

market. The index contains large and mid-capitalization 

equities and is designed with the following objectives in 

mind: (1) transparent and objective rules; (2) full 

investibility; and (3) low turnover.

The MSCI Canada Index is designed to measure the 

performance of the large and mid cap segments of 

the Canada market. With 91 constituents, 

the index covers approximately 85% of the free float-

adjusted market capitalization in Canada.

The Morningstar Dev Asia ex-Japan TME Index is 

designed to provide exposure to the top 85% market 

capitalization by free float in the developed regional 

markets of Asia Pacific ex-Japan. The index contains 

large and mid-capitalization equities and is designed with 

the following objectives in mind: (1) transparent and 

objective rules; (2) full investibility; and (3) low turnover.

The MSCI Pacific ex-Japan Index is a free float-adjusted 

market capitalization index that is designed to measure 

equity market performance in the Pacific region.

The MSCI US REIT Index is a free float-adjusted market 

capitalization weighted index that is comprised of 

equity Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs). 

The index is based on the MSCI USA Investable 

Market Index (IMI), its parent index, which captures the 

large, mid and small cap segments of the USA market

The MSCI US IMI REAL ESTATE 25/50 INDEX is 

designed to capture the large, mid and small cap 

segments of the U.S. equity universe. All securities in 

the index are classified in the Real Estate sector as per 

the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS®)

J.P. Morgan ETFs are distributed by JPMorgan 

Distribution Services, Inc., (1111 Polaris Pkwy, 

Columbus, OH 43240) which is an affiliate of JPMorgan 

Chase & Co. Affiliates of JPMorgan Chase & Co. receive 

fees for providing various services to the funds. 

JPMorgan Distribution Services, Inc. is a member of 

FINRA.

J.P. Morgan Asset Management is the brand name for 

the asset management business of JPMorgan Chase & 

Co and its affiliates worldwide. 

J.P. Morgan Asset Management, 277 Park Ave., New 

York, NY 10172 

Telephone calls and electronic communications may be 

monitored and/or recorded. Personal data will be 

collected, stored and processed by J.P. Morgan Asset 

Management in accordance with our privacy policies at 

https://www.jpmorgan.com/privacy

If you are a person with a disability and need additional 

support in viewing the material, please call us at 1-800-

343-1113 for assistance.

© JPMorgan Chase & Co., 2023

Material ID “0903c02a82539237”

314



BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI   NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM

Nevada College Savings Programs

February 21, 2024

JP Morgan  2024 Annual Proposal 
Review

315



Nevada College Savings Programs

1. Objectives 

2. Summary of Proposal

3. Findings and Recommendation

4. Analysis

5. JP Morgan Global Select ETF Review

6. Meketa’s Asset Allocation Framework

Agenda

Page 2 of 37 

316



Objectives

Page 3 of 37 

317



Nevada College Savings Programs

Objectives 

 Review current glidepath using Meketa’s 2024 capital market assumptions.

 Analyze changes in expected outcome for participants versus 2023 assumptions.

 Year of Enrollment Portfolios.

 Evaluate proposed changes from JP Morgan, if any.

 Analyze changes in expected outcomes for participants.

 Review underlying fund recommendations.

 Assess proposed changes’ impact on fees.

Objectives

Page 4 of 37 

318



Summary of Proposal

Page 5 of 37 

319



Nevada College Savings Programs

Current Investment Menu Structure

Enrollment Year 
Portfolios

7

Static Allocation 
Portfolios

3

Individual 
Portfolios

17

Strategic 
Allocation 

Investments

11 Funds

Active 
Asset Allocation 

Tool Kit

18 Funds

PORTFOLIO BUILDING BLOCKS

Investment Bounds 
± 15% at Asset Class 

Level

Page 6 of 37 

320



Nevada College Savings Programs

JP Morgan

 Specific allocation changes within the Year of Enrollment are highlighted in the analysis section of this report.

Summary of Proposal

RecommendationPortfolios / Underlying Funds

 Add Developed World Equity with the addition of JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO)

 Decrease US Large Cap

• Removing JPM US Equity Fund-R6

 Increase US Mid Cap

 Decrease US Small Cap

 Decrease US All Cap

 Decrease EAFE Equity

• Removing JPM International Research Enhanced Equity ETF

Year of Enrollment

 Add Developed World Equity with the addition of JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO)

 Add the following funds to asset allocation “toolkit”:

• JPM BetaBuilders US Treasury 20+ Year Bond ETF

• JPM BetaBuilders 0-5 Year TIPS ETF

• JPM BetaBuilders 3-10 Year Bond ETF

• JPM BetaBuilders 1-5 Year Bond ETF

• JPM BetaBuilders 1-3 Year Bond ETF

Asset Allocation Portfolios 

 Add Developed World Equity with the addition of JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF (JGLO)Individual Portfolios

Page 7 of 37 

321



Nevada College Savings Programs

Proposed Investment Menu Structure

Enrollment Year 
Portfolios

7

Static Allocation 
Portfolios

3

Individual 
Portfolios

18

Strategic 
Allocation 

Investments

10 Funds

Active 
Asset Allocation 

Tool Kit

23 Funds

PORTFOLIO BUILDING BLOCKS

Investment Bounds 
± 15% at Asset Class 

Level

Added JGLO

Added 5 fixed income ETFs
Added JGLO
Removed JUEX and JIRE

Page 8 of 37 

322



Findings and Recommendation

Page 9 of 37 

323



*Source: Morningstar

Page 10 of 37 

Nevada College Savings Programs

Findings and Recommendation

Findings

JPMorgan’s 2024 proposal changes the implementation of how the portfolios gain equity exposure through the addition of a 
global equity ETF, the removal of a US large cap equity and international equity funds and reweighting the remaining funds.

Meketa finds JP Morgan’s analysis to be comprehensive and insightful and uses consistent and reasonable inputs in developing 
their conclusions.

 Year of Enrollment and Asset Allocation Portfolios:

 Overall equity component maintains similar structure from style, capitalization and regional perspective

 Risk-adjusted returns are essentially unchanged

 Additional five fixed income ETFs to “Tool-Kit” provide JP Morgan effective tools to manage interest rate risk

 No impact to fees

 Individual Portfolios

 Increases number of options to 18, which is slightly higher than the industry average of 16* for Advisor sold plans

 Provides participants with a global equity options

 Underlying Funds

 Meketa views the addition of the five fixed income ETFs to be of high quality and reasonably priced

 Meketa has a favorable view of the JP Morgan Global Select Equity ETF

Recommendation

Meketa agrees that the proposed changes to the implementation of the glidepath and asset allocation portfolios are sound and 
that the forecasted returns of the diversified options have a high likelihood of exceeding tuition inflation with a reasonable amount 
of risk over the full investment period (age 0-20+). Meketa, therefore, recommends the NV College Savings Board adopt these 
changes.

324



Analysis

Page 11 of 37 

325



Nevada College Savings Programs

Glidepath Analysis

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2042 2039 2036 2033 2030 2027 Future Path Enrollment

US Large Cap US Mid Cap US Small Cap US All Cap EAFE Equity US Aggregate Ultra Short Duration Fixed Income

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2042 2039 2036 2033 2030 2027 Future Path Enrollment

Portfolio

Developed World Equities US Large Cap US Mid Cap US Small Cap US All Cap EAFE Equity US Aggregate Ultra-Short Duration Fixed Income

Current YOE Glidepath

Proposed YOE Glidepath

Page 12 of 37 

326



Nevada College Savings Programs

YOE: Current Sub-Asset Class Allocations

YOE: Proposed Sub-Asset Class Allocations

YOE: Proposed Sub-Asset Class Changes

Year of Enrollment Portfolios - Investment Option Analysis

Ultra-Short 
Duration Fixed 

IncomeUS AggregateEAFE EquityUS All CapUS Small CapUS Mid CapUS Large Cap
Developed Word 

EquityPortfolio

0.00%5.00%28.50%15.00%3.25%3.25%45.00%--2042

0.00%5.00%28.50%15.00%3.25%3.25%45.00%--2039

0.00%10.00%27.00%15.00%3.00%3.25%41.75%--2036

0.00%25.00%22.50%14.00%2.50%2.50%33.50%--2033

0.00%40.00%18.00%12.00%2.00%2.00%26.00%--2030

0.00%60.00%12.00%8.50%1.25%1.50%16.75%--2027

30.00%50.00%6.00%5.00%0.50%0.75%7.75%--Future Path Enrollment Potfolio

Ultra-Short Duration 
Fixed IncomeUS AggregateEAFE EquityUS All CapUS Small CapUS Mid CapUS Large Cap

Developed 
World EquityPortfolio

0.00%5.00%22.75%9.00%1.25%4.00%39.00%19.00%2042

0.00%5.00%22.75%9.00%1.25%4.00%39.00%19.00%2039

0.00%10.00%21.50%9.00%1.25%3.50%36.75%18.00%2036

0.00%25.00%18.00%8.50%1.00%3.00%29.50%15.00%2033

0.00%40.00%14.25%7.50%0.75%2.25%23.25%12.00%2030

0.00%60.00%9.50%6.00%0.50%1.50%14.50%8.00%2027

30.00%50.00%4.75%5.00%0.25%0.50%5.50%4.00%Future Path Enrollment Potfolio

Ultra-Short Duration 
Fixed IncomeUS AggregateEAFE EquityUS All CapUS Small CapUS Mid CapUS Large Cap

Developed 
World EquityPortfolio

0.00%0.00%-5.75%-6.00%-2.00%0.75%-6.00%19.00%2042

0.00%0.00%-5.75%-6.00%-2.00%0.75%-6.00%19.00%2039

0.00%0.00%-5.50%-6.00%-1.75%0.25%-5.00%18.00%2036

0.00%0.00%-4.50%-5.50%-1.50%0.50%-4.00%15.00%2033

0.00%0.00%-3.75%-4.50%-1.25%0.25%-2.75%12.00%2030

0.00%0.00%-2.50%-2.50%-0.75%0.00%-2.25%8.00%2027

0.00%0.00%-1.25%0.00%-0.25%-0.25%-2.25%4.00%Future Path Enrollment Potfolio

Page 13 of 37 

327



Nevada College Savings Programs

Year of Enrollment Portfolios - Investment Option Analysis

Future Path 
Enrollment202720302033203620392042

ProposedCurrentProposedCurrentProposedCurrentProposedCurrentProposedCurrentProposedCurrentProposedCurrent

4.00%0.00%8.00%0.00%12.00%0.00%15.00%0.00%18.00%0.00%19.00%0.00%19.00%0.00%Developed World Equity

4.00%0.00%8.00%0.00%12.00%0.00%15.00%0.00%18.00%0.00%19.00%0.00%19.00%0.00%JPM Global Select Equity ETF (0.47%)

5.50%7.75%14.50%16.75%23.25%26.00%29.50%33.50%36.75%41.75%39.00%45.00%39.00%45.00%US Large Cap

0.00%2.00%0.00%5.00%0.00%7.00%0.00%8.25%0.00%9.00%0.00%9.00%0.00%9.00%JPM US Equity Fund-R6 (0.44%)

5.50%5.75%14.50%11.75%23.25%19.00%29.50%25.25%36.75%32.75%39.00%36.00%39.00%36.00%JPM BetaBuilders US Equity ETF (0.02%)

0.50%0.75%1.50%1.50%2.25%2.00%,032.50%3.50%3.25%4.00%3.25%4.00%3.25%US Mid Cap

0.50%0.75%1.50%1.50%2.25%2.00%,032.50%3.50%3.25%4.00%3.25%4.00%3.25%JPM BetaBuilders US Mid Cap Eq E TF (0.07%)

0.25%0.50%0.50%1.25%0.75%2.00%1.00%2.50%1.25%3.00%1.25%3.25%1.25%3.25%US Small Cap

0.25%0.50%0.50%1.25%0.75%2.00%1.00%2.50%1.25%3.00%1.25%3.25%1.25%3.25%JPM BetaBuilders US SmCap Eq ETF (0.09%)

5.00%5.00%6.00%8.50%7.50%12.00%8.50%14.00%9.00%15.00%9.00%15.00%9.00%15.00%US All Cap

2.50%2.50%3.00%4.25%3.75%6.00%4.25%7.00%4.50%7.50%4.50%7.50%4.50%7.50%JPM Growth Advantage Fund (0.55%)

2.50%2.50%3.00%4.25%3.75%6.00%4.25%7.00%4.50%7.50%4.50%7.50%4.50%7.50%JPM Value Advantage Fund (0.55%)

4.75%6.00%9.50%12.00%14.25%18.00%18.00%22.50%21.50%27.00%22.75%28.50%22.75%28.50%EAFE Equity

4.75%3.00%9.50%9.00%14.25%13.00%18.00%16.50%21.50%20.75%22.75%21.50%22.75%21.50%JPM Beta Builders Int Equity ETF (0.07%)

0.00%3.00%0.00%3.00%0.00%5.00%0.00%6.00%0.00%6.25%0.00%7.00%0.00%7.00%JPM Intl Research Enhanced Eq ETF (0.24%)

50.00%50.00%60.00%60.00%40.00%40.00%25.00%25.00%10.00%10.00%5.00%5.00%5.00%5.00%US Aggregate

12.50%15.00%20.00%20.00%12.50%10.00%5.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%JPM Core Bond (0.34%)

37.50%35.00%40.00%40.00%27.50%30.00%20.00%25.00%10.00%10.00%5.00%5.00%5.00%5.00%JPM BetaBuilders Aggregate Bond ETF (0.03%)

30.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%Ultra-Short Duration Fixed Income

30.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%JPM Ultra-Short Income ETF 0.18%)

Page 14 of 37 

328



Nevada College Savings Programs

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

10.0% 11.0% 12.0% 13.0%

22 Year Expected Risk/Return

A
n

n
u

al
iz

ed
R

et
u

rn

Standard Deviation

*The Sharpe Ratio is used to characterize how well the return of the portfolio compensates for the risk taken. The higher the portfolio’s Sharpe Ratio, the better the portfolio’s returns have been relative to the risk it has taken on. Sharpe Ratio =
(Portfolio Return – Risk Free Return) / Standard Deviation.

Year of Enrollment Portfolios - Investment Option Analysis

JPMorgan

ProposedCurrent

12.64%12.64%5 Percentile Return

9.60%9.61%25 Percentile Return

7.53%7.55%Expected Return

5.51%5.53%75 Percentile Return

2.66%2.69%95 Percentile Return

12.61%12.57%Expected 22-yr Standard Deviation

80.11%80.32%Probability of Exceeding 5% Tuition Inflation

93.67%93.79%Probability of Exceeding 3% Tuition Inflation

0.400.40Sharpe Ratio*

-40.89%-40.81%Expected Worst Year

-28.85%-28.81%Expected Worst Year (15-23)

-22.21%-22.18%Expected Worst Year (18-22)

 Current
 Proposed

Page 15 of 37 

329



Nevada College Savings Programs

 Proposed changes are fee neutral to the overall cost to participants.

*Fees Include underlying fund fee, state administrative fee and program manager fee.

Fee Review

17 17 17

16

17 17

16

17 17 17

16

17 17

16

0

5

10

15

20

2042 2039 2036 2033 2030 2027 Future Path

Enrollment

T
o

ta
l 

A
ss

e
t 

B
a

se
d

 F
e

e
 (

B
a

si
s 

P
o

in
ts

)

YOE Portfolio Expenses– Fee Comparison*

Current Proposed

Page 16 of 37 

330



JPMorgan Global Select ETF Review 

Page 17 of 37 

331



Nevada College Savings Programs

Recommendation

 Meketa finds the JP Morgan Global Select Fund to be a favorable option in the Global Equity space.

 JP Morgan Asset Management (“JPMAM”) is a large established firm with deep resources. Although the firm is 97% publicly
owned with only 3% employee ownership, incentive alignment and employee retention appear strong.

 Portfolio managers Helge Skibeli and Christian Pecher bring a wealth of investment experience, averaging nearly 30 years at JP
Morgan. They are supported by a team of 80+ central research analysts who average 20 years of industry experience and 11
years at the firm.

 We recently met with Mr. Skibeli in January 2024 and were impressed by his depth of knowledge and even-keeled demeanor.
His previous roles at JPMAM as Head of Research afford him familiarity and experience in how to best leverage the central
research team.

 The portfolio managers joined the strategy in 2015 and 2019, respectively, so further changes at the PM level should be
monitored.

 The bottom-up investment process utilizes a clearly defined rating system and set of metrics to identify companies that are
attractively valued, possess strong free cash flow, and have the potential for continued earnings. The portfolio is somewhat
concentrated (currently at 70 names) and sector/country deviations from the benchmark are tightly controlled, lowering
benchmark-relative risk.

 The strategy’s large cap core orientation has enabled it to succeed throughout various market environments. As of December 31,
2023, the fund’s gross returns rank in the top quintile of eVestment Global Large Cap Core Equity peers over all trailing periods.
Tracking error is consistently low at 2-4%, resulting in strong risk-adjusted returns as measured by the Information Ratio, which
ranks in the top quintile of peers over all trailing periods.

 The fund offers a 0.47% expense ratio, far below the peer median of 0.89%, and ranking in the 17th percentile of Morningstar
Global Equity ETF peers.

JPMorgan Global Select ETF Review 

Page 18 of 37 

332



Nevada College Savings Programs

Manager Overview

JP Morgan

New York, NYFirm Location

1863Firm Inception

JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETFStrategy Name

MSCI WorldBenchmark

May 1981Strategy Inception Date

September 2023Share Class Inception Date

$2.9 trillionAssets Under Management (Firm)

$21.4 billionAssets Under Management (Strategy)

$1.6 billionAssets Under Management (Fund)

JGLOTicker

ETFShare Class

70Number of Holdings

38%% in Top 10

74.1%Active Share

28%Turnover

0.47%Net Expense Ratio

3 / SilverMorningstar Ratings

JPMorgan Global Select ETF Review 

Page 19 of 37 

333



Nevada College Savings Programs

JP Morgan Global Select Equity (JGLO)

Organization: J.P. Morgan Asset Management (“JPMAM”) is the asset management division of J.P. Morgan, a large publicly traded
financial services company founded in 1863 and based in New York, NY. The firm is 97% publicly held and 3% employee-owned. As of
December 31, 2023, JPMAM managed $2.9 trillion across a range of asset classes, including $835 billion in equity strategies. The J.P.
Morgan Global Select strategy had $21.4 billion.

Investment Team: The JP Morgan Global Select strategy is co-managed by Portfolio Managers Helge Skibeli and Christian Pecher,
who are both based in London. Mr. Skibeli has co-managed the strategy since 2015, and Mr. Pecher joined in 2019. Mr. Skibeli joined
JPMAM in 1990 and held previous roles as the Global Head of Developed Market Equity Research, Head of Research for the US, and
Head of Asia ex Japan Research. Mr. Pecher joined JPMAM in 1998 and was previously the Head of Developed Asia Research. They
are supported by a central research team of 80+ analysts who specialize by sector and average 20 years of industry experience and
11 years at the firm.

Investment Philosophy: The team believes that strong investment results can be consistently achieved through bottom-up stock
selection with minimal exposure to risks associated with market style or factor bets. By looking beyond near-term issues and
understanding the long-term “normalized” earnings power of a company, they believe they can take advantage of the mispricing of
stocks. They invest in large cap stocks across geographies, seeking companies that are attractively valued, possess strong free cash
flow, and have the potential for continued earnings.

Investment Process: The initial universe of 1,200 - 1,300 global public companies is narrowed down to 200-300 best ideas subject to
deeper fundamental research. Analysts spend their time speaking with company management, suppliers, competitors, end-users,
trade associations and other sources to gain a full understanding of the investment drivers of the stocks under their coverage. The
team forecasts normalized earnings for each stock over a 5-year time horizon; the forecasts are informed by sector analysis, an ESG
assessment, and a strategic classification framework that classifies each stock as premium, quality, standard, or challenged. The
analysts subsequently calculate each stock’s expected return, which is ranked by quintile and determines the stock’s attractiveness.
The portfolio will ultimately overweight stocks classified as “premium” and “quality”, and overweight stocks with valuations ranking in
the top 2 quintiles. The team utilizes a proprietary investment management software called Spectrum that stores all research data
and provides portfolio and risk analytics. The portfolio will hold 70-100 names with annual turnover of 60-90%. Sector weights are
within 3% of the benchmark weight and country/region weights are within 15% of the benchmark weight. Emerging markets are
typically <5%.

JPMorgan Global Select ETF Review 

Page 20 of 37 

334



Nevada College Savings Programs

Historical Performance (net of fees)1

As of December 31, 2023

1 Net returns were calculated by applying a 0.47% annual expense ratio to the eVestment composite gross returns.

MSCI World

(%)

JPMorgan
(%)

Trailing Period Returns (%):

23.826.9YTD

23.826.91 Year

7.310.33 Year

12.815.75 Year

10.713.17 Year

8.610.210 Year

Calendar Year Returns (%):

23.826.92023

-18.1-14.32022

21.823.52021

15.919.52020

27.729.22019

-8.7-9.52018

22.426.32017

7.58.82016

-0.9-1.72015

4.94.02014

26.727.82013

15.819.32012

-5.5-12.12011

JPMorgan Global Select ETF Review 

Page 21 of 37 

335



Nevada College Savings Programs

Rolling Three-Year Excess Returns vs. MSCI World (net of fees) 
(December 2008 – December 2023)

 From December 2008 to December 2023, JPMorgan Global Select Equity ETF has outperformed the MSCI
World benchmark, net of fees, in 75% of rolling 3-year periods.

JPMorgan Global Select ETF Review 

Page 22 of 37 

336



Nevada College Savings Programs

Historical Trailing Risk (net of fees)1

As of December 31, 2023

1 The benchmark used for all calculations is the MSCI World index.

JPMorgan

10 Yr.5 Yr.3 Yr.1 Yr.

0.610.930.861.03Information Ratio

2.63.13.63.0Tracking Error (%)

0.570.730.471.50Sharpe Ratio

15.818.917.314.4Standard Deviation (%)

15.018.317.015.5S. D. Index (%)

1.32.53.03.9Jensen’s Alpha

1.041.020.990.92Beta

0.990.990.980.98Correlation Coefficient

107.6106.5104.695.4Upside Market Capture (%)

100.496.693.675.3Downside Market Capture

JPMorgan Global Select ETF Review 

Page 23 of 37 

337



Nevada College Savings Programs

Appendix

Information Ratio: This statistic is a measure of the consistency of a portfolio’s performance relative to a benchmark. It is calculated
by subtracting the benchmark return from the portfolio return (excess return), and dividing the resulting excess return by the
standard deviation (volatility) of this excess return. A positive information ratio indicates outperformance versus the benchmark, and
the higher the information ratio, the more consistent the outperformance.

Sharpe Ratio: A commonly used measure of risk-adjusted return. It is calculated by subtracting the risk-free return (usually three-
month Treasury bill) from the portfolio return and dividing the resulting excess return by the portfolio’s total risk level (standard
deviation). The result is a measure of return per unit of total risk taken. The higher the Sharpe ratio, the better the fund’s historical
risk adjusted performance.

Standard Deviation: A measure of the total risk of an asset or a portfolio. Standard deviation measures the dispersion of a set of
numbers around a central point (e.g., the average return). If the standard deviation is small, the distribution is concentrated within a
narrow range of values. For a normal distribution, about two thirds of the observations will fall within one standard deviation of the
mean, and 95% of the observations will fall within two standard deviations of the mean.

Tracking Error: This statistic measures the standard deviation of excess returns relative to a benchmark. Tracking error is calculated
by multiplying the standard deviation of the monthly excess returns of a portfolio relative to a benchmark by the square root of
twelve in order to annualize. The higher the tracking error, the greater the volatility of excess returns relative to a benchmark.

Sources: www.businessdictionary.com
http://www.naplia.com/employeedishonesty/Employee_Dishonesty_FAQ.shtml
Investment Terminology, International Foundation of Employee Benefit Plans, 1999.
Modern Investment Management, Litterman, Bob, 2003.

JPMorgan Global Select ETF Review 

Page 24 of 37 

338



Meketa’s Asset Allocation Framework

Page 25 of 37 

339



Nevada College Savings Programs

Strategic Asset Allocation and Risk Management

 Asset Allocation represents the conscious decision to accept and manage risk.

 Asset allocation and risk management should be intricately linked with one another.

 Real world risks and objectives faced by investors can be complex and often conflicting.

 These cannot be summarized in a single statistic.

 Rather, we use a variety of tools to build a more complete picture.

Investment Option Analysis

 Approach:

 Considers unique aspects of a 529 plan – short accumulation and depletion periods.

 Review portfolio’s effectiveness at generating returns relative to the risks incurred.

 Drawdowns/losses in the latter years of the glidepath.

 Examines the entire range of outcomes in any given glidepath/allocation period and geometrically links
the periods together (e.g., all possibilities at year 0 are linked with all possibilities at year 1 and so on).

 The results are statistics/expectations at any given period or sub-period, as well as the full period.

 Process is analogous to Monte Carlo simulations.

 Asset Class Review:

 Rational capital market exposure.

Meketa’s Asset Allocation Framework

Page 26 of 37 

340



Nevada College Savings Programs

Methodology

 Mean Variance Optimization (MVO).

 Review portfolio’s effectiveness at generating returns relative to the risks incurred.

 Seeks to predict what the long term expected return will be based on a selected asset mix.

 MVO is a very useful tool, but it is imperfect.

 Qualitative analysis must be applied when evaluating the forecasts.

 Annually Meketa prepares its CMAs which serve as the backbone of the MVO analysis.

 The CMAs seek to predict individual asset class returns and volatility over the next twenty-year period.

 They do not predict returns or volatility in any given single year.

 During turbulent times we revise our assumptions mid-year (e.g., 2008, 2020 and 2022).

 Drastic market movement (in the equity and bond markets) in the first six months of 2022.

 Building CMEs (forecasts).

 Each return assumption is based on the most important factors that drive returns for that asset class.

 The common components are income, growth, and valuation.

Meketa’s Asset Allocation Framework

Major FactorsAsset Class Category

Dividend Yield, GDP Growth, ValuationEquities

Yield to Worst, Default Rate, Recovery RateBonds

Page 27 of 37 

341



Nevada College Savings Programs

Executive Summary

 2023 was a volatile year for most investors, but ultimately most asset classes experienced positive returns,
including double-digit gains for many risky assets.

 With the notable exception of China’s markets, global bond and equity markets rallied at the end of the year,
posting strong gains as inflation pressures eased and central banks appeared to be turning away from
tightening policies.

 Despite short-term interest rates climbing, the yield on most Treasury bonds finished the year near
where they started it.

 Credit spreads tightened, especially for lower quality credit such as high yield. The result is lower
expected returns for many credit-oriented assets.

 Most equity markets rallied in 2023, generally at a much faster pace than the gain in earnings. Hence
many equity markets were trading at higher valuations at year-end, thus reducing their forward-looking
returns.

 Our 10-year CMEs continue to be lower than our 20-year CMEs for the vast majority of asset classes, partly
due to a higher assumed “risk-free” rate in the future.

 The net result is a meaningful decrease in return assumptions for most assets over the 10-year horizon, with
much more mixed and modest changes at the 20-year horizon.

2024 Capital Markets Expectations

Page 28 of 37 

342



Nevada College Savings Programs

What is driving the changes from last year?

 Credit spreads tightened, leading to lower yields, thus decreasing expected returns for fixed income assets.

 Most equity markets rallied, pushing them to higher valuations, thus reducing their forward-looking returns.

 Lower anticipated borrowing costs had a positive impact on assets that use leverage.

 Lower anticipated cash yields hurt expected returns for hedge funds and related asset classes.

 The long downward trend in cap rates for real estate reversed, pushing up their expected returns.

 Higher anticipated long-term interest rates also provide a tailwind in our 20-year projections, as the bridge
from 10 to 20 years is made via a risk premium being added to a (higher) future risk-free rate.

 The risk-free rate jumped from 4.17% to 4.64%.

 The changes we made to several models also had an impact:

 We reweighted our private market composites to reflect a blend of the market opportunity and a typical
client portfolio.

 We reduced the cap for the magnitude of currency impact from +/- 100 bp to +/- 50 bp per annum.

 We increased the % of GDP growth that translates to EPS growth for the US, while decreasing it for most
other equity markets.

 We extended our look-back period from 15 years to 20 years for historical volatility (and correlations).

2024 Capital Markets Expectations

Page 29 of 37 

343



Nevada College Savings Programs

Similar or Lower Yields

 Short-term interest rates are higher than one year ago, while the 10-year Treasury yield ended the year where
it started it.

 Similar levels of interest rates combined with tighter credit spreads to result in slightly lower yields for most
sectors of the global bond market.

Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Yield to Worst
12/31/22

(%)

Yield to Worst
12/31/23

(%)Index

4.25-4.505.25-5.50Fed Funds Rate

3.883.8810-year Treasury

4.684.53Bloomberg Aggregate

5.425.06Bloomberg Corporate

4.754.72Bloomberg Securitized

3.733.51Bloomberg Global Aggregate

4.424.08Bloomberg EM Local Currency Government

7.266.77Bloomberg EM Hard Currency Aggregate

8.967.59Bloomberg US Corporate High Yield

2024 Capital Markets Expectations

Page 30 of 37 

344



Nevada College Savings Programs

Impact of Equity Prices on Returns

 Relative prices have been indicative of future equity returns.

 Higher prices have led to lower future returns, and vice versa.

US Equities: Shiller CAPE vs. Forward 10-Year Returns

Source: Robert Shiller, Yale University, and Meketa Investment Group. Data is based on monthly returns and Cyclically Adjusted P/E ratio on S&P 500 Index for the period from January 1980 through December 2023.

R² = 0.7692

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

0 10 20 30 40 50

F
o

rw
a

rd
 1

0
-Y

e
a

r 
A

n
n

u
a

liz
e

d
 R

e
tu

rn

Shiller CAPE Ratio

You are here

2024 Capital Markets Expectations

Page 31 of 37 

345



Nevada College Savings Programs

Costs are High and Investment Time Horizon is Short

 The average cost of a four-year degree has more than doubled over the past 20 years, reaching $109,400
in 2018.1

 The investment horizon of a 529 plan is < 1/3rd that of a defined contribution retirement plan.

 Shorter accumulation horizon = less time to recover from portfolio drawdowns.

1 US Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2020. “Digest of Education Statistics (2019), Table 330.10.

Model Constraints

1 3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 27 29 31 33 35 37 39 41 43 45 47 49 51 53 55 57 59 61 63 65 67 69 71

Years of Savings

Defined Contribution v 529

Investment Horizon

Accumulation

Depletion

529 Plan Horizon:
18 Accumulation + 4 Depletion = 

22-Years

DC Plan Horizon (Starting age 20):
36 Accumulation + 35 Depletion = 

71-Years

Page 32 of 37 

346



Nevada College Savings Programs

College Tuition Inflation
-0

.4
%

-5
.4

%

-0
.4

%

3
.8

%

8
.7

%

5
.8

%

6
.2

%

4
.8

%

6
.3

%

2
.6

% 3
.3

%

3
.5

%

2
.1

%

9
.0

%

7
.1

%

5
.2

%

3
.6

%

3
.2

%

2
.0

%

2
.9

%

2
.3

%

1.
3

%

1.
1%

4
.6

%

4
.6

%

7
.9

%

5
.3

%

3
.2

% 4
.5

%

2
.0

%

5
.7

%

3
.3

%

2
.6

%

3
.0

%

2
.3

%

2
.4

%

2
.6

%

2
.8

%

0
.2

%

0
.0

%

0
.9

%

-0
.6

%

-0
.7

%

-5
.2

% -4
.2

%

-2
.2

%

1.2%

3.4%

-8%

-4%

0%

4%

8%

12%

16%

19
7
8

19
8

0

19
8

2

19
8

4

19
8

6

19
8

8

19
9

0

19
9

2

19
9

4

19
9

6

19
9

8

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
8

2
0

10

2
0

12

2
0

14

2
0

16

2
0

18

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
2

Year-Over-Year (1978 – December 2023)

College Tuition Inflation v. the Consumer Price Index, 

US Bureau of Labor Statistics

Difference Tuition Inflation CPI

20 YR AVG10 YR AVG5 YR AVG

4.0%2.2%1.5%Tuition Inflation

2.6%2.8%4.1%CPI

Page 33 of 37 

347



Nevada College Savings Programs

Meketa’s 2023 v. 2024 Capital Market Assumptions (20 Yrs)

Asset Class 2023 2024 Delta Std Dev

Cash Equivalents 2.90% 2.50% -0.40% 1.0% 1.00

Short-term Investment Grade Bonds 3.50% 3.70% 0.20% 1.0% 0.39 1.00

Investment Grade Bonds 4.70% 4.80% 0.10% 4.0% 0.13 0.81 1.00

Intermediate Government Bonds 3.70% 4.10% 0.40% 3.0% 0.25 0.86 0.85 1.00

Long-term Government Bonds 5.00% 5.00% 0.00% 12.0% 0.10 0.59 0.86 0.84 1.00

TIPS 4.50% 4.70% 0.20% 7.0% 0.03 0.66 0.77 0.65 0.61 1.00

Short-term TIPS 3.60% 3.70% 0.10% 5.0% 0.07 0.59 0.53 0.41 0.24 0.87 1.00

High Yield Bonds 7.30% 6.80% -0.50% 11.0% -0.11 0.22 0.35 -0.06 -0.04 0.46 0.57 1.00

Foreign Bonds 4.00% 3.90% -0.10% 8.0% 0.12 0.61 0.67 0.53 0.44 0.64 0.57 0.45 1.00

US Equity 8.70% 8.50% -0.20% 17.0% -0.09 0.07 0.22 -0.12 -0.10 0.30 0.37 0.76 0.40 1.00

US Equity Value 9.10% 9.00% -0.10% 17.0% -0.09 0.04 0.16 -0.16 -0.15 0.24 0.33 0.74 0.39 0.97 1.00

US Equity Growth 8.40% 8.00% -0.40% 18.0% -0.08 0.09 0.26 -0.08 -0.04 0.33 0.40 0.73 0.40 0.97 0.88 1.00

US Large Cap 8.70% 8.50% -0.20% 16.0% -0.09 0.07 0.22 -0.11 -0.09 0.30 0.37 0.74 0.41 1.00 0.96 0.97 1.00

US Mid Cap 9.00% 8.90% -0.10% 19.0% -0.11 0.06 0.22 -0.14 -0.10 0.31 0.39 0.80 0.40 0.97 0.96 0.93 0.96 1.00

US Small Cap 9.30% 9.40% 0.10% 21.0% -0.11 0.00 0.14 -0.18 -0.16 0.21 0.29 0.72 0.31 0.92 0.92 0.87 0.89 0.95 1.00

Developed Market Equity (non-US) 9.80% 8.90% -0.90% 18.0% -0.02 0.15 0.26 -0.08 -0.09 0.33 0.42 0.76 0.56 0.88 0.87 0.83 0.88 0.87 0.79 1.00

Emerging Market Equity 10.00% 8.90% -1.10% 22.0% 0.00 0.19 0.27 -0.05 -0.05 0.36 0.43 0.72 0.54 0.74 0.73 0.71 0.74 0.76 0.69 0.86 1.00

Global Equity 9.20% 8.70% -0.50% 17.0% -0.06 0.12 0.25 -0.10 -0.09 0.33 0.42 0.79 0.50 0.97 0.95 0.93 0.97 0.96 0.89 0.96 0.86 1.00

REITs 8.00% 7.80% -0.20% 24.0% -0.06 0.17 0.36 0.06 0.13 0.40 0.37 0.72 0.43 0.76 0.77 0.70 0.74 0.78 0.74 0.69 0.59 0.75 1.00

U
S

 E
q

u
it

y
 V

a
lu

e

G
lo

b
a

l 
E

q
u

it
y

R
E

IT
s

Expected Long-Term Correlations

Expected Return and 

Volatilities

U
S

 E
q

u
it

y
 G

ro
w

th

U
S

 L
a

rg
e

 C
a

p

U
S

 M
id

 C
a

p

U
S

 S
m

a
ll

 C
a

p

D
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

 M
a

rk
e

t 
E

q
u

it
y
 

(n
o

n
-U

S
)

E
m

e
rg

in
g

 M
a

rk
e

t 
E

q
u

it
y

T
IP

S

S
h

o
rt

-t
e

rm
 T

IP
S

H
ig

h
 Y

ie
ld

 B
o

n
d

s

F
o

re
ig

n
 B

o
n

d
s

U
S

 E
q

u
it

y

L
o

n
g

-t
e

rm
 G

o
v

e
rn

m
e

n
t 

B
o

n
d

s

C
a

sh
 E

q
u

iv
a

le
n

ts

S
h

o
rt

-t
e

rm
 I

n
v
e

st
m

e
n

t 

G
ra

d
e

 B
o

n
d

s

In
v
e

st
m

e
n

t 
G

ra
d

e
 B

o
n

d
s

I n
te

rm
e

d
ia

te
 

G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
B

o
n

d
s

Page 34 of 37 

348



Appendix

Page 35 of 37 

349



Nevada College Savings Programs

Appendix

Information Ratio: This statistic is a measure of the consistency of a portfolio’s performance relative to a benchmark. It is calculated
by subtracting the benchmark return from the portfolio return (excess return), and dividing the resulting excess return by the
standard deviation (volatility) of this excess return. A positive information ratio indicates outperformance versus the benchmark, and
the higher the information ratio, the more consistent the outperformance.

Sharpe Ratio: A commonly used measure of risk-adjusted return. It is calculated by subtracting the risk-free return (usually three-
month Treasury bill) from the portfolio return and dividing the resulting excess return by the portfolio’s total risk level (standard
deviation). The result is a measure of return per unit of total risk taken. The higher the Sharpe ratio, the better the fund’s historical
risk adjusted performance.

Standard Deviation: A measure of the total risk of an asset or a portfolio. Standard deviation measures the dispersion of a set of
numbers around a central point (e.g., the average return). If the standard deviation is small, the distribution is concentrated within a
narrow range of values. For a normal distribution, about two thirds of the observations will fall within one standard deviation of the
mean, and 95% of the observations will fall within two standard deviations of the mean.

Tracking Error: This statistic measures the standard deviation of excess returns relative to a benchmark. Tracking error is calculated
by multiplying the standard deviation of the monthly excess returns of a portfolio relative to a benchmark by the square root of
twelve in order to annualize. The higher the tracking error, the greater the volatility of excess returns relative to a benchmark.

Sources: www.businessdictionary.com
http://www.naplia.com/employeedishonesty/Employee_Dishonesty_FAQ.shtml
Investment Terminology, International Foundation of Employee Benefit Plans, 1999.
Modern Investment Management, Litterman, Bob, 2003.

Page 36 of 37 

350



Nevada College Savings Programs

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”).

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR
FUNCTION OR RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT. ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN
REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME. ALL
INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK. THERE CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED
HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL.

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER
EXTERNAL SOURCES. WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE
THE ACCURACY OF ALL SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE
IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,”
“PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR
COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS
IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL
IMPACT ON FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY
THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS
PRESENTATION.

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF
FUTURE RESULTS.

Disclosures

Page 37 of 37 

351



THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLANS OF NEVADA 

 
Agenda Item 12 

February 21, 2024 
 
Item: 2023 Fiscal Year Annual Report of the Nevada Higher 

Education Prepaid Tuition Trust Fund 
 
Fiscal Impact:  None by this action. 
 
Summary:   
Under NRS 353B.170 the Board shall: 

1. Prepare an annual report setting forth in appropriate detail an 
accounting of the Trust Fund and a description of the financial 
condition of the Trust Fund at the close of each fiscal year, including, 
without limitation, a statement of projected receipts, disbursements 
and operating costs of the Trust Fund. 

2. Submit the report prepared pursuant to subsection 1 on or before 
March 31 of each year: 
a) In odd-numbered years, to the Governor, the Senate Standing 

Committee on Finance and the Assembly Standing Committee on 
Ways and Means. 

b) In even-numbered years, to the Governor and the Interim Finance 
Committee. 
 

Attached is the annual report completed to date of the Nevada Higher 
Education Prepaid Tuition Trust Fund as of June 30, 2023, prepared by 
State Treasurer staff.  
 
When the audit is completed, a final version of the Annual Report will be 
brought to the Board.  
    
Staff Recommended Motion: 

a.) Move to approve the Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Report 
completed to date for the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
and approve submission of the Annual Report to the 
Governor and the Legislature once complete. 

352



b.) Move to approve staff to submit the Annual Report 
completed to date for the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
as well as a memo to the Governor and Legislature in the 
event that the FY23 audit of the Nevada Prepaid Tuition 
Program is not completed by the March 31, 2024 deadline 
established pursuant to NRS 353B.170 

 

353



 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 
Office of Nevada State Treasurer Zach Conine 

 

FY23 July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

354



1 

 

Zach Conine 
State Treasurer 

 

 

STATE OF NEVADA 
OFFICE OF THE STATE TREASURER 

NEVADA PREPAID TUITION PROGRAM 
 

 
March 31, 2024 

  
 
Dear Governor Lombardo and Members of the Nevada Legislature:  
   
Enclosed please find a copy of the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program’s Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Report as required 
pursuant to NRS 353B.170.    

Since 1998, the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program has helped families take control of rising tuition costs by 
purchasing in-state tuition at today’s rates for use in the future. In Fiscal Year 2023, the Treasurer’s Office 
established 411 new Prepaid Tuition contracts, which brought the program’s total enrollment to 23,627 children. 

The Program continues to be self-sufficient, requiring no contribution from the State’s General Fund. As of June 
30, 2023, the funded ratio of the plan was 227.5% based on the actuarial value of assets.  

The Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program is offered by the Board of Trustees of the College Savings Plans of Nevada 
and administered by the Nevada State Treasurer’s Office. The Program offers a variety of Prepaid Tuition contract 
levels from community college to university, or a combination of both, as well as flexible payment plans designed 
to meet the diverse needs of Nevada families. 
 
I look forward to sharing the future successes of this program with you and further assisting Nevadans plan for, 
save for, and pay for postsecondary education.  
 
 
Sincerely,  
  

  
  
Zach Conine 
Nevada State Treasurer  
 
 

 

 
555 E. Washington Avenue 

 Suite 5200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

NVPrepaid.gov 
 

 

(888) 477-2667 Toll Free 
(702) 486-2025 Telephone 

(702) 486-3246 Fax 
PrepaidTuition@NevadaTreasurer.gov 

 

355



2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

OVERVIEW ........................................................................................................ 3 

FINANCIAL STABILITY ........................................................................................ 3 

FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES ..................................................................................... 4 

CONTRACT PRICING .......................................................................................... 4 

BENEFIT USAGE ................................................................................................. 4 

ENROLLMENT STATISTICS .................................................................................. 5 

PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS ............................................................................. 6 

SUMMARY OF ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT................................................. 6 

SUMMARY OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ............................................. 7 

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT REPORTS ............................................................... 7 

APPENDIX A - ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT ............................................... A-1 

APPENDIX B - INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ........................................... B-1 

APPENDIX C - MEKETA INVESTMENT GROUP PERFORMANCE REVIEW ............ C-1 

APPENDIX D- ENROLLMENT STATISTICAL CHARTS ........................................... D-1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

356



3 

 

OVERVIEW 

The Nevada Prepaid TuiƟon Program (“Program”) provides a convenient and affordable way for Nevada 
families to save for college through an IRS Qualified TuiƟon Program (QTP) opƟon that allows purchasers to 
lock in the cost of in-state higher educaƟon credit hours today, for use in the future.  The Program differs 
from the other Nevada state-sponsored 529 College Savings Plan opƟons because it allows parents, 
grandparents, extended family, and friends to purchase a contract for a fixed amount of in-state 
undergraduate credit hours for a child to use when they graduate from high school.  

The Program offers five tuiƟon plans and four payment opƟons. Contract purchasers choose a plan and a 
payment opƟon for a specified beneficiary that meets their personal needs and budget. When the 
beneficiary enrolls in a postsecondary insƟtuƟon, the Program pays the contract benefits (college tuiƟon 
costs) directly to the insƟtuƟon on the beneficiary’s behalf. Contract benefits are based on in-state college 
tuiƟon rates at Nevada public colleges but can be applied to tuiƟon costs at any public or private insƟtuƟon 
of higher educaƟon, either in-state or out-of-state, that accepts the free applicaƟon for federal student aid 
(FAFSA).   

The Program began operaƟng in 1998 following creaƟon by the Nevada Legislature in 1997 under NRS 
353B. The Program is administered by the State Treasurer’s Office under the direcƟon of the Board of 
Trustees of the College Savings Plans of Nevada (“Board”). During Fiscal Year 2023(“FY23”), the Board 
consisted of five voƟng members:  

 State Treasurer, Chair; 
 Director of the Department of AdministraƟon or his/her designee; 
 Chancellor of the Nevada System of Higher EducaƟon (NSHE) or his/her designee; and 
 Two members appointed by the Governor.  

 
In accordance with NRS 353B, the Board is required to contract with a cerƟfied actuary and a cerƟfied 
public accounƟng firm to perform annual actuarial valuaƟon and financial audits. For FY23, the Board 
contracted with Gabriel Roeder Smith & Company to conduct the actuarial valuaƟon study, and Eide Bailly 
LLP to conduct the audit. 

FINANCIAL STABILITY 

The Program is not supported by the full faith and credit of the State of Nevada, nor is it guaranteed by the 
State’s General Fund. Accordingly, the Board conƟnuously evaluates and takes necessary measures to 
maintain the financial stability of the Program. In FY23, the Board contracted with investment firms, Garcia 
Hamilton, Glenmede, and Vanguard to provide professional investment services. The Board also contracted 
with an investment consultant, Meketa Investment Group Inc., to monitor investments and provide 
consultaƟon and reporƟng to the Board. Investments were made in accordance with the Program’s 
Investment Policy, which was approved by the Board and posted on the Nevada Prepaid TuiƟon website.    

During FY23, the Board also reviewed and upheld the Prepaid TuiƟon funding guidelines with the objecƟve 
of maintaining assets in excess of tuiƟon liabiliƟes based on a funding target of 120% and recommendaƟons 
of acƟons to take when the funding status was over or under the 120% target. 

357



4 

 

These measures sustained the financial stability of the Program during FY23, and resulted in:  

 A favorable rate of return of 7.3% on Actuarial Value of Assets, exceeding assumed return of 5.25%; 
 Program’s total assets TBD from financial statements 
 Program’s total liabiliƟes TBD from financial statements 
 Program’s total operaƟng expenses TBD from financial statements 
  Program’s net posiƟon TBD from financial statements 
 A funded status of 227.5%. 

 

FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES 

The FY23 financial objecƟves of the Board remained unchanged from previous fiscal years and incorporate 
the following standards: 

 Require the fair value of the Program’s investments and assets to be greater than or equal to the 
actuarial value of all obligaƟons, including future tuiƟon benefits and all future administraƟve 
expenses and liabiliƟes associated with operaƟng the Program;  

 Establish an appropriate investment porƞolio of assets to accumulate an amount sufficient to pay 
future tuiƟon benefits and administraƟve expenses associated with all contracts; and 

 Establish contract plans and payment opƟons that offer value, flexibility, and affordability for Nevada 
families. 
 

CONTRACT PRICING 

As in previous years, prices for the FY23 enrollment period were established based on three key factors: 

1. Future tuiƟon increases assumpƟons and published rates from the Nevada System of Higher 
EducaƟon (NSHE). 

2. Assumed rate of return on investments. 
3. Historical uƟlizaƟon of credit hours by parƟcipants in the program. 

 
Based on these factors, the adopted funding guidelines, and the current funded status of the Program, the 
Board was able to keep some of the contract rates for FY23 the same as the prior fiscal year. Overall, contract 
prices increased an average of 1.2% 

BENEFIT USAGE 

When a contract beneficiary goes to college, benefits can be used at any eligible educaƟonal insƟtuƟon 
naƟonwide. Approximately 4,251 tuiƟon distribuƟons were made to 294 different qualified insƟtuƟons in 
FY23.  Benefits used in FY23 totaled $11,857,967, which was a slight decrease (1.5%) from the prior fiscal 
year. Of the total benefits paid out, $7,519,451, or 63.4%, were paid on behalf of students aƩending Nevada 
System of Higher EducaƟon insƟtuƟons.  University of Nevada, Reno conƟnues to remain the school with the 
largest distribuƟon amount in FY 23 (39.2% or $4,650,390). 
 

Noted below is the three-year historical payment summary of payments made to the Nevada System of 
Higher EducaƟon insƟtuƟons (NSHE), and the amount that has been paid to insƟtuƟons of higher educaƟon 
across the country.  

358



5 

 

 
Program Payments by Year 

 FY23 FY22 FY21 
In-state (NSHE) $7,519,451 $7,866,977 $8,030,073 
Private / Out-of-State $4,338,515 $4,167,710 $4,003,333 
TOTAL $11,857,967 $12,034,687 $12,033,406 

 
As of June 30, 2023, a total of 4,967 students have uƟlized 100% of their contract benefits. Of those 
depleted contracts, 80.6% had a 4-year university plan.  
 

ENROLLMENT STATISTICS  

The FY23 enrollment period ran from November 1, 2022 to April 15, 2023 and welcomed 411 new children 
into the Program. To beƩer educate families about the Program and to grow enrollment, in FY23 the 
Treasurer’s Office (“Office”) uƟlized various forms of social media, news interviews, webinars, and school and 
community events to conƟnue its outreach efforts.  Furthermore, an incenƟve was offered from November 
1, 2022 to December 31, 2022, which reduced the $100 enrollment fee to a penny ($0.01) for all new 
enrollments during this Ɵme period, and awarded these students an opportunity to have an addiƟonal $100 
deposited into an exisƟng or newly opened Nevada 529 College Savings Plan. 

General staƟsƟcs are self-reported from parƟcipant enrollment forms and is only shared in aggregate. 
Highlights of the informaƟon reported during FY23 open enrollment are noted below. 

Plan Chosen:  The four-year university plan in FY23 conƟnued to be the most popular plan choice, with 63.8% 
of purchasers choosing this opƟon, a small increase of 5.6% over the prior fiscal year.  The second most 
popular choice for purchasers was Ɵed by both the two-year university plan and the 2-year community 
college plus 2-year university plan, which represented 13.1% each of all contracts sold. 

Payment OpƟon Chosen: Although a small decrease (4.0%) from the prior fiscal year, the lump-sum payment 
opƟon conƟnued to be the most popular opƟon in FY23, represenƟng 47.7% of parƟcipants’ payment 
choices. The five-year, ten-year, and extended monthly installment payment opƟons made up the remaining 
52.3% of contracts purchased. Among new enrollees choosing a monthly payment opƟon, 13.1% chose to 
make a down payment, thereby lowering their monthly payments for the contract they purchased. 

Beneficiary Age at Enrollment: Newborn enrollments remained the single highest percentage of contracts 
sold (20.2%), which gives families the longest Ɵme to pay for and benefit from college tuiƟon increases over 
the years by locking in tuiƟon when their child is under a year old.   Kindergartners and ninth graders Ɵed at 
7.5% each for the second highest percentage of contracts sold, followed by sixth graders, with 6.8%. 

Referral Source: In FY 23, 28.0% of the purchasers indicated that they heard about the program from a friend 
or relaƟve, followed by 26.3% indicaƟng they were an exisƟng customer. The Prepaid website was the third 
highest percentage, with 10.5%.  

The complete collecƟon of enrollment informaƟon is contained in Appendix D. 

 

359



6 

 

 
 
 
PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS 

Over the years, various enhancements have been implemented to promote the Program as well as add value 
and flexibility.  In FY23 the Program started hosƟng more in person events in addiƟon to conƟnuing its virtual 
outreach. Staff spent Ɵme and efforts educaƟng Nevada about the benefits of the Program through webinars, 
social media, news interviews, and various school and community events throughout the state.  They also 
went on a rural tour and visited 8 different schools in Northeast Nevada, to ensure that all families across the 
state have access to the resources available through the Treasurer’s Office.  

In FY23, the Program conƟnued to be a part of the NVigate brand for the overall College Savings division of 
the Treasurer’s Office. 

Future objecƟves and strategies for the Program will conƟnue to include ongoing evaluaƟon of the following: 

 Factors and assumpƟons used to set contract prices to ensure the Program remains affordable for 
Nevada families. 

 PosiƟon and assumpƟons used for establishing the asset allocaƟon of the Trust Fund porƞolio to 
ensure its long-term financial viability in a cyclical investment environment.  

 ConƟnued assessment of the overall Program to idenƟfy ways to beƩer provide self-servicing opƟons 
online to exisƟng contract holders.  

 Enhancement of outreach efforts to allow Prepaid TuiƟon to be more inclusive in the promoƟon of 
529 College Savings Plan offerings in webinars, and to bring more awareness to the overall NVigate 
brand.   

 

SUMMARY OF ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT 

Pursuant to NRS 353B.190, the Board shall contract with an independent cerƟfied actuary to perform an 
annual actuarial valuaƟon of the Higher EducaƟon TuiƟon Trust Fund. As in the previous fiscal years, the 
Board contracted with Gabriel Roeder Smith & Company (“GRS”) to perform the FY23 valuaƟon. The 
Actuarial ValuaƟon Report for FY23 as prepared by GRS shows conƟnued improvement in the Higher 
EducaƟon TuiƟon Trust Fund/Prepaid TuiƟon Program’s financial posiƟon. The full Actuarial ValuaƟon 
Report is provided in Appendix A of this document.  

 
In FY19, the Nevada Board of Regents approved a Predictable Pricing Program, which is intended to base 
future tuiƟon on the Higher EducaƟon Price Index (HEPI) and provide more certainty in short-term increases.  
With the adopƟon of the Predictable Pricing Program, modificaƟons to the annual rate of future tuiƟon 
increase assumpƟons were made for the Program in FY21 and beyond. 
  
Financially significant results experienced during FY23 are summarized below: 
 

 The stabilizaƟon reserve (surplus) grew by $45,052,039, or 24.5% from the prior fiscal year. This 
surplus acts as a risk reserve to miƟgate future experience losses. The increase was primarily due to 
assumpƟon and method changes in conjuncƟon with the 2017-2022 Experience Study, the interest 

360



7 

 

at the assumed rate of return (5.25%), and the investment experience above the assumed rate.  
 The actuarial value of assets grew by 6.3%, an increase of $22,494,916 from the prior fiscal year. 
 The funded raƟo, which represents the Program’s ability to meet its current and future obligaƟons 

for all contracts, rose again this fiscal year from 189.7% in FY22 to 227.5% in FY23. The assumpƟon 
changes made from the experience study and the investment experiences are the two largest items 
resulƟng in gains to the FY23 Program funded status. 

 

SUMMARY OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To Be Provided  
  

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT REPORTS 

As stated previously, the Board contracts and regularly meets with professional investment managers 
and consultants to invest assets of the Higher EducaƟon TuiƟon Trust Fund. In FY23, the Board 
maintained its investment policy and asset allocaƟon from the previous fiscal year.  The porƞolio’s asset 
allocaƟon is comprised of 30% fixed income, 20% covered calls, and 50% equiƟes. The equiƟes porƟon 
of the porƞolio is further allocated to three separate funds: Large Cap, Mid Cap, and Small Cap. The 
actual allocaƟons deviated slightly from the target allocaƟons; however, all were within acceptable 
variance levels. The investment report is provided in Appendix C of this document. 
 
Points of interest for investments include the following: 
 

 The market value of assets increased from $356,679,630 to $391,995,913 in FY 23, an increase of 
$35,316,283, or 9.9% from the prior fiscal year.  

 At the end of FY23, the Program’s porƞolio net rate of return on a Market Value basis was 10.9%, 
which was slightly higher (2.8%) from the benchmark of 10.6%. 

 The Program’s three-year net rate of return was 8.5%, just slightly above the target benchmark of 
8.3%.

361



A-1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A - ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT 

 
 
 
 

  
 

 

 

362



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
Actuarial Valuation Report 

As of June 30, 2023 

363



 

 

 
November 1, 2023 
 

The Honorable Zach Conine 
Treasurer of the State of Nevada 
Capitol Building 
Carson City, Nevada 89701 
 

Attention:  Ms. Kirsten Van Ry, Chief of Staff 
 

Re: Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2023 
 

Dear Treasurer Conine: 
 

Gabriel, Roeder, Smith & Company (“GRS”) has performed an actuarial valuation of the Nevada Prepaid 
Tuition Program (the “Program”) as of June 30, 2023.  The purpose of this actuarial valuation is to 
evaluate the financial status of the Program as of June 30, 2023.  
 

This report presents the principal results of the actuarial valuation of the Program including the following: 
 

• A comparison of the actuarial present value of the obligations for prepaid tuition contracts 
purchased through June 30, 2023, with the value of the assets (including present value of future 
contract payments) associated with the program as of that same date; 

• An analysis of the factors which caused the surplus/(deficit) to change since the prior actuarial 
valuation; and  

• A summary of the actuarial assumptions and methods utilized in the actuarial calculations. 
 

This report was prepared at the request of the Nevada State Treasurer’s Office and is intended for use by 
the Treasury and those designated or approved by the Treasury.  This report may be provided to parties 
other than the Treasury only in its entirety and only with the permission of the Treasury. This report 
should not be relied on for any purpose other than the purpose described above.  GRS is not responsible 
for unauthorized use of this report. 
 

The actuarial valuation results set forth in this report are based upon data and information, furnished by 
the Program, concerning Program benefits, financial transactions, and beneficiaries of the Program. We 
reviewed this information for internal and year-over-year consistency, but did not audit the data. We are 
not responsible for the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by the Program. Further, 
the data and information provided is through June 30, 2023, and does not reflect subsequent market 
changes. 
 

The actuarial valuation results summarized in this report involve actuarial calculations that require 
assumptions about future events.  The major actuarial assumptions used in this analysis were adopted by 
and are the responsibility of the Program and the Program’s Board.  GRS preformed a detailed experience 
study covering the Program’s non-economic experience from July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2022.  
Updated assumptions were adopted by the Board in conjunction with the study at the June 2023 Board 
Meeting.  Economic assumptions are reviewed annually.  The latest review of economic assumptions was 
conducted in conjunction with the 2017-2022 experience study and updated assumptions were also 
adopted by the Board at the June 2023 Board Meeting.  We believe the assumptions are reasonable for 
the purpose of the measurements and are in compliance with actuarial standards regarding pension 
calculations, and consequently, for the Program.   
 
 

364



 

 

The Honorable Zach Conine 
November 1, 2023 
Page 2  
 
Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in this 
report due to such factors as the following: program experience differing from that anticipated by the 
economic or demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; and changes in 
plan provisions or applicable law.  We have performed an analysis of the sensitivity of certain changes in future 
assumptions.  It is not possible or practical to consider every possible contingency because we may use 
summary information, estimates or simplifications of calculations to facilitate the modeling of future events.  
We may also exclude factors or data that are deemed to be immaterial. 
 
This report was prepared using our proprietary valuation model and related software which, in our 
professional judgment, has the capability to provide results that are consistent with the purposes of the 
actuarial valuation and has no material limitations or known weaknesses. We performed tests to ensure that 
the model reasonably represents that which is intended to be modeled. 
 
This report is not a recommendation to anyone to participate, or not participate, in the Program.  GRS makes 
no representations or warranties to any person participating in or considering participation in the Program. 
Current and future participants should be aware that the promises of the Program will only be met if the assets 
of the Program are sufficient to pay its obligations. 
 
To the best of our knowledge, the information contained in this report is accurate and fairly presents the 
actuarial position of the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program as of June 30, 2023.  
  
There are currently no Actuarial Standards of Practice that specifically refer to prepaid tuition plans.  We have 
followed the guidance from the Actuarial Standards of Practice on pensions due to their similar nature.   
 
The term “sound” or “actuarially sound” is not explicitly defined in the actuarial standards.  To the extent it is 
used in this report, it refers to the situation where either: 
 

(1) Assets meet or exceed liabilities on the valuation date; or  
(2) Assets are expected to meet or exceed liabilities at a future date based on the measurements on the 

valuation date and the expected future revenue based on the Program’s Funding Policy Guideline. 
  

James R. Sparks and Jamal Adora are Members of the American Academy of Actuaries and meet the 
Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinions contained 
herein. 
 
The signing actuaries are independent of the plan sponsor. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Gabriel, Roeder, Smith & Company 
 

 

 

James R. Sparks, ASA, FCA, MAAA   Jamal Adora, ASA, EA, MAAA 
 
JRS/JA:rmn

  

365



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program  

 

Table of Contents 

 
                                                        Page 

Section A Executive Summary 

Summary of Results .................................................................................................. A-1 
Summary of Assets and Liabilities ............................................................................. A-2 
Funded Status and Change in Surplus/(Deficit) ........................................................ A-3 
Discussion .................................................................................................................. A-4 

 
Section B Program Description 

Summary of Program Description .............................................................................. B-1 
 
Section C Actuarial Valuation Results 

Principal Actuarial Valuation Results ......................................................................... C-1 
Year to Year Change in Actuarial Calculations ........................................................... C-3 
Historical Increase/(Decrease) to Surplus by Source ................................................. C-4 

 
Section D Fund Assets 

 Statement of Program Assets (at Market Value) ...................................................... D-1 
 Reconciliation of Program Assets (at Market Value) ................................................ D-2 
 Development of Actuarial Value of Assets ............................................................... D-3 
 Market Value Versus Actuarial Value of Assets… ..................................................... D-4 
 
Section E Participant Data 

 Member Data Beginning to End of Year Summary. ................................................... E-1 
 Member Matriculation Summary .............................................................................. E-2 
 Member Payment Option Summary .......................................................................... E-3 
 
Section F Methods and Assumptions 

 Actuarial Valuation Methods and Assumptions ........................................................ F-1 
 
Section G Sensitivity Analysis 

 Sensitivity Analysis Description ................................................................................. G-1 
 Sensitivity Analysis Summary .................................................................................... G-2 
 Projection – Valuation Results .................................................................................. G-3 
 Projection – Sensitivity Analysis Results… ................................................................ G-4 
 

366



 

 

SECTION A 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

367



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program A-1 

 

Summary of Results 
 

Post-Experience 

Study Results

Valuation 

Results
Actuarial Valuation Date: June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022

Membership Summary:

Counts
          Contract Payments in Progress 2,659                2,769                    2,769                
          Contract Payments Fully Paid 4,978                5,178                    5,178                
          Delinquent in Contract Payments 258                    280                        280                    
          Benefit Payments in Progress 2,795                2,785                    2,785                
          Deferred Benefits 356                    357                        357                    
          Total Membership 11,046              11,369                  11,369              

Assets 

Market Value of Assets 391,573,213$  356,338,699$      356,338,699$  

Adjustment for Actuarial Value of Assets (11,108,223)     1,631,375             1,631,375         

Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) 380,464,990    357,970,074        357,970,074    

Present Value of Future Contract Payments (PVFCP) 28,290,890      31,065,161          31,279,680      

Total Assets (AVA + PVFCP) 408,755,880$  389,035,235$      389,249,754$  

Estimated Annual Return on Actuarial Value of Assets 7.33% 6.55% 6.55%

Estimated Annual Return on Market Value of Assets 10.95% -8.92% -8.92%

Liabilities

Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, 

Fees and Refunds 179,635,578$  179,314,144$      205,181,491$  

Surplus/(Deficit) (Total Assets less Liabilities) 229,120,302$  209,721,091$      184,068,263$  

Funded Ratio* 227.5% 217.0% 189.7%

 
* The Funded Ratio is the ratio of the Actuarial Value of Assets to actuarial liabilities as defined in the Program’s Funding 

Policy Guideline.  This ratio may not be appropriate for determining the Program’s settlement costs.  This ratio is 
appropriate for determining the need for future contributions from sources other than payments due from current 
contracts.  A ratio above 100% indicates that additional future contributions from sources other than current contracts 
are not currently needed to cover liabilities for current contracts under the current set of assumptions.  The funded 
status as of June 30, 2023 would be 233.7% if the Market Value of Assets was used. 

 
No liabilities are assumed for future administrative expenses.  It is assumed administrative expenses will continue to be 
paid by a contribution from the College Savings Endowment Fund. 
 
 

368



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program A-2 

 

Summary of Assets and Liabilities as of June 30, 2023 

 

$380.5

$179.6

$28.3

$0

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

Assets Liabilities

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program
($ in Millions)

$408.8

$179.6

 
 

 
 
 

No liabilities are assumed for future administrative expenses.  It is assumed administrative expenses will continue to be 
paid by a contribution from the College Savings Endowment Fund.  Numbers may not add due to rounding. 

  

                                        ASSETS                                                               LIABILITIES 

        Present Value of Future Contributions Present Value of Future Tuition 
 Payments, Fees and Refunds 
        Actuarial Value of Assets 

369



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program A-3 

 

Funded Status 

Post-Experience

Study Results Valuation Results

June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022
Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, Fees 

and Refunds
$179,635,578 $179,314,144 $205,181,491 

Actuarial Value of Assets (Including the Present 

Value of Future Contract Payments)
$408,755,880 $389,035,235 $389,249,754 

Surplus/(Deficit) as of June 30, 2023 $229,120,302 $209,721,091 $184,068,263 

 

Change in Surplus/(Deficit) 
 

Surplus/(Deficit)

(1.) Surplus/(Deficit) as of June 30, 2022 Valuation  $        184,068,263 

(2.) Change in Surplus/(Deficit) from Quinquennial Experience Study (if applicable)  $          25,652,828 

(3.) Surplus/(Deficit) as of June 30, 2022 [(1.) + (2.)]  $        209,721,091 

(4.) Adjustment to Beginning of Year Assets  $                             - 

(5.) Expected Contract Payments Received (Excluding New Enrollments)  $                             - 

(6.) Expected Tuition Payments, Fees, Refunds and Net Administrative Expenses^  $                             - 

(7.) Interest on (3.), (4.), (5.) and (6.) at Assumed Rate of Investment Return  $          11,010,357 

(8.) New Enrollment Group  $                992,274 

(9.) Projected Surplus/(Deficit) at June 30, 2023 [(3.) + (4.) + (5.) + (6.) + (7.) + (8.)]  $        221,723,722 

(10.) Change in Surplus/(Deficit) Due to the following Experience:

a. Investment Experience Above/(Below) Assumed  $             7,394,662 

b. Tuition/Fee Inflation  $                             - 

c.  Changes in Short-Term Tuition Increase Assumptions (HEPI)  $           (1,340,166)

d. Other Program Experience During Fiscal Year 2023 @  $             1,342,084 

Total Experience Change in Surplus/(Deficit)  $             7,396,580 

(11.) Actual Surplus/(Deficit) as of June 30, 2023 [(9.) + (10.)]  $        229,120,302 

Margin on New Enrollments (as Percent of New Enrollment Liability) 14%

 
 

^   Administrative expenses are covered by a contribution from the College Savings Endowment Fund. 
@ All other plan experience such as data changes, utilization of contracted credits faster/slower than assumed, 

higher/lower incidences of refunds than assumed, changes in beneficiaries, etc. 

  

370



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program A-4 

 

Discussion 

Actuarial Valuation 

Gabriel, Roeder, Smith & Company (“GRS”) has performed an actuarial valuation of the Nevada Prepaid 
Tuition Program as of June 30, 2023.  
 
The primary purposes of the actuarial valuation are to:  
 

• Determine the actuarial present value of the obligations for prepaid tuition contracts purchased 
through June 30, 2023 and compare such liabilities with the value of the assets (including present 
value of future contract payments) associated with the Program as of that same date; and 

• Analyze the factors which caused the surplus/(deficit) to change since the prior actuarial 
valuation. 
 

This report summarizes the results under the current assumptions and also presents the impact of 
variances in the rate of tuition and fee increases as well as the rate of investment return on assets. 

In addition, the report provides summaries of the member data, financial data, Program provisions, and 
actuarial assumptions and methods. 

The actuarial standards do not define the term “sound” or “actuarially sound.”  For purposes of this 
report, we are defining this term to mean the following: 

(1) Assets meet or exceed liabilities on the valuation date; or  
(2) Assets are expected to meet or exceed liabilities at a future date based on the measurements on 

the valuation date and the expected future revenue based on the Program’s Funding Policy 
Guideline. 

 
Under this definition, the Program is actuarially sound, based on the actuarial assumptions used in this 
actuarial valuation. 

Financial Status of Program 

As of June 30, 2023, the present value of all future Program obligations (tuition payments, fees, refunds, 
etc.) for contracts outstanding was $179.6 million.  Program assets as of June 30, 2023, including the 
Actuarial Value of Assets and the present value of future contract payments, are $408.8 million. 
 
The difference between the Program assets of $408.8 million and Program obligations of $179.6 million 
represents a Program surplus of $229.2 million. The comparable Program surplus as of the last actuarial 
valuation as of June 30, 2022 was $184.1 million. 
 
This surplus acts as a risk reserve to mitigate future experience losses. 
 
As of June 30, 2023, the Program is 227.5% funded and is expected to be able to pay benefits on behalf of 
all current contracts. 
  

371



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program A-5 

 

Discussion 

Asset Methodology 

In accordance with the Funding Policy Guideline adopted by the Program, this actuarial valuation uses a 
smoothing process in determining the Actuarial Value of Assets.  This process immediately recognizes the 
expected return, and then twenty percent (20%) of the difference between the actual and expected 
return is also recognized in the current year.  In the subsequent 4 years, an additional 20% is recognized 
each year until the investment gain (or loss) is fully recognized into the Actuarial Value of Assets.  The 
Actuarial Value of Assets is not allowed to deviate by more than 20% from the Market Value of Assets in 
any given year.  This smoothing process is intended to provide a more stable actuarial valuation from year 
to year.  This method was first implemented in the June 30, 2015 Actuarial Valuation. 

Assumption Changes 

At the June Board Meeting, the Board adopted new economic and demographic assumptions in conjunction 
with the 2017-2022 Experience Study (see the presentation dated June 13, 2023).    
 
Below provides a summary of the key changes in valuation assumptions and methods resulting from the 
2017-2022 Experience Study: 
 

1. Price inflation assumption was increased from 2.25% to 2.50%; 
2. Assumed rate of investment return was increased from 5.00% to 5.25%; 
3. Long-term tuition & fee increase assumption was unchanged for Universities (4.00% per year) and 

increased for Community Colleges (from 3.50% to 4.00%); 
4. Refund assumptions prior to expected matriculation year updated to reflect recent experience 

(both increased and decreased rates at different ages); 
5. Refund assumptions after expected matriculation year established (previously it was assumed 

accounts did not refund after matriculation); 
6. Credit Utilization assumptions after matriculation lowered for most ages; and 
7. Negative bias load for University credit hours utilized at Community Colleges established. 

 
In total, the June 30, 2022 surplus increased by about $25.7 million (from $184.1 million to $209.7 million) 
as a result of all assumption and method changes in conjunction with the 2017-2022 Experience Study 
 
Between the June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2019 Actuarial Valuation cycles, the Nevada Board of Regents 
approved the “Predictable Pricing Program” which is intended to base future tuition and fees on the Higher 
Education Price Index (HEPI) to provide more certainty in the short-term increases.  Under this program, as 
of June 30, 2023, the assumed short-term rates of tuition increases can be predicted through the 2026/2027 
academic year.  As of the June 30, 2022 Actuarial Valuation, the 2024/2025 assumed tuition increase was 
1.9% and the 2025/2026 assumed tuition increase was 2.7%.  The change in the 2022 HEPI Index from 2021 
was 5.2% and is used to determine the assumed rate of tuition increase for the 2026/2027 academic year.  
Tuition experience between now and the 2026/2027 academic year would only differ from assumed if the 
Board of Regents revises decisions already made or the Commonfund (publisher of HEPI) revises data. 
  

372



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program A-6 

 

Discussion 

Benefit Provisions 

There were no benefit provision changes since the last actuarial valuation. 

Gain/Loss Analysis 

The Program experienced continued improvement in the funded status during the year ending June 30, 2023 
due to gains from several sources.  This gain was primarily attributed to (1.) interest on the current surplus 
and (2.) favorable investment return (on an Actuarial Value of Assets basis).  This gain was partially offset by 
(3.) higher than assumed short-term future tuition increases. 
 

1. If all assumptions are met, the surplus is expected to grow with interest at the assumed rate of 
investment return (currently 5.25%). 

2. While the estimated investment return for the 2023 fiscal year was 10.95% on a market value basis, 
the Actuarial Value of Assets (which uses a 5-year smoothing method) recognized a rate of return of 
7.33% (versus 5.25% assumed).  Note, any investment income on the surplus acts as an additional 
gain to the Program. 

3. The 2022 Higher Education Price Index (HEPI) (which is anticipated to determine the assumed tuition 
increase for the 2026/2027 academic year) increased year over year by 5.20% which is higher than 
the assumed rates of tuition increases of 4.00% for Universities and Community Colleges. 

Reconciliation of Funded Status Change 

Surplus/(Deficit) Funded %

June 30, 2022 184,068,263$         189.7%

2017-2022 Experience Study Assumption Changes 25,652,828              12.5%

Adjustment to Beginning of Year Assets -                            0.0%

Interest at Assumed Return (5.25%) 11,010,357              5.4%

Investment Experience Above/(Below) Assumed 7,394,662                3.6%

New Contract Experience 992,274                   0.5%

Change in Short-Term Tuition Increase Assumption (HEPI) (1,340,166)              -0.7%

Change in Long-Term Tuition Increase Assumption -                            0.0%

Change in Investment Rate of Return Assumption -                            0.0%

Other Experience 1,342,084                0.7%

Change in %'s Due to Decreasing/(Increasing) liabilities* N/A 15.8%

June 30, 2023 229,120,302$         227.5%  
 

* The denominator of the funded status calculation at the beginning of year (June 30, 2022) is based upon the  
June 30, 2022 total liabilities, while the June 30, 2023 funded status is based upon the June 30, 2023 total liabilities. 

 
  

373



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program A-7 

 

Discussion 

Reported Assets 

The reported June 30, 2022 market value of assets for the June 30, 2023 actuarial valuation was equal to 
what was reported for the June 30, 2022 actuarial valuation.  No beginning of year adjustment to the 
market value and actuarial value of assets was made in the June 30, 2023 actuarial valuation. 
 
The reported June 30, 2023 market value of assets was $39,997 less than what would be obtained from 
summing the reported June 30, 2022 market value (after the adjustment described above) and reported 
Fiscal Year 2023 revenues and expenditures.  For purposes of this actuarial valuation, reported investment 
income was adjusted to force the assets to balance. 
 
All reported assets were assumed to be available to pay Program benefits (tuition and refunds).  No non-
Program payments were assumed to occur. 

Data 

Member data is received from the program and compared with prior years’ data for general consistency.  
No significant changes were made to the provided data.  Three contracts indicated they were fully utilized 
and were not valued.  Contracts with negative reported units paid out are assumed to have not utilized any 
of their contract.  As of June 30, 2023, there are 261 contracts which are more than 10 years past the 
contract’s projected matriculation year (see schedule on page E-2).  It is recommended that program staff 
review these contracts to confirm the data correctly reflects their current status in the program (i.e., still 
eligible for utilization of benefits).  Note, newly purchased contracts generally only have 6 years from the 
projected matriculation year to utilize benefits.  Contracts beyond their utilization period are assumed to 
refund any remaining value (if any) on their contract.   

Annual Tuition and Refund Payouts 

Annual tuition and refund payouts have continued to be less than expected over the last decade resulting 
in experience gains.  In conjunction with the 2012-2017 Experience Study, the utilization assumptions 
were lowered to reflect this experience.  In conjunction with the 2017-2022 Experience Study, further 
changes in assumptions were made to reflect continued lower credit utilization in the Program.  Based 
upon the updated assumptions, actual payouts were closer to updated expectations ($15.5 million versus 
$17.3 million assumed for the 2023 fiscal year).  We will continue to monitor this experience and 
recommend additional assumption changes, if necessary. 

374



 

 

SECTION B 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

375



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program B-1 

 

Summary of Program Description Evaluated June 30, 2023 

Purchasing Contracts – Contract holders may purchase contracts during an enrollment period for 
newborns to 9th graders.  These contracts lock in the cost of tuition for the contract holder at the time of 
purchase.  The holder may choose between a variety of school types and credit hours.  Contracts available 
for purchase include the following: 
 

• University Plans 
o 4-Year University (120 University Level Credit Hours) 
o 2-Year University (60 University Level Credit Hours) 
o 1-Year University (30 University Level Credit Hours) 

 

• Community College Plan 
o 2-Year Community College (60 Community College Credit Hours) 

 

• University and Community College Plan 
o 2-Year Community College and 2-Year University (60 Community College and 60 University 

Credit Hours) 
 
Contract Payments – Contract holders may agree to pay their contracts off in a variety of ways: 

 

• Lump-Sum Payment (Full contract paid in full at time of enrollment to the Program) 

• 10-Year Payments* (120 monthly payments after purchase of contract) 

• 5-Year Payments* (60 monthly payments after purchase of contract) 

• Extended Payments* (Monthly payments after purchase of contract for defined period up to and 
including the year of high school matriculation) 

 
* Members may also elect monthly payment options with an additional down payment made at the time of enrollment to 

the Program. 

 

Tuition Payments – When the beneficiary matriculates, the portion of tuition covered by the Program will 
be dependent on the school of which they attend and the plan they purchased.  The program will pay the 
tuition (also known as registration fees) for all public Universities or Community Colleges in the state.  If 
the beneficiary elects to attend a private or out-of-state University or Community College, the Program 
will pay out up to the maximum amount that it would have paid to a Nevada school under the matching 
contract that was purchased.  If a beneficiary graduates with remaining credits, those credits can be used 
for graduate school. 
 

Refunds – If a contract purchaser elects to withdraw from the plan, the amount refunded will be equal to 
the sum amount the purchaser has paid into the plan less any fees and/or monies paid to a school on the 
student’s behalf. 
 

Usage Period – Contracts have a 6-year period from the expected matriculation date to utilize credits.  
Contract extensions are allowed for religious, volunteer or military service.  

376



 

 

SECTION C 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION RESULTS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

377



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program C-1 

 

Principal Actuarial Valuation Results as of June 30, 2023 
 

 

Post-Experience 

Study Results Valuation Results

2023 2022 2022

Number of Members

1a. Contract Payments in Progress 2,659 2,769 2,769

1b. Contract Payments Fully Paid 4,978 5,178 5,178

1c. Delinquent in Contract Payments 258 280 280

1d. Benefit Payments in Progress 2,795 2,785 2,785

1e. Deferred Benefits 356 357 357

1f. Total 11,046 11,369 11,369

2a. Actuarial Value of Assets  $    380,464,990  $    357,970,074  $    357,970,074 
2b. PV Future Contract Payments    28,290,890    31,065,161    31,279,680 
2c. Total Actuarial Value of Assets  $    408,755,880  $    389,035,235  $    389,249,754 

Liabilities

3a. Present Value of Future Tuition 

      Payments, Fees and Refunds

 $    179,635,578  $    179,314,144  $    205,181,491 

Surplus/(Deficit) (2c. - 3a.)  $    229,120,302  $    209,721,091  $    184,068,263 

Funded Ratio (2c. / 3a.) 227.5% 217.0% 189.7%

 

Assets

 
 

 

  

378



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program C-2 

 

Principal Actuarial Valuation Results as of June 30, 2023 
(Concluded) 

 

 
Post-Experience 

Study Results

Valuation 

Results

2023 2022 2022

1a. Actuarial Value of Assets  $    380,464,990  $    357,970,074  $    357,970,074 

1b. PVFCP* (Short Term)
a    6,645,879    7,187,403    7,127,697 

1c. PVFCP* (Long Term)b    21,645,011    23,877,758    24,151,983 

1d. Total Actuarial Value of Assets  $    408,755,880  $    389,035,235  $    389,249,754 

Actuarial Present Value of Future Tuition 

Payments, Fees and Refunds

2a. Short Terma  $      16,955,948  $      16,948,670  $      19,672,444 

2b. Long Termb
   162,679,630    162,365,474    185,509,047 

2c. Total  $    179,635,578  $    179,314,144  $    205,181,491 

Surplus/(Deficit) (1d. - 2c.)  $    229,120,302  $    209,721,091  $    184,068,263 

Funded Ratio (1d. / 2c.) 227.5% 217.0% 189.7%

Assets

a  Present Value of amounts in following year.
b  Present Value of amounts after first year.

* Present Value of Future Contract Payments.

 

 

379



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program C-3 

 

Year to Year Change in Actuarial Calculations 

 

 

Present Value of 

Tuition, Fees and 

Refunds

Present Value of 

Future Contract 

Payments

Actuarial Value of 

Assets Surplus/(Deficit)

(i) (ii) (iii) (iii) + (ii) - (i)

(1.) Values as of June 30, 2022 Valuation  $      205,181,491  $        31,279,680  $      357,970,074  $         184,068,263 

(2.) Change from Quinquennial Experience Study (if applicable)  $      (25,867,347)  $            (214,519)  $                           -  $           25,652,828 

(3.) Values as of June 30, 2022 [(1.) + (2.)]  $      179,314,144  $        31,065,161  $      357,970,074  $         209,721,091 

(4.) Adjustment to Beginning of Year Assets  $                           -  $                           -  $                           -  $                              - 

(5.) Expected Contract Payments Received (Excluding New Enrollments)  $                           -  $        (7,373,659)  $           7,373,659  $                              - 

(6.) Expected Tuition Payments, Fees, and Refunds net of Administrative Contributions^  $      (17,327,663)  $                           -  $       (17,327,663)  $                              - 

(7.) Interest on (3.), (4.), (5.) and (6.) at Assumed Rate of Investment Return  $          8,903,181  $          1,439,838  $        18,473,700  $           11,010,357 

(8.) New Enrollment Group  $          7,268,257  $          3,548,351  $           4,712,180  $                 992,274 

(9.) Projected Values at June 30, 2023 [(3.) + (4.) + (5.) + (6.) + (7.) + (8.)]  $      178,157,919  $        28,679,691  $      371,201,950  $         221,723,722 

(10.) Change Due to:

a. Investment Experience Above/(Below) Assumed*  $                           -  $                           -  $           7,394,662  $              7,394,662 

b. Tuition/Fee Inflation                               -                               -                               -                                  - 

c. Change in Short-Term Tuition Increase Assumptions (HEPI)              1,340,166                               -                               -                (1,340,166)

d. Other Program Experience During Fiscal Year 2023 @                  137,493                (388,801)               1,868,378                  1,342,084 

Total  $          1,477,659  $            (388,801)  $           9,263,040  $              7,396,580 

(11.) Actual Values as of June 30, 2023 [(9.) + (10.)]  $      179,635,578  $        28,290,890  $      380,464,990  $         229,120,302 
  

 

^   Administrative expenses are covered by a contribution from the College Savings Endowment Fund. 
*   Investment Experience on Actuarial Value of Assets includes any differentiation in Market Value of Assets as provided by the Program.  
@ All other plan experience such as data changes, downgrades, upgrades, change of beneficiaries, using credits faster or slower than assumed, refunds, etc. 
 

  

380



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program C-4 

 

Historical Increase/(Decrease) to Surplus 
By Source 

 

 

Fiscal Year 

Ending

Endowment 

Contributions

Adjustment 

to Assets

Interest on 

Surplus/(Deficit)

New 

Enrollments

Investment 

Experience

Tuition/Fee 

Experience

Change in Plan 

Assumptions

Other Plan 

Experience Surplus/(Deficit)

2014 48,526,289$         

2015 1,820,000$     0$                 3,089,769$           1,914,325$  (582,242)$    0$                 (1,042,096)$      1,984,870$    55,710,915           

2016 1,820,000        0                   3,397,255             938,118        (1,321,632)   0                   1,905,703          1,876,866      64,327,225           

2017 0                       0                   3,216,361             1,069,289    929,026       0                   0                         2,862,782      72,404,683           

  2018* 0                       0                   3,620,234             288,458        2,793,104    0                   9,586,928          2,780,096      91,473,503           

2019 0                       0                   4,136,135             72,212          3,710,145    8,391,334    3,364,083          4,103,356      115,250,768         

2020 0                       0                   6,050,666             504,315        3,824,280    2,902,066    3,947,123          3,176,378      135,655,596         

2021 0                       0                   7,538,630             718,706        17,851,378  2,950,044    (3,078,397)        2,663,402      164,299,359         

  2022* 0                       (168,568)      8,206,540             297,147        5,231,888    1,813,323    25,652,828       4,388,574      209,721,091         

2023 0                       0                   11,010,357           992,274        7,394,662    (1,340,166)  0                         1,342,084      229,120,302         

* Change in Plan Assumptions in conjunction with Experience Studies.  Surplus/(Deficit) based upon post-experience study assumptions.

Historical Increase/(Decrease) to Surplus

 

381



 

 

SECTION D 

FUND ASSETS 
 

 

 

  

382



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program D-1 

 

Statement of Program Assets (at Market Value) 
 

 

 

2,950,837$           

2. Equity 203,854,495$      

106,124,919$      

78,454,029$         

188,933$              

6. Net Assets = (1) + (2) + (3) + (4) + (5) 391,573,213$      

5. Receivables, Payables, Liabilities, Etc.

4. Other Investments

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program

Statement of Program Market Value of Assets

Year Ended June 30, 2023

1. Cash

3. Fixed Income

  

383



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program D-2 

 

Reconciliation of Program Assets 
 

 

 

Statement of Changes in Program Market Value of Assets

1. Market Value of Assets at Beginning of Year

    a. From Prior Valuation Report $ 356,338,699        

    b. Adjustment to Beginning of Year Assets -                             

    Reported Market Value of Assets = a + b 356,338,699        

2. Changes During Year

    a. Additions

      (i) Investment Income $ 39,164,641          *

      (ii) Contract Payments 11,860,490          

      (iii) Enrollment and Closure Fees 54,060                  

      (iv) Transfers from Endowment Account 773,411               ^

      Total Additions = (i) + (ii) + (iii) + (iv) $ 51,852,602          

    b. Deductions

      (i) Tuition Payments $ 11,857,967          

      (ii) Refunds and Rollovers 3,655,292            

      (iii) Administration Expenses 773,411               ^

      (iv) Investment Expenses 331,418

      Total Deductions = (i) + (ii) + (iii) + (iv) $ 16,618,088          

      Net Increases (Decreases) During Year = a - b $ 35,234,514          

3. Market Value of Assets at End of Year = 1 + 2 $ 391,573,213        

4. Purchased Interest $ -                             

5. Net Market Value of Assets at End of Year = 3 + 4 $ 391,573,213        

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program

 
 

*  Investment Income includes -$39,997 variance in reported assets.  Inclusion of this cash flow as investment 
income does not have a material impact to valuation results. 

^ Administrative expenses are covered by a contribution from the College Savings Endowment Fund. 
  

384



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program D-3 

 

Development of Actuarial Value of Assets 
 

 
Year Ended June 30 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

A. Actuarial Value of Assets Beginning of Year* $ 338,131,270 $ 357,970,074

B. Market Value End of Year 356,338,699     391,573,213     

C. Market Value Beginning of Year*   393,575,940   356,338,699

D. Non-Investment/Administrative Net Cash Flow
     D1.  Contract Payments, Admin Fees, Endowment Contributions 13,966,933       12,687,961       
     D2.  Tuition Payments, Refunds, Admin Expenses (16,210,492)      (16,286,670)      
     D3.  Total Net Cash Flow:  D1+D2 (2,243,559)        (3,598,709)        

E.  Investment Return
     E1.  Market Total: B-C-D3 (34,993,682)      38,833,223       
     E2.  Assumed Rate of Return 5.00% 5.25% 5.25%
     E3.  Assumed Amount of Return 16,850,475       18,698,963       
     E4.  Amount Subject to Phase-In: E1-E3 (51,844,157)      20,134,260       

F.  Phased-In Recognition of Investment Return
     F1.  Current Year: 0.20 x E4 (10,368,831)      4,026,852         
     F2.  First Prior Year 13,287,707       (10,368,831)      $   4,026,852
     F3.  Second Prior Year (468,106)           13,287,707       (10,368,831)      $   4,026,852
     F4.  Third Prior Year 917,041             (468,106)           13,287,707       (10,368,831)      $   4,026,852
     F5.  Fourth Prior Year 1,864,077         917,040             (468,105)           13,287,708       (10,368,833)      $ 4,026,852
     F6.  Total Phase-Ins 5,231,888         7,394,662         6,477,623         6,945,729         (6,341,981)        4,026,852         

G. Actuarial Value of Assets End of Year
     G1.  Preliminary Actuarial Value End of Year: A+D3+E3+F6 $ 357,970,074 $ 380,464,990
     G2.  Upper Corridor Limit:  120% x B 427,606,439     469,887,856     
     G3.  Lower Corridor Limit:  80% x B 285,070,959     313,258,570     
     G4.  Actuarial Value of Assets End of Year $ 357,970,074 $ 380,464,990

H. Difference Between Market and Actuarial Value (1,631,375)        11,108,223       4,630,600         (2,315,129)        4,026,852         -                         

I.   Recognized Rate of Return 6.55 % 7.33 %

J.   Estimated Market Rate of Return (8.92)% 10.95 %

K.  Ratio of Actuarial Value to Market Value 100 % 97 %

* Includes the Following Adjustments to Beginning of Year Assets: (168,568)           -                          
 

The Actuarial Value of Assets recognizes assumed investment return (line E3) fully each year.  Differences between actual and assumed investment 
return (line E4) are phased-in over a closed 5-year period.  During periods when investment performance exceeds the assumed rate, Actuarial Value of 
Assets will tend to be less than Market Value.  During periods when investment performance is less than the assumed rate, Actuarial Value of Assets 
will tend to be greater than Market Value.  

385



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program D-4 

 

Market Value Versus Actuarial Value of Assets 
 
 
 

-10%

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

P
e

rc
e

n
t

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Comparison of Investment Rates of Return

Market Value Actuarial Value Assumed Rate

 
 

$100

$150

$200

$250

$300

$350

$400

$450

$500

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

$
 M

ill
io

n
s

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Comparison of Asset Values

Corridor Market Value Actuarial Value
 

 
 

386



 

 

SECTION E 

PARTICIPANT DATA 
 

 

 

387



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program E-1 

 

Member Data Beginning to End of Year Summary as of June 30, 2023 
 

 

 

 

4-Yr. 

University

2-Yr. 

University

1-Yr. 

University 2+2

2-Yr. 

Community 

College Total

Beginning of Year (6/30/2022) 7,546          1,343          513             1,160        807              11,369       

New Contracts 257             54               17               54             23                 405            

Removed Contracts 501             64               24               90             49                 728            
End of Year (6/30/2023) 7,302          1,333          506             1,124        781              11,046       

Type of Contract

 
 

7,302 

1,333 

506 
1,124 

781 

 -

 1,000

 2,000

 3,000

 4,000

 5,000

 6,000

 7,000

 8,000

4-Yr.
University

2-Yr.
University

1-Yr.
University

2+2 2-Yr.
Community

College
 

 

 

 

 

388



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program E-2 

 

Member Matriculation Summary as of June 30, 2023 
 

Projected 

Enrollment Year

4-Yr. 

Univ

2-Yr. 

Univ

1-Yr. 

Univ 2+2

2-Yr. 

Comm. 

Coll

2002 3             -              -              1             -              4              0.04%

2003 9             -              -              2             1             12            0.11%

2004 8             -              -              2             -              10            0.09%

2005 12           -              -              2             1             15            0.14%

2006 21           -              -              5             -              26            0.24%

2007 16           1             -              6             2             25            0.23%

2008 20           1             -              8             5             34            0.31%

2009 20           -              -              3             1             24            0.22%

2010 33           1             -              2             1             37            0.33%

2011 29           -              -              3             2             34            0.31%

2012 31           1             -              5             3             40            0.36%

2013 66           -              -              8             4             78            0.71%

2014 72           8             -              12           4             96            0.87%

2015 118         2             -              16           8             144          1.30%

2016 180         4             2             31           7             224          2.03%

2017 170         9             -              28           11           218          1.97%

2018 269         22           2             34           10           337          3.05%

2019 336         29           7             33           24           429          3.88%

2020 384         52           9             57           39           541          4.90%

2021 413         72           22           54           56           617          5.59%

2022 429         92           32           55           58           666          6.03%

2023 435         82           34           57           52           660          5.98%

2024 405         106         46           79           52           688          6.23%

2025 433         108         33           73           55           702          6.36%

2026 414         120         38           65           48           685          6.20%

2027 361         94           45           65           42           607          5.50%

2028 358         77           27           39           47           548          4.96%

2029 338         68           34           61           43           544          4.92%

2030 321         68           42           52           44           527          4.77%

2031 284         75           25           39           38           461          4.17%

2032 260         49           17           42           23           391          3.54%

2033 196         35           31           31           22           315          2.85%

2034 223         39           25           40           21           348          3.15%

2035 173         41           18           31           12           275          2.49%

2036 136         20           6             24           14           200          1.81%

2037 110         23           8             23           9             173          1.57%

2038 89           19           2             19           14           143          1.29%

2039 64           10           -              7             3             84            0.76%

2040 63           5             1             10           5             84            0.76%

7,302     1,333     506         1,124     781         11,046    100.00%

66.11% 12.07% 4.58% 10.18% 7.07% 100.00%

Total

Total

Type of Contract

 -  500  1,000

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

2028

2029

2030

2031

2032

2033

2034

2035

2036

2037

2038

2039

2040

 

389



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program E-3 

 

Member Payment Option Summary as of June 30, 2023 
 

 

 

 

Contract Payment Type

4-Yr. 

University

2-Yr. 

University

1-Yr. 

University 2+2

2-Yr.

Community 

College

Lump Sum 3,020          474             272             290             215              4,271         38.67%

5-Year Payments 2,132          335             117             316             253              3,153         28.54%

Extended Payments/10-Year Payments 2,150          524             117             518             313              3,622         32.79%

7,302          1,333          506             1,124          781              11,046       100.00%

66.11% 12.07% 4.58% 10.18% 7.07% 100.00%

Type of Contract

Total

Total

 
 

4,271 

3,153 

3,622 

 -    1,000    2,000    3,000    4,000    5,000

Lump Sum

5-Year Payments

Extended Payments/10-Year Payments

 
 

 

 

 

390



 

 

SECTION F 

METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 

 

  

391



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program F-1 

 

Actuarial Valuation Methods and Assumptions 
 

 
All actuarial assumptions are expectations of future experience, not market measures.  The rationale for 
the assumptions is described in the 2017-2022 Experience Study and the annual assumptions letters 
addressed to the Treasurer of the State of Nevada. 
 
Price Inflation (Implicit Assumptions): 2.50% 
 
Assumed Rate of Investment Return, Net of Investment Fees: 5.25% 
 
Assumed Rate of Tuition Increases: 

Academic Community

Year University College

2024-2025
#

1.90% 1.90%

2025-2026# 2.70% 2.70%

2026-2027# 5.20% 5.20%
2027-2028+ 4.00% 4.00%

 
# Short-term assumptions based on actions and/or formulas already adopted by the Board of Regents. 

 
Utilization of Credits*:  Assumed number of credits utilized in a given academic year are based on the 
following schedule in accordance with the type of contract and the expected payout year: 

Type of Contract (Date Purchased) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

4-Year University Contracts 24 24 24 20 15 6 4 3 2 1

2-Year CC Plus 2-Year Univ Contracts 20 20 20 18 12 8 4 3 2 1

2-Year University Contracts 14 14 13 13 10 7 4 3 2 1

2-Year Community College Contracts 14 12 9 6 6 6 4 3 2 1

1-Year Contracts 14 12 10 8 7 6 4 3 2 1

Years Since Expected Matriculation

 
* Liabilities are modeled assuming two payments per year (one in mid-September, one in mid-February) for 

beneficiaries who have matriculated. 
 

  

392



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program F-2 

 

Actuarial Valuation Methods and Assumptions (Continued) 
 

Pre-Matriculation Refunds:  Sum of contract payments into plan.  Withdrawal rates at the beginning of 
each year are based on the following schedule in accordance with the type of contract purchased. 

Years of Payment Lump Five-Year Extended/ Lump Five-Year Extended/

Since Purchase Sum Payments 10-Year Pmts Sum Payments 10-Year Pmts

1 0.50% 3.50% 5.00% 1.00% 4.50% 4.00%

2 0.50% 3.50% 4.25% 1.00% 4.50% 4.00%

3 0.50% 3.00% 3.50% 1.00% 4.50% 4.00%

4 0.50% 1.75% 3.00% 1.00% 3.00% 4.00%

5 0.50% 1.25% 2.50% 1.00% 2.00% 4.00%

6 0.50% 1.00% 2.50% 1.00% 1.00% 4.00%

7 0.50% 0.75% 2.00% 1.00% 1.00% 4.00%

8 0.50% 0.50% 1.75% 1.00% 1.00% 3.25%

9 0.50% 0.50% 1.50% 1.00% 1.00% 2.50%

10 0.50% 0.50% 1.25% 1.00% 1.00% 1.75%

11 0.50% 0.50% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

12 0.50% 0.50% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

13 0.50% 0.50% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

14 0.50% 0.50% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

15 0.50% 0.50% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

16 0.50% 0.50% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

17 0.50% 0.50% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

18 0.50% 0.50% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Community College Contracts^University Contracts

 
^ The 2-Year Community College plus 2-Year University contracts were included with 

Community College contracts for the purposes of the refund assumption. 
 
 

Post-Matriculation Refunds:  Sum of contract payments into plan net of past tuition benefit payouts.  
Withdrawal rates at the beginning of each year are based on the following schedule in accordance with 
the year of contract purchase. 

Years Since

Expected Pre-2010 Post-2010

Matriculation Contracts Contracts

1 2.00% 2.00%

2 2.00% 2.00%

3 2.00% 2.00%

4 3.00% 3.00%

5 3.50% 3.50%

6 4.00% 8.00%

7 7.00% 14.00%

8 10.00% 20.00%

9 13.00% 26.00%

10+ 100.00% 100.00%

 

393



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program F-3 

 

Actuarial Valuation Methods and Assumptions (Concluded) 
 

 

Election of Program Changes: None. 

Election of Change of Beneficiary: None. 

Liability Adjustments for Administrative Expenses:  None.  Administrative expenses are paid 
from outside the trust by the College 
Savings Endowment Fund. 

Contract Terms: No changes in contract terms are 
assumed, once initiated. 

Pricing Methodology: Based on Weighted Average Tuition (WAT) 
rate increased to assumed year of 
payment, based on tuition rate increase 
assumption and discounted to payment 
date based on net investment return 
assumption. 

Timing of Tuition Payments: 
 
 

Timing of Refunds: 
 

Two payments per year (mid-September & 
mid-February) for beneficiaries who have 
matriculated. 

Middle of the year. 

Weighted Average Tuition (WAT) for the 2023/2024 
Academic Year: 

 

o 4-Year College: $7,875.00 

o 2-Year College: $3,465.00 

Bias Load: -5.0% for University contract and 0.0% for 
Community College contract payouts 

 
Note: Since all the covered in-state 4-year colleges and universities charge the same tuition and 
all the covered in-state 2-year colleges charge the same tuition, the WAT is simply the rate of 
tuition and fees.  If the covered colleges and universities begin to charge different rates of tuition 
in the future, a WAT (averaging) calculation will be performed and a change in the bias load may 
be necessary. 
 

394



 

 

SECTION G 

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 
 

 

395



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program G-1 

 

Sensitivity Analysis Description 
 
The actuarial assumptions regarding future increases in tuition costs and fees and the future rate of 
investment return were adopted by the State Treasurer. In our opinion, the assumptions prescribed to us 
are reasonable for the purpose of the measurement.  However, no one knows with certainty what the 
future holds with respect to economic and other contingencies.  For example, while it is assumed that the 
assets of the fund will earn 5.25% each year throughout the life of the contracts, actual returns are 
expected to vary from year to year.  Therefore, we have projected the Program’s results under alternative 
assumptions for future investment income and tuition increases as follows: 
 
Page Scenario: Description 
G-3 Scenario 1: Current actuarial valuation assumptions. 
 
G-4 Scenario 2: Tuition increase assumptions are 100 basis points higher than currently assumed. 
 
G-5 Scenario 3: Tuition increase assumptions are 100 basis points lower than currently assumed. 
 
G-6 Scenario 4: The investment return assumption is 200 basis points higher than currently assumed. 
 
G-7 Scenario 5: The investment return assumption is 200 basis points lower than currently assumed. 
 
G-8 Scenario 6: Tuition increase assumptions are 100 basis points higher and the investment return 

assumption is 200 basis points lower than currently assumed. 
 
G-9 Scenario 7: Tuition increase assumptions are 100 basis points lower and the investment return 

assumption is 200 basis points higher than currently assumed. 
 
The investment return assumption is based upon the Actuarial Valuation of Assets projection purposes.  
For purposes of this sensitivity testing, future experience was assumed to match the described change in 
assumptions. 
 
A summary of the impact of each of these scenarios on the principal valuation results is presented on the 
following page.  See the following pages for detail projection results of each scenario. 
 
The projections assume no new contract purchases.  Future contract purchases will affect projection 
results based on the risk margins built into future pricings.  If risk margins for new purchases are lower 
than the current funded status, there will be downward pressure on future funded statuses and vice 
versa. 
 

396



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program G-2 

 

Sensitivity Analysis Summary 
 

$ in Millions 
 

(Scenario)

Description

(Page)

(1)

Current 

Valuation 

Assumptions

(G-3)

(2)

Assumed 

Tuition 

Increases 

+100 Basis 

Points

(G-4)

(3)

Assumed 

Tuition 

Increases         

-100 Basis 

Points

(G-5)

(4)

Assumed 

Investment 

Return +200 

Basis Points

(G-6)

(5)

Assumed 

Investment 

Return -200 

Basis Points

(G-7)

(6)

Assumed 

Tuition 

Increases 

+100 Basis 

Points and 

Investment 

Return -200 

Basis Points

(G-8)

(7)

Assumed 

Tuition 

Increases 

-100 Basis 

Points and 

Investment 

Return +200 

Basis Points

(G-9)

Assumed Rate of Investment Return 5.25% 5.25% 5.25% 7.25% 3.25% 3.25% 7.25%

Assumed Long-Term Tuition Increases (Univ)
#

4.00% 5.00% 3.00% 4.00% 4.00% 5.00% 3.00%

Assumed Long-Term Tuition Increases (CC)# 4.00% 5.00% 3.00% 4.00% 4.00% 5.00% 3.00%

1. Assets
a. Actuarial Value of Assets $380.5 $380.5 $380.5 $380.5 $380.5 $380.5 $380.5
b. Present Value of Future Contract Payments $  28.3 $  28.3 $  28.3 $  26.6 $  30.2 $  30.2 $  26.6
c. Total Assets $408.8 $408.8 $408.8 $407.1 $410.7 $410.7 $407.1

2. Liabilities
a. Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, 

    Fees and Refunds
$179.6 $186.2 $173.5 $159.0 $205.1 $213.5 $154.0

3. Surplus/(Deficit) (1c. - 2a.) $229.2 $222.6 $235.3 $248.1 $205.6 $  197.2 $253.1 

4. Funded Ratio (1c. / 2a.) 227.5% 219.5% 235.7% 256.1% 200.2% 192.3% 264.3%

Increase/(Decrease) from Valuation Assumptions

Surplus $0.0 $(6.6) $6.1 $18.9 $(23.6) $(32.0) $23.9 

Funded Ratio 0.0% (8.0)% 8.2% 28.6% (27.3)% (35.2)% 36.8%

 

 
# Only affects assumptions in Fiscal Years ending 2027 and thereafter. 

397



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program G-3 

 

Assumed Investment Return 5.25% Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, Fees and Refunds $179,635,578

Assumed Tuition Increases (FYE 2028+) Present Value of Future Contract Payments $  28,290,890
  University 4.00% June 30, 2023 Actuarial Value of Assets $380,464,990

  Community College 4.00% Surplus/(Deficit) $229,120,302
Funded Status 227.5%

Year Insolvent Never

Fiscal Year (FY)

Ending June 30

Assumed 

Investment 

Return During 

Year

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Universities

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Community 

Colleges

Actuarial Value

of Assets

(Beginning of FY)

Projected Tuition 

& Fee Payments

Projected Refund 

Payments

Projected 

Contract 

Payments

Projected 

Investment 

Return

Closed Group

Projected

Funded Status

(Beginning of FY)

2024 5.25% N/A N/A 380,464,990$     13,722,510$        3,613,417$          6,818,102$          19,640,890$        227.5%
2025 5.25% 1.90% 1.90% 389,588,055        14,241,965          2,266,948            5,766,527            20,111,724          240.8%
2026 5.25% 2.70% 2.70% 398,957,393        14,973,120          2,241,011            4,722,827            20,555,044          255.5%
2027 5.25% 5.20% 5.20% 407,021,133        16,001,420          2,099,718            3,869,202            20,928,715          273.4%
2028 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 413,717,912        16,461,190          1,959,790            3,113,866            21,250,391          295.9%
2029 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 419,661,189        16,400,878          1,626,722            2,480,805            21,556,470          324.1%
2030 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 425,670,864        16,257,831          1,389,715            1,956,676            21,868,880          358.6%
2031 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 431,848,874        16,061,318          1,018,577            1,511,493            22,197,272          401.9%
2032 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 438,477,744        15,337,100          741,207               1,143,829            22,564,933          456.9%
2033 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 446,108,199        14,624,481          551,873               834,641               22,984,058          526.3%
2034 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 454,750,544        13,497,042          438,374               565,842               23,467,982          616.3%
2035 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 464,848,952        12,782,871          360,047               391,255               24,017,334          732.9%
2036 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 476,114,623        11,739,141          277,627               268,912               24,639,431          893.5%
2037 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 489,006,198        10,429,710          205,471               189,158               25,355,792          1,000.0%+
2038 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 503,915,966        9,233,395            148,109               122,042               26,174,618          1,000.0%+
2039 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 520,831,123        8,050,043            99,634                 65,597                 27,098,380          1,000.0%+
2040 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 539,845,422        6,624,148            61,947                 20,839                 28,139,733          1,000.0%+
2041 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 561,319,899        5,529,724            36,525                 1,147                    29,300,514          1,000.0%+
2042 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 585,055,312        4,083,001            10,411                 -                        30,591,188          1,000.0%+
2043 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 611,553,088        2,782,523            1,659                    -                        32,022,026          1,000.0%+
2044 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 640,790,933        1,746,481            327                       -                        33,588,498          1,000.0%+
2045 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 672,632,623        970,014               -                        -                        35,283,766          1,000.0%+
2046 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 706,946,376        439,257               -                        -                        37,101,350          1,000.0%+
2047 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 743,608,469        210,170               -                        -                        39,033,065          1,000.0%+
2048 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 782,431,364        88,276                 -                        -                        41,074,967          1,000.0%+
2049 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 823,418,055        6,372                    -                        -                        43,229,254          1,000.0%+
2050 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 866,640,937        1,854                    -                        -                        45,498,593          1,000.0%+
2051 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 912,137,676        -                        -                        -                        47,887,228          1,000.0%+
2052 5.25% 4.00% 4.00% 960,024,904        -                        -                        -                        50,401,307          1,000.0%+

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
Projection Based on June 30, 2023 Valuation Results

Assumptions Valuation Results - Scenario 1

  

398



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program G-4 

 

Assumed Investment Return 5.25% Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, Fees and Refunds $186,235,455

Assumed Tuition Increases (FYE 2028+) Present Value of Future Contract Payments $  28,290,890
  University 5.00% June 30, 2023 Actuarial Value of Assets $380,464,990

  Community College 5.00% Surplus/(Deficit) $222,520,425
Funded Status 219.5%
Year Insolvent Never

Fiscal Year (FY)

Ending June 30

Assumed 

Investment 

Return During 

Year

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Universities

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Community 

Colleges

Actuarial Value

of Assets

(Beginning of FY)

Projected Tuition 

& Fee Payments

Projected Refund 

Payments

Projected 

Contract 

Payments

Projected 

Investment 

Return

Closed Group

Projected

Funded Status

(Beginning of FY)

2024 5.25% N/A N/A 380,464,990$     13,722,510$        3,613,417$          6,818,102$          19,640,890$        219.5%
2025 5.25% 1.90% 1.90% 389,588,055        14,241,965          2,266,948            5,766,527            20,111,724          231.5%
2026 5.25% 2.70% 2.70% 398,957,393        14,973,120          2,241,011            4,722,827            20,555,044          244.6%
2027 5.25% 5.20% 5.20% 407,021,133        16,001,420          2,099,718            3,869,202            20,928,715          260.4%
2028 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 413,717,912        16,619,471          1,959,790            3,113,866            21,245,586          280.1%
2029 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 419,498,104        16,717,796          1,626,722            2,480,805            21,538,287          304.7%
2030 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 425,172,678        16,731,330          1,389,715            1,956,676            21,828,351          334.7%
2031 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 430,836,660        16,688,028          1,018,577            1,511,493            22,125,106          372.1%
2032 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 436,766,654        16,088,777          741,207               1,143,829            22,452,282          419.4%
2033 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 443,532,781        15,488,745          551,873               834,641               22,822,613          478.9%
2034 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 451,149,417        14,432,126          438,374               565,842               23,250,537          555.8%
2035 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 460,095,295        13,799,905          360,047               391,255               23,736,893          655.0%
2036 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 470,063,492        12,794,991          277,627               268,912               24,289,695          791.1%
2037 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 481,549,481        11,477,091          205,471               189,158               24,932,519          980.5%
2038 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 494,988,595        10,258,337          148,109               122,042               25,674,817          1,000.0%+
2039 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 510,379,009        9,029,625            99,634                 65,597                 26,519,907          1,000.0%+
2040 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 527,835,253        7,501,662            61,947                 20,839                 27,482,560          1,000.0%+
2041 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 547,775,044        6,322,471            36,525                 1,147                    28,565,344          1,000.0%+
2042 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 569,982,539        4,713,232            10,411                 -                        29,780,736          1,000.0%+
2043 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 595,039,631        3,242,904            1,659                    -                        31,141,094          1,000.0%+
2044 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 622,936,162        2,055,016            327                       -                        32,641,757          1,000.0%+
2045 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 653,522,576        1,152,352            -                        -                        34,274,954          1,000.0%+
2046 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 686,645,178        526,844               -                        -                        36,032,879          1,000.0%+
2047 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 722,151,213        254,501               -                        -                        37,905,213          1,000.0%+
2048 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 759,801,925        107,924               -                        -                        39,886,325          1,000.0%+
2049 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 799,580,326        7,791                    -                        -                        41,977,731          1,000.0%+
2050 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 841,550,266        2,267                    -                        -                        44,181,320          1,000.0%+
2051 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 885,729,319        -                        -                        -                        46,500,789          1,000.0%+
2052 5.25% 5.00% 5.00% 932,230,109        -                        -                        -                        48,942,081          1,000.0%+

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
Projection Based on June 30, 2023 Sensitivity Testing with Assumed Tuition Increases +100 Basis Points

Assumptions Sensitivity Analysis Estimated Results - Scenario 2

  

399



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program G-5 

 

Assumed Investment Return 5.25% Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, Fees and Refunds $173,452,173

Assumed Tuition Increases (FYE 2028+) Present Value of Future Contract Payments $  28,290,890
  University 3.00% June 30, 2023 Actuarial Value of Assets $380,464,990

  Community College 3.00% Surplus/(Deficit) $235,303,707
Funded Status 235.7%
Year Insolvent Never

Fiscal Year (FY)

Ending June 30

Assumed 

Investment 

Return During 

Year

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Universities

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Community 

Colleges

Actuarial Value

of Assets

(Beginning of FY)

Projected Tuition 

& Fee Payments

Projected Refund 

Payments

Projected 

Contract 

Payments

Projected 

Investment 

Return

Closed Group

Projected

Funded Status

(Beginning of FY)

2024 5.25% N/A N/A 380,464,990$     13,722,510$        3,613,417$          6,818,102$          19,640,890$        235.7%
2025 5.25% 1.90% 1.90% 389,588,055        14,241,965          2,266,948            5,766,527            20,111,724          250.4%
2026 5.25% 2.70% 2.70% 398,957,393        14,973,120          2,241,011            4,722,827            20,555,044          266.7%
2027 5.25% 5.20% 5.20% 407,021,133        16,001,420          2,099,718            3,869,202            20,928,715          286.8%
2028 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 413,717,912        16,302,909          1,959,790            3,113,866            21,255,196          312.5%
2029 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 419,824,275        16,086,993          1,626,722            2,480,805            21,574,560          344.6%
2030 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 426,165,925        15,793,350          1,389,715            1,956,676            21,908,971          384.3%
2031 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 432,848,507        15,452,428          1,018,577            1,511,493            22,268,237          434.2%
2032 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 440,157,232        14,613,784          741,207               1,143,829            22,675,063          497.9%
2033 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 448,621,134        13,800,784          551,873               834,641               23,140,992          578.7%
2034 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 458,244,109        12,614,377          438,374               565,842               23,678,189          684.0%
2035 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 469,435,389        11,832,036          360,047               391,255               24,286,986          821.1%
2036 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 481,921,547        10,761,463          277,627               268,912               24,973,974          1,000.0%+
2037 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 496,125,343        9,469,152            205,471               189,158               25,758,706          1,000.0%+
2038 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 512,398,584        8,302,409            148,109               122,042               26,648,217          1,000.0%+
2039 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 530,718,325        7,168,773            99,634                 65,597                 27,644,210          1,000.0%+
2040 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 551,159,725        5,842,255            61,947                 20,839                 28,757,469          1,000.0%+
2041 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 574,033,831        4,830,119            36,525                 1,147                    29,989,233          1,000.0%+
2042 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 599,157,567        3,532,139            10,411                 -                        31,348,279          1,000.0%+
2043 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 626,963,296        2,383,970            1,659                    -                        32,843,161          1,000.0%+
2044 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 657,420,827        1,481,937            327                       -                        34,469,598          1,000.0%+
2045 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 690,408,161        815,169               -                        -                        36,221,683          1,000.0%+
2046 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 725,814,675        365,589               -                        -                        38,094,172          1,000.0%+
2047 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 763,543,259        173,240               -                        -                        40,080,762          1,000.0%+
2048 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 803,450,781        72,065                 -                        -                        42,178,978          1,000.0%+
2049 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 845,557,694        5,202                    -                        -                        44,391,621          1,000.0%+
2050 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 889,944,113        1,514                    -                        -                        46,722,020          1,000.0%+
2051 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 936,664,620        -                        -                        -                        49,174,893          1,000.0%+
2052 5.25% 3.00% 3.00% 985,839,512        -                        -                        -                        51,756,574          1,000.0%+

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
Projection Based on June 30, 2023 Sensitivity Testing with Assumed Tuition Increases -100 Basis Points

Assumptions Sensitivity Analysis Estimated Results - Scenario 3

  

400



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program G-6 

 

Assumed Investment Return 7.25% Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, Fees and Refunds $158,959,656

Assumed Tuition Increases (FYE 2028+) Present Value of Future Contract Payments $  26,630,397
  University 4.00% June 30, 2023 Actuarial Value of Assets $380,464,990

  Community College 4.00% Surplus/(Deficit) $248,135,731
Funded Status 256.1%
Year Insolvent Never

Fiscal Year (FY)

Ending June 30

Assumed 

Investment 

Return During 

Year

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Universities

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Community 

Colleges

Actuarial Value

of Assets

(Beginning of FY)

Projected Tuition 

& Fee Payments

Projected Refund 

Payments

Projected 

Contract 

Payments

Projected 

Investment 

Return

Closed Group

Projected

Funded Status

(Beginning of FY)

2024 7.25% N/A N/A 380,464,990$     13,722,510$        3,613,417$          6,818,102$          27,124,460$        256.1%
2025 7.25% 1.90% 1.90% 397,071,625        14,241,965          2,266,948            5,766,527            28,317,238          274.6%
2026 7.25% 2.70% 2.70% 414,646,477        14,973,120          2,241,011            4,722,827            29,524,616          295.1%
2027 7.25% 5.20% 5.20% 431,679,789        16,001,420          2,099,718            3,869,202            30,691,193          320.2%
2028 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 448,139,047        16,461,190          1,959,790            3,113,866            31,843,360          352.1%
2029 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 464,675,293        16,400,878          1,626,722            2,480,805            33,034,074          392.2%
2030 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 482,162,571        16,257,831          1,389,715            1,956,676            34,297,652          441.9%
2031 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 500,769,354        16,061,318          1,018,577            1,511,493            35,652,218          504.6%
2032 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 520,853,170        15,337,100          741,207               1,143,829            37,135,340          585.0%
2033 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 543,054,033        14,624,481          551,873               834,641               38,770,410          687.4%
2034 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 567,482,730        13,497,042          438,374               565,842               40,583,069          821.4%
2035 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 594,696,226        12,782,871          360,047               391,255               42,582,461          996.7%
2036 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 624,527,023        11,739,141          277,627               268,912               44,787,384          1,000.0%+
2037 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 657,566,550        10,429,710          205,471               189,158               47,237,193          1,000.0%+
2038 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 694,357,720        9,233,395            148,109               122,042               49,954,193          1,000.0%+
2039 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 735,052,451        8,050,043            99,634                 65,597                 52,953,723          1,000.0%+
2040 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 779,922,094        6,624,148            61,947                 20,839                 56,266,100          1,000.0%+
2041 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 829,522,938        5,529,724            36,525                 1,147                    59,908,096          1,000.0%+
2042 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 883,865,932        4,083,001            10,411                 -                        63,909,303          1,000.0%+
2043 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 943,681,823        2,782,523            1,659                    -                        68,300,607          1,000.0%+
2044 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 1,009,198,248    1,746,481            327                       -                        73,093,885          1,000.0%+
2045 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 1,080,545,326    970,014               -                        -                        78,299,005          1,000.0%+
2046 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 1,157,874,317    439,257               -                        -                        83,927,534          1,000.0%+
2047 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 1,241,362,594    210,170               -                        -                        89,990,006          1,000.0%+
2048 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 1,331,142,430    88,276                 -                        -                        96,504,138          1,000.0%+
2049 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 1,427,558,292    6,372                    -                        -                        103,497,710        1,000.0%+
2050 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 1,531,049,629    1,854                    -                        -                        111,001,021        1,000.0%+
2051 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 1,642,048,796    -                        -                        -                        119,048,538        1,000.0%+
2052 7.25% 4.00% 4.00% 1,761,097,334    -                        -                        -                        127,679,557        1,000.0%+

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
Projection Based on June 30, 2023 Sensitivity Testing with Assumed Investment Return +200 Basis Points

Assumptions Sensitivity Analysis Estimated Results - Scenario 4

  

401



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program G-7 

 

Assumed Investment Return 3.25% Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, Fees and Refunds $205,147,897

Assumed Tuition Increases (FYE 2028+) Present Value of Future Contract Payments $  30,176,911
  University 4.00% June 30, 2023 Actuarial Value of Assets $380,464,990

  Community College 4.00% Surplus/(Deficit) $205,494,004
Funded Status 200.2%
Year Insolvent Never

Fiscal Year (FY)

Ending June 30

Assumed 

Investment 

Return During 

Year

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Universities

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Community 

Colleges

Actuarial Value

of Assets

(Beginning of FY)

Projected Tuition 

& Fee Payments

Projected Refund 

Payments

Projected 

Contract 

Payments

Projected 

Investment 

Return

Closed Group

Projected

Funded Status

(Beginning of FY)

2024 3.25% N/A N/A 380,464,990$     13,722,510$        3,613,417$          6,818,102$          12,158,041$        200.2%
2025 3.25% 1.90% 1.90% 382,105,206        14,241,965          2,266,948            5,766,527            12,206,307          209.3%
2026 3.25% 2.70% 2.70% 383,569,127        14,973,120          2,241,011            4,722,827            12,223,693          219.3%
2027 3.25% 5.20% 5.20% 383,301,516        16,001,420          2,099,718            3,869,202            12,184,124          231.4%
2028 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 381,253,705        16,461,190          1,959,790            3,113,866            12,098,981          246.6%
2029 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 378,045,572        16,400,878          1,626,722            2,480,805            11,991,018          265.5%
2030 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 374,489,795        16,257,831          1,389,715            1,956,676            11,873,524          288.6%
2031 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 370,672,450        16,061,318          1,018,577            1,511,493            11,751,972          317.2%
2032 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 366,856,020        15,337,100          741,207               1,143,829            11,640,137          353.3%
2033 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 363,561,679        14,624,481          551,873               834,641               11,544,575          398.4%
2034 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 360,764,542        13,497,042          438,374               565,842               11,472,422          456.6%
2035 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 358,867,390        12,782,871          360,047               391,255               11,422,678          531.3%
2036 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 357,538,405        11,739,141          277,627               268,912               11,398,522          633.5%
2037 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 357,189,070        10,429,710          205,471               189,158               11,411,735          775.1%
2038 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 358,154,782        9,233,395            148,109               122,042               11,465,519          973.8%
2039 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 360,360,839        8,050,043            99,634                 65,597                 11,559,399          1,000.0%+
2040 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 363,836,158        6,624,148            61,947                 20,839                 11,699,117          1,000.0%+
2041 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 368,870,020        5,529,724            36,525                 1,147                    11,883,445          1,000.0%+
2042 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 375,188,363        4,083,001            10,411                 -                        12,116,471          1,000.0%+
2043 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 383,211,422        2,782,523            1,659                    -                        12,401,881          1,000.0%+
2044 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 392,829,122        1,746,481            327                       -                        12,734,012          1,000.0%+
2045 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 403,816,326        970,014               -                        -                        13,105,741          1,000.0%+
2046 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 415,952,054        439,257               -                        -                        13,510,160          1,000.0%+
2047 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 429,022,957        210,170               -                        -                        13,939,283          1,000.0%+
2048 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 442,752,071        88,276                 -                        -                        14,387,778          1,000.0%+
2049 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 457,051,573        6,372                    -                        -                        14,854,056          1,000.0%+
2050 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 471,899,256        1,854                    -                        -                        15,336,691          1,000.0%+
2051 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 487,234,093        -                        -                        -                        15,835,108          1,000.0%+
2052 3.25% 4.00% 4.00% 503,069,201        -                        -                        -                        16,349,749          1,000.0%+

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
Projection Based on June 30, 2023 Sensitivity Testing with Assumed Investment Return -200 Basis Points

Assumptions Sensitivity Analysis Estimated Results - Scenario 5

  

402



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program G-8 

 

Assumed Investment Return 3.25% Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, Fees and Refunds $213,544,801

Assumed Tuition Increases (FYE 2028+) Present Value of Future Contract Payments $  30,176,911
  University 5.00% June 30, 2023 Actuarial Value of Assets $380,464,990

  Community College 5.00% Surplus/(Deficit) $197,097,100
Funded Status 192.3%
Year Insolvent Never

Fiscal Year (FY)

Ending June 30

Assumed 

Investment 

Return During 

Year

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Universities

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Community 

Colleges

Actuarial Value

of Assets

(Beginning of FY)

Projected Tuition 

& Fee Payments

Projected Refund 

Payments

Projected 

Contract 

Payments

Projected 

Investment 

Return

Closed Group

Projected

Funded Status

(Beginning of FY)

2024 3.25% N/A N/A 380,464,990$     13,722,510$        3,613,417$          6,818,102$          12,158,041$        192.3%
2025 3.25% 1.90% 1.90% 382,105,206        14,241,965          2,266,948            5,766,527            12,206,307          200.3%
2026 3.25% 2.70% 2.70% 383,569,127        14,973,120          2,241,011            4,722,827            12,223,693          209.1%
2027 3.25% 5.20% 5.20% 383,301,516        16,001,420          2,099,718            3,869,202            12,184,124          219.6%
2028 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 381,253,705        16,619,471          1,959,790            3,113,866            12,095,997          232.7%
2029 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 377,884,307        16,717,796          1,626,722            2,480,805            11,979,802          248.9%
2030 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 374,000,396        16,731,330          1,389,715            1,956,676            11,848,691          268.5%
2031 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 369,684,718        16,688,028          1,018,577            1,511,493            11,708,054          292.8%
2032 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 365,197,660        16,088,777          741,207               1,143,829            11,572,068          323.3%
2033 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 361,083,573        15,488,745          551,873               834,641               11,447,742          361.4%
2034 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 357,325,338        14,432,126          438,374               565,842               11,343,017          410.3%
2035 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 354,363,697        13,799,905          360,047               391,255               11,257,133          472.8%
2036 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 351,852,133        12,794,991          277,627               268,912               11,193,810          557.9%
2037 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 350,242,238        11,477,091          205,471               189,158               11,166,215          675.4%
2038 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 349,915,048        10,258,337          148,109               122,042               11,178,403          839.6%
2039 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 350,809,047        9,029,625            99,634                 65,597                 11,230,496          1,000.0%+
2040 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 352,975,881        7,501,662            61,947                 20,839                 11,329,613          1,000.0%+
2041 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 356,762,724        6,322,471            36,525                 1,147                    11,475,011          1,000.0%+
2042 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 361,879,886        4,713,232            10,411                 -                        11,672,063          1,000.0%+
2043 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 368,828,305        3,242,904            1,659                    -                        11,925,750          1,000.0%+
2044 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 377,509,493        2,055,016            327                       -                        12,230,307          1,000.0%+
2045 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 387,684,457        1,152,352            -                        -                        12,578,018          1,000.0%+
2046 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 399,110,123        526,844               -                        -                        12,961,146          1,000.0%+
2047 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 411,544,424        254,501               -                        -                        13,370,395          1,000.0%+
2048 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 424,660,319        107,924               -                        -                        13,799,426          1,000.0%+
2049 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 438,351,820        7,791                    -                        -                        14,246,287          1,000.0%+
2050 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 452,590,317        2,267                    -                        -                        14,709,143          1,000.0%+
2051 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 467,297,193        -                        -                        -                        15,187,159          1,000.0%+
2052 3.25% 5.00% 5.00% 482,484,352        -                        -                        -                        15,680,741          1,000.0%+

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
Projection Based on June 30, 2023 Sensitivity Testing with Assumed Tuition Increases +100 Basis Points  

& Assumed Investment Return -200 Basis Points

Assumptions Sensitivity Analysis Estimated Results - Scenario 6

403



 

 

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program G-9 

 

Assumed Investment Return 7.25% Present Value of Future Tuition Payments, Fees and Refunds $154,034,823

Assumed Tuition Increases (FYE 2028+) Present Value of Future Contract Payments $  26,630,397
  University 3.00% June 30, 2023 Actuarial Value of Assets $380,464,990

  Community College 3.00% Surplus/(Deficit) $253,060,564
Funded Status 264.3%
Year Insolvent Never

Fiscal Year (FY)

Ending June 30

Assumed 

Investment 

Return During 

Year

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Universities

Assumed Tuition 

Increase for 

Community 

Colleges

Actuarial Value

of Assets

(Beginning of FY)

Projected Tuition 

& Fee Payments

Projected Refund 

Payments

Projected 

Contract 

Payments

Projected 

Investment 

Return

Closed Group

Projected

Funded Status

(Beginning of FY)

2024 7.25% N/A N/A 380,464,990$     13,722,510$        3,613,417$          6,818,102$          27,124,460$        264.3%
2025 7.25% 1.90% 1.90% 397,071,625        14,241,965          2,266,948            5,766,527            28,317,238          284.4%
2026 7.25% 2.70% 2.70% 414,646,477        14,973,120          2,241,011            4,722,827            29,524,616          307.0%
2027 7.25% 5.20% 5.20% 431,679,789        16,001,420          2,099,718            3,869,202            30,691,193          334.9%
2028 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 448,139,047        16,302,909          1,959,790            3,113,866            31,849,974          370.6%
2029 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 464,840,187        16,086,993          1,626,722            2,480,805            33,059,144          415.9%
2030 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 482,666,421        15,793,350          1,389,715            1,956,676            34,353,590          472.2%
2031 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 501,793,622        15,452,428          1,018,577            1,511,493            35,751,920          543.8%
2032 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 522,586,030        14,613,784          741,207               1,143,829            37,291,196          635.8%
2033 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 545,666,065        13,800,784          551,873               834,641               38,994,201          753.7%
2034 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 571,142,249        12,614,377          438,374               565,842               40,885,266          908.8%
2035 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 599,540,606        11,832,036          360,047               391,255               42,973,409          1,000.0%+
2036 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 630,713,187        10,761,463          277,627               268,912               45,276,732          1,000.0%+
2037 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 665,219,742        9,469,152            205,471               189,158               47,832,186          1,000.0%+
2038 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 703,566,462        8,302,409            148,109               122,042               50,660,727          1,000.0%+
2039 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 745,898,713        7,168,773            99,634                 65,597                 53,776,900          1,000.0%+
2040 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 792,472,803        5,842,255            61,947                 20,839                 57,208,698          1,000.0%+
2041 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 843,798,138        4,830,119            36,525                 1,147                    60,972,280          1,000.0%+
2042 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 899,904,921        3,532,139            10,411                 -                        65,095,147          1,000.0%+
2043 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 961,457,519        2,383,970            1,659                    -                        69,605,998          1,000.0%+
2044 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 1,028,677,887    1,481,937            327                       -                        74,517,213          1,000.0%+
2045 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 1,101,712,836    815,169               -                        -                        79,840,119          1,000.0%+
2046 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 1,180,737,786    365,589               -                        -                        85,588,214          1,000.0%+
2047 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 1,265,960,411    173,240               -                        -                        91,774,891          1,000.0%+
2048 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 1,357,562,062    72,065                 -                        -                        98,420,238          1,000.0%+
2049 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 1,455,910,235    5,202                    -                        -                        105,553,275        1,000.0%+
2050 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 1,561,458,308    1,514                    -                        -                        113,205,664        1,000.0%+
2051 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 1,674,662,458    -                        -                        -                        121,413,028        1,000.0%+
2052 7.25% 3.00% 3.00% 1,796,075,487    -                        -                        -                        130,215,473        1,000.0%+

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program 
Projection Based on June 30, 2023 Sensitivity Testing with Assumed Tuition Increases -100 Basis Points  

& Assumed Investment Return +200 Basis Points

Assumptions Sensitivity Analysis Estimated Results - Scenario 7

 

404



B-1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B - INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
 
 

 
  
 

 

405



C-1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C - MEKETA INVESTMENT GROUP PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

406



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

 

2Q 2023 Nevada Prepaid 

Tuition Plan Quarterly Report 

 

 

Nevada 529 College Savings Programs 

September 21, 2023 

407



 
Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan 

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio | As of June 30, 2023 

 

 

Introduction  

The Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan Portfolio had an aggregate value of $392.0 million as of June 30, 2023. During the latest quarter, the Total Portfolio increased 

in value by $19.3 million, and over the trailing one-year period the Total Portfolio increased in value by $35.3 million.  

After a particularly difficult 2022, most public market assets are up thus far in 2023, continuing to build on gains from the fourth quarter of last year.  Risk 

sentiment has been supported by expectations that policy tightening could be ending soon, as inflation continues to fall, and growth has slowed.  US Stocks rose 

sharply in the second quarter of 2023, with most of the gains coming in the month of June when the Fed kept its target rate unchanged for the first time since 

early 2022.  Investors are expressing optimism that the Fed can tame inflation without widespread disruptions to the equity markets.  Additionally, the yield curve 

remains inverted with the spread between the two-year and ten-year Treasuries finishing the month at -1.06%.  The more closely watched measure by the Fed, 

the spread between the three-month and ten-year treasuries, also remained inverted at -1.62%.  Moving forward, the delicate balancing act of central banks trying 

to reduce inflation without dramatically depressing growth will remain key.  

Asset Allocation Trends 

With respect to policy targets, the Total Portfolio ended the latest quarter overweight Large Cap Equity and Cash, and underweight Small Cap Equity, Mid Cap 

Equity, and Fixed Income. All asset class weights, other than cash, remained within their policy target ranges for the second quarter.  

Recent Investment Performance 

The Total Portfolio outperformed its policy benchmark by 0.30% over the most recent quarter on a net of fees basis. The portfolio returned 10.9% after fees over 

the one-year period and outperformed its benchmark by 0.30% over the same period. The portfolio outperformed over both the three-year and five-year periods 

each by 20 basis points. 

    Quarter 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 

Total Portfolio (Gross of Fees)1 4.7 11.0 8.6 7.4 

Total Portfolio (Net of Fees) 4.7 10.9 8.5 7.2 

Policy Benchmark2 4.4 10.6 8.3 7.0 

Excess Return (Net) 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 

Public DB $250M-$1B Peer Median 3.1 8.5 7.5 6.3 
 

 
1 Total Gross of Fees amounts estimated using the following manager fee schedule: Vanguard LCE = 4 bps, Vanguard MCE & SCE = 8 bps, Glenmede = 64 bps, GH = 19 bps 

2 Policy Benchmark consists of 39% S&P 500 Index, 30% Bloomberg US Aggregate A+ Bond Index, 20% CBOE BXM Index, 7% S&P Mid Cap 400 Index, 4% S&P Small Cap 600 Index as of 9/30/2014. Prior to 9/30/2014 Policy Benchmark consisted 

of 45% S&P 500 Index, 43% BBgBarc US Aggregate A+ Bond Index, 8% S&P Mid Cap 400 Index, 4% S&P Small Cap 600 Index. 

Page 2 of 7 

408



Summary of Cash Flows

QTD 1 Year

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio

   Beginning Market Value 372,737,784 356,679,630

   Net Cash Flow 1,841,491 -3,437,624

   Net Investment Change 17,416,639 38,753,907

   Ending Market Value 391,995,913 391,995,913

Return Summary - Net of Fees

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio Nevada Prepaid Custom Benchmark

0.0

4.0

8.0

12.0

16.0

R
a

te 
o

f
 

R
e

tu
rn 

%

QTD YTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 7 Years

4.4

10.1
10.6

8.3

7.0
7.8

4.7

10.5 10.9

8.5

7.2
7.9

Performance| As of June 30, 2023

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Page 3 of 7 

409



Market Value

($)

QTD

(%)

1 Yr

(%)

3 Yrs

(%)

5 Yrs

(%)

7 Yrs

(%)

Nevada Prepaid Total Portfolio 391,995,913 4.7 10.9 8.5 7.2 7.9

      Nevada Prepaid Custom Benchmark 4.4 10.6 8.3 7.0 7.8

      InvMetrics Public DB $250M-$1B Median 3.1 8.5 7.5 6.3 7.5

  Public Equity 203,854,495 7.9 18.5 14.8 11.2 12.7

    Vanguard - Large Cap Equity (VINIX) 164,187,038 8.7 19.5 14.6 12.3 13.4

      S&P 500 Index 8.7 19.6 14.6 12.3 13.4

      Large Blend Median 7.9 18.3 13.7 11.0 12.2

    Vanguard - Mid Cap Equity (VSPMX) 27,154,001 4.8 17.6 15.4 7.7 10.0

      S&P MidCap 400 Index 4.9 17.6 15.4 7.8 10.1

      Mid-Cap Blend Median 4.7 14.5 13.3 7.5 9.6

    Vanguard - Small Cap Equity (VSMSX) 12,513,457 3.4 9.7 15.1 5.2 9.6

      S&P SmallCap 600 Index 3.4 9.8 15.2 5.2 9.6

      Small Blend Median 4.5 12.7 13.6 5.2 8.7

  Fixed Income Composite 106,736,553 -1.2 -1.8 -4.0 0.7 0.1

    Garcia Hamilton 106,736,553 -1.2 -1.8 -- -- --

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate: A+ -1.0 -1.4 -4.2 0.5 0.2

      Intermediate Core Bond Median -0.9 -1.0 -3.8 0.7 0.4

  Covered Calls 78,454,029 5.1 10.9 10.1 6.0 6.4

    Glenmede Secured Options 78,454,029 5.1 10.9 10.1 6.0 6.4

      CBOE S&P 500 Buy Write Index 4.3 9.0 10.6 4.6 6.0

      Options Trading Median 5.5 13.3 6.8 5.7 5.2

    Nevada Cash 2,950,837

Performance Summary | As of June 30, 2023

Policy Benchmark consists of 39% S&P 500 Index, 30% BBgBarc US Aggregate A+ Bond Index, 20% CBOE BXM Index, 7% S&P MidCap 400 Index, 4% S&P SmallCap 600 Index as of 9/30/2014. Prior to 9/30/2014 Policy Benchmark consisted of 45%
S&P 500 Index, 43% BBgBarc US Aggregate A+ Bond Index, 8% S&P MidCap 400 Index, 4% S&P SmallCap 600 Index.
Garcia Hamilton's all-in effective fee as of December 31, 2021 is 15 basis points. Please note the following tiered fee schedule: 25 basis points on the first $25 million, 20 basis points on the next $25 million, 14 basis points on the next $200 million, and 13
basis points thereafter.

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Page 4 of 7 

410



Current

Balance ($)

Current

Allocation (%)

Policy

(%)

Difference

(%)

Policy Range

(%)

Within IPS

Range?

Small Cap Equity 12,513,457 3.2 4.0 -0.8 1.0 - 7.0 Yes

Mid Cap Equity 27,154,001 6.9 7.0 -0.1 2.0 - 12.0 Yes

Large Cap Equity 164,187,038 41.9 39.0 2.9 34.0 - 44.0 Yes

Fixed Income 106,736,553 27.2 30.0 -2.8 25.0 - 35.0 Yes

Covered Calls 78,454,029 20.0 20.0 0.0 15.0 - 25.0 Yes

Cash 2,950,837 0.8 0.0 0.8 0.0 - 0.0 No

Total 391,995,913 100.0 100.0 0.0

Asset Allocation as of June 30, 2022

Cash

1.8%

Covered Calls

19.8%

Fixed Income

27.8%

Small Cap Equity

2.2%

Mid Cap Equity

6.0%

Large Cap Equity

42.4%

Asset Allocation as of June 30, 2023

Cash

0.8%

Covered Calls

20.0%

Fixed Income

27.2%

Small Cap Equity

3.2%

Mid Cap Equity

6.9%

Large Cap Equity

41.9%

Actual versus Target Allocation | As of June 30, 2023

With respect to policy targets, the Total Portfolio ended the latest quarter underweight Small Cap Equity, Mid Cap Equity, and Fixed Income. Within Domestic 

Equity, Small Cap Equity was underweight 80 basis points, Mid Cap Equity was underweight 10 basis points, and Large Cap Equity was overweight 290 basis 

points. Additionally, the Total Portfolio was underweight Fixed Income by 280 basis points and overweight cash by  80 basis points. The allocation to Covered 

Calls was in line within its policy target at 20%.

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Page 5 of 7 

411



Market Value

($)
QTD (Rank) 1 Yr (Rank) 3 Yrs (Rank) 5 Yrs (Rank)

  Public Equity 203,854,495 7.9 18.5 14.8 11.2

    Vanguard - Large Cap Equity (VINIX) 164,187,038 8.7 (23) 19.5 (27) 14.6 (24) 12.3 (15)

      S&P 500 Index 8.7 (23) 19.6 (26) 14.6 (23) 12.3 (14)

            Excess Return 0.0 -0.1 0.0 0.0

      Large Blend Median 7.9 18.3 13.7 11.0

    Vanguard - Mid Cap Equity (VSPMX) 27,154,001 4.8 (44) 17.6 (16) 15.4 (18) 7.7 (40)

      S&P MidCap 400 Index 4.9 (43) 17.6 (15) 15.4 (16) 7.8 (39)

            Excess Return -0.1 0.0 0.0 -0.1

      Mid-Cap Blend Median 4.7 14.5 13.3 7.5

    Vanguard - Small Cap Equity (VSMSX) 12,513,457 3.4 (71) 9.7 (77) 15.1 (30) 5.2 (50)

      S&P SmallCap 600 Index 3.4 (71) 9.8 (76) 15.2 (29) 5.2 (50)

            Excess Return 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 0.0

      Small Blend Median 4.5 12.7 13.6 5.2

  Fixed Income Composite 106,736,553 -1.2 -1.8 -4.0 0.7

    Garcia Hamilton 106,736,553 -1.2 (86) -1.8 (87) -- --

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate: A+ -1.0 (69) -1.4 (75) -4.2 (75) 0.5 (62)

            Excess Return -0.2 -0.4 -- --

      Intermediate Core Bond Median -0.9 -1.0 -3.8 0.7

  Covered Calls 78,454,029 5.1 10.9 10.1 6.0

    Glenmede Secured Options 78,454,029 5.1 (60) 10.9 (71) 10.1 (11) 6.0 (39)

      CBOE S&P 500 Buy Write Index 4.3 (75) 9.0 (80) 10.6 (8) 4.6 (59)

            Excess Return 0.8 1.9 -0.5 1.4

      Options Trading Median 5.5 13.3 6.8 5.7

Manager Performance - Net of Fees | As of June 30, 2023

Vanguard: Two passive Vanguard equity funds performed roughly in-line with their benchmarks. Vanguard - Mid Cap Equity underperformed its benchmark by 0.1% in the current quarter.
Garcia Hamilton: The Plan's Fixed Income manager underperformed its benchmark by 0.2% in the current quarter and underperformed by 0.4% trailing 1-year time period.
Glenmede: The Plan's Covered Calls manager outperformed its benchmark by 0.8% in the current quarter and outperformed its benchmark by 1.9% in the trailing one-year period.

Nevada Prepaid Tuition Plan

Page 6 of 7 

412



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  
 

Page 7 of 7 

413



D-1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX D- ENROLLMENT STATISTICAL CHARTS 
  

414



 

1 

 

NEW ENROLLMENTS FISCAL YEAR 2023 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

415



 

2 

 

CONTRACTS BY COUNTY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

416



 

3 

 

 
BENEFICIARIES AGE/GRADE 

 

417



 

4 

 

BENEFICIARY’S RELATIONSHIP TO PURCHASER 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

418



 

5 

 

RACE OF BENEFICIARY 
  

419



 

6 

 

PURCHASER’S INCOME LEVEL 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

420



 

7 

 

PURCHASER’S EDUCATION LEVEL 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

421



 

8 

 

REFERRAL SOURCE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

422



 

 

101 N. Carson Street, Suite 4 

Carson City, Nevada 89701 

775-684-5600 

 

 
 
 

Treasurer Zach Conine 

Chair 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

State of Nevada 

College Savings Board of 

Trustees 

 

 

    Members 

            Donna Stanfel  

 Lisa Cano Burkhead 

  Michael Rankin 

             Robin Hager 

              

             

  

 

 
TO: Governor Lombardo and Members of the Nevada State Legislature 

 

FROM: Board of Trustees of the College Savings Plans of Nevada  

 

DATE: February 21, 2024 

 

SUBJECT: Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program Annual Report – Audit and Financial Statements 

 

Pursuant to NRS 353B.170, the Board of Trustees of the College Savings Plans of Nevada (“the 

Board”) is required to submit an annual report of the Nevada Prepaid Tuition Program (“the Report”) 

to the Governor and the Legislature. Pursuant to statute, the Report must include an accounting of the 

Trust Fund and a description of the financial condition of the Trust Fund at the close of each fiscal 

year, including, without limitation, a statement of projected receipts, disbursements and operating 

costs of the Trust Fund. The Report is required to be submitted to the Governor and the Legislature 

by March 31 each year.  

Due to circumstances outside the control of the Board of Trustees of the College Savings Plans of 

Nevada and the State Treasury, the Fiscal Year 2023 Audit (“the Audit”) of the Nevada Prepaid 

Tuition Program is not yet complete. The Audit contains relevant information necessary to the meet 

the statutory requirements of the Report, notably, the description of the financial condition of the 

Trust Fund at the close of the fiscal year. 

 

The Report herein contains the Prepaid Tuition Program information completed to date for FY23, 

such as enrollment statistics and an actuarial study. Once the Audit is complete, an updated version 

of the Report will be submitted.  

 

 

 

 

 


	Agenda Item 3 - Dec. 14 Minutes
	Agenda Item 4 - Jan. 25 Minutes
	Agenda Item 5 - ACS Report
	Agenda Item 6 - Putnam Report
	Agenda Item 7 - Prepaid Report
	Agenda Item 8 - Staff Updates
	Agenda Item 9 - Meketa Analysis Prepaid
	Agenda Item 10 - Meketa Analysis 529
	Agenda Item 11 - JPM Investment Review
	Agenda item 12 - Prepaid Annual Report



